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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This annual report on Form 10-K containsviard-looking statements that involve substanti&ds and uncertainties. All statements, othel
than statements of historical facts, included ia #mnual report on Form 10-K regarding our stnatégture operations, future financial
position, future revenues, projected costs, praspetans and objectives of management are fonlaanking statements. The words
"anticipate,” "believe," "estimate," "expect,” "patial," "intend," "may," "plan," "predict,"” "prog," "will," "should," "would" and similar
expressions are intended to identify forward-loglkétatements, although not all forward- lookingesteents contain these identifying words.

The forward-looking statements in this aalmeport on Form 10-K include, among other thirgjatements about:

. the progress and results of our clinical trial®of drug candidates, including migalastat HCI,

. the cost of manufacturing drug supply for our daliand preclinical studies, including the sigrafit cost of ERT cell line
development and manufacturing as well as the dastanufacturing the vIGF-2 peptide tag;

. the scope, progress, results and costs of prealidevelopment, laboratory testing and clinicalltrifor our product candidates
including those testing the use of pharmacologibaperones co-formulated and co-administered W Bnd for the treatment
of lysosomal storage diseases;

. the costs, timing and outcome of regulatory revidwur product candidates;

. the number and development requirements of otheetuymt candidates that we pursue;

. the costs of commercialization activities, inclugliproduct marketing, sales and distribution;

. the emergence of competing technologies and otharae market developments;

. the costs of preparing, filing and prosecuting pasmplications and maintaining, enforcing and ddfieg intellectual property

related claims;
. the extent to which we acquire or invest in hasses, products and technologies;

. our ability to successfully incorporate Callidsi®pharma, Inc. ("Callidus") and its product catates and technology into our
business; and

. our ability to establish collaborations and obtaittestone, royalty or other payments from any stmlaborators.

We may not actually achieve the plansnitié&is or expectations disclosed in our forwardklog statements, and you should not place
undue reliance on our forward-looking statementguél results or events could differ materiallyrfréhe plans, intentions and expectations
disclosed in the forward-looking statements we m#ke have included important factors in the cawtigrstatements included in this annual
report on Form 10-K, particularly in Part I, ItemA IRisk Factors" that we believe could cause aatesllts or events to differ materially from
the forward-looking statements that we make. Ouwéod-looking statements do not reflect the potdritnpact of any future acquisitions,
mergers, dispositions, joint ventures, collaboregior investments we may make.

You should read this annual report on Faf¥K and the documents that we incorporate by eefe in this annual report on Form 10-K
completely and with the understanding that ouradtuture results may be materially different frerhat we expect. We do not assume any
obligation to update any forward-looking statements
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PART |
ltem 1. BUSINESS.
Overview

We are a biopharmaceutical company focesetthe discovery, development and commercializatfomext-generation medicines for a
range of rare and orphan diseases, with a focumproved therapies for lysosomal storage disorf&SDs"). Our development programs
include nextgeneration enzyme replacement therapies ("ERTs')3@s, including Fabry disease, Pompe diseaséVarbpolysaccharoidos
Type | ("MPS I"). We are also developing novel sablecules as monotherapy treatments for Fabigadis and Parkinson's disease. We
believe that our platform technologies and our adea product pipeline uniquely position us at thefront of developing therapies for rare
and orphan diseases.

In LSDs such as Pompe and Fabry, a mutatitime specific disease-causing gene can ledueketprioduction in the body of a mutant form
of the enzyme that is less stable than the noraral,fand that may be prematurely degraded befahieg the location in the cell where it is
needed. For patients with LSDs who are receiving BRe infused (exogenous) protein may unfold arse lactivity at any stage in the
process — from the infusion bag to the bloodstrearnthe eventual uptake into cells and tissue.rElalt is a loss of enzyme activity and
disruption of proper trafficking of the enzyme ysdsomes. Our novel treatment approach consistsing pharmacological chaperones tha
designed to selectively bind and stabilize eitheréndogenous or exogenous target proteins anidtactrafficking to the location in cells
where these proteins are needed (the lysosome).

Our Chaperone-Advanced Replacement The@mag@HART™, platform has been used to develop @xt4generation ERTs by co-
formulating therapeutic enzymes with our proprigtainarmacological chaperones. In each CHART progeamnique pharmacological
chaperone is designed to bind to a specific thetapéexogenous) enzyme, stabilizing the enzymitsiproperly folded and active form. This
may allow for enhanced tissue uptake, greater ysas activity, more reduction of substrate, andgbtential for lower immunogenicity.

Our lead CHART program is a next-generak®T in preclinical development for Fabry disedd@s next-generation ERT consists of a
proprietary human recombinant alpha-Galactosidaggmee ("alpha-Gal") enzyme (designated "AT-B10@3fermulated with our
pharmacological chaperone migalastat HCI. We coteglan initial human proof-of-concept Phase 2 s{ifyudy 013") that evaluated the
effects of a single oral dose of migalastat HChdoainistered with the currently marketed ERTSs fabiy disease (Fabrazyme® or Replagal®’
in males with Fabry disease. Results from thisystiemonstrated a consistent increase in levelstofeaalpha-Gal activity, the enzyme
deficient in Fabry patients, in plasma and incrdageake of alpha-Gal enzyme in skin compared td BRne. This study has served as the
foundation for further development of our next-gaien Fabry ERT, which is anticipated to enter¢heic in 2014.

We are also developing migalastat HCI esoaotherapy in two Phase 3 global registrationistuff Study 011" and "Study 012") for
Fabry patients with genetic mutations that wererahé to this pharmacological chaperone in a adleld assay. Study 011 is a 24-month
study consisting of a 6-month double-blind, placebatrolled treatment period (Stage 1); a 6-momtérslabel follow-up period (Stage 2); and
a 12-month open-label extension phase. In DecegiEt, we announced top-line six-month (Stage Dltefrom Study 011. Data from
Stage 2 and the open label extension for month&41&e anticipated in the first half of 2014.

In Study 012, we are comparing open-labighitastat HCI to current standard of care ERTs (&abme® and Replagal®) to potentially
support global registration. In December 2012, ¢higly achieved full enrollment of 60 patients, wiwre randomized 1.5:1 to switch from
ERT to migalastat HCI or remain on ERT. Data aricgrated in the second half of 2014 on the primautcome
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measure, which is change in renal function assdsgémhexol (measured) Glomerular Filtration Ra@KR") at 18 months. The analysis will
compare migalastat to ERT at study month 18.

In November 2013, we acquired Callidus Biama, Inc. ("Callidus"), a privately held biotechogy company. Callidus was engaged in
developing a next-generation Pompe ERT and compliang enzyme targeting technologies. Through oquasition of Callidus, we now own
a uniguely-engineered, proprietary recombinant huamad-alpha glucosidase (rhGAA called "AT-B20Q3) Pompe disease that is in late
preclinical development. Acid alpha-glucosidaseAXG) is the enzyme deficient in Pompe patients. BZOO0 is differentiated from other
Pompe ERTSs by its unique carbohydrate structures ERT may be further optimized by applying ourgaietary peptide tagging technology
for better targeting. Preclinical results have shakat AT-B200 was better than Lumizyme for clegrijlycogen (the accumulated substrate in
Pompe disease) in skeletal muscles in Gaa knockamg.

AT-B200 may deliver further benefits thréugp-formulation with our pharmacological chaperéde220 (duvoglustat HCI). In
preclinical studies of AT2220 co-administered andfarmulated with Myozyme/Lumizyme, greater enzyaptake in disease-relevant tissues
led to greater glycogen reduction compared to eithéhese ERTs alone. Similar to Study 013 in alisease, we completed a Phase 2
("Study 010") safety and pharmacokinetics studp®2220 co-administered with currently approved rab;mant rhGAA
Myozyme®/Lumizyme® in Pompe patients. Results fietudy 010 demonstrated initial human proof-of-cqtder this chaperone-ERT
combination in Pompe disease, showing an increa&AA enzyme activity in plasma and muscle compaoeiRT alone. Taken together
these results support the further investigatioa néxt-generation ERT that combines AT-B200 wifharmacological chaperone for Pompe
disease.

Additional preclinical CHART programs inde a next-generation ERT for MPS I. In additior, enzyme targeting technology is
applicable to multiple ERTs and complementary to@HART platform for the development of next-gerienatherapies for multiple LSDs.
We believe that together these platform technokgiay provide a unique tool set to address sontteeahajor challenges with currently
marketed ERT products — enzyme activity and stgbilargeting and uptake; and tolerability and inmogenicity.

Although LSDs are relatively rare diseasiesy represent a substantial commercial oppostuhie to the severity of the symptoms anc
chronic nature of the diseases. The publicly reggbworldwide net product sales for currently appbtreatments for six LSDs were
approximately $3.0 billion in 2013.

In addition to our programs addressing LSk are researching the use of pharmacologicgdarbaes for the treatment of Parkinson's
disease. In September 2013, we entered into aboodtion agreement with Biogen Idec ("Biogen") tecdver, develop and commercialize
novel small molecules for the treatment of Parkirsdisease. Under terms of the multi-year agregmenwill collaborate in the discovery of
a new class of small molecules that target theaglembrosidase ("GCase") enzyme, for further dgoareknt and commercialization by Biogen.
Biogen will be responsible for funding all discoyedevelopment and commercialization activities.

Our Pharmacological Chaperone Technology

We are leveraging its pharmacological chape technology to develop negéneration treatments for human genetic diseasésgpgting
mutated proteins that are unstable, unfolded ofahdisd. In the human body, proteins are involvedlmost every aspect of cellular function.
Proteins are linear strings of amino acids that #oid twist into specific three-dimensional shapesder to function properly. Certain human
diseases results from mutations that cause chamgies amino acid sequence of a protein, and tbleaages often reduce protein stability and
may prevent them from folding properly.
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Pharmacological chaperones are small mt@salesigned to selectively bind to a target pmptieicrease its stability and help keep it
folded in the correct three-dimensional shape.lRiDs, pharmacological chaperones are designeadtbtbj and facilitate trafficking of, both
endogenous and exogenous enzymes to the locataallsnwhere they are needed (the lysosome). Tip@itant feature has allowed us to
develop pharmacological chaperones as monotheggtsa(to be used without ERT) and our CHART platfof pharmacological chaperor
in combination with ERT.

Pharmacological Chaperone Monotherapy

Many natural (endogenous) proteins are niratlee endoplasmic reticulum (ER) and sent to iogfaets of the cell. Unstable, unfolded or
misfolded proteins are generally eliminated oriretd in the ER rather than being transported tarttended destination in the cell. The
accumulation of unfolded or misfolded proteinstie ER and the interruption of trafficking of impamt proteins to their proper cellular
locations can cause several types of problemsdnuu

. complete or partial loss of appropriate profeinction,
. accumulation of lipids and other substancesghatild be degraded, and
. disruption of cellular function and eventuall aath.

These defects may lead to various typdsinfan genetic diseases, including LSDs. As monafiyeagents for LSDs, pharmacological
chaperones are designed to bind to and stabilidegemous protein lysosomal enzymes for properitkaifig to the lysosome, which also
alleviates the toxic build-up of mutant proteinghie ER. Once in the lysosome, the pharmacologitaperone disassociates and the enzyme
free to break down substrate. Based on this mestmanmndividuals with genetic mutations that resukome residual biological activity are
potentially eligible for pharmacological chaperanenotherapy.

CHART Technology Platform

ERT is the standard of care for several § 3iased on the intravenous infusion of recombinagene-activated human enzyme. The
enzyme is delivered into the blood in order todde=h up by cells and then transported to the lysesdpon entering the lysosome, this
enzyme is intended to perform the function of theemt or deficient endogenous enzyme. Howeveplthm the infusion bag and in blood is
higher than the enzyme's natural acidic environnretite lysosome. As a result, the infused enzyrag rapidly unfold and lose activity and
may be misdirected to non-target tissues or rapitiigred from the body. Exposure to high conceiotnatof infused enzymes can impact
efficacy or cause adverse effects.

Possible problems related to the unfoldihipfused enzyme include:

. reduced stability and activity;
. poor targeting and uptake into key tissues of dispand
. poor tolerability and increased immunogenicity.

In our CHART programs, each chaperone ssgied to bind to and stabilize a specific theréipanzyme. We believe this technology
may be able to improve the stability, uptake artd/ig of the enzyme, and may improve tolerabiligd lower immunogenicity compared to
currently marketed ERTs alone. This combinationragph may benefit patients with LSDs, includingigratis with inactive endogenous
proteins who are not amenable to chaperone moragiiher
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Enzyme Targeting Technology

Most lysosomal enzyme replacement thergiBJ's) contain a specialized carbohydrate calladmose 6-phosphate (M6P) which
enables binding and delivery of therapeutic druly$osomes via M6P receptors on cell surfaces. Welaveloping nexgieneration ERTS wit
significantly higher amounts of M6P for improveddsomal targeting compared to existing ERTs. Waks@developing an approach to
attach a peptide tag onto ERTs to ensure goodtdrggting. This novel approach capitalizes on thigue feature of the M6P receptor which
can simultaneously bind both M6P and a small peptitlich naturally circulates in blood called insdike growth factor 2 (IGF-2) and is
therefore called the IGF2/M6P receptor. We devedapethodologies for attaching a proprietary peptidg (a variant of IGF-2, or vIGF-2)
onto our next-generation ERT's to Further enhaymaesbmal targeting to key tissues of disease. TRE-2 peptide was specifically designed
to bind the intended IGF-2/M6P receptor with hidlinéty, potentially minimizing off-target effectsuch as hypoglycermia and cellular
proliferation.In vivo proof-of-concept for this peptide tagging approbek been achieved to demonstrate better subskearaicce in animal
models for two different LSDs. We believe that tt@shnology to enhance drug targeting, togethdr aitr CHART platform to improve
enzyme stability, may be utilized to develop a pigeof more effective next-generation ERTs for LsSD

Migalastat HCI for Fabry Disease
Overview

Our most advanced product candidate, msggti&dCl, is an investigational, small molecule pphacological chaperone for the treatmer
Fabry disease. As an orally administered monotlyeramalastat HCI is designed to bind to and siadilor "chaperone” a patient's own alpha
Gal enzyme in those patients with genetic mutatidestified as amenable to this chaperone in almeded assay. For all other Fabry patients,
migalastat HCI in combination with ERT may imprquatient outcomes by keeping infused alpha-Gal eezynits properly folded and active
form.

Clinical Studies of Migalastat HCl Monotherapy feasbry Disease

Study 011 is a 24-month study consisting 6fmonth double-blind, placebo-controlled treattrperiod (Stage 1); a 6-month open-label
follow-up period (Stage 2); and a 12-month operela&xtension phase. The study randomized 67 pat{@dtmales and 43 females) diagnosec
with Fabry disease who had genetic mutations anlentalthaperone monotherapy in a cell-based aSsayng Stage 1, patients were
randomized 1:1 to migalastat HCI 150 mg or placeth@n every-other-day (QOD) oral dosing schedwdieRts continued treatment with
migalastat HCI or switched from placebo to migaastCl during Stage 2 and the open-label extensi@se. Change from baseline in kidney
interstitial capillary globotriaosylceramide (GL-3)being assessed by histology in kidney biopsid¢ke end of Stage 1 and Stage 2. GL-3 is
the lipid substrate that accumulates in tissugsatients with Fabry disease, and is measured imelidbiopsies. Safety and tolerability, and
kidney function as measured by estimated glomefilleation rate (¢eGFR), are being assessed througthe 24-month study.

Top-line Stage 1 data from Study 011 waeried in December 2012 and presented at the Lysalddisease Network WORLD
Symposium (LDN WORLD) in February 2013. During Stdlg no drug-related serious adverse events wesenadd. No subjects discontinued
migalastat HCI therapy due to a treatment emergéwverse event and the majority of adverse everistimtreatment groups were mild in
nature. The primary analysis compared the numbegsgfonders in the migalastat HCI versus placebopy, based on a 50% or greater
reduction in interstitial capillary GL-3 during $& 1. In the primary responder analysis, 13/32 (Mit%he migalastat HCI group versus 9/32
(28%) in the placebo group demonstrated a 50%eatgr reduction in kidney interstitial capillary GL
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from baseline to month 6 which was not statisticalfnificant (p=0.3). Certain 6-month secondargmrints presented included urine GL-3
and renal function as measured by eGFR.

Updated Stage 1 data from Study 011, irictyd post-hoc analysis of the mean change froralin@sin inclusions per capillary as a
continuous variable ("mean change in GL-3"), waerespnted at LDN WORLD in February 2014. Followihg tinblinding of the Stage 1 data,
and while still blinded to the Stage 2 data, wdadmrated with GSK and external statistical corsk to identify a more appropriate way to
measure the biological effect of migalastat HCLegithe variability in patients' GL-3 levels in Syuall1. We used this revised methodology tc
analyze the mean change in GL-3 from baseline totm6 in both the modified intent-to-treat (mITT9pulation (n=60, 30 per group) as well
as in the subgroup of patients who had amenablations in a GLP-validated HEK assay ("GLP HEK anideg (n=46, 25 in the migalastat
HCI group and 21 in the placebo group). From basedi month 6 in the mITT population, the mean geain GL-3 was -0.22 + 0.11 in the
migalastat group compared to +0.06 + 0.09 in tlaegibo group (p=0.052).

All subjects enrolled in Study 011 had aat#e mutations in a clinical trial human embryokidney (HEK) cell-based in vitro assay
available at study initiation ("clinical trial agéy During the course of the study and prior tdlimding, a more robust GLP-validated version
of the HEK assay ("GLP HEK assay") was createdwum®d to reanalyze the mutations in subjects enrglli¢he study. Approximately 90% of
mutations remained in the same category of "amehall'non-amenable" using the same pre-definadtio criteria, however, there were
some changes in categorization since the clinicldand GLP HEK assays are not identical. Usirgrttore robust GLP HEK amenable assay
the mean change in GL-3 from baseline to monththérHEK amenable subgroup was -0810.12 in the migalastat group compared to +
+ 0.13 in the placebo group (p=0.002).

The Stage 2 treatment period in Study 044 @ompleted in December 2012 and the 12-montmsixie phase was completed in
December 2013. The Stage 2 results, including mebange in GL-3 at 12 months, as well as complet® filam the 24-month study, including
clinical outcome measures such as eGFR and proi@iraue expected during the second quarter of 2014

Study 012 is a randomized, open-label 18#m&hase 3 study investigating the safety andaf§i of oral migalastat HCI (150 mg, every-
other-day) compared to standard-of-care infused€E®abrazyme® and Replagal®). The study enrolledad of 60 patients (males and
females) with Fabry disease and genetic mutatidestified as amenable to migalastat HClI monothenaycell-based assay. Subjects were
randomized 1.5:1 to switch to migalastat HCI or agmon ERT. All subjects had been receiving ERT$idns for a minimum of 12 months (at
least 3 months at the labeled dose) prior to emgdtie study. The primary outcome measure is femnation assessed by measured GFR at
18 months, evaluated in the migalastat HCl and BRTps using descriptive statistics. This studyieaad full enrollment in December 2012
and top-line results are expected in the secorfbh2014.

We expect to receive final data from St0dy and Study 012 in 2014. Based on the outcontieose studies, we will initiate discussions
with U.S. and EU regulatory authorities to discagsotential regulatory path to approval.

Next-Generation ERT for Fabry Disease

We have investigated the use of migala$@tco-administered with currently marketed ERTalifazyme® and Replagal®) preclinical
and clinical studies, as well as migalastat HCfawaulated with a proprietary human recombinanhak®&al enzyme (JCR Pharmaceutical
Co Ltd's JR-051) in preclinical studies. Basedlmsé studies we are leveraging our CHART platf@advance migalastat HCI co-formulated
with human recombinant alpha-Gal enzyme (designaiie@®100).
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CHART for Fabry Disease: Clinical and Preclinicah@oerone-ERT Combination Studies

Amicus, together with GSK and JCR PharmacauCo Ltd ("JCR"), completed preclinical studiesevaluate migalastat HCI co-
formulated with JCR's proprietary investigation&®E(JR-051, recombinant human alpha-Gal enzymeRésults from these preclinical
studies suggest that migalastat HCI co-formulatitd $R-051 may provide greater alpha-Gal enzymakgpinto tissue and markedly reduced
levels of GL-3 in Fabry disease-relevant tissuaspmared to JR-051 alone. Based on these resulfslamgo advance migalastat HCI co-
formulated with ERT for Fabry disease. The firgtrpied clinical study will investigate the PK of iMgalastat HCI in healthy volunteers to
identify optimal doses for a Phase 2 clinical stoflynigalastat HCI co-formulated with ERT in Falpgtients. For the Phase 1/2 study, we
expect to use migalastat HCI co-formulated withQE- In parallel, we are currently evaluating aang-term strategy for supplying late-stage
clinical and commercial ERT, which may include deping or in-licensing a recombinant alpha-Gal Aymne comparable to JR-051. We
completed an open-label Phase 2 drug-drug interastudy in 23 males with Fabry disease to evaligeafety and pharmacokinetic (PK)
effects of two doses of migalastat HCI (150 mg 450 mg) co-administered with currently marketed ERWused alpha-Gal enzymes,
Fabrazyme® (agalsidase beta) and Replagal® (agaksialfa). Unlike Study 011 and Study 012, patien&tudy 013 were not required to
have alpha-Gal mutations amenable to chaperoneghdrecause, when co-administered with ERT, mitgtl&Cl is designed to bind to and
stabilize the recombinant enzyme in the circulatioany patient receiving ERT. Each patient recgitheir current dose and regimen of ER’
one infusion. A single oral dose of migalastat K80 mg or 450 mg) was co-administered two houi po the next infusion of the same
ERT at the same dose and regimen. Preliminaryteebom Study 013 showed increased levels of actiphaGal enzyme levels in plasma ¢
increased alpha-Gal enzyme in skin following co-aadstration compared to ERT alone.

Causes of Fabry Disease and Rationale for Use ofjastat HCI

Fabry disease is a lysosomal storage disessilting from a deficiency in alpha-Gal. Sympsoran be severe and debilitating, including
kidney failure and increased risk of heart attaod stroke. The deficiency of alpha-Gal in Fabryigras is caused by inherited genetic
mutations. Certain of these mutations cause changbs amino acid sequence of alpha-Gal that maylt in the production of alpha-Gal with
reduced stability that does not fold into its cotréaree-dimensional shape. Although alpha-Gal peced in patient cells often retains the
potential for some level of biological activity gleell's quality control mechanisms recognize atain misfolded alpha-Gal in the ER, until it
is ultimately moved to another part of the cell d@gradation and elimination. Consequently, littleno alpha-Gal moves to the lysosome,
where it normally breaks down GL-3. This leadsdounulation of GL-3 in cells, which is believedite the cause of the symptoms of Fabry
disease. In addition, accumulation of the misfoldguha-Gal enzyme in the ER may lead to stressbs and inflammatory-like responses,
which may contribute to cellular dysfunction andedise.

Migalastat HCI monotherapy is designeddibas a pharmacological chaperone for alpha-Gaklsctively binding to the enzyme, which
increases its stability and helps the enzyme faild its correct three-dimensional shape. This ktaltion of alpha-Gal allows the cell's quality
control mechanisms to recognize the enzyme as gyofodded so that trafficking of the enzyme to flgsosome is increased, enabling it to
carry out its intended biological function, the atsilism of GL-3.

Because migalastat HCI increases levedspstient's naturally produced-Gal, Fabry disease patients most likely to resgortdeatment
with migalastat HCI monotherapy are those with as@inse mutation or other genetic mutations thattri@sproduction of alphdsal that is les
stable but that maintains some residual enzymeigctiVe estimate that approximately thirty to fifpercent of patients with Fabry disease
have alpha-Gal mutations that are amenable to astglHCI as a monotherapy. Patients with genati@ations leading to a partially made
alpha-Gal enzyme or
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alphaGal enzyme with an irreversible loss of activite #&ss likely to respond to treatment with migaabtCl as a monotherapy. However,
believe that all Fabry patients are potentiallatable with migalastat HCI in combination with ERT.

The combination of migalastat HCl and ERHésigned to bind and stabilize infused enzynwr@ulation as patients receive ERT. We
believe migalastat HCI in combination with ERT nimyable to improve the stability, activity, uptadd tolerability of the therapeutic enzyi
This combination approach may benefit patients wistttive endogenous proteins who are not amenaldieaperone monotherapy.

Fabry Disease Background

The clinical manifestations of Fabry diseapan a broad spectrum of severity and roughhkelzie with a patient's residual alpha-Gal
levels. The majority of currently treated patieatts referred to as classic Fabry disease patiost, of whom are males. These patients
experience disease of various organs, includingitheeys, heart and brain, with disease symptorssdppearing in adolescence and typically
progressing in severity until death in the fourtHifth decade of life. A number of studies suggistt there are a large number of undiagnose
males and females that have a range of Fabry disyasptoms, such as impaired cardiac or renal fiomeind strokes, that usually first appear
in adulthood.

Individuals with this type of Fabry diseaseferred to as later-onset Fabry disease, tehdve higher residual alpha-Gal levels than
classic Fabry disease patients. Although the symgptof Fabry disease span a spectrum of severisyugeful to classify patients as having
classic or later-onset Fabry disease when disqu#isndisease and the associated treatable papulati

Classic Fabry Disease

Individuals with classic Fabry diseaseiarmost instances males. They have little or nectable alpha-Gal levels and are the most
severely affected. These patients first experielieease symptoms in adolescence, including pairiiaglihg in the extremities, skin lesions, a
decreased ability to sweat and clouded eye lelfsii@se patients are not treated, their life exgecy is reduced and death usually occurs i
fourth or fifth decade of life from renal failureardiac dysfunction or stroke. Studies reportethénJournal of the American Medical
Association (January 1999) and The Metabolic andebldar Bases of Inherited Disease (8th edition12@diggest the annual incidence of
Fabry disease in newborn males is 1:40,000-1:60,00frent estimates from the University of lowa déimel National Kidney Foundation
suggest that there are a total of approximatel@G@assic Fabry disease patients worldwide.

Later-Onset Fabry Disease

Individuals with later-onset Fabry diseaaa be male or female. They typically first expecie disease symptoms in adulthood, and oftel
have disease symptoms focused on a single orgaexBmple, many males and females with later-oRabty disease have enlargement of thi
left ventricle of the heart. As the patients adwaimcage, the cardiac complications of the dispasgress and can lead to death. Studies
reported in Circulation and Journal of the Ameritdaart Association (March 2002 and August 2004peesvely), estimated that 6-12% of
patients between 40 and 60 years of age with axpleieed enlargement of the left ventricle of theatt, a condition referred to as left
ventricular hypertrophy, have Fabry disease.

A number of males and females also hawz-lariset Fabry disease with disease symptoms fdarséhe kidney that progress to end-
stage renal failure and eventually death. Studipsnted in Nephrology Dialysis Transplant (2003)niCal and Experimental Nephrology
(2005) and Nephrology Clinical Practice (2005)rastie that 0.20% to 0.94% of patients on dialysieHzabry disease.
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In addition, lateonset Fabry disease may also present in the fostraies of unknown cause. A study reported in Ddmecet (Novembe
2005) found that approximately 4% of 721 male addle patients in Germany between the ages of 38 with stroke of unknown cause
have Fabry disease.

It was previously believed to be rare femfle Fabry disease patients to develop overtalimanifestations of Fabry disease. Fabry
disease is known as an X-linked disease becausehbgted alpha-Gal gene mutation is located @myhe X chromosome. Females inherit ar
X chromosome from each parent and therefore caariirdn Fabry mutation from either parent. By cosifranales inherit an X chromosome (
potentially a Fabry mutation) only from their moatiieFor this reason, there are expected to be tptiglte as many females as males that
Fabry disease mutations. Several studies repartétkiJournal of Medical Genetics (2001), the maéMedicine Journal (2002) and the
Journal of Inherited Metabolic Disease (2001) repuat, while the majority of females with Fabrgease mutations have mild symptoms,
many have severe symptoms, including enlargemethiedift ventricle of the heart and/or renal feglu

Newborn screening studies in Italy, Taiveawl Austria, published in the American Journal afitdn Genetics (2006), Human Mutation
(2009) and the Lancet (2011) respectively, regwt the incidence of Fabry mutations in newborre/er ten times higher than previous
estimates for classic patients, Combined theseestwdreened over two-hundred and sixty-three trmisewborns, and found the incidence o
Fabry mutations to be between 1:2,400 to 1: 385& high incidence was attributed to a large nundberewborn males with alpha-Gal
mutations often associated with later-onset Falwgade, which may not have been identified in jpeviscreening studies that relied on
diagnosis based on development of symptoms oficl&sdry disease.

Fabry Disease Market Opportunity

Fabry disease is a relatively rare disardlae current estimates of approximately 5,000epdsi worldwide are generally based on a small
number of studies in single ethnic populations ricl people were screened for classic Fabry dis@deeresults of these studies were
subsequently extrapolated to the broader world jadjpn assuming similar prevalence rates acrossilptipns. We believe these previously
reported studies did not account for the prevaleidater-onset Fabry disease and, as describeceabmumber of recent studies suggest that
the prevalence of Fabry disease could be many timgder than previously reported.

We expect that as awareness of later-dredety disease grows, the number of patients diaghadth the disease will increase. Increased
awareness of all forms of Fabry disease, partiufar specialists not accustomed to treating Fatisgase patients, may lead to increased
testing and diagnosis of patients with the disease

Based on published data from the Human Géutation Database and our experience in the figldhelieve the majority of the known
genetic mutations that cause Fabry disease aremsissnutations. There are few widely occurring gemeutations reported for Fabry disez
suggesting that the frequency of a specific gematitation reported in the Human Gene Mutation Dasalreflects the approximate frequency
of that mutation in the general Fabry patient papiah. In addition, data from recent newborn scirggstudies published in the American
Journal of Human Genetics (2006), Human Mutatid®@ and the Lancet (2011) suggest that the vajstrityaof newly diagnosed patients
with later-onset Fabry disease also have missensations. Because missense mutations often reslgss stable, misfolded alpha-Gal with
some residual enzyme activity, we believe patieritis these mutations may benefit from treatmenhwitonotherapy migalastat HCI. We also
believe that other types of genetic mutations nesylt in misfolded alpha-Gal and therefore may edspond to treatment with monotherapy
migalastat HCI. Based on this, we believe that axiprately thirty to fifty percent of the Fabry da&se patient population may benefit from
treatment with migalastat HCl as a
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monotherapy. However, the entire Fabry diseasemgbopulation has the potential to benefit frongaastat HCI in combination with ERT.
Existing Products for the Treatment of Fabry Diseasnd Potential Advantages of Migalastat HCI

Currently, two ERT products are approvediie treatment of Fabry disease: Fabrazyme® (@lgals beta) and Replagal® (agalsidase
alfa). Fabrazyme® is approved globally (conditibpal the U.S.) and commercialized by sanofi avetiirough Genzyme Corporation, while
Replagal® is commercialized by Shire and approwettié EU and other countries but not in the U.han drug exclusivity for both
Fabrazyme® and Replagal® has expired in the EUf@mBabrazyme® , in the U.S. as well. The net potdales of Fabrazyme® and
Replagal® for 2013 were approximately $525 millampublicly reported by sanofi aventis and $468ianilas publicly reported by Shire,
respectively.

Prior to the availability of ERT, treatmetiior Fabry disease were directed at amelioratingpsoms without treating the underlying
disease. Some of these treatments include opa@téspnvulsants, antipsychotics and antidepressarsntrol pain and other symptoms, and
beta-blockers, calcium channel blockers, ACE inbitsi angiotensin receptor antagonists and othemtado treat blood pressure and vascular
disease.

For Fabry disease patients who respondgalastat HCI, we believe that the use of migatadtal may have advantages relative to the
use of Fabrazyme® and Replagal®. Published datpdtents treated with Fabrazyme® and Replagal@éwiods of up to five years
demonstrate that these drugs can lead to the iedwdftGL-3 in multiple cell types in the skin, hieand kidney. However, because they are
large protein molecules, Fabrazyme® and Replagad®alieved to have difficulty penetrating someuiss and cell types. In particular, it is
widely believed that Fabrazyme® and Replagal® aabile to cross the blood-brain barrier and thusiali&ely to address the neurological
symptoms of Fabry disease. As a small moleculefhethat has demonstrated high oral bioavailabdlitd good biodistribution properties in
preclinical testing, migalastat HCI has the potrtt reach cells of all the target tissues of Falisease. Furthermore, treatment with
Fabrazyme® and Replagal® requires intravenous imissevery other week, frequently on-site at headite facilities, presenting an
inconvenience to Fabry patients. Hence, oral treatrwith migalastat HCI may be much more converfi@npatients. Lastly, Fabrazymesd
Replagal® are protein therapeutics, and have beenrsto lead to the generation of anti-drug antibséh some patients, which can affect
efficacy. Some patients also experience infusi@oaated reactions that can last for hours or daysontrast, migalastat HCI is not expected
to have immunogenic effects, and may not havedfetysrisks associated with intravenous infusion.

In addition, as discussed above, we belieaemigalastat HCI in combination with ERT maypimve key characteristics of the infused
enzymes used in ERT by allowing for increased partsof enzymes to the lysosomes and degradatisnlmdtrate, thereby potentially
increasing ERT's efficacy. Importantly, patientsowhay not have alpha-Gal mutations amendable talastat HCI monotherapy treatment
may benefit from migalastat HCI in combination WiRT, making migalastat HCI potentially availaldeail Fabry patients.

Next-Generation ERT for Pompe Disease

We are utilizing our CHART platform in comhbtion with our uniquely-engineered, proprietaegambinant human acid-alpha
glucosidase (rhGAA designated AT-B200) to develaozat-generation ERT for Pompe disease. We aremtlyrinvestigating AT-B200, with
and without a pharmacological chaperone, in predirstudies.

We acquired AT-B200 as well as our enzyargeting technology through our purchase of CadlidAir-B200 is differentiated from other
Pompe ERTSs by its unique carbohydrate structure naay be further optimized by applying our pro@igtpeptide tagging technology for
better targeting.
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AT-B200 may also deliver further benefits throughformulation with our pharmacological chaperone2®20 (duvoglustat HCI).

The results from preclinical studies of BPO0 taken together with data from our clinical gmeclinical studies of AT2220 in
combination with ERT support our further developingfiia next-generation ERT for Pompe disease.

Preclinical Studies of AB200 for Pompe Disease

In preclinical studies, AT-B200 was showrhawve superior uptake and activity in diseaseregletissues that correlated with clearance o
accumulated glycogen substrate when compared terdwstandard of care. AT-B200 may be further imptbthrough the application of the
Company's proprietary conjugation technology tadttviIGF2 (a variant of the insulin growth factore2eptor) to further enhance drug
targeting. The vIGF2 peptide binds the intended2a@eeptor (responsible for lysosomal targetingj,dmes not bind to the insulin receptor or
the IGF1 receptor. Preclinical results have shdva AT-B200 and AT-B200 conjugated with vIGF-2 wéedter than Lumizyme for clearing
glycogen in skeletal muscles in Gaa knock-out mice.

CHART for Pompe Disease: Clinical and Preclinicdiaperone-ERT Combination Studies

In January 2013, we announced positivemieary results from all 4 dose cohorts in a PHaspen-label, multi-center study (Study 010)
that evaluated the safety and PK effects of therpheological chaperone AT2220 (duvoglustat HCladoainistered with Myozyme® or
Lumizyme® (alglucosidase alfa or recombinant hurG#A enzyme rhGAA), the only approved treatmentsfompe disease. Male and
female Pompe patients enrolled in Study 010 wererga regularly scheduled ERT infusion. One hoigrgo the initiation of the next ERT
infusion, patients received a single oral dose 52220 (50 mg, 100 mg, 250 mg, or 600 mg). Plasr@vh activity and protein levels were
evaluated during each infusion. Each patient undetiwnuscle biopsies two or seven days after edohion to measure tissue GAA enzyme
activity with and without the chaperone, as welt@measure the level of AT2220 in the muscle. fdsailts from all 4 dose cohorts establishe
human proof-of-concept that co-administration of2R20 just prior to infusing ERT increases GAA engyactivity in muscle tissue compared
to ERT alone. In February 2013, we presented data preclinical studies of AT2220 co-formulatediwihGAA enzyme
(Myozyme®/Lumizyme®) for the first time. These datzowed that this chaperone-ERT co-formulationltedun up to 2.5-fold greater
enzyme uptake and glycogen reduction in multipedse-relevant tissues compared to rhGAA alongdii Bock-out mice. Collectively
these data suggest that AT2220 directly binds tbstabilizes rhGAA, potentially leading to a lardexction of properly folded, active enzyme
in the circulation that is more accessible foruessiptake. AT2220 co-formulated with ERT may alstgate Pompe ERT-related
immunogenicity since properly folded proteins agsl prone to aggregation and less immunogenic|Bé&sm these studies support the
development of our next-generation ERT for Pomgeate.

Pompe Disease Background

Like Fabry disease, Pompe disease is ath&Dresults from a deficiency in an enzyme, GABNS and symptoms of Pompe can be
severe and debilitating and include progressivecheuseakness throughout the body, particularlyttbart and skeletal muscles. The enzyme
deficiencies in Pompe patients are caused by itgtegenetic mutations. Certain of these mutati@use changes in the amino acid sequer
the enzyme that may result in the production oféanyme with reduced stability that does not fol iits correct three-dimensional shape.
Although the enzymes produced in patient cellsrofedain the potential for some level of biologieativity, the cell's quality control
mechanisms recognize and retain the misfolded eezgrthe ER until it is ultimately moved to anotipart of the cell for degradation and
elimination. Consequently, little or no GAA in Pompatients traffics to the lysosome, where it ndiyrtreaks down its substrate, a complex
sugar called
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glycogen. This leads to accumulation of glycogeanslts, which is believed to result in the clinicaanifestations of Pompe disease. Pompe
disease ranges from a rapidly fatal infantile favith severe cardiac involvement to a more slowlygpessive, later-onset form primarily
affecting skeletal muscle. All forms are charaatedi by severe muscle weakness that worsens owverltinthe early onset form, patients are
usually diagnosed shortly after birth and oftenezignce enlargement of the heart and severe mwsekness. In later-onset Pompe disease,
symptoms may not appear until late childhood olthdod and patients often experience progressivectaweakness. According to reported
estimates of the Acid Maltase Deficiency Associatithe United Pompe Foundation and the Lysosomsdd3ie Program at Massachusetts
General Hospital, there are 5,000-10,000 patieftts fompe disease worldwide.

Acquisition of Callidus

In November 2013, we entered into a meageeement with Callidus, a privately held biotedbgg company which was engaged in
developing a next-generation Pompe ERT and compleameenzyme targeting technologies.

In connection with our acquisition of Cedlls, we agreed to issue an aggregate of 7.2 méhanes of our common stock to the former
stockholders of Callidus. In addition, we will biligated to make additional payments to the forsteckholders of Callidus upon the
achievement of certain clinical milestones of u$3& million and regulatory milestones of up to $Xdillion set forth in the merger
agreement, provided that the aggregate mergerdenasgion shall not exceed $130 million. We mayguatelection, satisfy certain milestone
payments identified in the merger agreement aggireg®40 million in shares of our common stock. Thidgestone payments not permitted to
be satisfied in common stock (as well as any paysiiat we are permitted to, but chooses not tisfgan common stock), as a result of the
terms of the merger agreement, will be paid in cash

Strategic Alliances and Arrangements

In November 2013, we entered into a Revisgidbement (the "Revised Agreement") with GSK, parg to which we have obtained glc
rights to develop and commercialize migalastat BKCh monotherapy and in combination with ERT fdsriFalisease. The Revised Agreement
amends and replaces in its entirety the Expandedehgent between us and GSK in July 2012. Undetetines of the Revised Agreement,
there is no upfront payment from Amicus to GSK. #ar next-generation Fabry ERT (migalastat HCla@onfulated with ERT), GSK is
eligible to receive single-digit royalties on nates in eight major markets outside the U.S. Faratastat HCl monotherapy, GSK is eligible to
receive post-approval and sales-based milestosegelhas tiered royalties in the mid-teens in eighjor markets outside the U.S. This
agreement also terminates the co-exclusive lickngse GSK to use JR051 in development of Co-ForndBcb We have the sole
responsibility, at our sole cost and expense, ¢t sach a license from JCR Pharmaceuticals, Co.fLitds deemed necessary.

In November 2013, we entered into securipi@erchase agreement (the "2013 SPA") with GSKcanthin entities controlled by Redmile
Group, LLC for the private placement of (a) shartthe Company's common stock, par value $0.01"Ewenmon Stock") and (b) a
combination of shares of Common Stock (the "Shuarsd warrants (the "Warrants") to purchase shafrdse Common Stock (collectively, 1
"Units"). Each of the investors was one of the Canys shareholders prior to consummation of thesesactions. Pursuant to the 2013 SPA,
we agreed to issue (a) 1.5 million Shares at $gehBhare to GSK and (b) 6 million Units at $2.@0 Pnit to Redmile Group, with each Unit
consisting of one Share and .267 Warrants resutirgy aggregate of 6 million Shares and 1.6 nmiNgarrants underlying the Units to be
issued. Each Warrant is exercisable between JW@14 and June 30, 2015 with an exercise pric& & subject to certain adjustments. We
received total proceeds of $15 million for gene@lporate and working capital purposes as a restiie
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private placement and the transaction closed oreier 20, 2013. As of December 31, 2013, GSK'dtheglequity stake in the Company
was 17.6%.

In September 2013, the Company enteredammimllaboration agreement with Biogen ldec ("Biogeo discover, develop and
commercialize novel small molecules for the treattod Parkinson's disease. The collaboration willdbupon our preclinical studies and
independent published research that suggest inggeastivity of the lysosomal enzyme GCase in tharbmay correct alpha-synuclein
pathology and other deficits associated with Padirs disease. Under terms of the multi-year ageaenthe Company and Biogen will
collaborate in the discovery of a new class of $malecules that target the GCase enzyme, for éurtlevelopment and commercialization by
Biogen. Biogen will be responsible for funding dicovery, development, and commercialization & In addition, the Company will be
reimbursed for all full-time employees working dretproject. The Company is also eligible to receieeelopment and regulatory milestones,
as well as modest royalties on global net sales.

We will continue to evaluate other busindsgelopment opportunities as appropriate thatlkshlreholder value and provide us with
access to the financial, technical, clinical anthowercial resources necessary to develop and mgineeinacological chaperone therapeutics
and other technologies or products. We are exgqguitential collaborations, alliances and otheiinmss development opportunities on a
regular basis. These opportunities may includeatttpiisition of preclinical-stage, clinical-stagenearketed products so long as such
transactions are consistent with our strategic matevelop and provide therapies to patients djwirith rare and orphan diseases, and suppor
our continued transformation from a developmergestzompany into a commercial biotechnology company.

Intellectual Property
Patents and Trade Secrets

Our success depends in part on our alidityaintain proprietary protection surrounding prwduct candidates, technology and know-
how, to operate without infringing the proprietaights of others, and to prevent others from irffing our proprietary rights. Our policy is to
seek to protect our proprietary position by filldgS. and foreign patent applications related toppoprietary technology, including both new
inventions and improvements of existing technoldbgt are important to the development of our bessnunless this proprietary position
would be better protected using trade secretsp@iant strategy includes obtaining patent protactidhere possible, on compositions of
matter, methods of manufacture, methods of usebowtion therapies, dosing and administration regis) formulations, therapeutic
monitoring, screening methods and assays. We elg@n trade secrets, know-how, continuing techgickr innovation, in-licensing and
partnership opportunities to develop and maintainpgsoprietary position. Lastly, we monitor thirdrties for activities that may infringe our
proprietary rights, as well as the progressiorhofitparty patent applications that may have themital to create blocks to our products or
otherwise interfere with the development of ouribess. We are aware, for example, of U.S. patantscorresponding international
counterparts, owned by third parties that cont&imts related replacement enzymes and small malsdal treating protein misfolding. If any
of these patents were to be asserted against ds wet believe that our proposed products woultbbad to infringe any valid claim of these
patents. There is no assurance that a court wanddrf our favor or that, if we choose or are regdito seek a license, a license to any of thes
patents would be available to us on acceptablestemat all.

We own or license rights to several isspaiénts in the U.S., current member states of thefean Patent Convention and numerous
pending foreign applications, which are foreignmauparts of many of our U.S. patents. We also onlicense rights to several pending U.S.
applications. Our patent portfolio includes patearid patent applications with claims relating to
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methods of increasing deficient enzyme activityré@t genetic diseases. The patent positions foalastat HCIl, pharmacological chaperone
and ERT combination therapy, diseases of neuro@egton, afegostat and its derivates including AM8®r Gaucher disease and AT2220
(duvoglustat HCI) for Pompe disease are descriledalband include both patents and patent applicatiee own or exclusively license:

. We have an exclusive license to six issued paents that cover use of migalastat HCI to tredry disease, as well as
corresponding European, Japanese and Canadiangydteese exclusively licensed U.S. patents rejatmmigalastat HCI
expire in 2018 (not including the Hatch-Waxmangtatty extension, which is described below), while European, Japanese
and Canadian patents will expire in 2019 (not ideig the Supplemental Protection Certificates o€ @Rtensions, which are
described below). The patents include claims cogemethods of increasing the activity of and préwenthe degradation af -
GAL, and methods for the treatment of Fabry diseséeg migalastat HCI. In addition, we own pendin. applications
directed to dosing regimens with migalastat HCliclhif granted, may result in patents that expir2027. Further, we own an
issued U.S. patent directed to synthetic stepsectk® the commercial process for preparing migatasCl, which expires in
2026, as well as issued patents in China, Hong KamtbJapan. Foreign counterpart applications ardipg in Brazil, Europe,
Israel and India. We jointly own one issued U.Septand one issued Mexican patent covering a rdethdetermining whethe
male Fabry patients are likely to respond to treatimvith migalastat HCI which expires in 2027. kgnecounterpart
applications are pending in Australia, Canada, peirand Hong Kong. We have one issued U.S. pateetiog a method of
treating a patient diagnosed with Fabry diseask migalastat HCI wherein the Fabry patient hasafrseverahk -galactosidase
A mutations. This patent will expire in 2029. Weahave a pending U.S. application covering a ntettiaetermining whictm
-galactosidase A mutations are likely to be ameledtbtherapy with migalastat HCI which, if grantedll expire in 2029.
Foreign counterpart applications are also pendirfgurope, Japan, Canada, Mexico and Australia,wihigranted, will also
expire in 2029.

. We have an exclusive license to pending patenicgifuns covering the co-administration of migad$1Cl with ERT
(recombinanti -galactosidase A), afegostat with ERT (recombinguntocerebrosidase) and AT2220 (duvoglustat HCilp wi
ERT(recombinant acid -glucosidase). Patents covering specific combinatitave issued in China, India and Mexico. These
issued patents will expire in 2024. Other applmadi from this family are pending in the U.S., Ewp@anada, Brazil, China,
Hong Kong, Israel, Japan and Mexico. . If patesgsié from these applications, expiration will b@@24. We also own a U.S.
provisional patent application covering specifice® and dosing regimens of migalastat hydrochlddade=at Fabry disease in
combination with ERT (recombinaat-galactosidase A). Similarly, we own a U.S. pramigl patent application that covers
specific doses and dosing regimens of duvoglusEittbltreat Pompe disease in combination with EREdmbinant acid -
glucosidase). If patents issue from these applinatiexpiration will be in 2032 to 2033.

. We own an international patent application coverrfggh concentration co-formulation of recombinacitia -glucosidase and
pharmacological chaperone. If patents issue framiiternational application, expiration will be2033. We also own an
international patent application covering stableepteral compositions containing duvoglustat HEpdtents issue from this
international application, expiration will be in 20

. We own an international patent application covedarmp-formulation of recombinant-galactosidase A and migalastat. If
patents issue from this international applicatexpiration will be in 2033.
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. As part of the Callidus acquisition, we acquiredaa patent applications including an applicatsenies covering methods for
coupling targeting peptides to recombinant lysodamaymes, including recombinamt-galactosidase A. These applications
pending in the U.S., Europe, Japan, Brazil, Can@tima and the Republic of Korea. If patents idsom these applications,
expiration will be in 2032. Another patent applioatseries covers a variant recombin@rglucocerebrosidase which was filed
in the U.S., Europe, Japan, Brazil, Canada, Chmaktlae Republic of Korea. If patents issue fronséhapplications, expiration
will be in 2031. Yet another patent applicationegicovers novel signal sequences to improve preigdression and secretion
of proteins. These applications were filed in th& UEurope, Japan, Brazil, Canada, China and ¢ipailitic of Korea. If patents
issue from these applications, expiration will be031.

. We own several US and foreign pending patenliegtfpns which cover the use of pharmacologicapzrones to treat diseases
of neurodegeneration. In particular, we own twaoésspatents and two U.S. patent applications ihatrcthe use of afegostat
and/or its derivatives to treat Parkinson's diseaseell as one patent application covering nowelgounds, including AT3375,
for the treatment of Parkinson's disease. We ovatha&n patent application covering the use of theesaovel compounds,
including AT3375, for the treatment of Gaucher diseas a monotherapy as well as in combinationER. If patents issue
from these applications, expiration dates will mfiggm 2026 to 2031.

. We have an exclusive license to several U.Smatcovering the use of afegostat to treat Gautisease. These patents expire
in 2018 (not including the Hatch-Waxman statutorieasion, which is described below). There arexaJ€S. counterparts to
the exclusively licensed U.S. patents, which exmir2018 in the U.S., covering afegostat to treati€her disease. We also have
an exclusive license to two U.S. patents claimifegastat, the active chemical moiety in Pliceraichtexpire in 2015 and 2016
(not including the Hatch-Waxman statutory extensiehich is described below); and correspondingtata the UK, France,
Sweden, Germany, Switzerland and Japan all of wékgire in 2015 (not including the SPC extensiavtsich are described
below). We own a U.S. patent and its corresponftingign patents covering afegostat, which is thec#j salt form or the
active pharmaceutical ingredient in Plicera, whagbpires in 2027. We own issued U.S., Australiapadase and Mexican
patents directed to the synthesis of afegostat.

. We have an exclusive license to several U.S. patbat cover the use of AT2220 (duvoglustat) tattRompe disease as a
monotherapy. These U.S. patents will expire in 2Q1#8 including the Hatch-Waxman statutory extensighich is described

below). There are no ex-U.S. counterparts to tlobusively licensed U.S. patents, which expire i@ the U.S., covering the
monotherapy use of AT2220 to treat Pompe disease.

Individual patents extend for varying pesalepending on the effective date of filing of tfatent application or the date of patent
issuance, and the legal term of the patents icdh@tries in which they are obtained. Generallyepts issued in the U.S. are effective for:

. the longer of 17 years from the issue date or 20syfrom the earliest effective filing date, if thatent application was filed pr
to June 8, 1995; and

. 20 years from the earliest effective filing datehe patent application was filed on or aftend 8, 1995.

The term of foreign patents varies in adaoce with provisions of applicable local law, tygically is 20 years from the earliest effective
filing date.

The U.S. Drug Price Competition and Pafesrtn Restoration Act of 1984, and amendments themedre commonly known as the Hatch-
Waxman Act, provides for an extension of one patent
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known as a Hatch-Waxman statutory extension, foh &CE to compensate for a portion of the time spealinical development and
regulatory review. However, the maximum extens®fivie years and the extension cannot extend ttempheyond 14 years from New Drug
Application (NDA) approval. Similar extensions aneailable in European countries, known as SPC sides, Japan and other countries.
However, we will not know what, if any, extensiaare available until a drug is approved. In additiarthe U.S., under provisions of the Best
Pharmaceuticals for Children's Act, we may be leatito an additional six month period of patenttpction Market Exclusivity and Orphan
Drug Exclusivity, for completing pediatric clinicatudies in response to a FDA issued Pediatricte¥riRequest before said exclusivities
expire.

The patent positions of companies like @resgenerally uncertain and involve complex letgadhnical, scientific and factual questions.
Our ability to maintain and solidify our proprieggposition for our technology will depend on oucsess in promptly filing patent applications
on new discoveries, and in obtaining effectiveraand enforcing those claims once granted. Wesfepacial attention on filing patent
applications for formulations and delivery regimémsour products in development to further enhamaepatent exclusivity for those produ
We seek to protect our proprietary technology amdgsses, in part, by contracting with our emplsyeellaborators, scientific advisors and
our commercial consultants to ensure that any ites resulting from the relationship are disclopeaimptly, maintained in confidence until a
patent application is filed and preferably untibpaation of the patent application, and assigreeds or subject to a right to obtain a license
do not know whether any of our own patent applaior those patent applications that are licetsed will result in the issuance of any
patents. Our issued patents and those that mag iisshe future, or those licensed to us, may ladlemged, narrowed, invalidated or
circumvented or be found to be invalid or unenfaide, which could limit our ability to stop comgetis from marketing related products and
reduce the term of patent protection that we maje iar our products. Neither we nor our licensas be certain that we were the first to
invent the inventions claimed in our owned or lised patents or patent applications. In addition,competitors may independently develop
similar technologies or duplicate any technologyafeped by us and the rights granted under angispatents may not provide us with any
meaningful competitive advantages against theseetitars. Furthermore, because of the extensive teaquired for development, testing and
regulatory review of a potential product, it is pirée that any related patent may expire priorrtehmrtly after commencing commercializati
thereby reducing the advantage of the patent tdosiness and products.

We may rely, in some circumstances, onetisetrets to protect our technology. However, temdeets are difficult to protect. We seek to
protect our trade secret technology and processest, by entering into confidentiality agreemewith commercial partners, collaborators,
employees, consultants, scientific advisors andrathntractors, and by contracting with our empésyand some of our commercial
consultants to ensure that any trade secrets irggsflom such employment or consulting are ownedi®yWe also seek to preserve the inte
and confidentiality of our data and trade secrgtmhintaining physical security of our premises phgsical and electronic security of our
information technology systems. While we have aterfice in these individuals, organizations and systagreements or security measures
may be breached, and we may not have adequate irsriedany breach. In addition, our trade searety otherwise become known or be
discovered independently by others. To the extattdur consultants, contractors or collaboratsesintellectual property owned by others in
their work for us, disputes may arise as to thbtsign related or resulting know-how and inventions

-16-




Table of Contents
License Agreements

We have acquired rights to develop and cemaialize our product candidates through licensastgd by various parties. For information
regarding our migalastat HCI collaboration with GR#ease see "Strategic Alliances and ArrangemexiitsVe. For our other license
agreements, the following summarizes our mateigaks and obligations under those licenses:

. Mt. Sinai School of Medicine— We have acquired exclusive worldwide patenttdgh develop and commercialize migalastat
HCI, afegostat and duvoglustat HCIl and other phaoiogical chaperones for the prevention or treatroéhuman diseases or
clinical conditions by increasing the activity ofldvtype and mutant enzymes pursuant to a licegseeanent with Mt. Sinai
School of Medicine (MSSM) of New York Universityn tonnection with this agreement, we issued 232sP@Bes of our
common stock to MSSM in April 2002. In October 200 issued MSSM an additional 133,333 shares wihecon stock and
made a payment of $1.0 million in consideratiomofexpanded field of use under that license. Utideragreement, to date we
have paid no upfront or annual license fees antiave no milestone or future payments other thaaltieg on net sales.
However, in October 2008, we amended and resthiedicense agreement to, among other items, peowgdwith the sole right
to control the prosecution of patent rights undmhsagreement and to clarify the portion of rogaltand milestone payments we
received from Shire that were payable to MSSM.dnnection therewith, we agreed to pay MSSM $2.6ianiin connection
with the $50 million upfront payment that we re@hin November 2007 from Shire, our former collabor, which was alreac
accrued for at year-end 2007, and an addition& $gllion for the sole right to and control oveetprosecution of patent rights.
In addition, we paid MSSM $3 million of the $30 hah upfront payment received from GSK in the féugquarter of 2010. This
agreement expires upon expiration of the last efitensed patent rights, which will be in 201%jeat to any patent term
extension that may be granted, or 2024 if we dgwelproduct for combination therapy (pharmacoldgibaperone plus ERT)
and a patent issues from the pending applicatiserang the combination therapy, subject to any miaterm extension that may
be granted.

. University of Maryland, Baltimore County— We have acquired exclusive U.S. patent rightdeteelop and commercialize
afegostat for the treatment of Gaucher disease fnentuniversity of Maryland, Baltimore County. Umdkis agreement, to date
we have paid aggregate upfront and annual licezese df $45 thousand. We are required to make atmile payment upon the
demonstration of safety and efficacy of afegogiattie treatment of Gaucher disease in a Phasel®, sind another payment
upon receiving FDA approval for afegostat for ttemtment of Gaucher disease. We are also requirgalt royalties on net
sales. Upon satisfaction of both milestones, wédcba required to make up to $0.2 million in aggegoayments. This
agreement expires upon expiration of the last eflitensed patent rights in 2015.

. Novo Nordisk A/S— We have acquired exclusive patent rights to devatapcommercialize afegostat for all human indorai
Under this agreement, to date we have paid an garef $0.4 million in license fees. We are akguired to make milestone
payments based on clinical progress of afegositit,aspayment due after initiation of a Phase 8icdil trial for afegostat for tt
treatment of Gaucher disease and a payment dueagubrifiling for regulatory approval of afegostat the treatment of
Gaucher disease in any of the U.S., Europe or Ja@paadditional payment is due upon approval ofjaftat for the treatment
Gaucher disease in the U.S. and a payment is absapon each approval of afegostat for the treatafeBaucher disease in
either of Europe or Japan. Assuming successfulldpreent of afegostat for the treatment of Gauclezase in the U.S., Eurc
and Japan, total milestone payments would be $#lli®m We are also required to pay royalties ot sedes. This license will
terminate in 2016.
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Under our license agreements, if we owelt@s on net sales for one of our products to nilwéi@ one of the above licensors, then we
have the right to reduce the royalties owed tolmesmsor for royalties paid to another. The amafrnbyalties to be offset is generally limited
in each license and can vary under each agreefemnmigalastat HCl and AT2220, we will owe royadtienly to MSSM and will owe no
milestone payments. We would expect to pay royatteall three licensors with respect to afegostat.

Our rights with respect to these agreemintievelop and commercialize migalastat HCI, a$¢atoand AT2220 may terminate, in whole
or in part, if we fail to meet certain developmentommercialization requirements or if we do neetour obligations to make royalty
payments.

Trademarks

In addition to our patents and trade ssckeé own certain trademarks in the U.S. and/ovadrincluding A AMICUS
THERAPEUTICS® & design, AMICUS THERAPEUTICS® and BRT®. At present, all of the U.S. trademark appiimas for these marks
have been either filed or registered by the U.$rmand Trademark Office. Although we previouslgd for approval of the tradename
"Amigal”, we will re-apply for registration of a metradename for migalastat HCI| based on feedbaxk ##DA prohibiting the use of Amigal
for migalastat HCI.

Manufacturing

We continue to rely on contract manufaatite supply the active pharmaceutical ingredients final drug product for migalastat HCI,
other pharmacological chaperones and our next-géarrERT product candidates. The active pharmazduhgredients and final
formulations for these products are manufacturetbunurrent good manufacturing practices (cGMPE @dmponents in the final formulation
for each product are commonly used in other phaetazal products and are well characterized ingmtgi We have implemented appropriate
controls for assuring the quality of both activaphaceutical ingredients and final drug productsdBct specifications will be established in
concurrence with regulatory bodies at the timerofipct registration.

Competition
Overview

The biotechnology and pharmaceutical iniestare characterized by rapidly advancing teabgies, intense competition and a strong
emphasis on proprietary products. In addition, s#varge pharmaceutical companies are increasiioglysed on developing therapies for the
treatment of rare diseases, both through orgaowttrand acquisitions and partnerships. While wibe that our technologies, knowledge,
experience and scientific resources, along withcmllaboration with GSK, provide us with competitimdvantages, we face potential
competition from many different sources, includommmercial enterprises, academic institutions, gowent agencies and private and public
research institutions. Any product candidates Wesuccessfully develop and commercialize will cetepvith both existing and new therag
that may become available in the future.

Many of our competitors may have signifitaigreater financial resources and expertise aagatwith research and development,
regulatory approvals and marketing approved pradUudiese competitors also compete with us in réieguand retaining qualified scientific
and management personnel, as well as in acquitigblogies complementary to, or necessary forpoagrams. Smaller or early stage
companies may also prove to be significant commstitparticularly through collaborative arrangersenith large and established companies.

Our commercial opportunities could be redtlior eliminated if our competitors develop and swrrialize products that are safer, more
effective, have fewer side effects, are more coiergror
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are less expensive than products that we may deviel@ddition, our ability to compete may be afetbecause in some cases insurers or
other third party payors seek to encourage thefigeneric products. This may have the effect okingabranded products less attractive to

buyers.

Major Competitors

Our major competitors include pharmaceltca biotechnology companies in the U.S. and abtbat have approved therapies or
therapies in development for lysosomal storagerdéess within our core programs. Other competitoespharmaceutical and biotechnology
companies that have approved therapies or therapEs/elopment for genetic diseases for which pla@ological chaperone technology may
be applicable. Additionally, we are aware of seleaaly-stage, niche pharmaceutical and biotectgyobmmpanies whose core business
revolves around protein misfolding; however, we moeaware that any of these companies is currevahking to develop products that would
directly compete with ours. The key competitivetfas affecting the success of our product candidate likely to be their efficacy, safety,

convenience and price.

Any product candidates that we successfiglyelop and commercialize will compete with exigttherapies and new therapies that may
become available in the future. The following talides our principal competitors and publicly aghile information on the status of their
product offerings (U.S. dollars in millions):

Competitor

sanofi aventis

Shire

Biomarin
Pharmaceutical, Inc.

Actelion, Ltd.

Protalix Biotherapeutic

Government Regulation

FDA Approval Process

Indication

Product

Class of Product

Status

2013 Sale!

Fabry disease
Gaucher disease
Pompe disease
Gaucher disease
Fabry diseas
Pompe disease
Fabry disease
Gaucher disease
Pompe disease
Mucopolysaccharidosis |
(MPS 1)

Gaucher disease

Gaucher disease

Fabry disease

Fabrazyme®

Cerezyme®

Myozyme®/Lumizym&®

Eliglustat tartrate

GZ402671

GZ402666 ("neo GAA"

Replagal®

VPRIV®

BMN-701

Aldurazyme®

Zavesca®

Elelyso®

PRX-102

Enzyme
Replacement
Therapy
Enzyme
Replacement
Therapy
Enzyme
Replacement
Therapy
Substrate
Reduction Therar
Oral GCS Inhibito
Enzyme
Replacement
Therapy
Enzyme
Replacement
Therapy
Enzyme
Replacement
Therapy
Enzyme
Replacement
Therapy
Enzyme
Replacement
Therapy
Substrate
Reduction Therag
Enzyme
Replacement
Therapy
Enzyme
Replacement
Therapy

Marketec

Marketec

Marketec

Phase 3

Phase :

Phase 1

Marketec

Marketec

Phase 2/

Marketec

Marketec

Marketec

Phase 1/

$

(in millions
USD)
52t

942

68¢

N/A

N/A

N/A

46¢€

34z

N/A

21z

10€

N/A

N/A

In the U.S., pharmaceutical products algesi to extensive regulation by the FDA. The FatlEbod, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, Public
Health Services Act and other federal and statetssand regulations, govern, among other thitgstesearch, development, testing,
manufacture, storage, recordkeeping, approvallitagromotion and marketing, distribution, pogieoval monitoring and reporting,
sampling, and import and export of pharmaceuticatipcts. Failure to comply with applicable U.S.uiegments may subject a company to a
variety of administrative or judicial sanctionschias FDA refusal to file a marketing applicatitmissue Complete Response letters or to not
approve pending new drug applications (NDAS) otdgiic product license applications (BLAS),
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warning letters, product recalls, product seizut@s| or partial suspension of production or dlsttion, injunctions, fines, civil penalties,
litigation, government investigation and criminabgecution.

Pharmaceutical product development in ti. typically involves nonclinical laboratory andimal tests, the submission to the FDA o
investigational new drug application (IND), whiclust become effective before clinical testing masnoeence, and adequate and well-
controlled clinical trials to establish the safatyd effectiveness of the drug for each indicatmmwhich FDA approval is sought. Satisfactiol
FDA pre-market approval requirements typically takeany years and the actual time required variestantially based upon the type,
complexity and novelty of the product or diseagechnical tests include laboratory evaluation odguct chemistry, formulation and toxicity,
as well as animal studies to assess the charaitt®rigotential safety and efficacy of the prodddte conduct of the preclinical tests must
comply with federal regulations and requirementsuding Good Laboratory Practices. The resultsretlnical testing are submitted to the
FDA as part of an IND along with other informatimeluding information about product chemistry, méamturing and controls and at least one
proposed clinical trial protocol. Long-term predtial safety evaluation, such as animal tests afodyctive toxicity and carcinogenicity,
continue during the IND phase of development. Repectve toxicity studies are required to allow imgibn of women of child bearing poten
in clinical trials, whereas carcinogenicity studae required for registration. The results of ¢hiemg term studies would eventually be
described in product labeling.

A 30-day review period after the submissionl receipt of an IND is required prior to the coemcement of clinical testing in humans.
The IND becomes effective 30 days after its redeypthe FDA, and trials may begin at that pointassithe FDA notifies the sponsor that the
investigations are subject to a clinical hold.

Clinical trials involve the administratior the investigational new drug to healthy volumsear patients under the supervision of a
qualified investigator. Clinical trials must be cutted in compliance with applicable governmenutaiipns, good clinical practices (GCP), as
well as under protocols detailing the objectivetheftrial, the parameters to be used in monitosefgty and the effectiveness criteria to be
evaluated. Each protocol involving testing on Wp&tients and subsequent protocol amendments mssitioeitted to the FDA as part of the
IND.

The FDA may order the temporary or permade&tontinuation of a clinical trial at any timeimpose other sanctions if it believes that
the clinical trial is not being conducted in acarde with FDA requirements or presents an unacbkptesk to the clinical trial patients. The
study protocol and informed consent informationgatients in clinical trials must also be submitte@n institutional review board (IRB), for
approval. An IRB may also require the clinical tafthe site to be halted, either temporarily empanently, for failure to comply with the
IRB's requirements, or may impose other conditions.

Clinical trials to support a new drug apation (NDA) or biologic product license (BLA) fonarketing approval are typically conducte:
three sequential phases, but the phases may ovkriBpase 1, the initial introduction of the dintp healthy human subjects or patients, the
drug is tested to assess metabolism, pharmacatsnetiarmacological actions, side effects assatiaith increasing doses and, if possible,
early evidence on effectiveness. Phase 2 usualbhias trials in a limited patient population, tetermine the effectiveness of the drug for a
particular indication or indications, dosage tote@and optimum dosage, and identify common adwedfsets and safety risks. If a compound
demonstrates evidence of effectiveness and an @ddesafety profile in Phase 2 evaluations, PBasils are undertaken to obtain the
additional information about clinical efficacy aadfety in a larger number of patients over longeatment periods, typically at geographically
dispersed clinical trial sites, to permit FDA tcakyate the overall benefit-risk relationship of ttreg and to provide adequate information for
the labeling of the drug.
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After completion of the required clinicabkting, an NDA or BLA is prepared and submittethes FDA. FDA approval of the NDA or BL
is required before marketing of the product mayité@ythe U.S. The NDA or BLA must include the rlswof all preclinical, clinical and other
testing and a compilation of data relating to thedpct's pharmacology, chemistry, manufacture,camdrols. The cost of preparing and
submitting an NDA or BLA is substantial. Under fealdaw, the submission of most NDAs and BLAs iglitidnally subject to a substantial
application user fee; although for Orphan Drugséhfees are waived, and the holder of an approi@d df BLA may also be subject to
annual product and establishment user fees. Tleeseafe typically increased annually.

The FDA has 60 days from its receipt of@ANor BLA to determine whether the application vkt accepted for filing based on the
agency's threshold determination that it is sudfitly complete to permit substantive review. Oreedubmission is accepted for filing, the
FDA begins an in-depth review. The FDA has agreetkttain performance goals in the review of newgdipplications. Marketing
applications are assigned review status durindilihg period. Review status could be either staddar priority. Most such applications for
standard review are reviewed within 12 months uI2UFA V (2 months for filing plus ten months faview. The FDA attempts to review a
drug candidate that is eligible for priority reviavithin six months, as discussed below. The re\pescess may be extended by FDA for three
additional months to evaluate major amendments gtdairduring the pre-specified PDUFA V review clodhe FDA may also refer
applications for novel drug products or drug prddwehich present difficult questions of safety fiircacy to an Advisory Committee for pub
review, typically a panel that includes cliniciaarsd other experts, for review, evaluation and amenendation as to whether the application
should be approved. The FDA is not bound by themsuendation of an Advisory Committee, but it gefigfallows such recommendations.
Before approving an NDA or BLA, the FDA will typitba inspect one or more clinical sites to assurmpliance with GCP. Additionally, the
FDA will inspect the facility or the facilities athich the drug is manufactured. FDA will not appedtae product unless compliance with
current Good Manufacturing Practices is satisfgctmd the NDA or BLA contains data that provide stahtial evidence that the drug is safe
and effective in the indication studied and to karkated.

After FDA evaluates the NDA or BLA and tmanufacturing facilities, it issues an approvaidebr a complete response letter. Complete
response letters outline the deficiencies in thersssion that prevent approval and may requiretankial additional testing or information for
the FDA to reconsider the application. If and witerse deficiencies have been addressed to the Fafidaction in an amendment submitted
to the NDA or BLA, the FDA will then issue an appabletter. FDA has committed to reviewing suctutagrissions in 2 or 6 months
depending on the type and extent of informatiotuited.

An approval letter authorizes commerciathating of the drug with specific prescribing infioation for specific indications. As a
condition of NDA approval, the FDA may require stapgial post-approval commitments to conduct addail testing and/or surveillance to
monitor the drug's safety or efficacy and may ingpother conditions, including distribution and Iéhg restrictions which can materially affi
the potential market and profitability of the dr@nce granted, product approvals may be withdrdwarmpliance with regulatory standards is
not maintained, problems are identified followimdfinl marketing or post marketing commitments iaoé met.

The Hatch-Waxman Act

In seeking approval for a drug through @A\ applicants are required to list with the FDAteén patent(s) with claims that cover the
applicant's product or approved method of use. Lgpproval of a drug, each of the patents listethénapplication for the drug is then
published in the FDA's Approved Drug Products Witterapeutic Equivalence Evaluations, commonly knawithe Orange Book. Drugs lisi
in the Orange Book can, in turn, be cited by péatcompetitors in support of approval of an ablated new drug application (ANDA). An
ANDA provides for marketing of a drug product tihais the same route of administration, active irigred strength and
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dosage form as the listed drug and has been showugh bioequivalence testing to be, in most cakesapeutically equivalent to the listed
drug. ANDA applicants are not required to conducsubmit results of preclinical or clinical testsprove the safety or effectiveness of their
drug product, other than the requirement for bidegjance testing. Drugs approved in this way amamonly referred to as "generic

equivalents" to the listed drug, and can oftenliesstuted by pharmacists under prescriptions &mifor the original listed, "innovator" drug.

The ANDA applicant is required to certifythe FDA concerning any patents listed for therapgd product in the FDA's Orange Book.
Specifically, the applicant must certify that: tfie required patent information has not been fi{@dthe listed patent has expired; (iii) the &idt
patent has not expired, but will expire on a patticdate and approval is sought after patent atipir; or (iv) the listed patent is invalid or will
not be infringed by the new product. A certificatithat the new product will not infringe the alrgagbproved product's listed patents or that
such patents are invalid is called a Paragraphitiication. If the applicant does not challenge tisted patents, the ANDA application will not
be approved until all the listed patents claiming teferenced product have expired.

If the ANDA applicant submits a Paragraptedtification to the FDA, the applicant must at&md notice of the Paragraph 4 certification
to the NDA and patent holders once the ANDA hasilaepted for filing by the FDA. The NDA and patbalders may then initiate a patent
infringement lawsuit in response to the noticehaf Paragraph 4 certification. The filing of a patefringement lawsuit within 45 days of the
receipt of a Paragraph 4 certification automatjcptevents the FDA from approving the ANDA untiktkarlier of 30 months, expiration of the
patent, settlement of the lawsuit or a decisioth@infringement case that is favorable to the AN&pplicant.

Patent term and data exclusivity run irefial. An ANDA application also will not be appray@ntil any non-patent exclusivity, such as
exclusivity for obtaining approval of a new chenhieatity, listed in the Orange Book for the refared product has expired (New Chemical
Entity Market Exclusivity). Federal law providegpariod of five years following approval of a drugntaining no previously approved active
ingredients, during which ANDASs for generic verssasf those drugs cannot be submitted unless thaisalon contains a Paragraph 4
certification that challenges a listed patent, lrich case the submission may be made four yedowfiolg the original product approval.
Federal law provides for a period of three yearsxalusivity following approval of a listed drugaihcontains previously approved active
ingredients but is approved in a new dosage foouterof administration or combination, or for a nese, the approval of which was required
to be supported by new clinical trials conductedbfor the sponsor, during which FDA cannot grefifiective approval of an ANDA based on
that listed drug for the same new dosage formgrofiedministration or combination, or new use.

Other Regulatory Requirements

Once an NDA or BLA is approved, a produdt lae subject to certain post-approval requirerseRrbr instance, FDA closely regulates the
post-approval marketing and promotion of drugsiuding standards and regulations for direct-to-comsr advertising, communications
regarding unindicated uses, industry-sponsoreasfiteand educational activities and promotionetivdties involving the internet.

Drugs may be promoted only for approveddations and in accordance with the provisiondhefapproved labeling. Changes to some o
the conditions established in an approved apptinaincluding changes in indications, new safefgrmation, labeling, or manufacturing
processes or facilities, require submission and Epproval of a new NDA, NDA supplement, BLA or Blstipplement before the change can
be implemented. New efficacy claims require subioisand approval of an NDA supplement and BLA sepmnt (SBLA) for each new
indication. The efficacy claims typically requirew clinical data similar to that included in thégimal application. The FDA uses the same
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procedures and actions in reviewing NDA and BLAgaments as it does in reviewing NDAs and BLAs. #iddal exclusivity may be
granted for new efficacy claims. Generic ANDAS cainipe labeled for these types of claims until ther exclusivity period expires.

Adverse event reporting and submissionesigalic reports is required following FDA approwdlan NDA or BLA. The FDA also may
require post-marketing testing, known as Phasstihtg risk evaluation and mitigation strategied aarveillance to monitor the effects of an
approved product, or place conditions on an appiwad could restrict the distribution or use o froduct. In addition, quality control as well
as drug manufacture, packaging, and labeling proesdmust continue to conform to current good metufing practices, or cGMPs, after
approval. Drug manufacturers and certain subcotaraare required to register their establishmetitts FDA and certain state agencies, and
are subject to routine inspections by the FDA durirhich the agency inspects manufacturing faciliteaccess compliance with cGMPs.
Accordingly, manufacturers must continue to exptme, money and effort in the areas of productiod quality control to maintain
compliance with cGMPs. Regulatory authorities matharaw product approvals or request product redgalh company fails to comply with
regulatory standards, if it encounters problemk¥ahg initial marketing, or if previously unrecoged problems are subsequently discovered

Orphan Drugs

Under the Orphan Drug Act, the FDA may gr@phan drug designation to drugs intended td &eare disease or condition, which is
generally a disease or condition that affects fewan 200,000 individuals in the U.S. Orphan dragignation must be requested before
submitting an NDA or BLA. After the FDA grants ol drug designation, the generic identity of thegdand its potential orphan use are
disclosed publicly by the FDA. Orphan drug desigratioes not convey any advantage in or shorteduh&tion of the regulatory review and
approval process. The first NDA or BLA applicanttwiDA orphan drug designation for a particulainecingredient to receive FDA approval
of the designated drug for the disease indicatiowhich it has such designation, is entitled se@enyear exclusive marketing period (Orpt
Drug Exclusivity) in the U.S. for that product, fbrat indication. During the seven-year period, & may not finally approve any other
applications to market the same drug for the saiseade, except in limited circumstances, suchsh®wing of clinical superiority to the
product with orphan drug exclusivity or if the licse holder cannot supply sufficient quantitieshef product. Orphan drug exclusivity does not
prevent FDA from approving a different drug for teme disease or condition, or the same drug ddfexent disease or condition, provided
that the sponsor has conducted appropriate clitried$ required for approval. Among the other Hasef orphan drug designation are tax
credits for certain research and a waiver of theANID BLA application user fee for the orphan indioa.

Pediatric Information

Under the Pediatric Research Equity AQ@d7 (PREA), NDAs or supplements to NDAs must ciontiata to assess the safety and
effectiveness of the drug for the claimed indicasiin all relevant pediatric subpopulations andupport dosing and administration for each
pediatric subpopulation for which the drug is safie effective. The FDA may grant deferrals for sigsion of data or full or partial waivers.
Unless otherwise required by regulation, PREA dussapply to any drug for an indication for whictpban designation has been granted.

Fast Track Designation

Under the Fast Track program, the sponsandND may request FDA to designate the drug hatd as a Fast Track drug if it is
intended to treat a serious condition and fulfilllmmet medical need. FDA must determine if thegdrandidate qualifies for Fast Track
designation within 60 days of receipt of the spassequest. Once FDA designates a drug as a Fadt Tandidate, it is required to facilitate
the development and expedite the review of thag ésuproviding more frequent communication with guidance to the sponsor.
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In addition to other benefits such as thiditg to use surrogate endpoints and have greateractions with FDA, FDA may initiate review
of sections of a Fast Track drug's NDA or BLA beftine application is complete. This rolling revisnavailable if the applicant provides and
FDA approves a schedule for the submission oféngaining information and the applicant pays appleaser fees. However, FDA's review
period as specified under PDUFA V for filing andisaving an application does not begin until the kestion of the NDA or BLA has been
submitted. Additionally, the Fast Track designatimay be withdrawn by FDA if FDA believes that thesiynation is no longer supported by
data emerging in the clinical trial process.

Priority Review

Under FDA policies, a drug candidate igiéle for priority review, or review within six-mains from filing for a New Molecular Entity
(NME) or six months from submission for a non-NMEhie drug candidate provides a significant improeat compared to marketed drugs in
the treatment, diagnosis or prevention of a diseageast Track designated drug candidate wouldnarily meet FDA's criteria for priority
review. The FDA makes its determination of priodtystandard review during the @@y filing period after an initial NDA or BLA subission.

Accelerated Approval

Under FDA's accelerated approval regulati&ibA may approve a drug for a serious or life#tening illness that provides meaningful
therapeutic benefit to patients over existing treaits based upon a surrogate endpoint that ismrehlsolikely to predict clinical benefit. This
approval mechanism is provided for under 21CRF31l#p&rt H. In this case, clinical trials are conéddin which a biomarker is used as the
primary outcome for approval. This biomarker subgts for a direct measurement of how a patiens féenctions, or survives. Such
biomarkers can often be measured more easily oe mamidly than clinical endpoints. A drug candidapproved on this basis is subject to
rigorous post-marketing compliance requirementdutfing the completion of Phase 4 or post-approimical trials to confirm the effect on
the clinical endpoint. When the Phase 4 commitrieesticcessfully completed, the biomarker is deetodx a surrogate endpoint. Failure to
conduct required post-approval studies, or conéirofinical benefit during post-marketing studiesuid lead FDA to withdraw the drug from
the market on an expedited basis. All promotionatarals for drug candidates approved under actel@rregulations are subject to prior
review by FDA.

Section 505(b)(2) New Drug Applications

Most drug products obtain FDA marketing @wal pursuant to an NDA, an ANDA or BLA. A fourdiiternative is a special type of NDA,
commonly referred to as a Section 505(b)(2) NDAichtenables the applicant to rely, in part, onghtety and efficacy data of an existing
product, or published literature, in support ofafgplication.

505(b)(2) NDAs often provide an alternasthpto FDA approval for new or improved formulasoor new uses of previously approved
products. Section 505(b)(2) permits the submissican NDA where at least some of the informatioruiesd for approval comes from studies
not conducted by or for the applicant and for whtwod applicant has not obtained a right of refeeefitie applicant may rely upon certain
preclinical or clinical studies conducted for apagved product. The FDA may also require compattgeerform additional studies or
measurements to support the change from the appprreeluct. The FDA may then approve the new prodantlidate for all or some of the
label indications for which the referenced prochas been approved, as well as for any new indicadaght by the Section 505(b)(2)
applicant.

To the extent that the Section 505(b)(Pliapnt is relying on studies conducted for anadyeapproved product, the applicant is requirec
to certify to the FDA concerning any patents listedthe
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approved product in the Orange Book to the samenésthat an ANDA applicant would. Thus approvahd@05(b)(2) NDA can be stalled until
all the listed patents claiming the referenced pobdhave expired, until any non-patent exclusivstych as exclusivity for obtaining approval of
a new chemical entity, listed in the Orange Boakiffie referenced product has expired, and, in &ise of a Paragraph 4 certification and
subsequent patent infringement suit, until theieadf 30 months, settlement of the lawsuit or eisien in the infringement case that is
favorable to the Section 505(b)(2) applicant.

Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act of 2010

The Biologics Price Competition and InndsatAct of 2009 (BPCIA), which was enacted as péthe Patient Protection and Affordable
Care Act of 2010, as amended by the Health Cardedndation Reconciliation Act of 2010 (PPACA) cezhtin abbreviated approval pathway
for biological products that are demonstrated téld@similar" or "interchangeable” with an FDA-lieged reference biological product via an
approved BLA. Biosimilarity to an approved referemroduct requires that there be no differencesnditions of use, route of administration,
dosage form, and strength, and no clinically megfoirdifferences between the biological product #mlreference product in terms of safety,
purity, and potency. Biosimilarity is demonstrateagteps beginning with rigorous analytical studiesfingerprinting,"in vitro studies,
in vivo, animal studies, and generally at least one @lrstudy, absent a waiver from the Secretary oftHeand Human Services. The
biosimilarity exercise tests the hypothesis thatittvestigational product and the reference produethe same. If at any point in the stepwise
biosimilarity process a significant difference Isserved, then the products are not biosimilar,deetlopment of a starmlone NDA or BLA is
necessary. In order to meet the higher hurdleteféhangeability, a sponsor must demonstrate tigaibiosimilar product can be expected to
produce the same clinical result as the referenogugt, and for a product that is administered ntioa@ once, that the risk of switching
between the reference product and biosimilar produrot greater than the risk of maintaining tiaéignt on the reference product.
Complexities associated with the larger, and ofteme complex, structures of biological productsyali as the process by which such
products are manufactured, pose significant hutdl@mplementation that are still being evaluatgdh®e FDA. Under the BPCIA, a reference
biologic is granted twelve years of exclusivityrfrdhe time of first licensure of the reference pratd

Anti-Kickback, False Claims Laws & The Prescriptidbrug Marketing Act

In addition to FDA restrictions on marketiaf pharmaceutical products, several other typesate and federal laws have been applied tc
restrict certain marketing practices in the phamugical industry in recent years. These laws ineladti-kickback statutes and false claims
statutes. The federal healthcare program anti-kicklstatute prohibits, among other things, knowiragid willfully offering, paying, soliciting
or receiving remuneration to induce or in returngarchasing, leasing, ordering or arranging ferplrchase, lease or order of any healthcare
item or service reimbursable under Medicare, Mddioa other federally financed healthcare prograniiss statute has been interpreted to
apply to arrangements between pharmaceutical metouéss on the one hand and prescribers, purchasdrrmulary managers on the other.
Violations of the anti-kickback statute are puntdbkaby imprisonment, criminal fines, civil monetggnalties and exclusion from participation
in federal healthcare programs. Although theresamember of statutory exemptions and regulatorg bafbors protecting certain common
activities from prosecution or other regulatory ct@oms, the exemptions and safe harbors are dranowly, and practices that involve
remuneration intended to induce prescribing, pwsehar recommendations may be subject to scrdtthgy do not qualify for an exemption
or safe harbor.

Federal false claims laws prohibit any parfom knowingly presenting, or causing to be présd, a false claim for payment to the
federal government, or knowingly making, or causimgpe
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made, a false statement to have a false claim Raicently, several pharmaceutical and other hemithcompanies have been prosecuted und
these laws for allegedly inflating drug prices thegort to pricing services, which in turn weredibgy the government to set Medicare and
Medicaid reimbursement rates, and for allegedlyioliag free product to customers with the expeotathat the customers would bill federal
programs for the product. In addition, certain nedirig practices, including off-label promotion, melgo violate false claims laws. The
majority of states also have statutes or regulatgmilar to the federal anti-kickback law and éatsaims laws, which apply to items and
services reimbursed under Medicaid and other ptaigrams, or, in several states, apply regardiesdsegayor.

Physician Drug Samples

As part of the sales and marketing progasarmaceutical companies frequently provide sasnpl@pproved drugs to physicians. The
Prescription Drug Marketing Act (the PDMA) impogesjuirements and limitations upon the provisiodmfy samples to physicians, as wel
prohibits states from licensing distributors ofgméption drugs unless the state licensing prograsets certain federal guidelines that include
minimum standards for storage, handling and rekeggping. In addition, the PDMA sets forth civil acrdminal penalties for violations.

Regulation Outside the U.S.

In addition to regulations in the U.S., wdl be subject to a variety of regulations in atlwisdictions governing clinical studies and
commercial sales and distribution of our produktsst countries outside the U.S. require that clihtdal applications be submitted to and
approved by the local regulatory authority for ealthical study. In addition, whether or not we abtFDA approval for a product, we must
obtain approval of a product by the comparable letgry authorities of countries outside the U.Sobewe can commence clinical studies or
marketing of the product in those countries. Theragal process varies from country to country, dredtime may be longer or shorter than
required for FDA approval.

To obtain regulatory approval of an orpkdamg under EU regulatory systems, we are mandatsdimit marketing authorization
applications in a Centralized Procedure. The Céné& Procedure, which is compulsory for medicipesduced by certain biotechnological
processes and optional for those which are highigvative, provides for the grant of a single mérigeauthorization that is valid for all EU
member states. The Decentralized Procedure profodepproval by one or more other, or concerneginimer states of an assessment of an
application performed by one member state, knowth@seference member state. Under this proceduarapplicant submits an application, or
dossier, and related materials including a draftreary of product characteristics, and draft lalzelind package leaflet, to the reference
member state and concerned member states. Themedemember state prepares a draft assessmentaditscodi the related materials within
120 days after receipt of a valid application. WitB0 days of receiving the reference member stasessment report, each concerned
member state must decide whether to approve tlesssent report and related materials. If a menthe sannot approve the assessment
report and related materials on the grounds ofrfiiatieserious risk to the public health, the diggupoints may eventually be referred to the
European Commission, whose decision is bindingllomember states.

We have obtained an orphan medicinal prbdesignation in the EU from the EEA for migaladd&l for the treatment of Fabry disease
and for afegostat for the treatment of GaucheradiseWe anticipate filing for orphan medicinal proddesignation from the EMA for AT2220
for the treatment of Pompe disease. The EMA gramtkan drug designation to promote the developmptoducts that may offer therapet
benefits for life-threatening or chronically detating conditions affecting not more than five @00 people in the EU. In addition, orphan
drug designation can be granted if the drug isnishéel for a life threatening, seriously debilitatmg
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serious and chronic condition in the EU and thadheuit incentives it is unlikely that sales of theglin the EU would be sufficient to justify
developing the drug. Orphan drug designation ig emhilable if there is no other satisfactory meltlapproved in the EU of diagnosing,
preventing or treating the condition, or if sucimethod exists, the proposed orphan drug will b&igriificant benefit to patients.

Orphan drug designation provides opporiemitor fee reductions for protocol assistanceaawkss to the centralized regulatory
procedures before and during the first year aftereting approval, which reductions are not limitedhe first year after marketing approval
for small and medium enterprises. In addition, piraduct which has an orphan drug designation spulesgly receives EMA marketing
approval for the indication for which it has suasigjnation, the product is entitled to orphan d¥uglusivity, which means the EMA may not
approve any other application to market the samg tbr the same indication for a period of ten gedhe exclusivity period may be reduced
to six years if the designation criteria are nagleenmet, including where it is shown that the prids sufficiently profitable not to justify
maintenance of market exclusivity. Competitors megeive marketing approval of different drugs aldgics for the indications for which the
orphan product has exclusivity. In order to dorsmwever, they must demonstrate that the new drug®ltmgics provide a significant benefit
over the existing orphan product. This demonstnatibsignificant benefit may be done at the timéndfal approval or in post-approval
studies, depending on the type of marketing authtian granted.

Pharmaceutical Pricing and Reimbursement

In the U.S. and markets in other countisedgs of any products for which we receive regujahpproval for commercial sale will depend
in part on the availability of reimbursement frohird party payors. Third party payors include goweent health administrative authorities,
managed care providers, private health insurero#rat organizations. These third party payorsrameasingly challenging the price and
examining the cost-effectiveness of medical proglacid services. In addition, significant uncertatists as to the reimbursement status of
newly approved healthcare product candidates. Wermead to conduct expensive pharmacoeconomic studigrder to demonstrate the cost-
effectiveness of our products. Our product canéslatay not be considered cost-effective. Adeqimate party reimbursement may not be
available to enable us to maintain price leveldigeht to realize an appropriate return on ourestynent in product development.

In 2003, the U.S. government enacted latisi providing a partial prescription drug benédit Medicare recipients that began in 2006.
Government payment for some of the costs of pnesen drugs may increase demand for any productafiicch we receive marketing
approval. However, to obtain payments under thigiam, we would be required to sell products to e recipients through managed care
organizations and other health care delivery systeperating pursuant to this legislation. Thesawizations would negotiate prices for our
products, which are likely to be lower than we niigtherwise obtain. Federal, state and local gavents in the U.S. continue to consider
legislation to limit the growth of healthcare costeluding the cost of prescription drugs. Futiegislation could limit payments for
pharmaceuticals such as the drug candidates thatevéeveloping.

The marketability of any products for whiek receive regulatory approval for commercial sadgy suffer if the government and third
party payors fail to provide adequate coverageraimbursement. In addition, an increasing empl@sisianaged care in the U.S. has
increased and will continue to increase the pressarpharmaceutical pricing.
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Employees

As of December 31, 2013, we had 92 fulletiemployees, 64 of whom were primarily engage@search and development activities and
28 of whom provide administrative services. A tabP3 employees have an M.D. or Ph.D. degree. Mémoeir employees are represented
labor union. We have not experienced any work sigpp and consider our employee relations to be.good

Our Corporate Information

We were incorporated under the laws ofStege of Delaware on February 4, 2002. Our prin@gacutive offices are located at 1 Cedar
Brook Drive, Cranbury, NJ 08512 and our telephomalper is (609) 662-2000. Our website addressas/.amicusrx.comWe make available
free of charge on our website our annual, quartamly current reports, including amendments to sepbrts, as soon as reasonably practicabl
after we electronically file such material with,farnish such material to, the U.S. Securities BRchange Commission.

Information relating to our corporate gawance, including our Code of Business Conduct fopByees, Executive Officers and
Directors, Corporate Governance Guidelines, angrinétion concerning our senior management teanr,dBafaDirectors, including Board
Committees and Committee charters, and transadtiomsr securities by directors and executive effi; is available on our website at
www.amicusrx.cormander the "Investors — Corporate Governance" cagitd in print to any stockholder upon request. Mayers or
material amendments to the Code will be posted ptlynon our website.

We have filed applications to register aertrademarks in the U.S. and abroad, includingMdiCUS THERAPEUTICS® and design and
AMICUS THERAPETUICS®. Fabrazyme®, Cerezyme®, Myoa, Lumizyme®, Replagal® , VPRIV® and Zavesca® e property of
their respective owners.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

The occurrence of any of the following risks cdudaim our business, financial condition, result®pérations and/or growth prospects.
In that case, the trading price of our common stoalkld decline, and you may lose all or part of yimvestment. You should understand th
is not possible to predict or identify all suchkss Consequently, you should not consider theviitig to be a complete discussion of all
potential risks or uncertaintie:

Risks Related to Our Financial Position and Need foAdditional Capital

We have incurred significant operating losses sirmdr inception. We currently do not, and since inmt@n never have had, any
products available for commercial sale. We expextrtcur operating losses for the foreseeable futimed may never achieve or
maintain profitability.

Since inception, we have incurred signiftcaperating losses. Our cumulative net loss attaible to common stockholders since inceptio
was $398.7 million and we had an accumulated deffc$378.5 million as of December 31, 2013. Tceedate have financed our operations
primarily through private placements of our redeblma@onvertible preferred stock, proceeds frominitial public and secondary stock
offerings, debt financings and from our collabaratagreements. We have devoted substantially allio&fforts to research and development,
including our preclinical development activitiegdaglinical trials. We have not completed developt@rany drugs. We expect to continue to
incur significant and increasing operating lossgsaf least the next several years and we are @nalgredict the extent of any future losses as
we:

. continue our ongoing Phase 3 clinical trials of atégtat HCI for the treatment of Fabry diseaseaifipsrt regulatory approval in
the United States and worldwide;
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. begin Phase 1 clinical studies of migalastat HGQldrformulated with ERT for Fabry disease;

. continue our preclinical studies on the use of pteaological chaperones co-formulated and co-adteirgd with ERT for
Fabry, Pompe and other lysosomal storage diseases;

. continue the research and development of additiproduct candidates;
. seek regulatory approvals for our product caaigisl that successfully complete clinical trialgj an
. establish a sales and marketing infrastructietnmercialize products for which we may obtagutatory approval.

To become and remain profitable, we mustsed in developing and commercializing drugs witimificant market potential. This will
require us to be successful in a range of challgngctivities, including the discovery of produandidates, successful completion of
preclinical testing and clinical trials of our prart candidates, obtaining regulatory approval iese product candidates and manufacturing,
marketing and selling those products for which waymbtain regulatory approval. We are only in theiminary stages of these activities. We
may never succeed in these activities and may remmezrate revenues that are large enough to aghiefitability. Even if we do achieve
profitability, we may not be able to sustain orre'se profitability on a quarterly or annual baSisr failure to become or remain profitable
could depress the market price of our common saockcould impair our ability to raise capital, emgaur business, diversify our product
offerings or continue our operations.

We will need substantial funding and may be unaliteraise capital when needed, which would forcetaslelay, reduce or eliminate
our product development programs or commercialipatiefforts.

We expect to continue to incur substamgéakarch and development expenses in connectibrowmitongoing activities, particularly as we
continue our Phase 3 development of migalastat A@ther, subject to obtaining regulatory apprafadny of our product candidates
including migalastat HCI, we expect to incur sigraht commercialization expenses for product satesmarketing, securing commercial
guantities of product from our manufacturers arabipct distribution. Under the Revised Agreemenéet into with GSK in November 2013,
GSK will no longer share in the research and depraknt costs related to migalastat HCI as of Janua?p14. With the exception of our
Parkinson's disease program which is funded througfrollaboration with Biogen, we are responsfbleall research and development costs
for all of our programs.

In order to complete clinical trials reldt® migalastat HCI, seek regulatory approvals mgfatastat HCI, commercially launch the product
candidate and continue our other clinical and jmé&gll programs, we will need to seek additionalding. Capital may not be available when
needed on terms that are acceptable to us, dr aspécially in light of the current challengingp@omic environment. If adequate funds are
available to us on a timely basis, we may be reglio reduce or eliminate research developmentranag or commercial efforts.

Our future capital requirements will dep@mdmany factors, including:

. the progress and results of our clinical triisnigalastat HCI;

. the cost of manufacturing drug supply for oumickl and preclinical studies, including the sfggant cost of ERT cell line
development and manufacturing as well as the dastaoufacturing the vIGF-2 peptide tag;

. the scope, progress, results and costs of prealidavelopment, laboratory testing and clinicalltrifor our other product
candidates including those testing the use of pheomgical
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chaperones co-formulated and co-administered with Bnd for the treatment of lysosomal storage dis&a

. the costs, timing and outcome of regulatory revidwur product candidates;

. the number and development requirements of otleetuymt candidates that we pursue;

. the costs of commercialization activities, inclugliproduct marketing, sales and distribution;

. the emergence of competing technologies and othearae market developments;

. the costs of preparing, filing and prosecuting pagpplications and maintaining, enforcing and ddfieg intellectual property

related claims;
. the extent to which we acquire or invest in hasses, products or technologies;

. our ability to successfully incorporate CallidB®pharma, Inc. (Callidus) and its product cantiédaand technology into our
business; and

. our ability to establish additional collaboraticarsd obtain milestone, royalty or other paymentmfemy such collaborators.
Any capital that we obtain may not be on terms feafole to us or our stockholders or may require wsrelinquish valuable rights.

Until such time, if ever, as we generatedpict revenue to finance our operations, we exXjpefihance our cash needs through public or
private equity offerings and debt financings, cagbe collaboration and licensing arrangements aandtg from patient advocacy groups,
foundations and government agencies. If we aretabigise capital by issuing equity securities, stockholders will experience dilution. In
addition, stockholders may experience dilutiorh& holders of the warrants issued in connectioh witr private placement in November 2013
exercise their warrants. Debt financing, if avdiglmay involve agreements that include covenamiisihg or restricting our ability to take
specific actions, such as incurring additional detdking capital expenditures or declaring divideadd may include rights that are senior to
the holders of our common stock. Our current loaeh security agreement with Silicon Valley Bank ud#s a covenant whereby we must
maintain a minimum amount of liquidity measuredh&t end of each month where unrestricted cash,egsiialents and marketable securities
is greater than $20 million plus outstanding del# tb Silicon Valley Bank.

Our credit and security agreement with MidCap coirta restrictions that limit our flexibility in opeating our business. We may be
required to make a prepayment or repay the outstagdndebtedness earlier than we expect under otedit and security agreement
if a mandatory prepayment event or an event of défaccurs, including a material adverse change litespect to us, which could
have a materially adverse effect on our business.

Our credit and security agreement with MagCpursuant to which we have drawn-down $15.0anillcontains various covenants that
limit our ability to engage in specified types mdrisactions. Those covenants limit our abilityaimong other things:

. incur or assume certain debt;

. merge or consolidate;

. change the nature of our business;

. change our organizational structure or type;
. dispose of certain assets;
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. grant liens on our assets;

. make certain investments;

. pay dividends; and

. enter into material transactions with affiliatesturd parties

The restrictive covenants of the agreersentd cause us to be unable to pursue businesstapities that we or our stockholders may
consider beneficial. A breach of any of these caws could result in an event of default underattpeement. An event of default will also
occur if, among other things, a material adversgk in our business, operations or condition fffifel or otherwise) or prospects occurs, or
material impairment of the prospect of our repaynuérany portion of the amounts we owe under the@gent occurs. In the case of a
continuing event of default under the agreementi@®aip could elect to declare all amounts outstantdiige immediately due and payable and
terminate all commitments to extend further créalitd in the case of an event of default relatdabitkruptcy or insolvency, all amounts
outstanding would be immediately due and payabtecammitments terminated), proceed against thatesll in which we granted MidCap a
security interest under the agreement, or otheresgecise the rights of a secured creditor. Amououatstanding under the agreement are
secured by all of our existing and future assetsl@eling intellectual property we own, which is gadi to a negative pledge arrangement).

We may not have enough available cash abl®to raise additional funds on satisfactorgnterif at all, through equity or debt financings
to make any required mandatory prepayments or repely indebtedness at the time any such prepayenent or event of default occurs. In
such an event, we may be required to delay, limduce or terminate our product development or cernialization efforts or grant to others
rights to develop and market product candidatesviieavould otherwise prefer to develop and markeselves. Our business, financial
condition and results of operations could be mallgradversely affected as a result.

We may acquire other assets or businesses, or fooffaborations or make investments in other compasior technologies, that
could harm our operating results, dilute our stoc&lders' ownership, increase our debt or cause usnteur significant expense.

As part of our business strategy, we magypelacquisitions of assets or businesses, oegitatlliances and collaborations, to expand ou
existing technologies and operations. We may retifly or complete these transactions in a timednner, on a cost-effective basis, or at all,
and we may not realize the anticipated benefiengfsuch transaction, any of which could have drdental effect on our financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows. We have pemence with acquiring other companies and lim@ggerience with forming collaboratiol
We may not be able to find suitable acquisitiondidates, and if we make any acquisitions, we maypable to integrate these acquisitions
successfully into our existing business and we meyr additional debt or assume unknown or contitdjabilities in connection therewith.
Integration of an acquired company or assets &y @ikrupt ongoing operations, require the hirihgdulitional personnel and the
implementation of additional internal systems anfdaistructure, especially the acquisition of contrarassets, and require management
resources that would otherwise focus on developurmgexisting business. We may not be able to firithble collaboration partners or identify
other investment opportunities, and we may expegdosses related to any such investments.

To finance any acquisitions or collabonasiowe may choose to issue debt or shares of mumem stock as consideration. Any such
issuance of shares would dilute the ownership oftackholders. If the price of our common stocloig or volatile, we may not be able to
acquire other assets or companies or fund a triasacsing our stock as consideration. Alternatiyél may be
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necessary for us to raise additional funds for esitipns through public or private financings. Atidnal funds may not be available on terms
that are favorable to us, or at all.

Our short operating history may make it difficulbtevaluate the success of our business to datetarabsess our future viability.

We are a development stage company. We @oed operations in February 2002. Our operatmuaate have been limited to organiz
and staffing our company, acquiring and develogingtechnology and undertaking preclinical studied clinical trials of our most advanced
product candidates. We have not yet generated amynercial sales for any of our product candidafés.have not yet demonstrated our ak
to obtain regulatory approvals, manufacture a corniakscale product or arrange for a third partgldoso on our behalf, or conduct sales and
marketing activities necessary for successful pcbdommercialization. Consequently, any predictiabsut our future success or viability n
not be as accurate as they could be if we hadgelooperating history.

In addition, if we are successful in obtagnmarketing approval for any of our lead prodeemdidates or if we acquire commercial assets
we will need to transition from a company with aearch focus to a company capable of supportingremncial activities. We may not be
successful in such a transition.

The anticipated benefits of the Callidus acquisitionay not be fully realized and may take longeréalize than expected.

The Callidus acquisition involved the intatipn of Callidus' operations, product candidated technology with our existing operations
and programs, and there are uncertainties inharesotch integration. We have devoted and will comtito devote significant management
attention and resources to the Callidus integradimoh to the further development of Callidus' pracdiamdidate and other programs. Delays,
unexpected difficulties in the integration proces$ailure to retain key management personnel cadigersely affect our business, financial
results and financial condition. Even if we werdea conduct the integration successfully, we malrealize the full achievement of the
benefits of the Callidus acquisition within a reaable period of time.

In addition, we may have not yet discovetadng the due diligence process, all known ardchown factors regarding Callidus that could
produce unintended and unexpected consequences.fondiscovered factors could cause us to inctarpially material financial liabilities,
and prevent us from achieving the expected berfedits the acquisition within our desired time frasn# at all.

Risks Related to the Development and Commercializatn of Our Product Candidates

We depend heavily on the success of our most adedmroduct candidates. All of our product candidatare still in either

preclinical or clinical development. Clinical tria of our product candidates may not be succesdfule are unable to commercialize
our most advanced product candidates, including al@stat HCI, or experience significant delays inidg so, our business will be
materially harmed.

We have invested a significant portion of efforts and financial resources in the developineé our most advanced product candidates,
including migalastat HCI. Our ability to generateguct revenue, which may never occur, will depkeavily on the successful development
and commercialization of these product candidated,upon the continuation and success of any antidilons we may enter into. The
successful commercialization of our product cantiglavill depend on several factors, including tigfving:

. successful enroliment of patients in our clinicgls on a timely basis;

. obtaining supplies of our product candidates arftere required, third party marketed products inclgd&ERTS, for completion
of our clinical trials on a timely basis;
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. successful completion of preclinical studies arical trials;
. obtaining regulatory agreement in the structuredesign of our clinical programs;
. obtaining marketing approvals from the United Si&eod and Drug Administration (FDA) and similagu&atory authorities

outside the U.S;

. establishing commercial-scale manufacturingrayeanents with third party manufacturers whose meatufing facilities are
operated in compliance with current good manufaufupractice (cGMP) regulations;

. launching commercial sales of the product, whetih@me or in collaboration with others;

. acceptance of the product by patients, the medaraimunity and third party payors;

. competition from other companies and their theisipie

. successful protection of our intellectual propeityts from competing products in the U.S. and abr@and
. a continued acceptable safety and efficacy profileur product candidates following approval.

If the market opportunities for our product candides are smaller than we believe they are, then mewenues may be adversely
affected and our business may suffer.

Each of the diseases that our most advamaetlict candidates are being developed to addrease. Our projections of both the number
of people who have these diseases, as well asitisetsof people with these diseases who have tleafia to benefit from treatment with our
product candidates, are based on estimates.

Currently, most reported estimates of ttevalence of these diseases are based on studiegtifsubsets of the population of specific
geographic areas, which are then extrapolatectimae the prevalence of the diseases in the brosoéd population. In addition, as new
studies are performed the estimated prevalendeesttdiseases may change. In fact, as a resulingf gecent studies, we believe that
previously reported studies do not accurately agtfar the prevalence of Fabry disease and thaptealence of Fabry disease could be n
times higher than previously reported. There candassurance that the prevalence of Fabry disgd@empe disease in the study populati
particularly in these newer studies, accuratelieot$ the prevalence of these diseases in the &reaatld population.

We estimate the number of potential pasi@mthe broader world population who have thoseaies and may respond to treatment with
our product candidates by further extrapolatinineaties of the prevalence of specific types of gematitations giving rise to these diseases.
For example, we base our estimate of the percewifagabry patients who may respond to treatmertt miigalastat HCI on the frequency of
missense and other similar mutations that causey/hdease reported in the Human Gene Mutationti2a® As a result of recent studies that
estimate that the prevalence of Fabry disease dmutdany times higher than previously reportedbeleeve that the number of patients
diagnosed with Fabry disease will increase andnasé that the number of Fabry patients who mayfitdn@m the use of migalastat HCl is
significantly higher than some previously reporéstimates of Fabry disease generally. If our esémaf the prevalence of Fabry disease or c
the number of patients who may benefit from treatihwédth our product candidates prove to be incdrrig® market opportunities for our
product candidates may be smaller than we beltese ére, our prospects for generating revenue raadbersely affected and our business
may suffer.
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Initial results from a clinical trial do not ensurdhat the trial will be successful and success @rlg stage clinical trials does not
ensure success in later-stage clinical trials.

We will only obtain regulatory approvaldommercialize a product candidate if we can dematesto the satisfaction of the FDA or the
applicable non-U.S. regulatory authority, in wedlsigned and conducted clinical trials, that thedlpod candidate is safe and effective and
otherwise meets the appropriate standards regfareapproval for a particular indication. Clinidaials are lengthy, complex and extremely
expensive processes with uncertain results. Araitdi one or more of our clinical trials may ocatilany stage of testing.

Success in preclinical testing and eaiilyical trials does not ensure that later clinicglls will be successful, and initial results fram
clinical trial do not necessarily predict final uéis. We cannot be assured that these trials Withately be successful. In addition, patients ma
not be compliant with their dosing regimen or tpadtocols or they may withdraw from the study @y Eme for any reason.

In addition, while the clinical trials otindrug candidates are designed based on the bleaiklevant information, in view of the
uncertainties inherent in drug development, sucticzll trials may not be designed with focus orniéations, patient populations, dosing
regimens, safety or efficacy parameters or othaakikes that will provide the necessary safetyfiicacy data to support regulatory approva
commercialize the resulting drugs. In addition ividtlal patient responses to the dose administef@ddrug may vary in a manner that is
difficult to predict. Also, the methods we selexiaissess particular safety or efficacy parametessnot yield statistical precision in estimating
our drug candidates' effects on study participdExen if we believe the data collected from clihicels of our drug candidates are promising,
these data may not be sufficient to support appiowshe FDA or foreign regulatory authorities. Elneical and clinical data can be interpreted
in different ways. Accordingly, the FDA or foreigegulatory authorities could interpret these datdifferent ways from us or our partners,
which could delay, limit or prevent regulatory apyal. For example, in December 2012, we annourmediie six-month (Stage 1) results
from Study 011. While we believe these data ar@eraging, the results did not achieve statistialiicance (p=0.3) according to the pre-
specified primary endpoint analysis. Although itirederstood that FDA will consider the totalitytbé data from all clinical trials, including
Study 011 and Study 012 to support a potential to8ditional approval of migalastat HCI monotherapygre can be no assurance that such
data will support such approval or that the FDAl imterpret these data in the same way that we mvhich could delay, limit or prevent
regulatory approval. Similarly, there can be naieasce that the data from Study 011 and Study (Gll3wpport regulatory approval in
territories outside the U.S.

In addition, each of our product candidésdsased on our pharmacological chaperone techyolm date, we are not aware that any
product based on chaperone technology has beeowaapby the FDA. As a result, if the FDA requiréifedlent endpoints than the endpoints
we anticipate using or a different analysis of theadpoints, it may be more difficult for us toaiht or we may be delayed in obtaining, FDA
approval of our product candidates. If we are metessful in commercializing any of our lead prdadiemdidates, or are significantly delayed
in doing so, our business will be materially harmed
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We have limited experience in conducting and managithe preclinical development activities and cliail trials necessary to obtain
regulatory approvals, including approval by the FDA

We have limited experience in conductind aranaging the preclinical development activitied alinical trials necessary to obtain
regulatory approvals, including approval by the F¥e have not obtained regulatory approval nor cencralized any of our product
candidates. Although we announced top-line six-mm@tage 1 results for our Phase 3 study of migal&ft! (Study 011) in December 2012,
the results did not achieve statistical signifi@according to the primary endpoint analysis, archeve not yet completed a Phase 3 clinical
trial for any of our product candidates. Our limditexperience might prevent us from successfullygiésg or implementing a clinical trial. We
have limited experience in conducting and manatfiegapplication process necessary to obtain remylapprovals and we might not be able
to demonstrate that our product candidates meetghepriate standards for regulatory approvakdfare not successful in conducting and
managing our preclinical development activitieglarical trials or obtaining regulatory approvalg might not be able to commercialize our
lead product candidates, or might be significadt#ayed in doing so, which will materially harm doursiness.

We may find it difficult to enroll patients in ouclinical trials.

Each of the diseases that our lead prothuadidates are intended to treat is rare and weoexmly a subset of the patients with these
diseases to be eligible for our clinical trials. Vsiay not be able to initiate or continue clinia#ls for each or all of our product candidates if
we are unable to locate a sufficient number ofileliigpatients to participate in the clinical triaésjuired by the FDA or other non-U.S.
regulatory agencies. For example, the entry catfmi our ongoing Phase 3 study in migalastat €Fabry disease to support approval in the
United States (Study 011) requires that patientstrave a genetic mutation that we believe is nesipe to migalastat HCI, and may not have
received ERT in the past or must have stoppednexatfor at least six months prior to enrollinghe study. As a result, enrollment of the
study lasted for over two years.

In addition, the requirements of our clalitesting mandate that a patient cannot be ingbivanother clinical trial for the same
indication. We are aware that our competitors hangoing clinical trials for products that are cortifpee with our product candidates and
patients who would otherwise be eligible for ouniclal trials may be involved in such testing, reridg them unavailable for testing of our
product candidates. Our inability to enroll a stifnt number of patients for any of our currenfuture clinical trials would result in significa
delays or may require us to abandon one or manealitrials altogether.

If our preclinical studies do not produce positivesults, if our clinical trials are delayed or ifesious side effects are identified durir
drug development, we may experience delays, inaditonal costs and ultimately be unable to commiatize our product
candidates.

Before obtaining regulatory approval foe gale of our product candidates, we must condticr own expense, extensive preclinical
tests to demonstrate the safety of our productidatek in animals, and clinical trials to demortsttae safety and efficacy of our product
candidates in humans. Preclinical and clinicaingst expensive, difficult to design and implemantl can take many years to complete. A
failure of one or more of our preclinical studigscbnical trials can occur at any stage of testfg may experience numerous unforeseen
events during, or as a result of, preclinical testind the clinical trial process that could delaprevent our ability to obtain regulatory
approval or commercialize our product candidateduding:

. our preclinical tests or clinical trials may gre negative or inconclusive results, and we neayde, or regulators may require
us, to conduct additional preclinical testing aniclal trials or we may abandon projects that weeet to be promising;
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. we may decide to amend existing protocols for omgalinical trials;

. regulators or institutional review boards may natharize us to commence a clinical trial or condaictinical trial at a
prospective trial site;

. conditions imposed on us by the FDA or any tb8- regulatory authority regarding the scope @igteof our clinical trials me
require us to resubmit our clinical trial protoctdsinstitutional review boards for re-inspectiamedo changes in the regulatory
environment;

. the number of patients required for our clinicals may be larger than we anticipate or participanay drop out of our clinical
trials at a higher rate than we anticipate;

. our third party contractors or clinical investigatonay fail to comply with regulatory requiremeantdail to meet their
contractual obligations to us in a timely manner;

. we might have to suspend or terminate one oermbour clinical trials if we, the regulators betinstitutional review boards
determine that the participants are being expaseeacceptable health risks;

. regulators or institutional review boards may regtihat we hold, suspend or terminate clinicalaesefor various reasons,
including noncompliance with regulatory requirensent

. the cost of our clinical trials may be greater thananticipate;

. the supply or quality of our product candidatesther materials necessary to conduct our clitizs, such as existing
treatments like ERT, may be insufficient or inadstguor we may not be able to reach agreementscapible terms with
prospective clinical research organizations; and

. the effects of our product candidates may not belt#sired effects or may include undesirable dSigets or the product
candidates may have other unexpected charactsristic

If we are required to conduct additionatichl trials or other testing of our product catettes beyond those that we currently contemg
if we are unable to successfully complete our chhtrials or other testing, if the results of thésals or tests are not positive or are only
modestly positive or if there are safety concewsmay:

. be delayed in obtaining, or may not be able toiobtaarketing approval for one or more of our pradeandidates and milestc
payments from our collaborators;

. obtain approval for indications that are nobesad as intended or entirely different than thagécations for which we sought
approval; or
. have the product removed from the market afteaioing marketing approval.

Our product development costs will alsa@ase if we experience delays in testing or appsoViie do not know whether any preclinical
tests or clinical trials will be initiated as plat) will need to be restructured or will be comgdebn schedule, if at all. Significant preclinica
clinical trial delays also could shorten the pataatection period during which we may have thdsige right to commercialize our product
candidates. Such delays could allow our competttotsing products to market before we do and impar ability to commercialize our
products or product candidates.

Even if migalastat HCI or any other product canditiathat we develop receives marketing approvalwilecontinue to face extensi
regulatory requirements and the product may stéide future development and regulatory difficulties.

Even if marketing approval is obtainedeguiatory authority may still impose significanstréctions on a product's indications, conditions
for use, distribution or marketing or impose ongpin
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requirements for potentially costly post-marketvgilfance, post-approval studies or clinical triddsr example, any labeling ultimately
approved by the FDA for migalastat HCI, if it ispgpved for marketing, may include restrictions @e,usuch as limitations on how Fabry
disease is defined and diagnosed. In additionlatheling may include restrictions based upon ewidesf specific genetic mutations or
symptoms found in patients. Migalastat HCI will@alse subject to ongoing FDA requirements goveritigglabeling, packaging, storage,
advertising, distribution, promotion, recordkeepargl submission of safety and other post-marketimtion, including adverse events, and
any changes to the approved product, product ladpetir manufacturing process. The FDA has sigmifigast-market authority, including, for
example, the authority to require labeling charggessed on new safety information, and to requiré-p@sket studies or clinical trials to
evaluate serious safety risks related to the usedofig. For products approved under the Accelépproval regulations, the FDA has the
authority to require clinical studies to confirnetblinical benefit associated with the surrogatdpemt. In addition, manufacturers of drug
products and their facilities are subject to camdirreview and periodic inspections by the FDA atiter regulatory authorities for compliance
with current Good Manufacturing Practice, or cGMRd other regulations.

If we, our drug products or the manufactgriacilities for our drug products fail to compijth applicable regulatory requirements, a
regulatory agency may:

. issue warning letters or untitled letters;

. seek an injunction or impose civil or crimin&ralties or monetary fines;

. suspend or withdraw marketing approval,

. suspend any ongoing clinical trials;

. refuse to approve pending applications or supplésenapplications submitted by us;

. suspend or impose restrictions on operations, dietucostly new manufacturing requirements;

. seize or detain products, refuse to permit the imngoexport of products or request that we indtiatproduct recall; or
. refuse to allow us to enter into supply contraictsluding government contracts.

The FDA and other regulatory agencies actively erde the laws and regulations prohibiting the proniot of off-label uses. If we
are found to have promoted off-label uses, we magdme subject to significant liability.

The FDA and other regulatory agenciestyriregulate the promotional claims that may be enalout prescription products. In particu
a product may not be promoted for uses that arapmtoved by the FDA or such other regulatory agsnas reflected in the product's
approved labeling. In particular, any labeling aymad by the FDA for migalastat HCI or any of ounext product candidates may include
restrictions on use. The FDA may impose furtheun@inents or restrictions on the distribution oe a$ migalastat HCI or any of our other
product candidates as part of a REMS plan. If veeive marketing approval for migalastat HCI or atlyer product candidates, physicians
nevertheless prescribe such products to theirmtatia a manner that is inconsistent with the apgddabel. If we are found to have promoted
such off-label uses, we may become subject tofgigni liability. The federal government has leviadye civil and criminal fines and/or other
penalties against companies for alleged impropemption and has investigated and/or prosecutedaes@mpanies in relation to off-label
promotion (which is a violation of Federal regutais). The FDA has also requested that certain coiep@nter into consent decrees or
permanent injunctions under which specified proorai conduct is changed, curtailed, or prohibited.
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The commercial success of any product candidatest the may develop, including migalastat HCI, wikkplend upon the degree of
market acceptance by physicians, patients, thirdtpaayors and others in the medical community.

Any products that we bring to the market]uding migalastat HCI, may not gain market acaepé by physicians, patients, third party
payors and others in the medical community. If ¢h@oducts do not achieve an adequate level op&aoee, we may not generate significant
product revenue and we may not become profitalfie.degree of market acceptance of our product datedi, if approved for commercial
sale, will depend on a number of factors, including

. prevalence and severity of any side effectduiting any limitations or warnings contained inraguct's approved labeling;
. efficacy and potential advantages over alterndteatments;

. pricing;

. relative convenience and ease of administration;

. willingness of the target patient population torigw therapies and of physicians to prescribe thiesapies;

. strength of marketing and distribution support eindng of market introduction of competitive prodsic

. publicity concerning our products or competing pretd and treatments; and

. sufficient third party insurance coverage or reinsement.

Even if a product candidate displays a fakite efficacy and safety profile in preclinicaldaclinical trials, market acceptance of the
product will not be known until after it is launaheDur efforts to educate the medical community third party payors on the benefits of our
product candidates may require significant resaiecel may never be successful. Such efforts toateltice marketplace may require more
resources than are required by the conventionhhtdogies marketed by our competitors.

If we are unable to obtain adequate reimbursemertrfi governments or third party payors for any protts that we may develop ol
we are unable to obtain acceptable prices for theseducts, our prospects for generating revenue awhieving profitability will
suffer.

Our prospects for generating revenue ahgaing profitability will depend heavily upon tlavailability of adequate reimbursement for
the use of our approved product candidates froneigouental and other third party payors, both inUt®. and in other markets.
Reimbursement by a third party payor may depend @oumber of factors, including the third partyqés determination that use of a proc
is:

. a covered benefit under its health plan;
. safe, effective and medically necessary;
. appropriate for the specific patient;

. cost-effective; and

. neither experimental nor investigational.

Obtaining reimbursement approval for a picidrom each government or other third party paga time consuming and costly process
that could require us to provide supporting scfentclinical and cost effectiveness data for tise of our products to each payor. We may not
be able to provide
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data sufficient to gain acceptance with respectitmbursement or we might need to conduct post-atengs studies in order to demonstrate the
cost-effectiveness of any future products to sumyops' satisfaction. Such studies might requirtbu@mmit a significant amount of
management time and financial and other resouEsemn when a payor determines that a product igoégidor reimbursement, the payor may
impose coverage limitations that preclude paymenséme uses that are approved by the FDA or n@dgulatory authorities. In addition,
there is a risk that full reimbursement may notiailable for high priced products. Moreover, dliiy for coverage does not imply that any
product will be reimbursed in all cases or at a that allows us to make a profit or even coveramsts. Interim payments for new products, if
applicable, may also not be sufficient to cover casts and may not be made permanent.

A primary trend in the U.S. healthcare isitly and elsewhere is toward cost containment. ¥pea recent changes in the Medicare
program and increasing emphasis on managed camatimue to put pressure on pharmaceutical proglicing. For example, the Medicare
Prescription Drug Improvement and Modernization #ic2003 provides a new Medicare prescription dvegefit that began in 2006 and
mandates other reforms. While we cannot predicfuth®utcome of the implementation of this legista, it is possible that the new Medicare
prescription drug benefit, which will be managedpoiwvate health insurers and other managed ca@naations, will result in additional
government reimbursement for prescription drugschvimay make some prescription drugs more affoelbbt may further exacerbate
industry wide pressure to reduce prescription ginices. If one or more of our product candidateshes commercialization, such changes
have a significant impact on our ability to setri@g@we believe is fair for our products and magefour ability to generate revenue and
achieve or maintain profitability.

In addition, the Patient Protection andotdfable Care Act of 2010 and the Health Care ang&ibn Reconciliation Act of 2010
(collectively referred to as the "Health Care Refdraw") are designed to overhaul the United Stagsdth care system and regulate many
aspects of health care delivery and financing. Aibalth Care Reform Law is intended to broaden actehealth insurance, primarily through
the imposition of health insurance mandates on eyep$ and individuals and expansion of the Medigaatjram, reduce or constrain the
growth of health care spending, enhance remedaisstgraud and abuse, add new transparency reqeins for health care and health
insurance industries, impose new taxes and fediseohealth industry and impose additional healficpoeforms. The Health Care Reform
Law will require the promulgation of substantiaoéations with significant effects on the healtihecendustry.

A number of provisions contained in the lte€are Reform Law may affect us and will likehycrease certain of our costs. For example,
the new law revised the definition of "average nfanturer price" for reporting purposes and the wwdwf rebated drugs has been expanded
include beneficiaries in Medicaid managed care miggdions, which could increase the amount of Maididrug rebates to states. Also,
beginning in 2013, drug manufacturers will be reggito report information on payments or transtdngalue to physicians and teaching
hospitals, as well as investment interests helghygicians and their immediate family members dytire preceding calendar year. Under a
final rule issued by the Centers for Medicare & Madl Services (CMS), drug manufacturers must begiollect the required data on
August 1, 2013 and report the data to CMS by M&Lh2014. Failure to submit required informationymesult in civil monetary penalties.
Additionally, the Health Care Reform Law includeSG@% discount on brand name drugs for Medicare Padrticipants in the coverage gap,
or "donut hole." We do not know the full effect thlae Health Care Reform Law will have on our comeradization efforts if migalastat HCI,
or any other of our drugs, is approved. Although tbo early to determine the effect of the He&ltire Reform Law, the law appears likely to
continue the pressure on pharmaceutical pricinge@ally under the Medicare program, and may alsceiase our regulatory burdens and
operating costs.
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Governments outside the U.S. tend to impose spiate controls and reimbursement approval policieghich may adversely affect
our prospects for generating revenue.

In some countries, particularly Europeanddr{EU) countries, the pricing of prescription phaceuticals is subject to governmental
control. In these countries, pricing negotiationtwovernmental authorities can take considertibile (6 to 12 months or longer) after the
receipt of marketing approval for a product. Toadbtreimbursement or pricing approval in some coestwe may be required to conduct a
clinical trial that compares the cost effectivenefssur product candidate to other available thiemgdf reimbursement of our products is
unavailable or limited in scope or amount, or itprg is set at unsatisfactory levels, our prospéat generating revenue, if any, could be
adversely affected and our business may suffer.

If we are unable to establish sales and marketirapabilities or enter into agreements with third gaes to market and sell our
product candidates, including migalastat HCI, we gnhe unable to generate product revenue.

At present, we have no sales or marketarggnnel. In order to commercialize any of our piddandidates, we must either acquire or
internally develop sales, marketing and distribuapabilities, or enter into collaborations witiripers to perform these services for us. We
may not be able to establish sales and distribygértnerships for other product candidates on dabépterms or at all, and if we do enter into
a distribution arrangement, our success will beeddpnt upon the performance of our partner.

In the event that we attempt to acquirdearelop our own in-house sales, marketing andildigton capabilities, factors that may inhibit
our efforts to commercialize our products withawategic partners or licensees include:

. our inability to recruit and retain adequate nurstfreffective sales and marketing personnel;

. the inability of sales personnel to obtain accessr tsuccessfully market to adequate numbers afiptays to prescribe our
products;

. the lack of additional products to be marketgabr sales personnel, which may put us at a catiygetlisadvantage against

companies with broader product lines;

. unforeseen costs associated with creating our aas snd marketing team or with entering into araing agreement with an
independent sales and marketing organization; and

. efforts by our competitors to commercialize produator about the time when our product candidatedd be coming to
market.

We may co-promote our product candidatesaiious markets with pharmaceutical and bioteabgylcompanies in instances where we
believe that a larger sales and marketing preseilcexpand the market or accelerate penetratibwel do enter into arrangements with third
parties to perform sales and marketing servicespmduct revenues will be lower than if we dirgabld and marketed our products and any
revenues received under such arrangements willndiepe the skills and efforts of others.

We may not be successful in entering ingtrithution arrangements and marketing allianceh third parties. Our failure to enter into
these arrangements on favorable terms could delegpair our ability to commercialize our produenclidates and could increase our costs ¢
commercialization. Dependence on distribution agesments and marketing alliances to commercializgpoaduct candidates will subject us
a number of risks, including:

. we may not be able to control the amount and tinsifigesources that our distributors may devotdéodommercialization of o
product candidates;
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. our distributors may experience financial difficed;

. business combinations or significant changes iistiloutor's business strategy may also adverdédgtaa distributor's
willingness or ability to complete its obligationader any arrangement; and

. these arrangements are often terminated or atldw expire, which could interrupt the marketimgl @ales of a product and
decrease our revenue.

If we are unable to establish adequatessatarketing and distribution capabilities, whetimgiependently or with third parties, we may
be able to generate product revenue and may notieeprofitable.

Product liability lawsuits against us could cause to incur substantial liabilities and to limit comercialization of any products that
we may develop.

We face an inherent risk of product liggikxposure related to the testing of our prodacididates in human clinical trials and will face
an even greater risk if we commercially sell angdurcts that are approved for sale. We may be exposgroduct liability claims and product
recalls, including those which may arise from méas malfunction of, or design flaws in, such predywhether or not such problems directly
relate to the products and services we have prdviflere cannot successfully defend ourselves agaiaims that our product candidates or
products caused injuries, we will incur substariiéddilities. Regardless of merit or eventual oumey liability claims may result in;

. decreased demand for any product candidates ougixd

. damage to our reputation;

. regulatory investigations, prosecutions or ecdanent actions that could require costly recallsroduct modifications;

. withdrawal of clinical trial participants;

. costs to defend the related litigation;

. substantial monetary awards to trial particiganmtpatients, including awards that substantietiyeed our product liability

insurance, which we would then be required to pasnfother sources, if available, and would damageability to obtain
liability insurance at reasonable costs, or atialthe future;

. loss of revenue;
. the diversion of management's attention from margagur business; and
. the inability to commercialize any such prodcahdidates or products.

We have liability insurance policies foralinical trials in the geographies in which we @onducting trials. The amount of insurance
we currently hold may not be adequate to covdiaddllities that we may incur. Insurance coverag@creasingly expensive. We may not be
able to maintain insurance coverage at a reasosabteand we may not be able to obtain insuraneerage that will be adequate to satisfy
liability that may arise. On occasion, large judgitsehave been awarded in class action lawsuitsdb@serugs that had unanticipated side
effects. A successful product liability claim oseries of claims brought against us could causstogk price to fall and, if judgments exceed
our insurance coverage, could decrease our avaitash and adversely affect our business.
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We face substantial competition which may resultathers discovering, developing or commercializipgpducts before or more
successfully than we do.

The development and commercialization a¥ deugs is highly competitive and competition ipegted to increase. We face competition
with respect to our current product candidatesamndproducts we may seek to develop, acquire onuantialize in the future from major
pharmaceutical companies, specialty pharmacewt@apanies and biotechnology companies worldwide eikample, several large
pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies cugrendirket and sell products for the treatment ob$gsnal storage diseases, including Fi
disease. These products include sanofi aventisaEgime® and Shire plc's Replagal®. In addition,@iamarkets and sells Myozyme® and
Lumizyme® for the treatment of Pompe disease. FBSN|, Biomarin Pharmaceutical, Inc. manufacturessampplies Aldurazyme® to Sanofi
for global sales and marketing. We are also awbother enzyme replacement and substrate reduttterapies in development by third
parties, including BMN-701, an enzyme replacembatapy in Phase 2/3 development for Pompe disease.

Potential competitors also include acadenstitutions, government agencies and other pubiit private research organizations that
conduct research, seek patent protection and estafallaborative arrangements for research, deweémt, manufacturing and
commercialization. Our competitors may develop paisl that are more effective, safer, more convemeless costly than any that we are
developing or that would render our product carnisl@bsolete or noncompetitive. Our competitors aiay obtain FDA or other regulatory
approval for their products more rapidly than weyrobtain approval for ours. We may also face coitipetfrom off-label use of other
approved therapies. There can be no assuranceégbaibpments by others will not render our prodaetdidates or any acquired products
obsolete or noncompetitive either during the reseahase or once the products reaches commertiatiza

We believe that many competitors, includiimgdemic institutions, government agencies, p@itt private research organizations, large
pharmaceutical companies and smaller more focusegbanies, are attempting to develop therapies fomynof our target indications. Many of
our competitors have significantly greater finahosources and expertise in research and develtpmanufacturing, preclinical testing,
conducting clinical trials, obtaining regulatorypapvals, prosecuting intellectual property rightsl anarketing approved products than we do.
Smaller and other early stage companies may atseeo be significant competitors, particularlyahgh collaborative arrangements with le
and established companies. These third parties e@myth us in recruiting and retaining qualifiegestific and management personnel,
establishing clinical trial sites and patient régigon for clinical trials, as well as in acquigitechnologies complementary to or necessary for
our programs or advantageous to our business.diti@u, if we obtain regulatory approvals for ouogucts, manufacturing efficiency and
marketing capabilities are likely to be significaompetitive factors. We currently have no comnaneianufacturing capability, sales force or
marketing infrastructure. Further, many of our cetitprs have substantial resources and expertiseriducting collaborative arrangements,
sourcing in-licensing arrangements and acquiring besiness lines or businesses that are greateiotiraown.

Our business activities involve the use of hazardauaterials, which require compliance with enviroremtal and occupational safety
laws regulating the use of such materials. If welate these laws, we could be subject to significtmes, liabilities or other adverse
consequences.

Our research and development programsweuble controlled use of hazardous materials, dintpmicrobial agents, corrosive, explosive
and flammable chemicals and other hazardous conaisanraddition to certain biological hazardous waklitimately, the activities of our thi
party product manufacturers when a product canelidstches commercialization will also require the af hazardous materials. Accordingly,
we are subject to federal, state and local lawggorg the use, handling and disposal of thesermmablteAlthough we believe that our safety
procedures for
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handling and disposing of these materials compbllimaterial respects with the standards presdriyelocal, state and federal regulations, we
cannot completely eliminate the risk of accidentaitamination or injury from these materials. Iiéidn, our collaborators may not comply
with these laws. In the event of an accident dufaito comply with environmental laws, we couldh®d liable for damages that result, and
any such liability could exceed our assets anduress or we could be subject to limitations or paages related to our use of these materials
which may lead to an interruption of our busingssrations or those of our third party contractivbile we believe that our existing insurance
coverage is generally adequate for our normal agdif these hazardous materials, it may not biécgerfit to cover pollution conditions or
other extraordinary or unanticipated events. Funtioee, an accident could damage or force us todtwh our operations. Changes in
environmental laws may impose costly complianceiregqnents on us or otherwise subject us to futakglities and additional laws relating to
the management, handling, generation, manufadnargsportation, storage, use and disposal of naddéarsed in or generated by the
manufacture of our products or related to our chihtrials. In addition, we cannot predict the effthat these potential requirements may have
on us, our suppliers and contractors or our custeme

Risks Related to Our Dependence on Third Parties

Use of third parties to manufacture our product cditlates may increase the risk that we will not haugficient quantities of our
product candidates or such quantities at an accdpacost, and clinical development and commerciafian of our product
candidates could be delayed, prevented or impaired.

We do not own or operate manufacturinglitées for clinical or commercial production of oproduct candidates. We lack the resources
and the capabilities to manufacture any of our pebdandidates on a clinical or commercial scale.drently outsource all manufacturing
and packaging of our preclinical and clinical prodeandidates to third parties. The manufactunghafrmaceutical products requires signific
expertise and capital investment, including theefigwment of advanced manufacturing techniques amceps controls. Manufacturers of
pharmaceutical products often encounter difficalireproduction, particularly in scaling up initiloduction. These problems include
difficulties with production costs and yields anghtjty control, including stability of the producandidate. The occurrence of any of these
problems could significantly delay our clinicalais or the commercial availability of our products.

We do not currently have any agreements third party manufacturers for the long-term comuta supply of any of our product
candidates. We may be unable to enter into agresnemcommercial supply with third party manufaetis, or may be unable to do so on
acceptable terms. Even if we enter into these aggats, the manufacturers of each product candwidltbe single source suppliers to us for a
significant period of time.

Reliance on third party manufacturers' éntésks, to which we would not be subject if wamafactured product candidates or products
ourselves, including:

. reliance on the third party for regulatory corapte and quality assurance;
. limitations on supply availability resulting fronapacity and scheduling constraints of the thirdipsyr
. impact on our reputation in the marketplace if nfaoturers of our products, once commercialized tfaimeet the demands of

our customers;
. the possible breach of the manufacturing agreeimettie third party because of factors beyond outrod; and

. the possible termination or non-renewal of the egrent by the third party, based on its own busipessities, at a time that is
costly or inconvenient for us.
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The failure of any of our contract manutaiets to maintain high manufacturing standardsdoesult in injury or death of clinical trial
participants or patients using products. Such ffaitould also result in product liability claimspguct recalls, product seizures or withdrawals
delays or failures in testing or delivery, costwuas or other problems that could seriously haumbuisiness or profitability.

Our contract manufacturers are requirealdteere to FDA regulations setting forth cGMP. Thegpilations cover all aspects of the
manufacturing, testing, quality control and recaejiing relating to our product candidates and aogiyzts that we may commercialize. Our
manufacturers may not be able to comply with cGRgutations or similar regulatory requirements algghe U.S. Our failure or the failure of
our third party manufacturers, to comply with apable regulations could significantly and adversdfgct regulatory approval and supplies of
our product candidates.

Our product candidates and any productswiamay develop or acquire may compete with ogineduct candidates and products for
access to manufacturing facilities. There are #&didhnumber of manufacturers that operate under B@dgulations and that are both capab
manufacturing for us and willing to do so. If thérd parties that we engage to manufacture prodoctsur preclinical tests and clinical trials
should cease to continue to do so for any reaserikely would experience delays in advancing thesés while we identify and qualify
replacement suppliers and we may be unable torol#piacement supplies on terms that are favotahls. Later relocation to another
manufacturer will also require notification, reviemd other regulatory approvals from the FDA arptegulators and will subject our
production to further cost and instability in theadability of our product candidates. In additigihwe are not able to obtain adequate supplies
of our product candidates or the drug substanaed issmanufacture them, it will be more difficudtr fus to develop our product candidates an
compete effectively.

Our current and anticipated future dependampon others for the manufacture of our prodantiates may adversely affect our future
profit margins and our ability to develop produahdidates and commercialize any products thatmbégjulatory approval on a timely and
competitive basis.

Transitioning our business to focus on the commaeaiization of our products, specifically migalastatCl, may require increased
reliance on third-party relationships to enable thiransition, which may have an adverse effect amr business.

We acquired significant commercial righdsatl formulations of migalastat HCI under the Read Agreement with GSK. If we were to
obtain marketing approval for migalastat HCI frdme £DA, we will need to continue to transition francompany with a development focus tc
a company capable of supporting commercial actizitiVe may not be successful in such a transimhave not yet demonstrated an ability
to obtain marketing approval for or commercializaraduct candidate. As a result, we may not baiesessful as companies that have
previously obtained marketing approval for drugdidates and commercially launched drugs.

There are risks involved with both estdiitig our own sales and marketing capabilities artdreng into arrangements with third partie
perform these services. For example, recruitingteaiding a sales force is expensive and time amisg and could delay any product launch.
If the commercial launch of a product candidatevibich we recruit a sales force and establish niengeapabilities is delayed or does not
occur for any reason, we would have prematurelynmrecessarily incurred these commercialization es@e This may be costly, and our
investment would be lost if we cannot retain orosfion our sales and marketing personnel. Fatbatsmay inhibit our efforts to
commercialize our products include:

. our inability to recruit and retain adequate tens of effective sales and marketing personnel,
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. the inability of sales personnel to obtain access tpersuade adequate numbers of physicians sorive any future products;

. the lack of complementary products to be offereddlgs personnel, which may put us at a competiiseédvantage relative to
companies with more extensive product lines; and

. unforeseen costs and expenses associated wéting an independent sales and marketing orgaomizat

If we enter into arrangements with thirdtjges to perform sales, marketing and distribuservices, our product revenues or the
profitability of these product revenues to us #ely to be lower than if we were to market and aal products that we develop ourselves. In
addition, we may not be successful in entering artangements with third parties to sell and maoketproduct candidates or doing so on
terms that are favorable to us. We likely will hdittee control over such third parties, and anytlidm may fail to devote the necessary
resources and attention to sell and market ourymtsceffectively. If we do not establish sales evatketing capabilities successfully, either on
our own or in collaboration with third parties, wél not be successful in commercializing our protoandidates.

Changes to our collaboration with GSK will requings to secure a new third party manufacturer for @k component of migalastat
HCI co-formulated with human recombinant alpha-Ganzyme.

Our current co-formulated product candidate=abry Disease that we developed as part otolleiboration with GSK utilizes migalastat
HCI co-formulated with a proprietary human reconaiminalpha-Gal enzyme produced by JCR, JR-051. Hdpfovided JR-051 through a
direct agreement with GSK. As a result of changesur collaboration with GSK, we no longer haverg term supply agreement for the
production of JR-051 for us. JCR has committedufapsying us with enough JR-051 to conduct our ptghRhase 1/2 clinical trial of the co-
formulated product candidate, but for future plieical studies, clinical trials and, if approvedmmercialization, we will need to secure a |
term supply agreement or license from JCR or amatee third party supplier for human recombinaphalGal enzyme or develop our own
internal cell line.

There are risks involved with securing avrtleird party supplier for human recombinant algba-enzyme. In addition to the risks
described above with respect to securing and ubing) party manufacturers, there is also a risk #awill not be able to secure a new third
party supplier for human recombinant alpha-Gal emzpn terms acceptable to us and that the FDAredgllire us to conduct new preclinical
studies or clinical trials of the new human recamabit alpha-Gal enzyme. If we are required to cohduch additional preclinical studies or
clinical trials, it could significantly and advelgaffect the overall cost of developing the corfiolated product candidate and significantly
increase the timelines for development.

Materials necessary to manufacture our product cadates may not be available on commercially reasbleaterms, or at all, which
may delay the development and commercializatiorof product candidates.

We rely on the manufacturers of our prodizetdidates to purchase from third party supptie@smaterials necessary to produce the
compounds for our preclinical and clinical studiesl will rely on these other manufacturers for caroial distribution if we obtain marketing
approval for any of our product candidates. Suppliray not sell these materials to our manufacduaethe time we need them or on
commercially reasonable terms and all such pricesasceptible to fluctuations in price and avdlitgtdue to transportation costs, governm
regulations, price controls and changes in econafinitate or other foreseen circumstances. We ddvae¢ any control over the process or
timing of the acquisition of these materials by manufacturers. Moreover, we currently do not hawe agreements for the commercial
production of these materials. If our manufactueeesunable to obtain these materials for our prieell and clinical studies, product testing
and potential regulatory
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approval of our product candidates would be delagigphificantly impacting our ability to develop mproduct candidates. If our manufacturers
or we are unable to purchase these materialsrafjetatory approval has been obtained for our prbdandidates, the commercial launch of
our product candidates would be delayed or thergdvioe a shortage in supply, which would materiaffict our ability to generate revenues
from the sale of our product candidates.

We rely on third parties to conduct certain precigal development activities and our clinical triaend those third parties may not
perform satisfactorily, including failing to meetstablished deadlines for the completion of suchiaities and trials.

We do not independently conduct clinicell$r for our product candidates or certain prectihdevelopment activities of our product
candidates, such as long-term safety studies malsi We rely on, or work in conjunction with, tthiparties, such as contract research
organizations, medical institutions and clinicaléstigators, to perform these functions. For examnpk rely heavily on a contract research
organization to help us conduct our ongoing PhadaR®al trials in migalastat HCI for the treatntex Fabry disease. Our reliance on these
third parties for preclinical and clinical developnt activities reduces our control over these dids: We are responsible for ensuring that «
of our preclinical development activities and olimical trials is conducted in accordance with #pplicable general investigational plan and
protocols, however, we have no direct control dliese researchers or contractors (except by coptaacthey are not our employees.
Moreover, the FDA requires us to comply with staddacommonly referred to as Good Clinical Prastiime conducting, recording and
reporting the results of our preclinical developmetivities and our clinical trials to assure tbata and reported results are credible and
accurate and that the rights, safety and confidgtytiof trial participants are protected. Our agice on third parties that we do not control doe:
not relieve us of these responsibilities and resuénts. Furthermore, these third parties may alse relationships with other entities, some o
which may be our competitors. If these third partie not successfully carry out their contractudle$, meet expected deadlines or conduct
our preclinical development activities or our afiaii trials in accordance with regulatory requiretser our stated protocols, we will not be
to obtain, or may be delayed in obtaining, regulatpprovals for our product candidates and witllm@ able to, or may be delayed in our
efforts to, successfully commercialize our prodtantdidates. Moreover, these third parties may lgloby other entities or they may go out
of business, thereby preventing them from meetieg tontractual obligations.

We also rely on other third parties to stand distribute drug supplies for our preclindevelopment activities and our clinical trials. Any
performance failure on the part of our existinduiure distributors could delay clinical developrhenregulatory approval of our product
candidates or commercialization of our productedpcing additional losses and depriving us of pidéproduct revenue.

Extensions, delays, suspensions or terioimabf our preclinical development activities o @linical trials as a result of the performance
of our independent clinical investigators and cacttresearch organizations will delay, and makeencostly, regulatory approval for any
product candidates that we may develop. Any chamgecontract research organization during an arggpreclinical development activity or
clinical trial could seriously delay that trial apdtentially compromise the results of the actiwtytrial.

We may not be successful in maintaining or estabiigy collaborations, which could adversely affeaiioability to develop and,
particularly in international markets, commerciale products.

For each of our product candidates, wecallaborating with physicians, patient advocacyups) foundations and government agencie
order to assist with the development of our prosiudte plan to pursue similar activities in futuregrams and plan to evaluate the merits of
retaining commercialization rights for ourselvesatering into selective collaboration arrangemauitls leading
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pharmaceutical or biotechnology companies, suauasollaboration with Biogen for our Parkinsonfesgram. We also may seek to establish
collaborations for the sales, marketing and distidn of our products. If we elect to seek collaiors in the future but are unable to reach
agreements with suitable collaborators, we maytdaiheet our business objectives for the affectedyrct or program. We face, and will
continue to face, significant competition in seekappropriate collaborators. Moreover, collaboratiorangements are complex and time
consuming to negotiate, document and implementm&e not be successful in our efforts, if any, tabksh and implement collaborations or
other alternative arrangements. The terms of alighmration or other arrangements that we estalifisiny, may not be favorable to us.

Any collaboration that we enter into may he successful. The success of our collaborati@angements, if any, will depend heavily on
the efforts and activities of our collaboratorssltikely that any collaborators of ours will hasignificant discretion in determining the efforts
and resources that they will apply to these collations. The risks that we may be subject to irsjibs future collaborations include the
following:

. our collaboration agreements are likely to befifeed terms and subject to termination by oulambrators;

. our collaborators may have the first right to maiintor defend our intellectual property rights aaithough we would likely
have the right to assume the maintenance and aeéérmaur intellectual property rights if our coltatators do not, our ability to
do so may be compromised by our collaborators'@oatsnissions; and

. our collaborators may utilize our intellectual peofy rights in such a way as to invite litigatidrat could jeopardize or invalidz
our intellectual property rights or expose us tteptal liability.

Collaborations with pharmaceutical compariad other third parties often are terminatedlowad to expire by the other party. Such
terminations or expirations may adversely affecinsncially and could harm our business reputatiothe event we elect to pursue
collaborations that ultimately expire or are teratéd.

Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property

If we are unable to obtain and maintain protectidor the intellectual property relating to our tectology and products, the value of
our technology and product candidates will be adsely affected.

Our success will depend in large part onatnility to obtain and maintain protection in tHeS. and other countries for the intellectual
property covering or incorporated into our techggland product candidates. The patent situatidgherfield of biotechnology and
pharmaceuticals generally is highly uncertain anlives complex legal, technical, scientific andtfial questions. We may not be able to
obtain additional issued patents relating to odnit@logy or product candidates. Even if issuedeqatissued to us or our licensors may be
challenged, narrowed, invalidated, held to be unreefable or circumvented, which could limit ourlipito stop competitors from marketing
similar products or reduce the term of patent mtade we may have for our product candidates. Charig either patent laws or in
interpretations of patent laws in the U.S. and oteeintries may diminish the value of our intelledtproperty or narrow the scope of our
patent protection.

The degree of future protection for ourggietary rights is uncertain, and we cannot enthaie

. we or our licensors were the first to make the imims covered by each of our pending patent agiidios;

. we or our licensors were the first to file patepplécations for these inventions;
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. others will not independently develop similar deatative technologies or duplicate any of our tetbgies;

. any patents issued to us or our licensors will @®wa basis for commercially viable products, witbvide us with any
competitive advantages or will not be challengedHind parties;

. we will develop additional proprietary technolegythat are patentable;

. we will file patent applications for new propaey technologies promptly or at all;

. our patents will not expire prior to or shordlfter commencing commercialization of a product; or
. the patents of others will not have a negatffece on our ability to do business.

In addition, we cannot be assured thatafrgur pending patent applications will result$sued patents. In particular, we have filed patel
applications in the United States, the EuropeaarR&ffice and other countries outside the U.St. ltla@e not been issued as patents. These
pending applications include, among others, sonteepatent applications we license pursuant tcem$e agreement with Mount Sinai Schoo
of Medicine of New York University. If patents anet issued in respect of our pending patent apjmics, we may not be able to stop
competitors from marketing similar products in Bueand other countries in which we do not haveedsatents.

The patents that we have licensed fromS¥tai School of Medicine relating to use of migea$iCl to treat Fabry disease expire in 201¢
in the U.S. and 2019 in Europe, Japan, and Caradants that we have licensed claiming afegosfiteeketween 2015 and 2016 in the U.S.
and in 2015 in the UK, France, Sweden, GermanytZewand and Japan. In the U.S., we have seveaispatents that were licensed from
the Mt. Sinai School of Medicine covering afegdstatethods of use which expire in 2018. We own% |patent and its corresponding foreign
patents and patent applications covering afegtataate (a specific salt form of afegostat) asduge to treat Gaucher disease, which expires
2027. Other than the patents and patent applicationering afegostat tartrate and its use to Gaaicher disease, we currently have no pet
or issued patents covering methods of using afagtstreat Gaucher disease outside of the U.&r thian the pending applications covering
the use of afegostat in combination with ERT tati®aucher disease. Patents and patent applicdianae own or have licensed relating to
the use of AT2220 (duvoglustat HCI) expire in 2@i8he U.S. (not including the Hatch-Waxman statyxtension, which is described
above). Further, we currently do not have compasitif matter protection for AT2220 (duvoglustat HiDIthe U.S. or either composition of
matter or method of use protection outside of thfe. Where we lack patent protection outside oflite., we intend to seek orphan medicinal
product designation and to rely on statutory datdusivity provisions in jurisdictions outside theS. where such protections are available,
including Europe. If we are unable to obtain sudtgction outside the U.S., our competitors magjrée to use and sell afegostat and/or
AT2220 (duvoglustat HCI) outside of the U.S. aneréhwill be no liability for infringement or anyhadr barrier to competition. The patent
rights that we own or have licensed relating togaduct candidates are limited in ways that mégcafour ability to exclude third parties frc
competing against us if we obtain regulatory appréy market these product candidates. In particula

. We do not hold composition of matter patentsecimg migalastat HCl and AT2220 (duvoglustat HCipmposition of matter
patents can provide protection for pharmaceutioadipcts to the extent that the specifically coverechpositions are important.
For our product candidates for which we do not te@thposition of matter patents, competitors whaibthe requisite
regulatory approval can offer products with the sammmposition as our products so long as the catapetio not infringe any
method of use patents that we may hold.
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. For some of our product candidates, the principédipt protection that covers or those we expedttowiler, our product
candidate is a method of use patent. This typet# only protects the product when used or smidhfe specified method.
However, this type of patent does not limit a cotitpefrom making and marketing a product thatsritical to our product that
is labeled for an indication that is outside of gfagented method, or for which there is a substhanie in commerce outside the
patented method.

Moreover, physicians may prescribe sucbrapetitive identical product for indications othiban the one for which the product has been
approved, or off-label indications, that are coddoy the applicable patents. Although such off-lggescriptions may infringe or induce
infringement of method of use patents, the pracgi@®mmon and such infringement is difficult tepent or prosecute.

Our patents also may not afford us protecéigainst competitors with similar technology. 8gse patent applications in the U.S. and
many other jurisdictions are typically not publidhatil 18 months after filing, or in some casesataall, and because publications of
discoveries in the scientific literature often laghind the actual discoveries, neither we nor igenkors can be certain that we or they were th
first to make the inventions claimed in our or thesued patents or pending patent applicationthadrwe or they were the first to file for
protection of the inventions set forth in theseepaapplications. If a third party has also filed.&. patent application covering our product
candidates or a similar invention, we may haveaigipate in an adversarial proceeding, knownramterference, declared by the U.S. Paten
and Trademark Office to determine priority of intien in the U.S. The costs of these proceedingsddo® substantial and it is possible that
efforts could be unsuccessful, resulting in a lafsgur U.S. patent position.

If we fail to comply with our obligations in our itellectual property licenses with third parties, weuld lose license rights that are
important to our business.

We are a party to a number of license agess including agreements with the Mount Sinaid®tbf Medicine of New York University,
the University of Maryland, Baltimore County andwadNordisk A/S, pursuant to which we license keglilectual property relating to our le
product candidates. We expect to enter into additiicenses in the future. Under our existingniees, we have the right to enforce the
licensed patent rights. Our existing licenses inepasd we expect that future licenses will impesgious diligences, milestone payment,
royalty, insurance and other obligations on usvdffail to comply with these obligations, the lisenmay have the right to terminate the
license, in which event we might not be able toketany product that is covered by the licensedngat

If we are unable to protect the confidentiality olur proprietary information and knowhow, the value of our technology and produ
could be adversely affected.

We seek to protect our know-how and comfideg information, in part, by confidentiality agmments with our employees, corporate
partners, outside scientific collaborators, spoadaesearchers, consultants and other advisoral8géiave confidentiality and invention or
patent assignment agreements with our employeeswanebnsultants. If our employees or consultargath these agreements, we may not
have adequate remedies for any of these breachaddition, our trade secrets may otherwise bedaren to or be independently developed
by others. Enforcing a claim that a party illegallytained and is using our trade secrets is diffiexpensive and time consuming, and the
outcome is unpredictable. In addition, courts algthe U.S. may be less willing to protect tradeets. Costly and time consuming litigation
could be necessary to seek to enforce and detethergcope of our proprietary rights, and failrebtain or maintain trade secret protection
could adversely affect our competitive businesstipos
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If we infringe or are alleged to infringe the int&dctual property rights of third parties, it will dversely affect our business.

Our research, development and commerctadizactivities, as well as any product candidategroducts resulting from these activities,
may infringe or be accused of infringing one or enciaims of an issued patent or may fall within $hepe of one or more claims in a publis
patent application that may subsequently issua@mdhich we do not hold a license or other rightsird parties may own or control these
patents or patent applications in the U.S. andahrdhese third parties could bring claims agaisshat would cause us to incur substantial
expenses and, if successful against us, could eeugepay substantial damages. Further, if a patéfingement suit were brought against us,
we or they could be forced to stop or delay reseatevelopment, manufacturing or sales of the prbduproduct candidate that is the subject
of the suit.

No assurance can be given that patent®texist, have not been filed, or could not bedfite issued, which contain claims covering our
product candidates, technology or methods. Becaiuee number of patents issued and patent apitafiled in our field, we believe there
a risk that third parties may allege they have matights encompassing our product candidatesntdofy or methods.

We are aware, for example, of U.S. patertd,corresponding international counterparts, awnethird parties that contain claims relatec
to treating protein misfolding. If any of these grats were to be asserted against us, while we toatieve that our product candidates would
be found to infringe any valid claim of such pageithere is no assurance that a court would firmbinfavor or that, if we choose or are
required to seek a license with respect to suotnpstsuch license would be available to us onpabke terms or at all. If we were to challe
the validity of any issued U.S. patent in court,wauld need to overcome a presumption of validigt attaches to every patent. This burden i
high and would require us to present clear and iocimg evidence as to the invalidity of the pateotaims. There is no assurance that a court
would find in our favor on infringement or validity

In order to avoid or settle potential claimith respect to any of the patent rights desdrédgove or any other patent rights of third payties
we may choose or be required to seek a license drtrird party and be required to pay license &eagyalties or both. These licenses may nc
be available on acceptable terms, or at all. Ef/ereior our collaborators were able to obtain arge, the rights may be nonexclusive, which
could result in our competitors gaining accessitodame intellectual property. Ultimately, we coddprevented from commercializing a
product, or be forced to cease some aspect ofuminéss operations, if, as a result of actual matiened patent infringement claims, we are
unable to enter into licenses on acceptable tefins.could harm our business significantly.

Others may sue us for infringing their patar other intellectual property rights or filellity, opposition or interference proceedings
against our patents, even if such claims are withwarit, which would similarly harm our businessirfhermore, during the course of litigatic
confidential information may be disclosed in thetrficof documents or testimony in connection withcdigery requests, depositions or trial
testimony. Disclosure of our confidential infornmatiand our involvement in intellectual propertygition could materially adversely affect
business.

There has been substantial litigation aheémoproceedings regarding patent and other imteitd property rights in the pharmaceutical anc
biotechnology industries. In addition to infringembelaims against us, we may become a party ta ent litigation and other proceedings,
including interference proceedings declared byutf Patent and Trademark Office and oppositiorgedings in the European Patent Office
regarding intellectual property rights with respicour products and technology. Even if we prevh# cost to us of any patent litigation or
other proceeding could be substantial.
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Some of our competitors may be able toasushe costs of complex patent litigation moreefively than we can because they have
substantially greater resources. In addition, armgettainties resulting from any litigation coulgdsificantly limit our ability to continue our
operations. Patent litigation and other proceedingg also absorb significant management time.

Many of our employees were previously emptbat universities or other biotechnology or phacautical companies, including our
competitors or potential competitors. We try towrshat our employees do not use the proprietdoyrmation or know-how of others in their
work for us. However, we may be subject to claile tve or these employees have inadvertently @roibe used or disclosed intellectual
property, trade secrets or other proprietary inftion of any such employee's former employer. hiiigh may be necessary to defend against
these claims and, even if we are successful imdifg ourselves, could result in substantial ctstss or be distracting to our management. If
we fail to defend any such claims, in addition &yipg monetary damages, we may jeopardize valuatdiectual property rights, disclose
confidential information or lose personnel.

Risks Related to Regulatory Approval of Our ProductCandidates

If we are not able to obtain and maintain requiredgulatory approvals, we will not be able to commiafize our product candidates,
and our ability to generate revenue will be matdhjaimpaired.

Our product candidates, including migaleli@l, and the activities associated with theirelepment and commercialization, including
their testing, manufacture, safety, efficacy, rd&eeping, labeling, storage, approval, advertigmgmotion, sale and distribution, are subject
to comprehensive regulation by the FDA and othgulaory agencies in the U.S. and by comparablecaities in other countries. Failure to
obtain regulatory approval for a product candideiteprevent us from commercializing the produchdalate in the jurisdiction of the
regulatory authority. We have not obtained regujasmproval to market any of our product candid@teany jurisdiction. We have only limit
experience in preparing, submitting and maintainimgapplications necessary to obtain regulatopr@mls and expect to rely on third party
contract research organizations to assist us snpitucess.

Securing FDA approval requires the subraissif extensive preclinical and clinical data angporting information to the FDA for each
therapeutic indication to establish the productidate's safety and efficacy. Securing FDA appreist requires the submission of
information about the product manufacturing prodesand inspection of manufacturing facilities bhye FDA. Our future products may not be
effective, may be only moderately effective or npagve to have undesirable or unintended side efféaxicities or other characteristics that
may preclude our obtaining regulatory approvalrevpnt or limit commercial use.

Our product candidates may fail to obtaigulatory approval for many reasons, including:

. our failure to demonstrate to the satisfactiorhef FEDA or comparable regulatory authorities thptaduct candidate is safe and
effective for a particular indication;

. the results of clinical trials may not meet thedeof statistical significance required by the FDAcomparable regulatory
authorities for approval;

. our inability to demonstrate that a product ddatk's benefits outweigh its risks;
. our inability to demonstrate that the productdidate is at least as effective as existing thiesap
. the FDA's or comparable regulatory authoritibsagreement with the manner in which we interfiretdata from preclinical

studies or clinical trials;
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. the FDA's or comparable regulatory authoritiedufaito approve the manufacturing processes, gualiicedures or
manufacturing facilities of third party manufactgavith which we contract for clinical or commeicsapplies; and

. a change in the approval policies or regulationthefFDA or comparable regulatory authorities change in the laws
governing the approval process.

The process of obtaining regulatory appi®isexpensive, often takes many years, if apgrisvabtained at all, and can vary substantially
based upon a variety of factors, including the hymenplexity and novelty of the product candidate®lved. Changes in regulatory approval
policies during the development period, changew ithe enactment of additional statutes or reguiati or changes in regulatory review for
each submitted product application may cause détetlyge approval or rejection of an applicationeT¥DA and norld.S. regulatory authoritie
have substantial discretion in the approval proeessmay refuse to accept any application or maijddehat our data is insufficient for
approval and require additional preclinical, cladior other studies. In addition, varying interpt&ins of the data obtained from preclinical anc
clinical testing could delay, limit or prevent régtory approval of a product candidate. Any reqaatapproval we ultimately obtain may be
limited or subject to restrictions or post approsammitments that render the approved product owincercially viable. Any FDA or other
regulatory approval of our product candidates, artt@ined, may be withdrawn, including for failuoecomply with regulatory requirements
if clinical or manufacturing problems follow initimarketing.

Our product candidates may cause undesirable siffeats or have other properties that could delaymevent their regulatory
approval or commercialization.

Undesirable side effects caused by ourymbdandidates could interrupt, delay or halt clitrials and could result in the denial of
regulatory approval by the FDA or other regulatanghorities for any or all targeted indicationsg amturn prevent us from commercializing
our product candidates and generating revenuestfiemsale. In addition, if any of our product datates receive marketing approval and we
or others later identify undesirable side effeetssed by the product:

. regulatory authorities may require the additiomedtrictive labeling statements;
. regulatory authorities may withdraw their approofithe product; and
. we may be required to change the way the prodwdnsinistered or conduct additional clinical trials

Any of these events could prevent us frameving or maintaining market acceptance of tliecéd product or could substantially
increase the costs and expenses of commercializengroduct candidate, which in turn could delapmvent us from generating significant
revenues from its sale or adversely affect our tagjmn.

We may not be able to obtain orphan drug exclugivibr our product candidates. If our competitors@mble to obtain orphan drug
exclusivity for their products that are the sameudy as our product candidates, we may not be abladawe competing products
approved by the applicable regulatory authority farsignificant period of time.

Regulatory authorities in some jurisdictipimcluding the U.S. and Europe, may designatggifor relatively small patient populations as
orphan drugs. We obtained orphan drug designationsthe FDA for migalastat HCI for the treatmeffabry disease in February 2004, for
the active ingredient in afegostat for the treathodéiGaucher disease in January 2006 and for AT2@2the treatment of Pompe disease in
June 2007. We also obtained orphan medicinal ptatkgignation in the EU for migalastat HCI in Ma308 and for afegostat in October 20
We anticipate filing for orphan drug designatiorthe EU for AT2220 for the treatment of Pompe dise&enerally, if a
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product with an orphan drug designation subsequeeateives the first marketing approval for theidation for which it has such designation,
the product is entitled to a period of marketinglasivity, which precludes the applicable regulgtauthority from approving another
marketing application for the same drug for thaaetiperiod. The applicable period is 7 years indtfe and 10 years in Europe. For a drug
composed of small molecules, the FDA defines "sdmg" as a drug that contains the same active mtdemd is intended for the same use.
Obtaining orphan drug exclusivity for migalastatI@d afegostat may be important to each of thdymbcandidate's success. Even if we
obtain orphan drug exclusivity for our products, may not be able to maintain it. For example,dbapetitive product that is the same dru
our product candidate is shown to be clinicallyesigr to our product candidate, any orphan drudusiaty we have obtained will not block
the approval of such competitive product and we efésctively lose what had previously been orphamgdexclusivity.

Any product for which we obtain marketing approvebuld be subject to restrictions or withdrawal frothe market and we may be
subject to penalties if we fail to comply with relgtory requirements or if we experience unanticipak problems with our products,
when and if any of them are approved.

Any product for which we obtain marketimgpaoval, along with the manufacturing processest ppproval clinical data, labeling,
advertising and promotional activities for suchdaret, will be subject to continual requirementsnél review by the FDA and comparable
regulatory authorities. These requirements inclidemissions of safety and other post marketingim&tion and reports, registration
requirements, cGMP requirements relating to qualitytrol, quality assurance and corresponding reaarice of records and documents,
requirements regarding the distribution of sampdgshysicians and recordkeeping. Even if we obtagulatory approval of a product, the
approval may be subject to limitations on the iathd uses for which the product may be marketed thre conditions of approval, or contain
requirements for costly post marketing testing sundeillance to monitor the safety or efficacy o fproduct. We also may be subject to state
laws and registration requirements covering theitdigtion of our products. Later discovery of prawsly unknown problems with our produc
manufacturers or manufacturing processes, or @atlmcomply with regulatory requirements, may resulctions such as:

. restrictions on such products, manufacturers orufaturing processes;

. warning letters;

. withdrawal of the products from the market;

. refusal to approve pending applications or suppigmt approved applications that we submit;

. voluntary or mandatory recall;

. fines;

. suspension or withdrawal of regulatory approwalsefusal to approve pending applications or &mpnts to approved

applications that we submit;

. refusal to permit the import or export of ouogucts;

. product seizure or detentions;

. injunctions or the imposition of civil or crimingknalties; and
. adverse publicity.

If we, or our suppliers, third party comti@rs, clinical investigators or collaborators si@wv to adapt, or are unable to adapt, to changes |
existing regulatory requirements or adoption of megulatory requirements or policies, we or outatmrators may lose marketing approval
for our
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products when and if any of them are approved Jtiagun decreased revenue from milestones, prodaiets or royalties.
Failure to obtain regulatory approval in internatioal jurisdictions would prevent us from marketinguo products abroad.

In order to market our products in the Eid anany other jurisdictions, we must obtain segaragulatory approvals and comply with
numerous and varying regulatory requirements. fpeaval procedures vary among countries and cashimvadditional testing and clinical
trials. The time required to obtain approval mafedifrom that required to obtain FDA approval. Tiegulatory approval process outside the
U.S. may include all of the risks associated witkaming FDA approval. In addition, in many coua$rioutside the U.S., it is required that the
product be approved for reimbursement by governshaoked healthcare regulators or insurance providefore the product can be approved
for sale in that country. We may not obtain appt®#@m regulatory authorities outside the U.Sagimely basis, if at all. Approval by the
FDA does not ensure approval by regulatory autiesrin other countries or jurisdictions, and appitdw one regulatory authority outside the
U.S. does not ensure approval by regulatory autlsiin other countries or jurisdictions or by #@A. We may not be able to file for
regulatory approvals and may not receive necesggmsovals to commercialize our products in any retark

Risks Related to Employee Matters

Our future success depends on our ability to retaiar Chief Executive Officer and other key executivand to attract, retain and
motivate qualified personnel.

We are highly dependent on John F. Crowdey,Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, BradleyCampbell, our Chief Operating
Officer, and William D. Baird, IIl, our Chief Finaial Officer. These executives each have signifipdrarmaceutical industry experience.
Mr. Crowley is a commissioned officer in the U.SaWy (Reserve), and he may be called to active slertyice at any time. The loss of
Mr. Crowley for protracted military duty could matly adversely affect our business. The losshefdervices of any of these executives ir
impede the achievement of our research, developamehtommercialization objectives and materiallyeadely affect our business. We do not
maintain "key person" insurance on Mr. Crowley nramy of our other executive officers.

Recruiting and retaining qualified scieiatitlinical and sales and marketing personnel aldb be critical to our success. In addition,
maintaining a qualified finance and legal departgkey to our ability to meet our regulatory gfaltions as a public company and important
in any potential capital raising activities. Oudiurstry has experienced a high rate of turnoveedemt years. We may not be able to attract anc
retain these personnel on acceptable terms giweodmpetition among numerous pharmaceutical artddsiaology companies for similar
personnel, particularly in New Jersey and surroog@ireas. Although we believe we offer competitataries and benefits, we may have to
increase spending in order to retain personn&lelfail to retain our remaining qualified personaeteplace them when they leave, we may b
unable to continue our development and commereiddia activities.

In addition, we rely on consultants andisals, including scientific and clinical advisots,assist us in formulating our research and
development and commercialization strategy. Ousuliants and advisors may be employed by emplatbes than us and may have
commitments under consulting or advisory contradts other entities that may limit their availabjiito us.
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Risks Related to Our Common Stock

Our executive officers, directors and principal sicholders maintain the ability to control all matte submitted to our stockholders
for approval.

Our executive officers, directors and &fiédd stockholders beneficially own shares repitasgapproximately 49% of our common stock
as of December 31, 2013. As a result, if thesekbtmlders were to choose to act together, they wbaldble to control all matters submitted to
our stockholders for approval, as well as our managnt and affairs. For example, these personseyf thoose to act together, will control the
election of directors and approval of any mergensolidation, sale of all or substantially all afr@ssets or other business combination or
reorganization. This concentration of voting poweuld delay or prevent an acquisition of us on tetiat other stockholders may desire. The
interests of this group of stockholders may notagfsvcoincide with the interests of other stockhadand they may act, whether by meeting o
written consent of stockholders, in a manner thabaces their best interests and not necessaoetbf other stockholders, including
obtaining a premium value for their common stocld enight affect the prevailing market price for @@mmon stock.

Provisions in our corporate charter documents andder Delaware law could make an acquisition of wghich may be beneficial to
our stockholders, more difficult and may preventetpts by our stockholders to replace or remove ourrent management.

Provisions in our corporate charter andlylaws may discourage, delay or prevent a meegepisition or other change in control of us
that stockholders may consider favorable, includiagsactions in which our stockholders might othise receive a premium for their shares.
These provisions could also limit the price thakistors might be willing to pay in the future ftwvases of our common stock, thereby
depressing the market price of our common stockdulition, these provisions may frustrate or préwasy attempts by our stockholders to
replace or remove our current management by makmgre difficult for stockholders to replace memdbef our board of directors. Because
our board of directors is responsible for appomtime members of our management team, these pyosisbuld in turn affect any attempt by
our stockholders to replace current members ohmamagement team. Among others, these provisions:

. establish a classified board of directors, and essult, not all directors are elected at one;time

. allow the authorized number of our directors tahanged only by resolution of our board of diregtor

. limit the manner in which stockholders can remoiveaiors from our board of directors;

. establish advance notice requirements for stolden proposals that can be acted on at stockhaléetings and nominations to

our board of directors;

. require that stockholder actions must be effetiea duly called stockholder meeting and prokzbitons by our stockholders by
written consent;

. limit who may call stockholder meetings;

. authorize our board of directors to issue prefestedk, without stockholder approval, which couddused to institute a "poison
pill* that would work to dilute the stock ownerstopa potential hostile acquirer, effectively pratiag acquisitions that have r
been approved by our board of directors; and

. require the approval of the holders of at 1&&8t of the outstanding voting stock to amend oeatpertain provisions of our
charter or bylaws.
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Moreover, because we are incorporated laviere, we are governed by the provisions of Se@i3 of the Delaware General
Corporation Law, which prohibits a person who ownexcess of 15% of our outstanding voting stockfrmerging or combining with us fol
period of three years after the date of the traimam which the person acquired in excess of %ur outstanding voting stock, unless the
merger or combination is approved in a prescribadmar.

An active trading market for our common stock magtrbe sustained.

We completed our initial public offering efjuity securities in June 2007, and prior to safééring, there was no public market for our
common stock. Although we are listed on The NASD&[@bal Market, an active trading market for our coam stock only recently
developed and may not be sustained, especiallyndhelarge percentage of our common stock heliddiglers and affiliated stockholders. If
an active market for our common stock is not sastéiit may be difficult for our stockholders tdl shares without depressing the market f
for our common stock.

If the price of our common stock is volatile, purakers of our common stock could incur substantiasses.

The price of our common stock is volatilée stock market in general and the market fordoimbology companies in particular have
experienced extreme volatility that has often bemrelated to the operating performance of particttenpanies. The market price for our
common stock may be influenced by many factorduding:

. results of clinical trials of our product candids or those of our competitors;

. our entry into or the loss of a significant edlbration;

. regulatory or legal developments in the U.S. aiiotountries, including changes in the health paggnent systems;

. variations in our financial results or those of gamies that are perceived to be similar to us;

. changes in the structure of healthcare paymen¢msyst

. market conditions in the pharmaceutical and biatetilgy sectors and issuance of new or changedieswnalysts' reports or

recommendations;

. general economic, industry and market conditions

. results of clinical trials conducted by othersdyugs that would compete with our product carigista
. developments or disputes concerning patentshar @roprietary rights;

. public concern over our product candidates gramnducts approved in the future;

. litigation;

. acquisitions of business or assets;

. future sales or anticipated sales of our commockdty us or our stockholders; and

the other factors described in this "Risk Facteetion.

For these reasons and others potentiahpaers of our common stock should consider an imesg in our common stock as risky and
invest only if they can withstand a significantdand wide fluctuations in the marked value ofrtiraiestment.
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If securities or industry analysts do not publiskesearch or reports or publish unfavorable researabout our business, the price of
our common stock and trading volume could decline.

The trading market for our common stockedes in part on the research and reports thatifeswr industry analysts publish about us o
our business. If securities or industry analystsidioinitiate or continue coverage of us, the tmgdirice for our common stock would be
negatively affected. In the event we obtain sei@sior industry analyst coverage, if one or morthefanalysts who covers us downgrades oul
common stock, the price of our common stock woilklely decline. If one or more of these analystssesao cover us or fails to publish regulal
reports on us, interest in the purchase of our comstock could decrease, which could cause the pfiour common stock or trading volume
to decline.

ltem 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS.
None.
ltem 2. PROPERTIES.

We currently lease approximately 73,646asqueet of office and laboratory space in CranpNew Jersey and 7,700 square feet of o
and laboratory space in San Diego, California undetain lease agreements. The initial term ofGhenbury, New Jersey lease runs to
February 2019 and may be extended by us for twidiandl five-year periods. The facility at San Diegalifornia, was closed as part of the
restructuring process and we are actively lookingub lease the property. The lease for the SagoDi@alifornia location runs until September
2016. We believe that our current office and labmsafacilities are adequate and suitable for aurent and anticipated needs.

Item 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS.

We are not currently a party to any matéeigal proceedings.
Item 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES.

None.
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PART Il

tem 5. MARKET FOR THE REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATEDSTOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market For Our Common Stock

Our common stock has been traded on theDWE Global Market under the symbol "FOLD" since M2y, 2007. Prior to that time,
there was no public market for our common stocle fidilowing table sets forth the range of high & closing sales prices of our common
stock as quoted on the NASDAQ Global Market forpleeiods indicated.

High Low
2013
First Quartel $ 422 $ 2.64
Second Quarte 3.47 2.07
Third Quartel 2.8: 2.1¢
Fourth Quarte 2.4F 1.97
High Low
2012
First Quartel $ 6.8¢ $ 3.5C
Second Quarte 5.7¢€ 4.3¢4
Third Quartel 6.51 4.7C
Fourth Quarte 6.47 2.5

The closing price for our common stockegmarted by the NASDAQ Global Market on February 2014 was $2.61 per share. As of
February 24, 2014, there were 56 holders of reoboir common stock.

Dividends

We have never declared or paid any dividesrdour capital stock. We currently intend toireey future earnings to finance our rese:
and development efforts, the further developmemtusfpharmacological chaperone technology andtparesion of our business. We do not
intend to declare or pay cash dividends to ourkstolclers in the foreseeable future.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

On November 20, 2013, we entered into arsigEs purchase agreement (the "2013 SPA") withitlvestors Glaxo Group Ltd (an affiliate
of GSK) and certain entities controlled by Redn@leup, LLC for the private placement of (a) shasur common stock, par value $0.01
share (the "Common Stock") and (b) a combinatioshafres of Common stock (the "Shares") and war(#tmgs'Warrants") to purchase shares
of Common Stock (collectively, the "Units"). Eachtloe investors was one of our shareholders padné consummation of the transactions.
The Shares and Units sold to the investors weeredfand sold in reliance on exemptions from regjisih pursuant to Rule 506 of
Regulation D promulgated under the Securities Asiell on the nature of such investors and certpmesentations made to us. Pursuant to th
2013 SPA, we issued (a) 1.5 million Shares at $pédShare to GSK and (b) 6 million Units to Re@n@roup, with each Unit consisting of
one Share and .267 Warrants resulting in an aggged® million Shares and 1.6 million Warrants erging the Units to be issued. Each
Warrant is exercisable between July 1, 2014 and 3002015 with an exercise price of $2.50, sulifecertain adjustments. The Company
received $12 million on November 21, 2013 from Rédi@roup and $3 million from GSK on November 2013, for a total proceeds amount
of $15 million for general corporate and workingital purposes as a result of the
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private placement. The Company closed the priviaeement on November 20, 2013. The shares issue&koand Redmile Group entities
have been registered for resale with the SecuatielsExchange Commission (the "Commission") orllangestockholder shelf Registration
Statement on FormS-3, File No. 333-192876, which declared effective by the Commission on Decer@bef013.

On November 18, 2013, we acquired all dngital stock of Callidus, a privately held bioteolagy company in exchange for 7.2 million
shares of our common stock. Callidus was engagdévrloping a next-generation Pompe ERT and conepifary enzyme targeting
technologies. In addition to the consideration pgidn closing of the acquisition, we will be oblig to make additional payments to the
former stockholders of Callidus upon achievemertesfain clinical milestones of up to $35 milliondaregulatory milestones of up to
$105 million set forth in the merger agreementyfted that the aggregate merger consideration abakxceed $130 million. We may, at our
election, satisfy certain milestone payments idiextiin the merger agreement aggregating $40 millioshares of our common stock. The
milestone payments not permitted to be satisfietbmmon stock (as well as any payments that weemaitted to, but chooses not to, satisfy
in common stock), as a result of the terms of tleegar agreement, will be paid in cash. The shaseged to Callidus' former stockholders have
been registered for resale with the Commission sellang shareholder shelf Registration Statemerffarm S-3 File No. 333-192747, which
was declared effective by the Commission on Felgriidr 2014.
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Performance Graph

The following performance graph shows ttaltshareholder return of an investment of $1@ham May 31, 2007, the date our common
stock first started trading on the NASDAQ Globalrkkt, for (i) our common stock, (ii) the NASDAQ Ceuwosite Index (U.S.) and (iii) the
NASDAQ Biotechnology Index as of December 31, 2(H&suant to applicable SEC rules, all values ass@investment of the full amou
of all dividends, however no dividends have beerladed on our common stock to date. The stockhalketern shown on the graph below is
not necessarily indicative of future performanael e do not make or endorse any predictions astoe stockholder returns.

2300

$250 A

£200

£150 ~
0 'V
£50 -
* 5

5 T T T T T T 1
83107 123107 12531/08 12/31/09 1273110 123111 123112 123113

—+— Amicus Therapeulics, Inc.  —@— NASDAQ Composite NASDAQ Biotechnology

$100 invested on May 31, 2007 in Amicus Therapsutitc. stock or in index-including reinvestmentofidends.

5/31/07  12/31/07  12/31/08  12/31/09  12/31/10  12/31/11  12/31/12  12/31/201:
Amicus

Therapeutic

Inc . 10C 74 55 28 33 24 19 16
NASDAQ

Composite 10C 10z 61 87 102 10C 11€ 16€
NASDAQ

Biotechnolc 10C 10C 87 101 11€ 13C 171 284
The stock price performance included in this gragphot necessarily indicative of future stock priegformance.
Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
The Company did not purchase any sharés cbmmon stock for the three months ended DeceBthe2013.
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Item 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA.
(in thousands except share and per share data)

Period from
February 4,
2002
Year Ended December 31 (inception) to
December 31,
2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2013
Statement of
Operations Data:
Revenue
Research revent $ 17,54 $ —  $ 14,79 % 1159 $ 36z $ 57,85¢
Collaboration and
milestone revenu 46,810 922 6,64( 6,82( — 64,38
Total revenus 64,35¢ 922 21,43¢ 18,41: 362 122,23¢
Operating expense
Research and
developmen 48,08: 39,04: 50,85¢ 50,27: 41,94« 357,83
General and
administrative 19,97¢ 15,66( 19,88( 19,36¢ 18,89¢ 151,50¢
Restructuring charge 1,522 — — — 1,98¢ 3,51(
Impairment of
leasehold
improvement: — — — — — 1,03(
Depreciation and
amortization 2,13: 2,05¢ 1,58¢ 1,70t 1,71¢ 13,48
In-process research
and developmer — — — — — 41€
Total operating
expense: 71,70¢ 56,76( 72,32. 71,34: 64,544 527,78¢
Loss from
operation: (7,350) (55,83¢) (50,88 (52,93)) (64,187) (405,55()
Other income
(expenses;
Interest incomt 997 15€ 16C 31€ 174 14,56
Interest expens (27¢) (260) (14¢) (89) (46) (2,46¢)
Change in fair value
of warrant liability — (1,410 2,76¢ 653 90¢ 2,461
Other income 64 1,271 70 21 — 252
Loss before tax
benefit (6,567 (56,07¢) (48,04)) (52,030 (63,14%) (390,74)
Income tax benef — 1,13¢ 3,62¢ 3,24¢ 3,51 12,22(
Net loss (6,567) (54,93¢) (44,417 (48,78%) (59,637) (378,52))
Deemed dividen — — — — — (19,42
Preferred stock
accretion — — — — — (802)
Net loss attributable t
common stockholdel  $ (6,567) $ (54,930 $ (44,419 $ (48,787 $ (59,639 $ (398,749
Net loss attributable t
common stockholder
per common share -
basic and dilute $ 0.29) $ (1.9¢) $ (1.2¢) $ (1.07) $ (1.1€)
Weightec-average
common shares
outstanding — basic
and dilutec 22,624,13 27,734,79 34,569,64. 45,565,21 51,286,05
As of December 31
2009 2010 2011 2012 2013
Balance Sheet Data
Cash and cash equivalents ai
marketable securitie $ 7822¢ $ 107,44! $ 55,70: $ 99,120 $ 82,00(
Working capital 69,29: 93,45¢ 47,39: 95,37 77,81
Total asset 85,37( 112,55: 69,79¢ 110,08t 127,56.
Total liabilities 13,53; 47,61¢ 40,20: 40,86¢ 81,81
Deficit accumulated during thi
development stac (170,75  (225,69) (270,109 (318,88) (378,52)
Total stockholders' equit $ 7183 $ 6493 $ 29590 $ 69,22( $ 4575
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ltem 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL GONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS.
Overview

We are a biopharmaceutical company foceseithe discovery, development and commercializatfomext-generation medicines for a
range of rare and orphan diseases, with a focumproved therapies for lysosomal storage disorfleé8®s). Our development programs
include next-generation enzyme replacement thesgRTs) for LSDs, including Fabry disease, Ponmipeade and Mucopolysaccharoidosis
Type | (MPS 1). We are also developing novel smaslecules as monotherapy treatments for Fabry sisaad Parkinson's disease. We be
that our platform technologies and our advancedycbpipeline uniquely position us at the forefrohtleveloping therapies for rare and
orphan diseases.

Program Status
Migalastat HCI for Fabry Disease as a Monotherapytase 3 Global Registration Program

Study 011 is a 24-month study consisting 6fmonth double-blind, placebo-controlled treathperiod (Stage 1); a 6-month open-label
follow-up period (Stage 2); and a 12-month operelaxtension phase. The study randomized 67 pat{@dtmales and 43 females) diagnosec
with Fabry disease that had genetic mutations ablena chaperone monotherapy in a cell-based aBsaijng Stage 1 patients were
randomized 1:1 to migalastat HCI 150 mg or placeth@n every-other-day (QOD) oral dosing schedud¢ieRts continued treatment with
migalastat HCI or switched from placebo to migalasiCl during Stage 2 and the open-label extensi@se. Change from baseline in kidney
interstitial capillary globotriaosylceramide (GL-8)being assessed by histology in kidney biopai¢ke end of Stage 1 and Stage 2. GL-3 is
the lipid substrate that accumulates in tissugsatients with Fabry disease, and is measured imelidhiopsies. Secondary endpoints for Study
011 include safety and tolerability, urine GL-3 dadney function as measured by estimated glomefiliiaation rate (eGFR), are being
assessed throughout the 24-month study.

Top-line Stage 1 data from Study 011 waeried in December 2012 and presented at the Lysalddisease Network WORLD
Symposium (LDN WORLD) in February 2013. During S$talg no drug-related serious adverse events wesenadd. No subjects discontinued
migalastat HCI therapy due to a treatment emeradvérse event and the majority of adverse everiistimtreatment groups were mild in
nature. The primary analysis compared the numbegggfonders in the migalastat HCI versus placebopy, based on a 50% or greater
reduction in interstitial capillary GL-3 during $& 1. In the primary responder analysis, 13/32 (Mit%he migalastat HCI group versus 9/32
(28%) in the placebo group demonstrated a 50%eatgr reduction in kidney interstitial capillary GLfrom baseline to month 6 which was
not statistically significant (p=0.3). Certain 6-ntb secondary endpoints presented included urin@® @hd renal function as measured by
eGFR.

Updated Stage 1 data from Study 011, irictyd post-hoc analysis of the mean change froralin@sin inclusions per capillary as a
continuous variable ("mean change in GL-3"), werespnted at LDN WORLD in February 2014. Followihg tinblinding of the Stage 1 data,
and while still blinded to the Stage 2 data, wentified the mean change in GL-3 as a more apprtgpviay to control for the variability in GL-
3 levels in Study 011, as well as to measure thigical effect of migalastat HCI. The mean chamg&L-3 from baseline to month 6 was
analyzed in both the modified intent-to-treat (m)Pbpulation (n=60, 30 per group) as well as inlgsoup of patients who had amenable
mutations in a GLP-validated HEK assay ("GLP HEKeaable") (n=46, 25 in the migalastat HCI group ahdn the placebo group). From
baseline to month 6 in the mITT population, the melaange in GL-3 was -0.22 = 0.11 in the migalagtatup compared to +0.06 * 0.09 in the
placebo group (p=0.052). From baseline to montht&é GLP HEK amenable subgroup, the mean
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change in GL-3 was -0.31 + 0.12 in the migalastatig compared to +0.10 + 0.13 in the placebo gipe0.002).

The Stage 2 treatment period in Study 04& eompleted in December 2012 and the 12-montm&irie phase was completed in
December 2013. The Stage 2 results, including mebange in GL-3 at 12 months, as well as complet fiam the 24-month study, including
clinical outcome measures such as eGFR and proi@irmue expected during the second quarter of 2014

Study 012 is our second Phase 3 studydetto support the worldwide registration of migédd HCI for Fabry disease. Study 012 is a
randomized, open-label 18-month Phase 3 study ligedisg the safety and efficacy of oral migalasi&il (150 mg, every-other-day)
compared to standard-of-care infused ERTs (Fabra®end Replagal®). The study enrolled a total op&fents (males and females) with
Fabry disease and genetic mutations identifiecheanable to migalastat HCI monotherapy in a celedasssay. Subjects were randomized
1.5:1 to switch to migalastat HCI or remain on ERIl.subjects had been receiving ERT infusionsganinimum of 12 months (at least
3 months at the labeled dose) prior to enteringsthdy. The primary outcome measure is renal fonaissessed by Glomerular Filtration Rate
(GFR) at 18 months, evaluated in the migalastat &#@ ERT groups using descriptive statistics. Bhisly achieved full enroliment in
December 2012 and top-line results are expectétkisecond half of 2014.

We expect to receive final data from St0dy and Study 012 in 2014. Based on the outcom#®eé studies, we will initiate discussions
with U.S. and EU regulatory authorities to discagmstential regulatory path to approval.

Migalastat HC| Combination Programs for Fabry Disea

We completed an open-label Phase 2 drug-diteraction study (Study 013) in 23 males witlbfyadisease to evaluate the safety and
pharmacokinetic (PK) effects of two doses of migelaHCI (150 mg and 450 mg) co-administered witirently marketed ERTs infused-
Gal A enzymes, Fabrazyme® (agalsidase beta) anh&d® (agalsidase alfa). Preliminary results fritudy 013 showed increased levels of
active alpha-Gal enzyme levels in plasma and isgr@alpha-Gal enzyme in skin following co-admimigtm compared to ERT alone. We and
GSK, in collaboration with JCR, completed preclalistudies to evaluate migalastat HCI co-formulatéti JCR's proprietary investigational
ERT (JR-051, recombinant human alpha-Gal enzymadeB on these results, we plan to advance migakStaco-formulated with ERT for
Fabry disease. The first planned clinical study imifestigate the PK of IV migalastat HCI in hegltolunteers to identify optimal doses for a
Phase 1/2 clinical study of migalastat HCI co-folated with ERT in Fabry patients. For the Phasesful@ly, we expect to use migalastat HCI
co-formulated with JR-051. In parallel, we are wogkto develop a more optimal cell-line of recondibhhuman alpha-Gal enzyme for co-
formulation with migalastat HCI in subsequent dalistudies.

Next-Generation ERT for Pompe Disease

We are utilizing our CHART platform in comhtion with our uniquely-engineered, proprietaggambinant human acid-alpha
glucosidase (rhGAA, designated AT-B200) to develapext-generation ERT for Pompe disease. We arerdly investigating AT-B200, with
and without a pharmacological chaperone, in predirstudies.

We acquired AT-B200 as well as our enzyargéting technology through our purchase of CaliBiopharma. AT-B200 is differentiated
from other Pompe ERTS by its unique carbohydratecsire, and may be further optimized by applying jproprietary peptide tagging
technology for better targeting. AT-B200 may alsdivcer further benefits through co-formulation wihr pharmacological chaperone AT2220
(duvoglustat HCI).
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We completed a Phase 2 safety and Pharrmatims study (Study 010) that investigated siragleending oral doses of AT2220 (50 mg,
100 mg, 250 mg, and 600 mg) co-administered witlodyne® or Lumizyme® (alglucosidase alfa. or recamabi human GAA enzyme,
rhGAA), in patients with Pompe disease. Each patieteived one infusion of ERT alone, and themglsidose of AT2220 just prior to the
next ERT infusion. Results from this study showrdrerease in GAA enzyme activity in plasma and cieisompared to ERT alone.

In preclinical studies, AT-B200 was showrhfive superior uptake and activity in diseasevragittissues that correlated with clearance o
accumulated glycogen substrate when compared terdistandard of care. AT-B200 may be further imptbthrough the application of the
Company's proprietary conjugation technology tadttviIGF2 (a variant of the insulin growth factore2eptor) to further enhance drug
targeting. The vIGF2 peptide binds the intended2@€eptor, but does not bind to insulin or the 1G&ceptor. Preclinical results have shown
that AT-B200 and AT-B200 conjugated with vIGF-2 wdretter than Lumizyme for clearing glycogen inlsted muscles in Gaa knock-out
mice.

The results from preclinical studies of B2O0 taken together with data from our clinical ameclinical studies of AT2220 in
combination with ERT support our further developingina next-generation ERT for Pompe disease.

Collaboration with GSK

In November 2013, we entered into the Ral/isgreement (the "Revised Agreement") with GSKspant to which we have obtained
global rights to develop and commercialize migaBbtCl as a monotherapy and in combination withyerereplacement therapy ("ERT") for
Fabry disease. The Revised Agreement amends aladespn its entirety the Expanded Agreement edten® between Amicus and GSK in
July 2012. Under the terms of the Revised Agreembate is no upfront payment from Amicus to GSKr the next-generation Fabry ERT
(migalastat HCI co-formulated with ERT), GSK isgéile to receive single-digit royalties on net saleeight major markets outside the U.S.
For migalastat HCI monotherapy, GSK is eligibledoeive post-approval and sales-based milestoaegelhas tiered royalties in the mielen:
in eight major markets outside the U.S. Under theiged Agreement, Amicus is entitled to paymenté ph settlement fee of $1.9 million to
reimburse development costs between November 18 @0d December 31, 2013, and (2) reimbursemettgvalopment costs for the period
until November 19, 2013 according to the earliep&nded Agreement.

In November 2013, we entered into a sdegrjfjurchase agreement (the "2013 SPA") with GSKcantain entities controlled by Redmile
Group, LLC for the private placement of a) sharesus common stock and b) a combination of shafesipcommon stock and warrants to
purchase shares of our common stock. The warraves & term of one year and are exercisable betddgri, 2014 and June 30, 2015 at an
exercise price of $2.50 per share. The aggregéte mfoceeds were $15 million and GSK's resultiggity stake in the Company was 17.6% a
December 31, 2013.

Collaboration with Biogen

In September 2013, we entered into a cotkimn agreement with Biogen to discover, develog commercialize novel small molecules
for the treatment of Parkinson's disease. The lwotktion will build upon preclinical studies at tBempany and independent published
research that suggest increasing activity of tsedpmal enzyme glucocerobrosidase ("GCase") enirythe brain may correct alpha-
synuclein pathology and other deficits associatiéld Rarkinson's disease. Under terms of the meliryagreement, the Company and Biogen
will collaborate in the discovery of a new classofall molecules that target the GCase enzymduftirer development and commercializai
by Biogen. Biogen will be responsible for fundinbdiscovery, development, and commercialization
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activities. In addition the Company will be reimbed for all full-time employees working on the gt The Company is also eligible to
receive development and regulatory milestones,edlsas modest royalties on global net sales.

Acquisition of Callidus Biopharma, Inc

In November 2013 we entered into a mergezement (the "Merger Agreement") with Callidus@iarma, Inc. ("Callidus"), a privately
held biotechnology company. Callidus was engagetkireloping a next-generation Pompe ERT and conepifary enzyme targeting
technologies.

In connection with our acquisition of Cdlls, we agreed to issue an aggregate of 7.2 mghamnes of our common stock to the former
stockholders of Callidus. In addition, we will beligated to make additional payments to the forsteckholders of Callidus upon the
achievement of certain clinical milestones of ugdd million and regulatory approval milestonespfto $105 million set forth in the merger
agreement, provided that the aggregate mergerdemasgion shall not exceed $130 million. We mayquatelection, satisfy certain milestone
payments identified in the merger agreement aggireg®40 million in shares of our common stock. Thigestone payments not permitted to
be satisfied in common stock (as well as any paysiwat we are permitted to, but chooses not tigfgan common stock), as a result of the
terms of the merger agreement, will be paid in cash

Other Potential Alliances and Collaborations

We continually evaluate other potentialaobrations and business development opporturitiegswvould bolster our ability to develop
therapies for rare and orphan diseases includiems$ing agreements and acquisitions of businesskassets. We believe such opportunities
may be important to the advancement of our cuperduct candidate pipeline, the expansion of theeli@ment of our current technology,
gaining access to new technologies and in ourfobamgtion from a development stage company to angerial biotechnology company.

Financial Operations Overview

Revenue

Biogen

In September 2013, we entered into a cofkipn with Biogen to discover, develop and conuiadize novel small molecules for the
treatment of Parkinson's disease. For the threéveside months ended December 31, 2013, we recedi#i@2.4 million as Research Revenue
for reimbursed research and development costs.

GSK

Under the Original License and Collabomathkgreement, GSK paid us an initial, non-refunddigiense fee of $30 million and a premium
of $3.2 million related to GSK's purchase of aniggmvestment in Amicus which was being recogniasdCollaboration and Milestone
Revenue on a straight-line basis over the developperiod. In addition, in June 2012, we recogniaekB.5 million payment for a clinical
development milestone as Collaboration and Milest@evenue. For the year ended December 31, 20t2aognized $6.8 million as
Collaboration and Milestone Revenue.

The reimbursements for research and dexedop costs under the Original License and CollaimraAgreement that met the criteria for
revenue recognition were recognized as ResearcariRev For the year ended December 31, 2012, wgnieeal $11.6 million as Research
Revenue.
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In July 2012, we entered into the Expan@etlaboration Agreement with GSK. Due to a changthe accounting for revenue recognition
for the Expanded Collaboration Agreement, all reserecognition was suspended until the total aearemt consideration becomes fixed and
determinable. Starting July 2012, any paymentsiveddrom GSK are recorded as deferred reimbursésremthe balance sheet. In addition,
future milestone payments we may pay GSK will bpligg against the balance of this deferred reimdiments account. Revenue recognition
would resume once the total arrangement consideragcomes fixed and determinable which would oedwen the balance of the deferred
reimbursements account is sufficient to coverhaltemaining contingent milestone payments dueSK.G\s a result, we no longer recognize
any revenue related to Collaboration and Milesteegenue or Research Revenue as of the date okffenfted Collaboration Agreement.
There is no cash effect of this change in accogntind there is no scenario where we would haveftmd any of its upfront payments,
milestone payments, or research reimbursement pagme

In November 2013, we entered into a Revisgatement with GSK, which amended and replacetsiantirety the Expanded
Collaboration Agreement. Although there were chartgehe terms of the agreement, for accountinggmes, it remains substantively the
same. As such the accounting policy determinedhf®iExpanded Agreement continued to be applieddérRevised Agreement for both the
research and development reimbursements and thiegent milestone payments. Similar to our evabraiunder the Expanded Agreement,
any payments received from GSK are recorded asrddfecimbursements on the balance sheet and &mg ftontingent payments to GSK
under the Revised Agreement would be recorded sigdia deferred reimbursement account. GSK willomger jointly fund development
costs for all formulations of migalastat HC| asault of the Revised Agreement.

Research and Development Expenses

We expect to continue to incur substaméakarch and development expenses as we contigleetop our product candidates and
explore new uses for our pharmacological chaperectenology. Research and development expense tookis

. internal costs associated with our research andtalidevelopment activities;

. payments we make to third party contract researgarozations, contract manufacturers, investigatites, and consultants;

. technology license costs;

. manufacturing development costs;

. personnel related expenses, including saldseefits, travel, and related costs for the persbimvolved in drug discovery and

development;

. activities relating to regulatory filings and thdvancement of our product candidates through prieeli studies and clinical
trials; and
. facilities and other allocated expenses, whichudeldirect and allocated expenses for rent, facilidintenance, as well as

laboratory and other supplies.

We have multiple research and developmmjegts ongoing at any one time. We utilize oueinal resources, employees and
infrastructure across multiple projects. We recamd maintain information regarding external, oupotket research and development
expenses on a project specific basis.

We expense research and development cogtswarred, including payments made to date undeficense agreements. We believe that
significant investment in product development toenpetitive necessity and plan to continue thegestments in order to realize the potential
of our product
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candidates. From our inception in February 2008ugh December 31, 2013, we have incurred reseath@velopment expense in the
aggregate of $357.8 million.

The following table summarizes our printipaduct development projects through Decembef813, including the related stages of
development for each project, and the out-of-pqdkétd party expenses incurred with respect tdgaoject (in thousands):

Period from
February 4, 2002
(Inception) to

Years Ended December 31 December 31,

2011 2012 2013 2013
Projects
Third party direct project expens
Monc-therapy Studie
Migalastat HCI (Fabry Disease —
Phase 3 $ 19,30F $ 14,71t $ 89771 $ 89,03(
Afegostat tartrate (Gaucher Disease —
Phase 2* (112 18€ 80 26,38:
AT2220 (Pompe Disea— Phase 2 10¢ 9 — 13,25
Combination Studie
Migalastat HCI Co-Administration (Fab
Disease— Phase 2 1,08: 2,23t 534 3,96¢
Migalastat HCI Co-Formulation (Fabry
Disease— Preclinical) — 454 89 543
Afegostat tartrate Co-Administration
(Gaucher Diseas— Preclinical) 7 — 21 55
AT2220 Co-Administration (Pompe
Disease— Phase 2 1,647 2,361 3,40z 7,531
AT2220 Co-Formulation (Pompe
Disease— Preclinical) — — 34k 34k
Neurodegenerative Diseases (Preclini 2,21( 417 144 9,17(
Total third party direct project expens 24,24 20,38¢ 13,59: 150,27:
Other project costé)
Personnel cos: 18,81 21,08¢ 20,25° 134,59:
Other cost$?) 7,79¢ 8,801 8,094 72,97:
Total other project cos 26,60" 29,88 28,35 207,56¢
Total research and development ct $ 50,85¢ $ 50,27 $ 41,94« $ 357,83

(1)  Other project costs are leveraged across multigegts.
(2)  Other costs include facility, supply, overhead, Boehsing costs that support multiple projects pretlinical projects.

* We do not plan to advance our afegostat tartrateothe@rapy program into Phase 3 development atithés
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The successful development of our prodantates is highly uncertain. At this time, wem@ireasonably estimate or know the nature,
timing and costs of the efforts that will be ne@eggo complete the remainder of the developmewuofproduct candidates. As a result, we ar
not able to reasonably estimate the period, if anwhich material net cash inflows may commenoanflour product candidates, including
migalastat HCI or any of our other preclinical puoticandidates. This uncertainty is due to the mooserisks and uncertainties associated wit
the conduct, duration and cost of clinical trialdich vary significantly over the life of a projeas a result of evolving events during clinical
development, including:

. the number of clinical sites included in the trjals

. the length of time required to enroll suitable pats;

. the number of patients that ultimately participatéhe trials;

. the results of our clinical trials; and

. any mandate by the FDA or other regulatory atitynéo conduct clinical trials beyond those cutigmnticipated.

Our expenditures are subject to additiamalertainties, including the terms and timing afulatory approvals, and the expense of filing,
prosecuting, defending and enforcing any patetitnslar other intellectual property rights. We mdogain unexpected results from our clinical
trials. We may elect to discontinue, delay or mpdifnical trials of some product candidates ord®on others. A change in the outcome of
of the foregoing variables with respect to the digmment of a product candidate could mean a siganiti change in the costs and timing
associated with the development, regulatory apprane commercialization of that product candid&iar. example, if the FDA or other
regulatory authorities were to require us to comdlinical trials beyond those which we currentitiaipate, or if we experience significant
delays in enrollment in any of our clinical triaige could be required to expend significant addaidinancial resources and time on the
completion of clinical development. Drug developmeray take several years and millions of dollardémelopment costs.

General and Administrative Expense

General and administrative expense congistzarily of salaries and other related costsluding stock-based compensation expense, fol
persons serving in our executive, finance, accagntegal, information technology and human resedunctions. Other general and
administrative expense includes facility-relatedtsmot otherwise included in research, and dewedmp expense, promotional expenses, cost
associated with industry and trade shows, and gsafeal fees for legal services, including patefated expense and accounting services.
From our inception in February 2002 through Decen®ie 2013, we spent $151.5 million on general adehinistrative expense.

Interest Income and Interest Expense

Interest income consists of interest eamedur cash and cash equivalents and marketatieitses. Interest expense consists of interest
incurred on our debt agreements.

Critical Accounting Policies and Significant Judgmats and Estimates

The discussion and analysis of our findnmadition and results of operations are basedwrfinancial statements, which we have
prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accegtedunting principles (U.S. GAAP). The preparatidthese financial statements requires
us to make estimates and assumptions that affecetforted amounts of assets and liabilities aedlisclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of the financial statemeatswell as the reported revenues and expensigdhe reporting periods. On an ongoing bz
we evaluate our estimates and
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judgments, including those described in greateaitletlow. We base our estimates on historical egpee and on various other factors that
believe are reasonable under the circumstancesgshéis of which form the basis for making judgmsestbout the carrying value of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from otheurces. Actual results may differ from theséneaties under different assumptions or
conditions. We believe that the following discussiepresents our critical accounting policies.

Revenue Recognition

We recognize revenue when amounts arezezhbir realizable and earned. Revenue is consideadidable and earned when the follow
criteria are met: (1) persuasive evidence of aangement exists; (2) delivery has occurred or sesvhave been rendered; (3) the price is fixe
or determinable; and (4) collection of the amouhis are reasonably assured.

In multiple element arrangements, revesualocated to each separate unit of accountingeant deliverable in an arrangement is
evaluated to determine whether it represents sepandts of accounting. A deliverable constituteseparate unit of accounting when it has
standalone value and there is no general righttofm for the delivered elements. In instances wheraforementioned criteria are not met, the
deliverable is combined with the undelivered eletsamd the allocation of the arrangement consieraind revenue recognition is
determined for the combined unit as a single uinétooounting. Allocation of the consideration igetenined at arrangement inception on the
basis of each unit's relative selling price. Irntamses where there is determined to be a singteofiaccounting, the total consideration is
applied as revenue for the single unit of accogndind is recognized over the period of inceptionugh the date where the last deliverable
within the single unit of accounting is expected&delivered.

Our current revenue recognition policiebjol were applied in fiscal 2010, provide that, wizecollaboration arrangement contains
multiple deliverables, such as license and reseandhdevelopment services, we allocate revenuadi geparate unit of accounting based on
selling price hierarchy. The selling price hierarébr a deliverable is based on: (i) its vendorcifie objective evidence (VSOE) if available,
(ii) third party evidence (TPE) if VSOE is not aladile, or (iii) best estimated selling price (BE$R)either VSOE nor TPE is available. We
would establish the VSOE of selling price using phiee charged for a deliverable when sold sepratbe TPE of selling price would be
established by evaluating largely similar and icth@angeable competitor products or services in siand sales to similarly situated customers
The BESP would be established considering intdawbrs such as an internal pricing analysis onaame approach using a discounted cash
flow model.

We also consider the impact of potentitiifes payments we make in our role as a vendor t@astomers and evaluate if these potential
future payments could be a reduction of revenus fittat customer. If the potential future paymeatthe customer are:

. a payment for an identifiable benefit, and

. the identifiable benefit is separable from the exgsrelationship between us and our customer, and
. the identifiable benefit can be obtained fropaaty other than the customer, and

. the fair value of the identifiable benefit cam teasonably estimated,

then the payments are accounted for separatelytfiemevenue received from that customer. If, haweall these criteria are not satisfied, 1
the payments are treated as a reduction of revieomethat customer.

If we determine that any potential futuegyments to our customers are to be consideredetfuation of revenue, we must evaluate if the
total amount of revenue to be received under the
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arrangement is fixed and determinable. If the tatabunt of revenue is not fixed and determinabktduhe uncertain nature of the potential
future payments to the customer, then any cust@angments cannot be recognized as revenue untibthkearrangement consideration
becomes fixed and determinable.

The reimbursements for research and dexedop costs under collaboration agreements that theefiteria for revenue recognition are
included in Research Revenue and the costs asseidh these reimbursable amounts are includedsearch and development expenses.

In order to determine the revenue recogmifor contingent milestones, we evaluate the ogetit milestones using the criteria as prov
by the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FAG&@yance on the milestone method of revenue retiograt the inception of a
collaboration agreement. The criteria requires: tfiptve determine if the milestone is commensuvata either our performance to achieve the
milestone or the enhancement of value resultingn foorr activities to achieve the milestone, (ii) thiestone be related to past performance,
and (iii) the milestone be reasonable relativelltdeliverable and payment terms of the collabaratrrangement. If these criteria are met thel
the contingent milestones can be considered asasulv® milestones and will be recognized as regenuhe period that the milestone is
achieved.

Business Combinations

We allocate the purchase price of acquigzinesses to the tangible and intangible assqtsrad and liabilities assumed based upon the
estimated fair values on the acquisition date. firehase price allocation process requires manageimenake significant estimates and
assumptions, especially at the acquisition datke mspect to intangible assets angineess research and development (IPR&D). In cdiom
with the purchase price allocations for acquisiione estimate the fair value of contingent actjoisiconsideration payments utilizing a
probability-based income approach inclusive of stm@ated discount rate.

Although we believe the assumptions aniinedéés made are reasonable, they are based inrphistorical experience and information
obtained from the management of the acquired bsséteand are inherently uncertain. Examples da€alrigstimates in valuing any contingent
acquisition consideration issued or which may baeésl and the intangible assets we have acquinedpmacquire in the future include but are
not limited to:

. the feasibility and timing of achievement of deymteent, regulatory and commercial milestones;
. expected costs to develop the in-process reseacttevelopment into commercially viable products] a
. future expected cash flows from product sales.

Unanticipated events and circumstances agayr which may affect the accuracy or validitysath assumptions, estimates or actual
results.
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Intangible Assets and Gooduwiill

We record goodwill in a business combimatichen the total consideration exceeds the fairesaf the net tangible and identifiable
intangible assets acquired. Purchased in-procesaneh and development is accounted for as animitddived intangible asset until the
underlying project is completed, at which point ihi&ngible asset will be accounted for as a difilived intangible asset, or abandoned, at
which point the intangible asset will be writterf of partially impaired. Goodwill and indefinitevkd intangible assets are assessed annual
impairment on October 1 and whenever events ouistances indicate that the carrying amount ofsasetamay not be recoverable. If it is
determined that the full carrying amount of an a&seot recoverable, an impairment loss is readidehe amount by which the carrying
amount of the asset exceeds its fair value.

Valuation of Contingent Consideration Payable

Each period we reassess the fair valupetbntingent acquisition consideration payable@ated with certain acquisitions and record
changes in the fair value as contingent consid@ragkpense. Increases or decreases in the fai véline contingent acquisition consideration
payable can result from changes in estimated pilityaddjustments with respect to regulatory apgipehanges in the assumed timing of w
milestones are likely to be achieved and changassomed discount periods and rates. Significalgment is employed in determining the
appropriateness of these assumptions each peramoréingly, future business and economic conditiasswvell as changes in any of the
assumptions described in the accounting for busioembinations above can materially impact the arhoficontingent consideration expense
that we record in any given period.

Accrued Expenses

When we are required to estimate accruperses because we have not yet been invoiced @masie notified of actual cost, we identify
services that have been performed on our behaléstichate the level of service performed and tsecated cost incurred. The majority of
service providers invoice us monthly in arrearssienvices performed. We make estimates of our adoedpenses as of each balance shee
in our financial statements based on facts andicistances known to us. Examples of estimated ad@xggenses include:

. fees owed to contract research organizations in@ction with preclinical and toxicology studies attidical trials;
. fees owed to investigative sites in connection withical trials;

. fees owed to contract manufacturers in connectiitim tive production of clinical trial materials;

. fees owed for professional services, and

. unpaid salaries, wages and benefits.

Stock-Based Compensation

In accordance with the applicable guidam@measure stock-based compensation at a faie vethich is determined by measuring the
cost of employee services received in exchangarf@award of equity instruments based upon the giatetfair value of the award. We chose
the "straight-line" attribution method for alloaagi compensation costs and recognized the fair \afleach stock option on a straight-line basi
over the vesting period of the related awards.
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The following table summarizes the stockipensation expense recognized in the income statginghousands):

Years Ended December 31

2011 2012 2013

Stock compensation expense recognize:
Research and development expe $ 2927 $ 3,60 $ 3,58:
General and administrative expel 5,751 2,58¢ 2,594
Total stock compensation expel $ 867¢ $ 6,191 $ 6,171

We use the Black-Scholes option pricing elaghen estimating the value for stock-based awasde of a valuation model requires
management to make certain assumptions with retpseiected model inputs. Expected volatility wakulated based on a blended weighte
average of historical information of our stock dhe weighted average of historical information iafiar public entities for which historical
information was available. We will continue to wsblended weighted average approach using our éstorical volatility and other similar
public entity volatility information until our histical volatility is relevant to measure expectedhuility for future option grants. The average
expected life was determined using a "simplifiedthod of estimating the expected exercise termwisithe mid-point between the vesting
date and the end of the contractual term. As amakgprice volatility has been over 75% and we hexgerienced significant business
transactions (Shire and GSK collaborations, Cadlidequisition), we believe that we do not haveisigffit reliable exercise data in order to
justify a change from the use of the "simplifiedétimod of estimating the expected exercise ternmyfl@yee stock option grants. The ~free
interest rate is based on U.S. Treasury, zero-aoigsnes with a remaining term equal to the expedi®assumed at the date of grant.
Forfeitures are estimated based on expected turasweell as a historical analysis of actual opfanfieitures. The weighted average
assumptions used in the Black-Scholes option giniodel are as follows:

Years Ended December 31

2011 2012 2013
Expected stock price volatilit 78.8% 77.2% 82.(%
Risk free interest rai 2.C% 0.8% 1.3%
Expected life of options (year 6.2% 6.2F 6.2t
Expected annual dividend per sh $ 0.0 $ 0.0C $ 0.0C

The weighted-average grant-date fair valeleshare of options granted during 2011, 20122818 were $4.11, $3.31 and $2.14,
respectively.

Warrants

The warrants issued in connection with20t3 SPA are classified as equity. As part of thé& Sa total of 7.5 million common shares anc
1.6 million warrants were issued at $2.00 per stfardotal cash received of $15 million. The wartsaare included in stockholder's equity and
were initially measured at fair value of $1.0 naifliusing the Black Scholes valuation model.

The warrants issued in connection witharch 2010 registered direct offering are clasdifis a liability. The fair value of the warrant
liability is evaluated at each balance sheet dsiteguthe Black-Scholes valuation model. This madels inputs such as the underlying price of
the shares issued when the warrant is exerciséatjlitg, risk free interest rate and expected bfethe instrument. Any changes in the fair vi
of the warrants liability is recognized in the colidated statement of operations.
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The weighted average assumptions useciBldick-Scholes valuation model for the warrantsfecember 31, 2012 and 2013 are as
follows:

December 31
2012 2013
Expected stock price volatilit 93.2% 45.9%
Risk free interest rai 0.1% 0.07%
Expected life of warrants (yeai 1.17 0.17
Expected annual dividend per sh $ 0.0C $ 0.0C

During 2013, no warrants were exercisedfanthe year ended December 31, 2013, we recaxdgin of $0.9 million due to the change
in the fair value of the warrant liability. The tdng fair value of the warrant liability was demmis at December 31, 2013.

Basic and Diluted Net Loss Attributable to Common $ckholders per Common Share

We calculated net loss per share as a mexasat of our performance while giving effect tbdalutive potential common shares that were
outstanding during the reporting period. We ha@tlass for all periods presented; accordingly,itietusion of common stock options and
warrants would be anti-dilutive. Therefore, the gi#ed average shares used to calculate both basidilated earnings per share are the same

The following table provides a reconciliatiof the numerator and denominator used in comgutasic and diluted net loss attributable to
common stockholders per common share (in thousaxcpt share amounts):

Years Ended December 31
2011 2012 2013

Historical
Numerator:
Net loss attributable to commc
stockholders $ (44,410 $ (48,78%) $ (59,637)

Denominator
Weighted average common
shares outstanding — basic
and dilutec 34,569,64 45,565,21 51,286,05

Dilutive common stock equivalents wouldlute the dilutive effect of common stock optionsl avarrants for common stock equivalents.
Potentially dilutive common stock equivalents tethbpproximately 8.5 million, 9.4 million and 12rfllion for the years ended December 31,
2011, 2012 and 2013, respectively. Potentiallytdifucommon stock equivalents were excluded froendituted earnings per share
denominator for all periods because of their aittitde effect.

Results of Operations
Year Ended December 31, 2013 Compared to Year Erdkecember 31, 2012

Revenue. In September 2013, we entered into collabonatrdh Biogen to discover, develop and commercgafinvel small molecules
for the treatment of Parkinson's disease. For &z gnded December 31, 2013, we recognized $0liénmméls Research Revenue for reimbu
research and development costs.

For the year ended December 31, 2012, sagrezed $6.8 million, as Collaboration and Milestdrevenue from GSK which includes a
$3.5 million payment for a clinical development
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milestone in 2012. The reimbursements for reseanchdevelopment costs under the Original LicenseGuilaboration Agreement with GSK
that met the criteria for revenue recognition we@ognized as Research Revenue. For the year &ateinber 31, 2012, we recognized
$11.6 million as Research Revenue.

Under the Original License and Collabonatfggreement, GSK paid us an initial, non-refunddigiense fee of $30 million and a premium
of $3.2 million related to GSK's purchase of aniggmvestment in Amicus which was being recogniasdCollaboration and Milestone
Revenue on a straight-line basis over the developperiod until entry into the Expanded CollabaratAgreement in July 2012 and the
Revised Agreement in November 2013. Due to a chantie accounting for revenue recognition for Epanded Collaboration Agreement,
which continued into the Revised Agreement, aleraie recognition related to the collaboration élsuspended until the total arrangement
consideration becomes fixed and determinable. Aaxyyments received from GSK will be recorded as defkreimbursements on the balance
sheet. In addition, future milestone payments wg pay GSK will be applied against the balance &f tleferred reimbursements account.
Revenue recognition would resume once the totahgement consideration becomes fixed and determeimaiich would occur when the
balance of the deferred reimbursements accounffisisnt to cover all the remaining contingent esitone payments. As a result, we no longe
recognized any revenue related to CollaborationMifestone Revenue or Research Revenue as of theofithe Expanded Collaboration
Agreement. There is no cash effect of this changeecounting, and there is no scenario where weddimave to refund any of the upfront
payment, milestone payments, or research reimbénsepayments. The new rights obtained from GSK uttdeRevised Agreement; do not
represent a separate, identifiable benefit fronlittemses in the Original and Expanded Agreememerdfore, there is no change in accounting
due to the Revised Agreement. We have not geneaatgedommercial sales revenue since our inception.

Research and Development ExpensBesearch and development expense was $41i6miill2013, representing a decrease of
$8.4 million or 16.7% from $50.3 million in 2012h& variance was primarily attributable to an $8illion decrease in contract research
partially offset by manufacturing increases of $hilion. The decreases were mainly driven by 8$fillion decrease in the Fabry migalastat
HCI study and the increase was from $1.0 millioth@ Pompe AT2220 co-ad study. Other decreasesiw@ersonnel costs of $0.8 million
and license fees of $0.4 million.

General and Administrative ExpenseGeneral and administrative expense was $18l®min 2013, a decrease of $0.5 million or 2.6%
from $19.4 million in 2012. The variance was priityadue to a decrease in personnel costs of $0lémi$0.2 million in consulting fees and
$0.1 million in recruitment fees. These decreaseewwartially offset by increases of $0.2 milliontéax assessments and $0.2 million in legal
fees relating to business development activities.

Restructuring Charges. Restructuring charges were $2.0 million in 2018 to the corporate restructuring implementetthénfourth
quarter of 2013. This measure was intended to e=dasts and to align the Company's resources tgittey strategic priorities. The
restructuring charges included $1.2 million for éoyment termination costs payable in cash and iéitfas consolidation restructuring charge
of $0.8 million, consisting of lease payments of/&@illion related to the net present value oftleé future minimum lease payments at the
cease-use date and the write-down of the net baklle\of fixed assets in the vacated building ofL$qillion.

Depreciation and Amortization. Depreciation and amortization expense was #illibn in both 2012 and 2013. There was no inceeas
in depreciation and amortization expense due ®pesperty, plant and equipment purchased in 28k®mpared to prior years.

Interest Income and Interest Expensénterest income was $0.2 million in 2013, ardase of $0.1 million or 33% from $0.3 million in
2012. The decrease in interest income was duestovérall
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lower average cash and investment balances in 20h3%yared to 2012. Interest expense was $0.05mili 2013, a decrease of $0.04 million
or 44% from $0.09 million in 2012. The decrease das to a lower outstanding debt balance for mb20a3, prior to the secured loan
obtained in December 2013.

Change in Fair Value of Warrant Liability. In connection with the sale of our common stacll warrants from the registered direct
offering in March 2010, we recorded the warranta #ability at their fair value using a Black- Stbs model and remeasure the fair value at
each reporting date until the warrants are exetasexpired. Changes in the fair value of the wairfiability are reported in the statements of
operations as non-operating income or expensenp@012, there were approximately 0.5 million watsaexercised; there were no warrants
exercised in 2013. For the year ended Decembe2@®1, we reported a gain of $0.9 million relatedh® decrease in fair value of the warrant
liability from the year ended December 31, 2012 Tiarket price for our common stock has been andamatinue to be volatile.
Consequently, future fluctuations in the price of oommon stock may cause significant increaseleoreases in the fair value of the warrants
liability.

Other Income/Expense.There was no other income or other expensthéoyear ended December 31, 2013. Other incomthéoyear
ended December 31, 2012 was $21 thousand and eesessh received from the sale of property, @adtequipment.

Tax Benefit. During 2012 and 2013, we sold a portion of Mew Jersey state net operating loss carry forwandisresearch and
development credits, which resulted in the recagmiof $3.2 million and $3.5 million in income t&enefits for the years ended December 31
2012 and 2013, respectively. Should the State @f Bersey continue to fund this program, which isartain, the future amount of net
operating loss and research and development @&t forwards which we may sell will depend upbe &llocation among qualifying
companies of an annual pool established by the $tatlew Jersey.

Net Operating Loss Carry forwards.As of December 31, 2013, we had federal arte si@t operating loss carry forwards, or NOLS, of
approximately $203.8 million and $179.9 millionspectively. The federal carry forward will expire2028 through 2032. Most of the state
carry forwards generated prior to 2009 began tarexp 2012 and will continue to expire through 80The remaining state carry forwards
including those generated from 2009 through 201Pexpire in 2028 through 2032 due to a changd@New Jersey state law regarding the
net operating loss carry forward period. Sectiod 8Bthe Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amermgdiains provisions which limit the
amount of NOLs that companies may utilize in ang gaar in the event of cumulative changes in owrnigrsver a three-year period in excess
of 50%. During 2013, there was no ownership changxcess of 50%; therefore there was no write-dtawmet realizable value of the federal
NOLs subject to the 382 limitation

Year Ended December 31, 2012 Compared to Year Efdlecember 31, 2011

Revenue. For the years ended December 31, 2012 and ¥ fiecognized $6.8 million and $6.6 million, respeely, as Collaboration
and Milestone Revenue which includes a $3.5 milpagment for a clinical development milestone i120The reimbursements for research
and development costs under the Original LicenseGoilaboration Agreement that met the criteriarBrenue recognition were recognized a:
Research Revenue. For the years ended Decemhb203 and 2011, we recognized $11.6 million and &idllion, respectively, as Research
Revenue.

Research and Development ExpensBesearch and development expense was $50i8miiil 2012 representing a decrease of
$0.6 million or 1.2% from $50.9 million in 2011. &lvariance was primarily attributable to a $2.5ionl decrease in contract manufacturing
and a $1.5 million decrease in contract
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research costs, partially offset by increases is@wel costs of $2.3 million, license fees of $®iion and $0.7 million in consulting fees.

General and Administrative ExpenseGeneral and administrative expense was $19libmin 2012, a decrease of $0.5 million or 2.5%
from $19.9 million in 2011. The variance was priityadue to a decrease in personnel cost of $1.8amilvhich was related to two events in
2011: (1) additional stock option compensation esgerecognized as a result of the change in thestef the Chief Executive Officer's stock
options resulting from his resignation and subsatjteappointment to the Chief Executive Officeripos; and (2) a severance related
compensation charge of $0.6 million related tordsgnation of the former President and the veginys restricted stock award. In addition,
there were decreases in accounting services angitreent fees for $0.4 million. These decrease®ewpartially offset by increases of
$0.8 million in legal fees, $0.2 million in faciittosts and $0.2 million in consulting fees.

Depreciation and Amortization. Depreciation and amortization expense was #illibn in 2012, an increase of $0.1 million or %6
from $1.6 million in 2011. The increase in depréoi@was due to assets purchased in 2012 in coonegtth the new office and laboratory
space in Cranbury, New Jersey.

Interest Income and Interest Expensénterest income was $0.3 million in 2012, acr@ase of $0.1 million or50% from $0.2 million in
2011. The increase in interest income was dueat@Werall higher average cash and investment badadcie to cash raised in our March 2012
stock the public offering. Interest expense wad $@llion for both 2012 and 2011.

Change in Fair Value of Warrant Liability. In connection with the sale of our common stacll warrants from the registered direct
offering in March 2010, we recorded the warranta &ability at their fair value using a Black- Stbs model and remeasure the fair value at
each reporting date until the warrants are exedasexpired. Changes in the fair value of the aairfiability are reported in the statements of
operations as non-operating income or expensenB@012, there were approximately 0.5 million watsaexercised. For the year ended
December 31, 2012, we reported a gain of $0.7anilielated to the decrease in fair value of the-avadiability from the year ended
December 31, 2011. The market price for our comstook has been and may continue to be volatiles€gqurently, future fluctuations in the
price of our common stock may cause significantdases or decreases in the fair value of the wiarhability.

Other Income/Expense.Other income for the year ended December 312 2¢as $21 thousand and represents cash receoredte
sale of property, plant and equipment. Other incéon¢he year ended December 31, 2011 was $70 émousnder the Qualified Therapeutic
Discovery Projects tax credit and grant program.

Tax Benefit. During 2011 and 2012, we sold a portion of Maw Jersey state net operating loss carry forwandsresearch and
development credits, which resulted in the recagmiof $3.6 million and $3.2 million in income t&enefits for the years ended December 31
2011 and 2012, respectively. Should the State @f Bersey continue to fund this program, which isartain, the future amount of net
operating loss and research and development a@audit forwards which we may sell will depend upba &llocation among qualifying
companies of an annual pool established by the $fdllew Jersey.

Net Operating Loss Carry forwards.As of December 31, 2012, we had federal arnte si@t operating loss carry forwards, or NOLs, of
approximately $154 million and $162 million, respeely. The federal carry forward will expire in 28 through 2032. Most of the state carry
forwards generated prior to 2009 began to expi@0it?2 and will continue to expire through 2015. Témaining state carry forwards includ
those generated from 2009 through 2012 will exipir2028 through 2032 due
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to a change in the New Jersey state law regartimget operating loss carry forward period. Sec3®a of the Internal Revenue Code of 1¢
as amended, contains provisions which limit the amof NOLs that companies may utilize in any oeanyin the event of cumulative changes
in ownership over a three-year period in excess086. During 2012, there was no ownership changxaess of 50%; therefore there was no
write-down to net realizable value of the feder@lll¢ subject to the 382 limitations.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Sources of Liquidity

As a result of our significant research dadelopment expenditures and the lack of any aorproducts to generate product sales
revenue, we have not been profitable and have g&tkoperating losses since we were incorporat2di2. We have funded our operations
principally with $148.7 million of proceeds fromdeemable convertible preferred stock offerings, @ naillion of gross proceeds from our |
in June 2007, $18.5 million of gross proceeds foamRegistered Direct Offering in March 2010, $6million of gross proceeds from our
stock offering in March 2012, $52.9 million from &S investments in the Company in October 2010y, 2012, November 2013 and
$80.0 million from non-refundable license fees froaflaborations.

The following table summarizes our sigrifit funding sources as of December 31, 2013:

Approximate
Amount 1)

Funding ® Year No. Shares (in thousands)
Series A Redeemable Convertible

Preferred Stoc 2002 444.44; $ 2,50(
Series B Redeemable Convertible

Preferred Stoc 2004, 2005, 2006, 20 4,917,85: 31,18¢
Series C Redeemable Convertible

Preferred Stoc 2005, 200 5,820,02! 54,99¢
Series D Redeemable Convertible

Preferred Stoc 2006, 200 4,930,40! 60,00(
Common Stocl 2007 5,000,00t! 75,00(
Upfront License Fee from Shi 2007 — 50,00(
Registered Direct Offerin 201( 4,946,52. 18,50(
Upfront License Fee from GS 201c¢ — 30,00(
Common Stocl— GSK 201C 6,866,24! 31,28¢
Common Stocl 201z 11,500,00 65,55(
Common Stocl— GSK 2012 2,949,58. 18,58:
Common Stock — Private Investment il

Public Equity 201¢ 7,500,001 15,00(

54,875,07 $ 452,60:!

Q) Represents gross proceeds

(2) The Series A, B, C and D Redeemable ConvertibléeResl Stock was converted to common stock uporetieetivenes
of our IPO

In addition, in conjunction with the GSKlledboration agreement, we received reimbursemergsdarch and development expenditures
from the date of the agreement (October 28, 2di@ugh December 31, 2013 of $32.3 million. We atsteived $31.1 million in
reimbursement of research and development expeasdiftom the Shire collaboration from the datehef agreement (November 7, 2007)
through year end 2009.
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As of December 31, 2013, we had cash agk equivalents and marketable securities of $82lbm We invest cash in excess of our
immediate requirements with regard to liquidity aagbital preservation in a variety of interest-figinstruments, including obligations of
U.S. government agencies and money market accoMhtstever possible, we seek to minimize the paéeffects of concentration and
degrees of risk. Although we maintain cash balamg#sfinancial institutions in excess of insur@aits, we do not anticipate any losses with
respect to such cash balances.

Net Cash Used in Operating Activities

Net cash used in operations for the yede@dbecember 31, 2013 was $45.8 million due priméoithe net loss for the year ended
December 31, 2013 of $59.6 million and the changeperating assets and liabilities of $4.8 millidhe change in operating assets and
liabilities consisted of a decrease in receivablas GSK related to the collaboration agreemer#2s million; an increase of $3.2 million in
prepaid assets primarily related to a receivaldmfthe 2013 sale of state net operating loss darwards, or NOLs; an increase in deferred
reimbursements of $6.3 million due to the defeofadll revenue as a result of the Expanded Colkatimm Agreement with GSK; and a decre
in accounts payable and accrued expenses of $0iGrmimainly related to program expenses.

Net cash used in operations for the yede@becember 31, 2012 was $33.7 million due priméoithe net loss for the year ended
December 31, 2012 of $48.8 million and the changeperating assets and liabilities of $7.8 millidhe change in operating assets and
liabilities consisted of an decrease in receivablasm GSK related to the collaboration agreemertlo8 million; a decrease of $3.6 million in
prepaid assets primarily related to a receivaldmfthe 2011 sale of state net operating loss darwards, or NOLs; an increase in deferred
reimbursements of $2.9 million due to the defeofadll revenue as a result of the Expanded Colkatimm Agreement with GSK; and a decre
in accounts payable and accrued expenses of $0i@mnelated to program expenses.

Net Cash Provided by and Used in Investing Actiadi

Net cash provided by investing activitiesthe year ended December 31, 2013 was $26.Jomildur investing activities have consisted
primarily of purchases and sales and maturitigav@stments and capital expenditures. Net cash insedesting activities reflects
$83.3 million for the sale and redemption of maakdg securities partially offset by $56.6 milliar the purchase of marketable securities anc
$0.7 million for the acquisition of property anduggment.

Net cash used in investing activities fa year ended December 31, 2012 was $39.4 miNehcash used in investing activities reflects
$118.5 million for the purchase of marketable siiesrand $4.3 million for the acquisition of prapeand equipment, partially offset by
$83.3 million for the sale and redemption of maakét securities.

Net Cash Used in and Provided by Financing Actiei

Net cash provided by financing activities the year ended December 31, 2013 was $29.4mélnd reflects $15.0 million in proceeds
from the issuance of common stock, $14.9 milliopiaceeds from secured loan arrangement, partéet by the $0.4 million in payments
our secured loan agreement and $0.1 million inrdedefinancing costs.

Net cash provided by financing activities the year ended December 31, 2012 was $81.5mé#ind reflects $80.2 million in proceeds
from the issuance of common stock, $1.6 milliopafceeds from exercise of stock options, $1.0 amlin proceeds from secured loan
arrangement, partially offset by the $1.3 millionpayments of our secured loan agreement.
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Funding Requirements

We expect to incur losses from operatiamgtie foreseeable future primarily due to researahdevelopment expenses, including
expenses related to conducting clinical trials. fture capital requirements will depend on a nundféactors, including:

. the progress and results of our clinical trial®of drug candidates, including migalastat HCI,

. the cost of manufacturing drug supply for our daliand preclinical studies, including the sigrafit cost of ERT cell line
development and manufacturing as well as the dasaoufacturing the vIGF-2 peptide tag;

. the scope, progress, results and costs of prealidevelopment, laboratory testing and clintcialls for our product candidates
including those testing the use of pharmacologibaperones co-formulated and co-administered WM Bnd for the treatment
of diseases of neurodegeneration;

. the costs, timing and outcome of regulatory revidwur product candidates;

. the number and development requirements of otheetymt candidates that we pursue;

. the costs of commercialization activities, inclugliproduct marketing, sales and distribution;

. the emergence of competing technologies and otharae market developments;

. the costs of preparing, filing and prosecuting pasmplications and maintaining, enforcing and ddfieg intellectual property

related claims;

. the extent to which we acquire or invest in hasses, products or technologies;
. our ability to successfully incorporate Callidursd its product candidates and technology intdbosiness; and
. our ability to establish collaborations and obtaittestone, royalty or other payments from any stmlaborators.

We do not anticipate that we will generaeenue from commercial sales of our current progipeline until at least 2015, if at all. In the
absence of additional funding, we expect our caimign operating losses to result in increases incash used in operations over the next
several quarters and years. We believe that ostiegicash and cash equivalents and steont-investments will be sufficient to cover ousla
flow requirements into the second half of 2015.

Financial Uncertainties Related to Potential Futureayments
Milestone Payments

We have acquired rights to develop and cemaialize our product candidates through licensaatgd by various parties. While our
license agreements for migalastat HCl and AT2226atacontain milestone payment obligations, twéhelse agreements related to afegostat
do require us to make such payments if certainiipe@re-commercialization events occur. Uponghtisfaction of certain milestones and
assuming successful development of afegostat, webmabligated, under the agreements that we mapkace, to make future milestone
payments aggregating up to approximately $7.9 anillHowever, such potential milestone paymentsabgect to many uncertain variables
that would cause such payments, if any, to vasiza.

Under the Revised Collaboration Agreem@&8K is eligible to receive marketing approval niitees totaling $17.6 million for migalas
HCI monotherapy and migalastat HCI-ERT co-admiaistn products, and additional sales performandestoine payments totaling up to
$22 million for migalastat HClI monotherapy and néggat HCI-ERT co-administration products. We
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will also be responsible for certain filing and apgal milestone payments and single-digit royaltasghe Co-formulated Product that GSK
must pay to a third party. In addition, we are owger eligible to receive any milestones or rogaltive would have been eligible to receive
under the Original Collaboration Agreement.

In connection with our acquisition of Cdlls, under the Merger Agreement, we will be obédab make additional payments to the
former stockholders of Callidus upon the achievenbgrCallidus of certain clinical milestones of tgp$35 million and regulatory approval
milestones of up to $105 million as set forth ia Merger Agreement, provided that the aggregatsideration shall not exceed $130 million.

Royalties

Under our license agreements, if we owelt@s on net sales for one of our products to ntizae one licensor, then we have the right to
reduce the royalties owed to one licensor for igmlpaid to another. The amount of royalties toffset is generally limited in each license
and can vary under each agreement. For migalagthahtl AT2220, we will owe royalties only to Mt.r@ii School of Medicine (MSSM). We
would expect to pay royalties to all three licesswith respect to afegostat should we advancedbiomercialization. To date, we have not
made any royalty payments on sales of our procamdsbelieve we are at least a couple years away $edling any products that would reqt
us to make any such royalty payments.

In accordance with our license agreemettt MiSSM, in the third quarter of 2012, we paid $lion of the $3.5 million milestone
payment received from GSK to MSSM. In the fourtlager of 2010, we paid $3 million of the $30 milliapfront payment received from G!
to MSSM. We will also be obligated to pay MSSM ritigss on worldwide net sales of migalastat HCI.

Whether we will be obligated to make mite®t or royalty payments in the future is subje¢htsuccess of our product development
efforts and, accordingly, is inherently uncertain.

Contractual Obligations

The following table summarizes our sigrafit contractual obligations and commercial committs@t December 31, 2013 and the effect
such obligations are expected to have on our liguahd cash flows in future periods (in thousands)

Less than 1-3 35 Over 5

Total 1 Year Years Years Years
Operating lease obligatiol $ 984¢ $ 193( $ 4,072 $ 3547 $ 297
Debt obligation: 15,74¢ 29¢ 9,47¢ 5,971 —
Total fixed contractual obligation§) $ 2559t $ 2,22¢ $ 1355. $ 9,51¢ $ 297

Q) This table does not include (a) any milestpagments which may become payable to third pautieter license
agreements as the timing and likelihood of suchhmats are not known, (b) any royalty payments ital tharties as the
amounts of such payments, timing and/or the likalthof such payments are not known, (¢) amoungs)yf that may be
committed in the future to construct additionaliliies, and (d) contracts that are entered intthimordinary course of
business which are not material in the aggregaéamynperiod presented abo

We currently lease laboratory and officacgin Cranbury, New Jersey. The initial term &f fiase, which commenced in March 2012,
runs for seven years and may be extended for twlitiadal five-year periods. The facility at San B California, was closed as part of the
restructuring process in December 2013.
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In August 2011, we entered into a loan sexclrity agreement (the "2011 Loan Agreement") Bitlton Valley Bank ("SVB") in order to
finance certain capital expenditures we made imeotion with our move in March 2012 to our new aéfand laboratory space in Cranbury,
New Jersey. The 2011 Loan Agreement provided fdoug8 million of equipment financing through Jarwa014. Borrowings under the 20
Loan Agreement were collateralized by equipmentipased with the proceeds of the loan and beaesitet a variable rate of SVB
prime + 2.5%. The current SVB prime rate is 4.080-¢bruary 2012, the Company borrowed approxim&&Il9 million from the 2011 Loan
Agreement which will be repaid over the followindg ¥ears. The 2011 Loan Agreement contains findooienants and the Company has at
all times been in compliance with these covenants.

In June 2011, we entered into a new empétragreement with our chairman and chief execwtffieer, John F. Crowley, that provides
for an annual base salary, a cash bonus of up%od®ase salary, and monthly payments up to anammaximum of $1.8 million for out-of-
pocket medical expenses and the correspondingtes-gip payments. We entered into the employmeeeatent upon Mr. Crowley's return
to the chief executive officer position followingoaef term as executive chairman of the CompaagnfApril 2011 through August 2011
during which time he did not serve as chief exerutifficer. The terms of this current employmenteggnent are substantially similar to
Mr. Crowley's prior employment agreement pursuanttiich he served as chief executive officer. Nytaldr. Crowley's base salary, bonus,
severance and benefits under the current employaggaement are the same as provided under theopeeagreement The agreement will
continue for successive one-year terms until eiplagty provides written notice of termination te thther in accordance with the terms of the
agreement.

In December 2013, we entered into a ciadit security agreement (the "Agreement") with @ileg syndicate consisting of MidCap
Funding Ill, LLC, Oxford Finance LLC, and Siliconalley Bank which provides an aggregate of $25 orillithe "Term Loan"). We drew
$15 million of the aggregate principal amount af erm Loan at the end of December 2013 (the "Fiache") and may draw up to an
additional $10 million through the end of the fduquarter of 2014 (the "Second Tranche"). The fpadoutstanding balance of the First
Tranche bears interest at a rate per annum fix8b&b. If the Company draws from the Second Tranitteeprincipal outstanding balance of
the Second Tranche will also have a fixed interatst, which will be determined by reference todpelicable index rate at the time of the
draw. The Company will make interest-only paymemtghe Term Loan beginning January 1, 2014 andrging through April 1, 2015, after
which the Company will repay the aggregate prinoipastanding balance of the Term Loan in 33 equathly installments of principal, plus
accrued interest at the applicable rate. The TesanLmatures on December 27, 2017. We also recpalgdents made and a contingent
payable to the lenders at December 31, 2013. Tieagments include a debt facility fee of $0.1 milliwhich was paid on the date of the First
Tranche, $0.4 million exit fee that will be payahlgon repayment of the term loan and $0.3 milliepresenting the fair value of a contingent
payment of up to $0.4 million related to a sucdesspayable within six months of trigger eventhitlte trigger event being regulatory
acceptance of NDA or MMA submission. This is effeet5 years from the closing of the Term Loan. Shecess fee payable to the lender wa
probability adjusted and discounted utilizing aprapriate discount rate.

We have entered into agreements with @dinmesearch organizations and other outside cdotsawho are partially responsible for
conducting and monitoring our clinical trials farradrug candidates including migalastat HCI. Thamgtractual obligations are not reflected in
the table above because we may terminate them wtifenalty.

We have no other lines of credit or othemmitted sources of capital. To the extent ourtehpesources are insufficient to meet future
capital requirements, we will need to raise adddiacapital or incur indebtedness to fund our ofp@na. We cannot assure you that additional
debt or equity financing will be available on acedye terms, if at all.
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We had no off-balance sheet arrangement$ Becember 31, 2012 and 2013.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In July 2013, the Financial Accounting Stards Board ("FASB") issued an update that clafiégisting guidance on the presentation of
unrecognized tax benefits when various qualifyeglienefit carryforwards exist, including when timeecognized tax benefit should be
presented as a reduction to deferred tax assessafiability. This update is required to be addgor all annual periods and interim reporting
periods beginning after December 15, 2013, witlyesdoption permitted. The Company is evaluatirgithpact of this new provision on the
consolidated results of operations or financialifpms

In February 2013, the FASB amended its guie to require an entity to present the effecedfain significant reclassifications out of
accumulated other comprehensive income on the cgpdine items in net income. The new accoungnglance does not change the items
that must be reported in other comprehensive inamnvehen an item of other comprehensive income beseclassified to net income. The
guidance is effective prospectively for fiscal yebeginning after December 15, 2012 and we willdggiired to adopt these new provisions no
later than the quarter beginning January 1, 2053h& guidance requires additional presentatiop, dnére will be no impact to our
consolidated results of operations or financialifpms
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ltem 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK.

Market risk is the risk of change in fa#we of a financial instrument due to changes tierast rates, equity prices, creditworthiness,
financing, exchange rates or other factors. Oun@ry market risk exposure relates to changes @nést rates in our cash, cash equivalents ar
marketable securities. We place our investmenisgh-quality financial instruments, primarily monmarket funds, corporate debt securities,
asset backed securities and U.S. government agexey with maturities of less than one year, wiiehbelieve are subject to limited interest
rate and credit risk. The securities in our invesitrportfolio are not leveraged, are classified\aslable-for-sale and, due to the short-term
nature, are subject to minimal interest rate Ngk. currently do not hedge interest rate exposudecansistent with our investment policy, we
do not use derivative financial instruments in mwestment portfolio. At December 31, 2013, we H&8$@.0 million in cash, cash equivalents
and available for sale securities and due to thet4brm maturities of our investments, we do neltdve that a 10% change in average interes
rates would have a significant impact on our irgeiecome. As December 31, 2013, our cash, cashalquots and available for sale securities
were all due on demand or within one year. Ourtantling debt has a fixed interest rate and thesefwe have no exposure to interest rate
fluctuations.

We have operated primarily in the U.Shaligh we do conduct some clinical activities wiéimglors outside the U.S. While most expe!
are paid in U.S. dollars, there are minimal paymemade in local foreign currency. If exchange ratedergo a change of 10%, we do not
believe that it would have a material impact on saults of operations or cash flows.
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Item 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA.

Management's Report on Consolidated Financial Stateents and
Internal Control over Financial Reporting

The management of Amicus Therapeutics,Hae.prepared, and is responsible for the Compaaopsolidated financial statements and
related footnotes. These consolidated financiaéstants have been prepared in conformity with ge®erally accepted accounting principles
(U.S. GAAP).

We are responsible for establishing anchta@ing adequate internal control over finanoggdarting. Internal control over financial
reporting is defined in Rule 13a-15(f) or 15d-1%{fdmulgated under the Securities Exchange AcB8#flas a process designed by, or under
the supervision of the Company's principal exeeusiad principal financial officers and effectedthg Company's board of directors,
management, and other personnel, to provide rebkpaasurance regarding the reliability of finahoégorting and the preparation of financ
statements for external purposes in accordanceWvih GAAP and includes those policies and procesithat:

. pertain to the maintenance of records that in megsie detail accurately and fairly reflect the sactions and dispositions of the
assets of Amicus Therapeutics, Inc.;

. provide reasonable assurance that transactiengeorded as necessary to permit preparationafdial statements in
accordance with generally accepted accounting iptes; and that receipts and expenditures of Amibagapeutics, Inc. are
being made only in accordance with authorizatidne@anagement and directors of Amicus therapeutics; and

. provide reasonable assurance regarding preventibmely detection of unauthorized acquisition, oselisposition of the asse
of Amicus Therapeutics, Inc. that could have a mi@teffect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, intdroontrol over financial reporting may not preventetect misstatements. Also, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future perioassabject to the risk that controls may becomdeénaate because of changes in condition
that the degree of compliance with the policieprocedures may deteriorate.

We assessed the effectiveness of our iateomtrol over financial reporting as of DecemBgr 2013. In making this assessment, we use
the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponmsgi®rganizations of the Treadway Commission (198théwork) (COSO) in Internal
Control — Integrated Framework. Based on our assesswe believe that, as of December 31, 2013im@mal control over financial
reporting is effective based on those criteria.

The effectiveness of the Company's intecoalrol over the financial reporting as of Decembg, 2013 has been audited by Ernst &
Young LLP, an independent registered public acdagrfirm, as stated in their report. This reporpaars on page 85.

Dated March 3, 2014

/s/ JOHN F. CROWLEY /s/ WILLIAM D. BAIRD llI

Chairman and Chief Executive Offic Chief Financial Office
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindrirm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Amicus Therapeutics, Inc.

We have audited Amicus Therapeutics, Imet&rnal control over financial reporting as ofd@enber 31, 2013, based on criteria
established in Internal Control — Integrated Framwissued by the Committee of Sponsoring Orgaitinatof the Treadway Commission
(1992 framework)(the COSO criteria). Amicus Therajss, Inc.'s management is responsible for maimgieffective internal control over
financial reporting, and for its assessment ofeffiectiveness of internal control over financigboeting included in the accompanying repor!
consolidated financial statements and internalrobiwer financial reporting. Our responsibilitytis express an opinion on the company's
internal control over financial reporting basedoam audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance withdtandards of the Public Company Accounting Ogiet8oard (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the &mdbtain reasonable assurance about whetheatigéfénternal control over financial
reporting was maintained in all material respe@is: audit included obtaining an understanding térimal control over financial reporting,
assessing the risk that a material weakness etasting and evaluating the design and operatifegtfeness of internal control based on the
assessed risk, and performing such other procedsre® considered necessary in the circumstancefeliéve that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company's internal control over finanaigborting is a process designed to provide redderassurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of finahstatements for external purposes in accordantiegeinerally accepted accounting princip
A company's internal control over financial repogtincludes those policies and procedures that€ftpin to the maintenance of records that,
in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reftbettransactions and dispositions of the assdtseocfompany; (2) provide reasonable assuranc
that transactions are recorded as necessary tatg@aparation of financial statements in accor@anwith generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditureb®ttbmpany are being made only in accordance witioaizations of management and
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasanabburance regarding prevention or timely deteatfainauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company's assets that could havaterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, intdroontrol over financial reporting may not prevendetect misstatements. Also, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periogssabject to the risk that controls may becomdeénaate because of changes in condition
that the degree of compliance with the policieprocedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, Amicus Therapeutics, In@imained, in all material respects, effective iing control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2013, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance wighstndards of the Public Company Accounting Ogatdoard (United States), the
consolidated balance sheets of Amicus Therapeuitics(a development stage company) as of Dece8the2013 and 2012, and the related
consolidated statements of operations, comprehefs$s, changes in stockholders' (deficiency) gaand cash flows for each of the three
years in the period ended December 31, 2013 angetied from February 4, 2002 (inception) to Decentil, 2013 of Amicu
Therapeutics, Inc., and our reported dated Mar@934 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/s/  Ernst & Young LLF

MetroPark, New Jersey
March 3, 2014
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindrirm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Amicus Therapeutics, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying conseitialance sheets of Amicus Therapeutics, Inceyaldpment stage company) as of
December 31, 2013 and 2012, and the related cdasedl statements of operations, comprehensivedbasges in stockholders' (deficiency)
equity and cash flows for each of the three yaathé period ended December 31, 2013 and the p&dodFebruary 4, 2002 (inception) to
December 31, 2013. These financial statementharsesponsibility of the Company's management.régponsibility is to express an opinion
on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance thighstandards of the Public Company Accounting Slgat Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet éudbtain reasonable assurance about whethdinthecial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit also includes assessingabeunting principles used and significant estimatade by management, as well as
evaluating the overall financial statement pred@maWe believe that our audits provide a reastmbhsis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statementened to above present fairly, in all materialpests, the consolidated financial position of
Amicus Therapeutics, Inc. at December 31, 20132812, and the consolidated results of its operatin its cash flows for each of the three
years in the period ended December 31, 2013 anpetied from February 4, 2002 (inception) to Decentil, 2013, in conformity with U.!
generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance wighstndards of the Public Company Accounting Ogéatdoard (United States), Amicus
Therapeutics, Inc.'s internal control over finaho@porting as of December 31, 2013, based onr@itstablished in Internal Control —
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee ohSpiong Organizations of the Treadway Commissi@®2lframework) and our report
dated March 3, 2014 expressed an unqualified opithiereon.

/s/ ERNST & YOUNG LLF

MetroPark, New Jersey
March 3, 2014
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Amicus Therapeutics, Inc.
(a development stage company)

Consolidated Balance Sheets
(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

December 31

2012 2013
Assets:
Current asset:

Cash and cash equivalel $ 33971 $ 43,64(

Investments in marketable securit 65,15! 38,36(

Receivable due from GS 3,22¢ 75¢

Prepaid expenses and other current a: 2,27( 5,51¢
Total current asse 104,61 88,27¢
Property and equipment, less accumulated depreciatid amortizatior

of $8,501 and $9,973 at December 31, 2012 and 28%Bectively 5,02¢ 4,12(

In-process research & developm — 23,00(
Goodwill — 11,61
Other nor-current asset 442 552
Total Assets $ 110,08t $ 127,56:
Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable and accrued expel $ 8,84t $ 10,16

Current portion of secured loi 39¢ 29¢
Total current liabilities 9,24: 10,46
Deferred reimbursemen 30,41¢ 36,671
Warrant liability 90¢ —
Secured loan, less current port 29¢ 14,17¢
Contingent consideration payal — 10,60(
Deferred tax liability — 9,18¢
Other nor-current liability — 714
Commitments and contingenci
Stockholders' equity

Common stock, $.01 par value, 125,000,000 shartke@zed,

49,631,672 shares issued and outstanding at Dec&hp2012,

61,975,416 shares issued and outstanding at Dec&hp2013 55€ 67¢
Additional paic-in capital 387,53¢ 423,59
Accumulated other comprehensive incc 14 1
Deficit accumulated during the development st (318,889  (378,52)

Total stockholders' equi 69,22( 45,75
Total Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity $ 110,08t $ 127,56:

See accompanying notes to consolidated financsgisients
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Amicus Therapeutics, Inc.
(a development stage company)

Consolidated Statements of Operations
(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

Period from
February 4,
2002
Years Ended December 31 (Inception) to
December 31,
2011 2012 2013 2013
Revenue
Research revent $ 14,79¢ $ 11,591 $ 36: $ 57,85¢
Collaboration and milestone
revenue 6,64( 6,82( — 64,38:
Total revenue 21,43¢ 18,411 362 122,23t
Operating Expense
Research and developm 50,85¢ 50,27: 41,94 357,83
General and administratiy 19,88( 19,36¢ 18,89: 151,50¢
Restructuring charge — — 1,98¢ 3,51(
Impairment of leasehold
improvements — — — 1,03(
Depreciation and amortizatic 1,58¢ 1,70t 1,71¢ 13,481
In-process research and
developmen — — 41¢
Total operating expens 72,32 71,34 64,54« 527,78t
Loss from operation (50,887 (52,93) (64,187 (405,55()
Other income (expense:
Interest income 16C 31€ 174 14,56
Interest expens (14¢) (89) (46) (2,469
Change in fair value of warrant
liability 2,76¢ 652 90¢ 2,461
Other income 70 21 — 252
Loss before income tax bene (48,04)) (52,030 (63,145 (390,74
Income tax benef 3,62¢ 3,24¢ 3,51: 12,22(
Net loss (44,415 (48,78%) (59,637 (378,52)
Deemed dividen: — — (19,429
Preferred stock accretic — — — (802)
Net loss attributable to commu
stockholders $ (44,410 $ (48,78 $ (59,639 $ (398,74

Net loss attributable to commu
stockholders per common share

basic and dilute: $ (1.28) $ (1.07) $ (1.1€)
Weighted-average common share:
outstandin¢— basic and dilute 34,569,64 45,565,21 51,286,05
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Amicus Therapeutics, Inc.
(a development stage company)

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss
(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

Period from
February 4,
2002
Years Ended December 31 (inception)
to December 31,
2011 2012 2013 2013
Net loss $ (44,417) $ (48,789 $ (59,637 $ (378,52)
Other comprehensive income/(los
Unrealized gain/(loss) on available-femie
securities 32 10 (13) 1
Other comprehensive (loss)/income befor:
income taxe: 32 10 (13 1
Provision for income taxes related to othe
comprehensive (loss)/income iterff3 — — — —
Other comprehensive (loss)/incol $ 32 % 10 $ (13) 1
Comprehensive los $ (44,380 $ (48,779 $ (59,646 $ (378,52))
(@ — Taxes have not been accrued on unrealized gaseaurities as the Company is in a loss positiomfigeriods

presented
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Balance at
February 4, 2002
(inception)
Issuance of

common stock t
a consultan
Stock issued for ir
process researc
and developmel
Deferred
compensatiol
Amortization of
deferred
compensatiol
Issuance of
warrants with
financing
arrangement
Accretion of
redeemable
convertible
preferred stoc!
Net loss

Balance at
December 31, 20(
Stock issued from

exercise of stoc
options
Deferred
compensatiol
Amortization of
deferred
compensatiol
Issuance of stock
warrants with
convertible note
Issuance of stock
options to
consultant:
Accretion of
redeemable
convertible
preferred stocl
Beneficial
conversion
feature related t
bridge financinc
Net loss

Balance at
December 31, 20(
Deferred

compensatiol
Amortization of
deferred
compensatiol
Issuance of stock
options to
consultant:
Accretion of
redeemable
convertible
preferred stocl
Interest waived or
converted
convertible note
Beneficial
conversion
feature related t
bridge financinc

Amicus Therapeutics, Inc.
(a development stage company)

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholder®eficiency)/Equity

Period from February 4, 2002 (inception) to Decembye31, 2013,

and the eleven year period ended December 31, 2013

(in thousands, except share amounts)

Deficit
Accumulated Total
Common Stock Other Stockholders'
————————— Additional Comprehensive During the
Paid-In Deferred Development  (Deficiency)
Shares  Amount Capital Gain/ (Loss) Compensatior Stage Equity
= —  $ — % — % — % — 3 =
74,93¢ 6 78 — — — 84
232,26t 17 401 — — — 41¢
— — 20¢ — (209) — —
— — — — 27 — 27
— — 8 — — — 8
— — (12) — — — (12)
— — — — — (1,775 (1,779
307,20« 23 68t — (182) (2,775 (1,249
33¢ — — — — — —
— — 14 — (14) — —
— — — — 70 — 70
— — 21C — — — 21C
— — 4 — — — 4
= — (17 — = = (17
— — 41 — — — 41
_ — - — — (6,76¢) (6,76%)
307,53 23 937 — (126) (8,54%) (7,709
— — 68 — (68) — —
— — — — 60 — 60
— — 16 — — — 16
— — (12¢) — — — (12¢)
— — 19¢ — — — 19¢
— — 95 — — — 95



Comprehensive
Loss:
Unrealized

holding loss
on available-
for-sale
securities
Net loss
Balance at

December 31, 20(

Stock issued from
exercise of stoc
options

Stock issued from
exercise of
warrants

Deferred
compensatiol

Amortization of
deferred
compensatiol

Non-cash charge
for stock options
to consultant:

Accretion of
redeemable
convertible
preferred stocl

Comprehensive
Loss:
Unrealized

holding loss
on available-
for-sale
securities
Net loss
Balance at
December 31, 20(

— — — © — — ©
_ _ _ — — (8,807) (8,807
307,53 23 1,18: ©) (139 (17,350 (16,287
97,15¢ 7 17 = — = 24
133,33; 10 65 — — — 75
— — 2,77¢ — (2,779 — —
_ _ _ — 368 — 36¢
— — 112 — — — 112
— — (139 — — — (139
— — — @ — — M
_ _ _ — — (19,979 (19,97
538,02! 40 4016 $ (16) $ (2547 $ (37.32) $ (35,829
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Amicus Therapeutics, Inc.
(a development stage company)

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholder@eficiency) Equity
Period from February 4, 2002 (inception) to Decembye31, 2003,
and the eleven year period ended December 31, 2013
(in thousands, except share amounts)

Deficit
Accumulated Total
Common Stock Additional Other During the Stockholders'
Paid-In Comprehensive Deferred Development (Deficiency)
Shares Amount Capital Gain/ (Loss) Compensation Stage Equity

Balance at
December 31,
2005 538,02! $ 40 $ 4,01¢ $ (26) $ (2,547 $ (37,32) $ (35,829
Stock issued

from
exercise of
options 265,80: 20 13¢ — — — 15¢
Stock issued
for license
payment 133,33! 10 1,21 — — — 1,22(
Reversal of
deferred
compensatic
upon
adoption of
FAS 123(R) — — (2,547) — 2,547 — —
Stock-based
compensatic 53,33! — 2,81¢ — — — 2,81¢
Issuance of
stock option
to
consultant: — — 47€ — — — 47€
Accretion of
redeemable
convertible
preferred
stock — — (15¢) — — — (159)
Reclassificatio
of warrant
liability
upon
exercise of
Series B
redeemable
convertible
preferred
stock
warrants — — 117 — — — 117
Beneficial
conversion
on is suance
of Series C
redeemable
convertible
preferred
stock — — 19,424 — — — 19,42«
Beneficial
conversion
charge
(deemed
dividend) or
is suance of
Series C
redeemable
convertible
preferred
stock — — (19,429 — — — (19,429
Comprehensiv
(Loss)/
Income:
Unrealized
holding
gain on
available-
for-sale
securities — — — 31 — — 31
Net loss — — — — — (46,34%) (46,34%)

Balance at
December 31



2006
Stock issued
from initial
public
offering
Stock issued
from
conversion
of preferred
shares
Stock issued
from
exercise of
stock
options, ne
Stock based
compensatic
Issuance of
stock option
to
consultant:
Accretion of
redeemable
convertible
preferred
stock
Charge for
warrant
liability
Comprehensiv
(Loss)/
Income:
Unrealized
holding
gain on
available-
for-sale
securities
Net loss
Balance at
December 31,
2007
Stock issued
from
exercise of
stock
options, ne
Stock based
compensatic
Comprehensiv
(Loss)/
Income:
Unrealized
holding
gain on
available-
for-sale
securities
Net loss
Balance at
December 31,
2008

990,49; 70 6,061 15 (83,66 (77,51
5,000,001 50 68,00 = — 68,148
16,112,72 162 148,42 — — 148,59
305,51t 3 458 = = 45¢
— — 3,82¢ — — 3,82¢

= = 162 = = 162

— — (351) — — (351)

— = 75¢ = — 75¢

— = = 392 — 39z

_ _ _ _ (41,167 (41,167
22,408,73 28t 227,43t 40¢ (124,83) 103,29
225,98 2 52¢ — — 53¢
= = 6,44¢ = = 6,44¢

= = = 128 = 128

— — — — (39,35 (39,355
22,634,71 287 234.41. $ 533 $  (164,18) $ 71,04
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Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholder@eficiency) Equity

Amicus Therapeutics, Inc.
(a development stage company)

Period from February 4, 2002 (inception) to Decembye31, 2003,

Balance at December 31, 2C
Stock issued from exercise of stock options,
Stock based compensati
Comprehensive (Loss)/ Inconr

Unrealized holding loss on availa-for-sale securitie

Net loss
Balance at December 31, 2C
Stock issued from secondary offering
Stock issued from collaboration agreement
Stock issued from exercise of stock options,
Stock based compensati
Comprehensive (Loss)/ Incorr
Unrealized holding loss on available-for-sale
securities
Net loss
Balance at December 31, 2C
Stock issued from exercise of stock options,
Stock based compensati
Comprehensive (Loss)/ Incon
Unrealized holding gain on availa-for-sale securitie
Net loss
Balance at December 31, 2C
Stock issued from exercise of stock options,
Stock issued from exercise of warra
Stock issued from collaboration agreem
Stock issued from public offerir
Stocl-based compensatic
Unrealized holding gain on availa-for-sale securitie
Net loss
Balance at December 31, 2C

(in thousands, except share amounts)

and the eleven year period ended December 31, 2013

Deficit
Accumulated
Additional Other During the Total

Common Stock Paid-In Comprehensive Deferred Development Stockholders'
Shares Amount Capital Gain/ (Loss) Compensation Stage (Deficiency) Equity
22,634,71 % 287 $ 23441 $ 53¢ ¢ — $ (164,18) $ 71,04:
37,71¢ — 6C — — — 60
— — 7,781 — — — 7,781
— — — (490 — — (490
— — — — — (6,56%) (6,567)
2267242 $ 287 $ 24225¢ $ 43 8 — $ (170,750 $ 71,83¢
4,946,52! 5C 13,78( — — — 13,83(
6,866,24! 68 28,01« — — — 28,08!
23,73t — 9 — — — 9
— — 6,18¢ — — — 6,18¢
— = = (71) = = (71)
— — — — — (54,93¢) (54,93¢)
34,508,93 $ 40€ $ 290,24¢ $ (29 $ — $ (225,69) $ 64,93¢
145,27: 1 35¢ — — — 36(
— — 8,67¢ — — — 8,67¢
— — — 32 — — 32
— — — — — (44,417) (44,417)
34,654,20 $ 407 $ 299,28! $ 4 $ — § (270,109 $ 29,59:
436,95 4 1,62¢ — — — 1,63(
90,93 1 38¢ — — — 387
2,949,58 2¢ 18,11: — — — 18,14(
11,500,00 11F 61,94( — — — 62,05¢
— — 6,191 — — — 6,191
— — — 10 — — 10
— — — — — (48,78%) (48,78%)
49,631,67 $ 556 $ 387,53t $ 14 $ — $ (318,88) $ 69,22(
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Amicus Therapeutics, Inc.
(a development stage company)

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholder@eficiency) Equity
Period from February 4, 2002 (inception) to Decembye31, 2003,
and the eleven year period ended December 31, 2013
(in thousands, except share amounts)

Deficit
Accumulated Total
Common Stock Additional Other During the Stockholders'
Paid-In Comprehensive Deferred Development  (Deficiency)
Shares Amount Capital Gain/ (Loss) Compensation Stage Equity

Balance at

December

2012 49,631,67 $ 55€ $387,53¢ $ 14 $ — $ (318,889 % 69,22(
Stock and

warrants

issued in

financing 7,500,001 75 14,92 — — — 15,00(
Stock issued

for

Callidus

acquisition  4,843,74. 48 14,95: — — — 15,00(
Stock-based

compensa — — 6,171 — — — 6,177
Unrealized

holding

loss on

available-

for-sale

securities — — — (13 — — (13
Net loss — — — — — (59,637) (59,637)
Balance at

December

2013 61,97541 $ 67S $423,59! $ 1% — $ (378,52)$ 45,75!.
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Amicus Therapeutics, Inc.
(a development stage company)

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(in thousands)

Period from
February 4,
2002
Years Ended December 31 (Inception) to
December 31,
2011 2012 2013 2013
Operating activities
Net loss $(44,417) $ (48,787 $(59,63Y) $ (378,52)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash u
in operating activities
Non-cash interest expen — — — 52¢
Depreciation and amortizatic 1,58t 1,70t 1,71¢ 13,481
Amortization of no-cash compensatic — — 52z
Stoclk-based compensatic 8,67¢ 6,191 6,171 48,10¢
Non-cash charge for stock based compensat
issued to consultan — — — 853
Restructuring charge — — 1,98¢ 3,51(
Change in fair value of warrant liabili (2,764 (6593 (90¢) (2,46))
Loss on disposal of ass — 28 — 38¢
Stocl-based license payme — — — 1,22(
Impairment of leasehold improvemel — — — 1,03(
Non-cash charge for in process research anc
developmen — — — 41¢
Beneficial conversion feature related to bridg
financing — — — 13t
Changes in operating assets and liabilit
Receivable due from GS (5,04%) 1,81¢ 2,46¢ (759
Prepaid expenses and other current a: (3,667) 3,63: (3,249 (5,519
Other noi-current assel (442) 267 (46€)
Account payable and accrued exper 1,41¢ (869) (613) 6,71(
Deferred reimbursemen (4,77¢€) 2,91¢ 6,25¢ 36,67
Net cash used in operating activit (49,427 (33,744 (45,799 (274,149
Investing activities
Sale and redemption of marketable secur 98,47+ 83,35.  83,33% 838,77¢
Purchases of marketable securi (50,607 (118,459) (56,559 (877,25
Purchases of property and equipm (1,420 (4,329 (695) (18,909
Net cash provided by/ (used in) investing actigi 46,45. (39,43) 26,08 (57,387
Financing activities
Proceeds from the issuance of preferred stock,
of issuance cos — — — 143,02:
Proceeds from issuance of common stock and
warrants, net of issuance co — 80,19t  15,00( 208,44
Proceeds from the issuance of convertible n — — — 5,00(
Payments of capital lease obligatic (40 — — (5,589
Payments of secured loan agreen (1,259 (1,347 (399 (4,459
Payments related to deferred financ — — (110 (110
Proceeds from exercise of stock opti 35¢ 1,63( — 3,341
Proceeds from exercise of warrants (common
preferred) — — — 264
Proceeds from capital asset financing arrange! — — — 5,611
Proceeds from secured loan agreen — 99t 14,88t 19,64’
Net cash (used in)/ provided by financing acti@ (934) 81,47¢  29,38( 375,16¢
Net (decrease)/ increase in cash and
equivalents (3,909 8,30: 9,66¢ 43,64(
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of yea
period 29,57: 25,66¢ 33,97 —
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year/p $ 25,66¢ $ 33,97. $43,64( 3 43,64(

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow




information

Cash paid during the period for inter

Non-cash activities

Conversion of warrants to common st

Conversion of notes payable to Series B
redeemable convertib

Conversion of preferred stock to common st

Accretion of redeemable convertible preferred
stock

Beneficial conversion feature related to issuarf
the additional issuance of Series C redeemal
convertible preferred stoc

@H BB B B

14¢
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38¢

5,00(
148,95:
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Amicus Therapeutics, Inc.
(a development stage company)

Notes To Consolidated Financial Statements
1. Description of Business
Corporate Information, Status of Operations, and Magement Plans

Amicus Therapeutics, Inc. ("the Company8dsvincorporated on February 4, 2002 in Delawaresadiopharmaceutical company
focused on the discovery, development and commati@n of nextgeneration medicines for a range of rare and orpliseases, with a foc
on improved therapies for lysosomal storage dise@&&SDs"). The Company's lead program is migatds@ for Fabry disease. Migalastat
HCl is a novel, small molecule pharmacological @rape in development as a monotherapy and in catibimwith enzyme replacement
therapy "(ERT") for Fabry disease. The Compangweitaging its Chaperone-Advanced Replacement TheoaCHART™ platform to
develop next-generation therapies that combinerpheological chaperones with enzyme therapies farg@o Mucopolysaccharidosis Type |
("MPS 1) and Gaucher diseases. Current CHART™ g for Pompe disease include the pharmacolodiegierone AT2220 (duvoglustat
HCI) co-administered with currently marketed PorigeTs (Myozyme®/Lumizyme®), as well as AT2220 corfaated with a proprietary
Pompe ERT. The Company's activities since incegienre consisted principally of raising capital abdishing facilities, and performing
research and development. Accordingly, the Compgognsidered to be in the development stage.

In November 2013, the Company completedatirpuisition of Callidus Biopharma, Inc. ("Callidushrough an Agreement and Plan of
Merger ("the Merger Agreement") between the Comfsawholly owned subsidiary, CB Acquisition Corp BG and Callidus whereby CB
merged with and into Callidus with Callidus becogithe surviving corporation of the merger. As autiesf the merger, Callidus became a
wholly owned subsidiary of Amicus. For further infiation, see "— Note 3. Acquisition of Callidus Bi@arma,Inc. Callidus was a privately-
held biologics company focused on developing bestass enzyme replacement therapies (ERTs) fostynal storage diseases (LSDs).
Callidus' lead ERT is a recombinant human acid-alglhcosidase (rhGAA, called "AT-B200") for Pompsedse in late preclinical
development

In November 2013, Amicus entered into tlewiRed Agreement (the "Revised Agreement”) withx@&mithKline plc ("GSK"), pursuant
to which Amicus has obtained global rights to depednd commercialize migalastat HCI as a monotlyeaap in combination with ERT for
Fabry disease. The Revised Agreement amends aladespn its entirety the Expanded Agreement edter® between Amicus and GSK in
July 2012. Under the terms of the Revised Agreembate is no upfront payment from Amicus to GSKr fhe next-generation Fabry ERT
(migalastat HCI co-formulated with ERT), GSK isgdllile to receive single-digit royalties on net saleeight major markets outside the U.S.
For migalastat HCI monotherapy, GSK is eligibledoeive post-approval and sales-based milestoaegelhas tiered royalties in the mielen:
in eight major markets outside the U.S.

In November 2013, the Company enteredangecurities purchase agreement (the "2013 SPAH)@&K and certain entities controlled
by Redmile Group, LLC for the private placemenapthares of the Company's common stock and binhication of shares of the Compai
common stock and warrants to purchase shares @dhgany's common stock. The warrants have a teomeoyear and are exercisable
between July 1, 2014 and June 30, 2015 at an ergpcice of $2.50 per share. The aggregate ofteegds were $15 million and GSK's
resulting equity stake in the Company was 17.6%exmtember 31, 2013.

In September 2013, the Company enteredamtallaboration agreement with Biogen Idec ("Bigfdo discover, develop and
commercialize novel small molecules for the treatthos
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Parkinson's disease. The collaboration will bujdm preclinical studies at the Company and indepenplublished research that suggest
increasing activity of the lysosomal enzyme glucobeosidase ("GCase") in the brain may correctagynuclein pathology and other deficits
associated with Parkinson's disease. Under terrigcahulti-year agreement, the Company and Biogércallaborate in the discovery of a
new class of small molecules that target the G@aggme, for further development and commercialirabiy Biogen. Biogen will be
responsible for funding all discovery, developmamigl commercialization activities. In addition thempany will be reimbursed for all full-
time employees working on the project. The Compgaralso eligible to receive development and regmamilestones, as well as modest
royalties on global net sales.

For further information, see "— Note 15.l&@borative Agreements"

The Company had an accumulated deficippfaximately $378.5 million at December 31, 2018 anticipates incurring losses through
the fiscal year ending December 31, 2014 and beybmel Company has not yet generated commercia sadenue and has been able to func
its operating losses to date through the salesatideemable convertible preferred stock, issuahcenvertible notes, net proceeds from its
initial public offering ("IPO") and subsequent dtaafferings, payments from partners during the teohthe collaboration agreements and
other financing arrangements. In March 2010, then@any sold 4.95 million shares of its common stac#t also sold warrants to purchase
1.9 million shares of common stock in a registatiedct offering to a select group of institutiofmaestors for net proceeds of $17.1 million. In
October 2010, the Company sold 6.87 million shaféts common stock as part of the Original Collaiimn Agreement with GSK for
proceeds of $31.0 million. In March 2012, the Compsold 11.5 million shares of its common stock istock offering for net proceeds of
$62.0 million. In July 2012, the Company sold 2.8lion shares of its common stock as part of the&nded Collaboration Agreement with
GSK for proceeds of $18.6 million. In November 20t Company sold 7.5 million shares of its commtmtk and also sold warrants to
purchase 1.6 million shares of its common stock mivate placement for proceeds of $15 millione Bompany believes that its existing cast
and cash equivalents and short-term investmentbegufficient to cover its cash flow requiremeiuis2014.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation

The accompanying consolidated financigkstents have been prepared in accordance withGQASP and include all adjustments
necessary for the fair presentation of the Comgdinéncial position for the periods presented.

Consolidation

The financial statements include the actoohAmicus Therapeutics, Inc. and its wholly odrseibsidiaries, Amicus Therapeutics UK
Limited and Callidus Biopharma, Inc. All signifidaintercompany transactions and balances are ebeihin consolidation. These subsidiaries
are not material to the overall financial stateraaitthe Company.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statementsdnformity with U.S. GAAP requires management tkenastimates and assumptions that affec
the reported amounts of assets and liabilitiesdibelosure
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of contingent assets and liabilities at the dattheffinancial statements, and the reported amafrresvenues and expenses during the repc
periods. Actual results could differ from thosdrestes.

Cash, Money Market Funds, and Marketable Securities

The Company considers all highly liquidéstments purchased with a maturity of three moaithess at the date of acquisition, to be ¢
equivalents.

Marketable securities consist of fixed imeinvestments with a maturity of greater thanghmonths and other highly liquid investments
that can be readily purchased or sold using estaddi markets. These investments are classifiedadlalale-for-sale and are reported at fair
value on the Company's balance sheet. Unrealiziglihlgagains and losses are reported within comprsifte income/(loss) in the statement:
comprehensive loss. Fair value is based on availallrket information including quoted market prida®ker or dealer quotations or other
observable inputs. See "— Note 6. Cash, Money Mdfliads and Marketable Securities” for a summargvailable-for-sale securities as of
December 31, 2013 and 2012.

Concentration of Credit Risk

The Company's financial instruments thateaposed to concentration of credit risk congisharily of cash and cash equivalents and
marketable securities. The Company maintains &b ead cash equivalents in bank accounts, whidimas, exceed federally insured limits.
The Company invests its marketable securitiesghdgjuality commercial financial instruments. Then@@any has not recognized any losses
from credit risks on such accounts during any efghriods presented. The Company believes it iexmdsed to significant credit risk on cash
and cash equivalents or its marketable securities.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at t¥sst,accumulated depreciation and amortizationr&gtion is calculated over the estimated
useful lives of the respective assets, which rdraya three to five years, or the lesser of theteglanitial term of the lease or useful life for
leasehold improvements. Assets under capital leseamortized over the terms of the related least®ir estimated useful lives, whichever
is shorter.

The initial cost of property and equipmeonsists of its purchase price and any directlybaitable costs of bringing the asset to its
working condition and location for its intended uBgpenditures incurred after the fixed assets e put into operation, such as repairs ar
maintenance, are charged to income in the periahinh the costs are incurred. Major replacememtgrovements and additions are
capitalized in accordance with Company policy.

Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenue when amewetealized or realizable and earned. Revencenisidered realizable and earned when
the following criteria are met: (1) persuasive evide of an arrangement exists; (2) delivery hasroed or services have been rendered; (3
price is fixed or determinable; and (4) collectafrthe amounts due are reasonably assured.

In multiple element arrangements, revesuslocated to each separate unit of accountingeantl deliverable in an arrangement is
evaluated to determine whether it represents stpanés of
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accounting. A deliverable constitutes a separaiteofimccounting when it has standalone value &edetis no general right of return for the
delivered elements. In instances when the afordoresd criteria are not met, the deliverable is cioath with the undelivered elements and
allocation of the arrangement consideration andmae recognition is determined for the combined asma single unit of accounting.
Allocation of the consideration is determined ahagement inception on the basis of each unitdivel selling price. In instances where there
is determined to be a single unit of accounting,ttital consideration is applied as revenue foisthgle unit of accounting and is recognized
over the period of inception through the date whieedast deliverable within the single unit of agnting is expected to be delivered.

The Company's current revenue recognitaicies, which were applied in fiscal 2010, provitiat, when a collaboration arrangement
contains multiple deliverables, such as licenserasdarch and development services, the Compawgasdis revenue to each separate unit of
accounting based on a selling price hierarchy. Sgikng price hierarchy for a deliverable is basedi) its vendor specific objective evidence
("VSOE") if available, (ii) third party evidenceTPE") if VSOE is not available, or (iii) best estited selling price ("'BESP") if neither VSOE
nor TPE is available. The Company would establishuUSOE of selling price using the price chargedafdeliverable when sold separately.
The TPE of selling price would be established bgleating largely similar and interchangeable coriteproducts or services in standalone
sales to similarly situated customers. The BESPldvbe established considering internal factors @schn internal pricing analysis or an
income approach using a discounted cash flow model.

The Company also considers the impact téni@l future payments it makes in its role agador to its customers and evaluates if these
potential future payments could be a reductioreg&nue from that customer. If the potential futpagments to the customer are:

. a payment for an identifiable benefit; and

. the identifiable benefit is separable from the exgsrelationship between the Company and its custoand
. the identifiable benefit can be obtained from aypather than the customer; and

. the Company can reasonably estimate the fairevaf the identifiable benefit

then the payments are accounted for separate fremevenue received from that customer. If, howealethese criteria are not satisfied, then
the payments are treated as a reduction of revieomethat customer.

If the Company determines that any potéftiare payments to its customers are to be cemnstlas a reduction of revenue, it must
evaluate if the total amount of revenue to be remkbunder the arrangement is fixed and determindtilee total amount of revenue is not fi
and determinable due to the uncertain nature opdhential future payments to the customer, thgncalstomer payments cannot be recognize
as revenue until the total arrangement considerétromes fixed and determinable.

The reimbursements for research and dexwedop costs under collaboration agreements that theefiteria for revenue recognition are
included in Research Revenue and the costs asseidh these reimbursable amounts are includedsearch and development expenses.

In order to determine the revenue recogmifor contingent milestones, the Company evaluditegontingent milestones using the criterie
as provided by the Financial Accounting StandarodarBs
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("FASB") guidance on the milestone method of reweracognition at the inception of a collaboratigne@ment. The criteria requires that

(i) the Company determines if the milestone is c@nsurate with either its performance to achievaritiestone or the enhancement of value
resulting from the Company's activities to achithemilestone, (ii) the milestone be related ta pasformance, and (iii) the milestone be
reasonable relative to all deliverable and paynemis of the collaboration arrangement. If the#eria are met then the contingent milestone
can be considered as substantive milestones ahdewniécognized as revenue in the period that titesstane is achieved.

Fair Value Measurements

The Company records certain asset anditiabalances under the fair value measurementiefised by the FASB guidance. Current
FASB fair value guidance emphasizes that fair védueemarket-based measurement, not an entityfgpeeasurement. Therefore, a fair value
measurement should be determined based on the ptssasthat market participants would use in pgdine asset or liability. As a basis for
considering market participant assumptions inalue measurements, current FASB guidance establaffiair value hierarchy that
distinguishes between market participant assumpti@sed on market data obtained from sources indepeof the reporting entity
(observable inputs that are classified within Levelnd 2 of the hierarchy) and the reporting gatiwn assumptions that market participants
assumptions would use in pricing assets or liaddifunobservable inputs classified within Levelf 3he hierarchy).

Level 1 inputs utilize quoted prices (unest¢d) in active markets for identical assetsatilities that the Company has the ability to
access at measurement date. Level 2 inputs artsiogher than quoted prices included in Level 1 éna observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly. Level 2 inputs mayclude quoted prices for similar assets and litéadiin active markets, as well as inputs that ar
observable for the asset or liability (other thated prices), such as interest rates, foreignan@h rates, and yield curves that are observabl
at commonly quoted intervals. Level 3 inputs arehgervable inputs for the asset or liability, whiglypically based on an entity's own
assumptions, as there is little, if any, relatedkaiactivity. In instances where the determinatibthe fair value measurement is based on
inputs from different levels of the fair value tdechy, the level in the fair value hierarchy withwhich the entire fair value measurement fal
based on the lowest level input that is signifidarthe fair value measurement in its entirety. Toenpany's assessment of the significance
particular input to the fair value measurementsrentirety requires judgment, and considers facpecific to the asset or liability.

Research and Development Costs

Research and development costs are expessadurred. Research and development expensisisomsmarily of costs related to
personnel, including salaries and other persorelatead expenses, consulting fees and the costitifiess and support services used in drug
development. Assets acquired that are used foarelsend development and have no future alternaeeare expensed as in-process researc
and development.

Interest Income and Interest Expense

Interest income consists of interest eaprethe Company's cash and cash equivalents arlétable securities. Interest expense consist
of interest incurred on capital leases and sectiedd
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Other Income and Expenses

Other income includes funds received fromW.S. Treasury Department in 2011 for the QualifTherapeutic Discovery Projects tax
credit and grant program and the gain on sale icefixed assets in 2012. Other expenses inahodés directly attributable to a planned
offering of the Company's securities that were eghently withdrawn during 2006 and the losses erdtbposal of certain fixed assets.

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes utideliability method. Under this method deferredame tax liabilities and assets are
determined based on the difference between thadiabstatement carrying amounts and tax basissdta and liabilities and for operating
losses and tax credit carry forwards, using enatetedates in effect in the years in which theatiéinces are expected to reverse. A valuation
allowance is recorded if it is "more likely thanththat a portion or all of a deferred tax assdt mot be realized.

Other Comprehensive Income/ (Loss)

Components of other comprehensive incotoss) include unrealized gains and losses on dlaif@r-sale securities and are included in
the statements of comprehensive loss.

Leases

In the ordinary course of business, the Gamy enters into lease agreements for office spaeeell as leases for certain property and
equipment. The leases have varying terms and giqrisaand have provisions to extend or renew thsdeagreement, among other terms and
conditions, as negotiated. Once the agreementeisutad, the lease is assessed to determine whiethierase qualifies as a capital or operating
lease.

When a non-cancelable operating lease dieslany fixed escalation clauses and lease inesnfior rent holidays or build-out
contributions, rent expense is recognized on agsirdine basis over the initial term of the leashe excess between the average rental amou
charged to expense and amounts payable underabe ilerecorded in accrued expenses.

Stock-Based Compensation

At December 31, 2013, the Company had thteek-based employee compensation plans, whictesmeribed more fully in "— Note 9.
Stockholders' Equity.” The Company applies thealue method of measuring stock-based compensatiuinh requires a public entity to
measure the cost of employee services receivexcim@ge for an award of equity instruments basetthegrant-date fair value of the award.

Basic and Diluted Net Loss Attributable to Commotogkholders per Common Share

The Company calculates net loss per stmeeraeasurement of the Company's performance wikileg effect to all dilutive potential
common shares that were outstanding during thettieggeriod. The Company had a net loss for aliqus presented; accordingly, the
inclusion of common stock options and warrants wdid anti-dilutive. Therefore, the weighted aversigares used to calculate both basic an
diluted earnings per share are the same.
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The following table provides a reconciliatiof the numerator and denominator used in comguttasic and diluted net loss attributable to
common stockholders per common share (in thousaxcpt share amounts):

Years Ended December 31
2011 2012 2013

Historical
Numerator:
Net loss attributable to commiu
stockholders $ (44,410 $ (48,78%) $ (59,637

Denominator
Weighted average common shares
outstandin¢— basic and dilute 34,569,64 45,565,21 51,286,05

Dilutive common stock equivalents wouldlude the dilutive effect of common stock optionsl avarrants for common stock equivalents.
Potentially dilutive common stock equivalents tethhpproximately 8.5 million, 9.4 million and 12rllion for the years ended December 31,
2011, 2012 and 2013, respectively. Potentiallytdifucommon stock equivalents were excluded froendituted earnings per share
denominator for all periods because of their ailtitde effect.

Dividends

The Company has not paid cash dividendssarapital stock to date. The Company currenttgnids to retain its future earnings, if any, tc
fund the development and growth of the businessdaed not foresee payment of a dividend in any g fiscal period.

Segment Information

The Company currently operates in one lassirsegment focusing on the development and coratiation of small molecule, orally
administered therapies to treat a range of humaatgediseases. The Company is not organized bikehand is managed and operated as on
business. A single management team reports tahileé @perating decision maker who comprehensivedypages the entire business. The
Company does not operate any separate lines aidrsssor separate business entities with respéstppooducts. Accordingly, the Company
does not accumulate discrete financial informatigth respect to separate service lines and doekaw@ separately reportable segments.

Business Combinations

The Company allocates the purchase prieegifired businesses to the tangible and intangidets acquired and liabilities assumed
based upon their estimated fair values on the aitopni date. The purchase price allocation procegsires management to make significant
estimates and assumptions, especially at the atigquidate with respect to intangible assets arprotess research and development (IPR
In connection with the purchase price allocatiarsacquisitions, the Company estimates the faimevalf contingent payments utilizing a
probability-based income approach inclusive of stimeated discount rate.
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Contingent Consideration Payable

The Company determines the fair value aticgent acquisition consideration payable on ttiusition date using a probability-based
income approach utilizing an appropriate discoate.rContingent acquisition consideration payabkkhown as a non-current liability on the
Company's consolidated balance sheets. Changes fait value of the contingent acquisition considien payable will be determined each
period end and recorded on the consolidated staiisnoé operations.

Intangible Assets and Goodwiill

The Company records goodwill in a busir@sabination when the total consideration exceeddah value of the net tangible and
identifiable intangible assets acquired. Purchasguocess research and development is accountexs fan indefinite lived intangible asset
until the underlying project is completed, at whipdint the intangible asset will be accounted foralefinite lived intangible asset, or
abandoned, at which point the intangible assetheillvritten off or partially impaired. Goodwill amadefinite lived intangible assets are
assessed annually for impairment and whenever geemircumstances indicate that the carrying arhofian asset may not be recoverable. If
it is determined that the full carrying amount ofasset is not recoverable, an impairment losscdgrded in the amount by which the carrying
amount of the asset exceeds its fair value.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In July 2013, the FASB issued an updatedlaaified existing guidance on the presentatibar@ecognized tax benefits when various
qualifying tax benefit carryforwards exist, incladiwhen the unrecognized tax benefit should beepites as a reduction to deferred tax asset
or as a liability. This update is required to beged for all annual periods and interim reporfiegiods beginning after December 15, 2013,
with early adoption permitted. The Company is eatihg the impact of this new provision on the cdigsded results of operations or financial
position.

In February 2013, the FASB amended its guie to require an entity to present the effecedfain significant reclassifications out of
accumulated other comprehensive income on the cgpdine items in net income. The new accountgnglance does not change the items
that must be reported in other comprehensive inamnvehen an item of other comprehensive income rbeseclassified as net income. The
guidance is effective prospectively for fiscal y@beginning after December 15, 2012. The Companoptad these new provisions for the
quarterly period beginning January 1, 2013. Asgihielance requires additional presentation onlyietineas no impact on the Company's
consolidated results of operations or financialifpms

Restructuring

Restructuring charges are recognized asultrof actions to streamline operations and matize manufacturing facilities. Judgment is
used when estimating the impact of restructurirgng) including future termination benefits and o#at costs to be incurred when the action:
take place. Actual results could vary from thedaredes.
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3. Acquisition of Callidus Biopharma, Inc.

In November 2013, the Company acquirediadl through the merger of the Company's subgid@B Acquisition Corp. with and into
Callidus (see "— Note 1. Description of Busines€allidus was a privately-held biologics compangused on developing best-in-class ERTSs
for LSDs and its lead ERT is AT-B200 for Pompe ds®in late preclinical development. The acquisitibthe Callidus assets and technology
compliments Amicus' CHARTM platform for the development of next generation ERT

In consideration for the merger, the Conypagreed to issue an aggregate of 7.2 million shafrés common stock, par value $0.01 per
share, to the former stockholders of Callidus. ABecember 31, 2013, 4.8 million shares were issuet2.4 million shares remain issuable tc
former Callidus shareholders. In addition, the Campwill be obligated to make additional paymentthe former stockholders of Callidus
upon the achievement by Callidus of certain clihiodestones of up to $35 million and regulatornpegval milestones of up to $105 million as
set forth in the Merger Agreement, provided thatdlygregate consideration shall not exceed $13milThe Company may, at its election,
satisfy certain milestone payments identified ia kterger Agreement aggregating $40 million in sharfeits Common Stock (calculated basec
on a price per share equal to the average of tiellasing bid price per share for the Common Stwtlhe NASDAQ Global Market for the
ten (10) trading days immediately preceding the @éfpayment). The milestone payments not permitidek satisfied in Common Stock (as
well as any payments that the Company is permitiebut chooses not to, satisfy in Common Stockh eesult of the terms of the Merger
Agreement, the rules of The NASDAQ Global Marketptherwise, will be paid in cash.

The fair value of the contingent acquisitepnsideration payments on the acquisition dae$1®.6 million and was estimated by
applying a probability-based income approach unijzan appropriate discount rate. This estimatias ased on significant inputs that are no
observable in the market, referred to as Levep8tsn Key assumptions included a discount rate8d8% and various probability factors. As of
December 31, 2013, the range of outcomes and assmmpised to develop these estimates has not edgsge "— Note 10. Assets and
Liabilities Measured at Fair Value" for additiortascussion regarding fair value measurements ofdnéingent acquisition consideration
payable).
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The following table presents the allocatidithe purchase consideration, including the cay@nt acquisition consideration payable, base
on fair value:

(in thousands)

Upfront equity payment $ 15,00(
Contingent acquisition consideration paye 10,60(
Total consideratiol $  25,60(
Cash and cash equivale $ 34
Property, plant and equipme 172
Intangible asset— IPR&D 23,00(
Total identifiable assets acquir $ 23,20%
Accounts payabl (39
Deferred tax liability (9,186
Total liabilities assume $ (9,220
Net identifiable assets acquir 13,981
Goodwill 11,61:
Net assets acquire $ 25,60(

A substantial portion of the assets acqui@nsisted of intangible assets related to Callildad ERT. The Company determined that the
estimated acquisitiodate fair values of the IPR&D related to the le®iTBvas $23.0 million. The Company is still in th®gess of valuing tt
assets acquired and liabilities assumed; therdifierallocation of the acquisition consideratiosti§ subject to change.

The $9.2 million of deferred tax liabilifieelates to the tax impact of future amortizatiopossible impairments associated with the
identified intangible assets acquired, which aredsaluctible for tax purposes. The goodwill restriben the recognition of the deferred tax
liability on the intangible assets as well as sgie=r expected from the acquisition and other ben#éfat do not qualify for separate recognition
as acquired intangible assets. None of the goodsékpected to be deductible for income tax pugpo¥he Company recorded the goodwill in
the Company's consolidated balance sheet as atthésition date.

The Company recognized $0.5 million of asifion-related transaction costs in selling, gahand administrative expenses during 2013,
which consisted primarily of legal fees and seveearelated to the acquisition.

The results of operations of Callidus siNceember 19, 2013 have been included in the Cogipannsolidated statements of operations
and are de minimis as of December 31, 2013.

The following unaudited consolidated pronfia financial information presents the combinedltsf operations of the Company and
Callidus as if the acquisition had occurred asanfuary 1, 2013. The unaudited pro forma consolibfitencial information is not necessarily
indicative of what the Company's consolidated tssefl operations actually would have been had dggiigition been completed as of
January 1, 2013. In addition, the unaudited prmoconsolidated financial
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information does not attempt to project the futwsults of operations of the Company combined @ahidus.

Years Ended December 31

Unaudited Pro Forma Consolidated Information: 2012 2013

(in thousands)

Revenue $ 18,41 $ 368
Net income (loss $ (49,807 $ (61,809

4. Goodwill

In connection with the acquisition of Cdlls as discussed in "— Note 3. Acquisition of Calli Biopharma, Inc.," the Company
recognized goodwill of $11.6 million. Goodwill issessed annually for impairment on October 1 areheter events or circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount of an asset nudyoa recoverable. If it is determined that thé ¢atrying amount of an asset is not
recoverable, an impairment loss is recorded iratheunt by which the carrying amount of the asseteds its fair value. Management
determined that the carrying value did not excéedair value due to the short time period fromdh&e of acquisition until the end of the year
and as a result no impairment of goodwill existeBacember 31, 2013. The following table repres#reschanges in goodwill for the year
ended December 31, 2013 (in thousands):

Balance at December 31, 20 $ —
Goodwill related to the acquisition of Callidus éS¢ote 3) 11,61:
Balance at December 31, 20 $ 11,618

5. Intangible Assets

In connection with the acquisition of Cdills as discussed in "— Note 3. Acquisition of Calli Biopharma, Inc.," the Company
recognized IPR&D of $23.0 million. Intangible assetlated to IPR&D assets are considered to bdimtielived until the completion or
abandonment of the associated research and devetbmifiorts. During the period the assets are densd indefinite-lived, they will not be
amortized but will be tested for impairment on anwal basis on October 1 and between annual fekis Company becomes aware of any
events occurring or changes in circumstances tbatdaindicate a reduction in the fair value of tRR&D assets below their respective
carrying amounts. Management determined that thrging value did not exceed the fair value duehi $hort time period from the date of
acquisition until the end of the year and as altesa impairment of IPR&D existed at December 3013. The following table represents the
changes in IPR&D for the year ended December 313 Zih thousands):

Balance at December 31, 20 $ —
IPR&D related to the acquisition of Callidus (Seet&l3) 23,00(
Balance at December 31, 20 $ 23,00(
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6. Cash, Money Market Funds and Marketable Securiis

As of December 31, 2013, the Company héRi&million in cash and cash equivalents and $88ldbn of available-for-sale securities
which are reported at fair value on the Companglarize sheet. Unrealized holding gains and losseeported within accumulated other
comprehensive income/ (loss) in the statementswipcehensive loss. If a decline in the fair vallea marketable security below the
Company's cost basis is determined to be othertdraporary, such marketable security is written ddwits estimated fair value as a new cos
basis and the amount of the write-down is incluidegiarnings as an impairment charge. To date, tenfyporary impairment adjustments have
been recorded.

Consistent with the Company's investmetitpothe Company does not use derivative finanicisiruments in its investment portfolio.
The Company regularly invests excess operating icegbposits with major financial institutions, neynmarket funds, notes issued by the |
government, as well as fixed income investmentslai® bond funds both of which can be readily pased and sold using established
markets. The Company believes that the marketatising from its holdings of these financial instrents is mitigated as many of these
securities are either government backed or of iljledst credit rating. Cash and available for safusties consisted of the following as of
December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2013 (in thdg¥an

As of December 31, 201

Unrealized Unrealized Fair

Cost Gain Loss Value
Cash balanc: $ 3397. % — $ — $ 33,97
Corporate debt securitis 42,50: 5 (11) 42,497
Commercial pape 19,72t 19 — 19,74
Certificate of deposi 2,90¢ 1 — 2,91(
$ 99,10¢ $ 25 3 (11) $ 99,12:
Included in cash and cash equivale $ 3397. % — $ — $ 33,97
Included in marketable securiti 65,13’ 25 (1) 65,15;
Total cash and marketable securi $ 99,10¢ $ 25 % (11) $ 99,12:

As of December 31, 201

Unrealized Unrealized Fair

Cost Gain Loss Value
Cash balance $ 43,64( $ — 3 — $ 43,64(
Corporate debt securiti 30,81" 1 (6) 30,81:
Commercial pape 7,19 6 — 7,19¢
Certificate of deposi 35( — — 35(
$ 8199¢ & 7 % (6) $ 82,00(
Included in cash and cash equivale $ 43,64( $ — 3 — $ 43,64(
Included in marketable securiti 38,35¢ 7 (6) 38,36(
Total cash and marketable securi $ 81,99¢ $ 7% (6) $ 82,00(
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All of the Company's available for saleestments as of December 31, 2012 and Decembef33,8e due in one year or less.

Unrealized gains and losses are reportedcasnponent of other comprehensive gain/(lost)aérstatements of comprehensive loss. For
the year ended December 31, 2012 unrealized hotiings of $10 thousand and for the year ended DieeeB1, 2013, unrealized holding loss
of $13 thousand respectively, were included insttagements of comprehensive loss.

For the years ended December 31, 2012 @h8, 2here were no realized gains or losses. Theatsecurities sold is based on the specifi
identification method.

Unrealized loss positions in the availdblesale securities as of December 31, 2012 aneémber 31, 2013 reflect temporary impairm
that have been in a loss position for less thafvewaonths and as such are recognized in other r@hrepsive gain/(loss). The fair value of
these available for sale securities in unrealipag positions was $33.1 million and $23.6 millieo& December 31, 2012 and December 31,
2013, respectively.

The Company holds available-for-sale inwesit securities which are reported at fair valu¢henCompany's balance sheet. Unrealized
holding gains and losses are reported within actated other comprehensive income ("AOCI") in thetenents of comprehensive loss. The
changes in AOCI associated with the unrealizedihgldain on available-for-sale investments durimg years ended December 31, 2012 and
2013, were as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31

2012 2013

Balance, beginnin $ 4 $ 14

Current period changes in fair val(@, 10 (13

Reclassification of earningé) — —

Balance, endini $ 14 $ 1

(@) — Taxes have not been accrued on the unrdatiaim on securities as the Company is in a losgipn for all periods
presente(

7. Property and Equipment
Property and equipment consist of the foilg (in thousands):

December 31

2012 2013
Property and equipment consist of the followi
Computer equipmer $ 3,39¢ $ 3,537
Computer softwar: 84¢ 1,064
Research equipme 5,801 5,91¢
Furniture and fixture 1,54¢ 1,527
Leasehold improvemen 1,931 2,047
13,53( 14,09:
Less accumulated depreciation and amortize (8,507 (9,979

$ 502¢ $ 4,1
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Depreciation and amortization expense wlag fillion each for the years ended December 8132nd 2012 and $13.5 million for the
Period February 4, 2002 (inception) to Decembe2813, respectively. There were no capital leasigatipns outstanding as of December 31
2013.

8. Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses
Accounts payable and accrued expensesstarighe following (in thousands):

December 31

2012 2013
Accounts payabl $ 2,118 $ 2,14¢
Accrued professional fet 40¢ 49¢
Accrued contract manufacturing & contract reseaasts 1,74 1,49¢
Accrued compensation and bene 4,22¢ 4,781
Accrued facility cost: 167 963
Accrued othe 182 27¢

$ 8,84f $ 10,16:

9. Stockholders' Equity
Common Stock and Warrants

As of December 31, 2013, the Company wé#sagized to issue 125,000,000 shares of commork siigidends on common stock will be
paid when, and if declared by the board of directBach holder of common stock is entitled to \mtell matters that are appropriate for
shareholder voting and is entitled to one votesfich share held.

The fair value of the warrant liability ied in connection with the March 2010 registereddioffering de minimis as of December 31,
2013. These warrants expired on March 2, 2014.

In November 2013, the Company enteredtimo2013 SPA with GSK and certain entities congiblby Redmile Group, LLC for the
private placement of a) shares of the Company'svaamrstock, par value $0.01 (the "Common Stock") lanal combination of shares of
Common Stock (the "Shares") and warrants (the "whst') to purchase shares of the Common Stocke@olkly, the "Units"). Each of the
investors was one of the Company's shareholdess ariconsummation of these transactions. The Staaré the Units sold to the investors
were offered and sold in reliance on exemptionsifregistration pursuant to Rule 506 of RegulatioprBmulgated under the Securities Act
based on the nature of such investors and cegpiresentations made to the Company. Pursuant @0t SPA, Amicus agreed to issue
1.5 million Shares at $2.00 per Share to GSK ahé (hillion Units at $2.00 per Unit to Redmile Gmwvith each Unit consisting of one Sh
and .267 Warrants resulting in an aggregate ofléomiShares and 1.6 million Warrants underlying thnits to be issued. Each Warrant is
exercisable between July 1, 2014 and June 30, @@h5n exercise price of $2.50, subject to certaljustments. The Company received total
proceeds of $15 million for general corporate amdking capital purposes as a result of the pripdaeement and the transaction closed in
November 2013. At December 31, 2013, GSK's regubuity stake in the Company was 17.!
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The Company evaluated the warrants agaursént accounting guidance and determined thaetherrants should be accounted as a
component of equity. As such, these warrants dresdaat issuance date using the Black Scholes tiatumodel using inputs such as the
underlying price of the shares issued when theamaiis exercised, volatility, risk free interesterand expected life of the instrument. The six
inputs used to determine the value of the warnamet®: (1) the closing price of Amicus stock on tlag of evaluation of $2.12; (2) the exercise
price of the warrants of $2.50; (3) the remainieigrt of the warrants of 1 year; (4) the volatilifyfonicus' stock for the one year tern of 93.£
(5) the annual rate of dividends of 0%; and (6)rthkless rate of return of 0.12%. The annual cdtdividends is based on the Company's
historical practice of not granting dividends. Teeulting Black Scholes value of the warrants wia§ #illion.

In November 2013, in connection with itgjaisition of Callidus, the Company agreed to issn@ggregate of 7.2 million shares of its
common stock, par value $0.01 per share, to ttredostockholders of Callidus. As of December 31L2@.8 million of these shares were
issued and balance of the shares is expectedissixed by March 31, 2014.

In July 2012, Amicus and GSK entered i@ $PA pursuant to which GSK purchased 2.9 millioregistered shares of Amicus commor
stock at a price of $6.30 per share. The totallmge price for these shares was $18.6 million. &ndkl 2012, the Company sold 11.5 million
shares of its common stock at a public offeringgf $5.70 through a Registration Statement omF®43 that was declared effective by the
SEC in May 2009. The aggregate offering proceeds %65.6 million.

In October 2010, GSK purchased approxirggae€d million shares of the Company's common sttck4.56 per share, in connection with
the Original Collaboration Agreement. The totalueabf this equity investment was approximately &8tlion.

In March 2010, the Company sold 4.95 millghares of its common stock and warrants to psecha million shares of common stock in
a registered direct offering to a selected groustitutional investors through a Registrationt&taent on Form S-that was declared effecti
by the SEC in May 2009. The shares of common saimckwarrants were sold in units consisting of dree of common stock and one wart
to purchase 0.375 shares of common stock at a @iri$8.74 per unit. The warrants have a term of f@ars and are exercisable any time on c
after the six month anniversary of the date thegevigsued, at an exercise price of $4.43 per shiaeaggregate offering proceeds were
$18.5 million. There were approximately 1.4 millisarrants outstanding at December 31, 2013. Theseants expired on March 2, 2014

Stock Option Plans

In April 2002, the Company's Board of Diars and shareholders approved the Company's 200R Sption Plan (the 2002 Plan). In
May 2007, the Company's Board of Directors anded@ders approved the Company's 2007 Stock Optamm (fhe 2007 Plan) and 2007
Director Option Plan (the 2007 Director Plan). imd 2010, the Company's Board of Directors andestudders approved amendments to the
2007 Plan and the 2007 Director Plan. Both the 2882 and 2007 Plan provide for the granting ofrieted stock and options to purchase
common stock in the Company to employees, advisadsconsultants at a price to be determined b tmpany's board of directors. The
2002 Plan and the 2007 Plan are intended to engewanership of stock by employees and consultzrttse Company and to provide
additional incentives for them to promote the sssaaf the Company's business. The Options maydeaiive stock options (ISOs) or non-
statutory stock options (NSOs). Under the provisioheach plan, no option will have a term in esa&fs10 years.
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The 2007 Director Plan is intended to promote #euiting and retention of highly qualified eligghtlirectors and strengthen the commonality
of interest between directors and stockholdersrimperaging ownership of common stock of the Compahyg options granted under the 2007
Director Plan are NSOs and under the provisiorteisfplan, no option will have a term in excesd@fyears.

The Board of Directors, or its committeer@ésponsible for determining the individuals tagbanted options, the number of options each
individual will receive, the option price per shaa@ad the exercise period of each option. Optioastgd pursuant to both the 2002 Plan anc
2007 Plan generally vest 25% on the first yearasary date of grant plus an additional 1/48thefach month thereafter and may be exer
in whole or in part for 100% of the shares vesteag time after the date of grant. Options under2007 Director Plan may be granted to ne\
directors upon joining the Board and vest in thesananner as options under the 2002 and 2007 Phaaddition, options are automatically
granted to all directors at each annual meetirgafkholders and vest on the date of the annualingeef stockholders of the Company in the
year following the year during which the optionsrevgranted

As of December 31, 2013, there were noeshagserved for issuance under the 2002 Plan. ®hgény has reserved up to 2,508,411
shares for issuance under the 2007 Plan and theRi@éctor Plan.

The Company recognized stock-based comfiensapense of $8.7 million, $6.2 million and $énglion in 2011, 2012 and 2013,
respectively. The following table summarizes tleektcompensation expense recognized in the statsrobaoperations (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31

2011 2012 2013
Stock compensation expense recognize:
Research and development expe $ 2,92¢ $ 3,60 $ 3,58¢
General and administrative expel 5,751 2,58¢ 2,594
Total stock compensation expet $ 8,67¢ $ 6,191 $ 6,17

The Company adopted the fair value metHfademasuring stock-based compensation, which regjaiggublic entity to measure the cost of
employee services received in exchange for an aefagduity instruments based upon the grant-date/édue of the award. The Company
chose the "straight-line" attribution method fdpahting compensation costs and recognized thevéile of each stock option on a straight-
line basis over the vesting period of the relatsdras.

The Company uses the Black-Scholes optiming model when estimating the fair value forcstdbased awards. Use of a valuation
model requires management to make certain assumsptiith respect to selected model inputs. Expeotdatility was calculated based on a
blended weighted average of historical informatéithe Company's stock and the weighted averaggéstdrical information of similar public
entities for which historical information was awdile. The Company will continue to use a blendeijited average approach using its own
historical volatility and other similar public etytivolatility information until the Company's histcal volatility is relevant to measure expected
volatility for future option grants. The averageegted life was determined using the "simplifiedthod of estimating the expected exercise
term which is the mid-point between the vestingedatd the end of the contractual term. As the Caorylpatock price volatility has been over
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75% and it has experienced significant businessaetions (Shire and GSK collaborations), the Compies not have sufficient reliable
exercise data in order to justify a change in the of the "simplified" method of estimating the egfed exercise term of employee stock op
grants. The risk-free interest rate is based on Tr&sury, zero-coupon issues with a remaining tgual to the expected life assumed at the
date of grant. Forfeitures are estimated basedhmtary termination behavior, as well as a his@ranalysis of actual option forfeitures.

The weighted average assumptions useciBldick-Scholes option pricing model are as follows

Years Ended December 31

2011 2012 2013
Expected stock price volatilil 78.€% 77.2% 82.(%
Risk free interest rat 2.C% 0.8% 1.3%
Expected life of options (year 6.2 6.2 6.25
Expected annual dividend per sh $ 00C $ o00C $ o0.0C

The weighted-average grant-date fair valereshare of options granted during 2011, 2012281@ were $4.11, $3.31 and $2.14,
respectively.

The following table summarizes informateivout stock options outstanding:

Weighted Weighted
Average Average Aggregate
Number of Exercise Remaining Intrinsic
Shares Price Contractual Life Value
(in thousands) (in thousands)

Options outstanding,

December 31, 201 5104.. & 7.27
Grantec 2,217.( $ 5.92
Exercisec (108.5) $ 3.8¢
Forfeited (559.) $ 7.34
Options outstanding,

December 31, 201 6,653.f $ 6.87
Grantec 2,846.¢ $ 5.34
Exercisec (437.0 $ 3.7t
Forfeited (1,088.9 $ 7.9t
Options outstanding,

December 31, 201 7974 $ 6.3F
Grantec 2,481.¢t $ 3.04
Exercisec — —
Forfeited (1,4149 ¢ 5.01
Options outstanding,

December 31, 201 9,041.. $ 5.65 7.0years $ 44.¢
Vested and unvested expecte

to vest, December 31, 20 8,637 $ 5.7t 6.9 years $ 43.%
Exercisable at December 31,

2013 5,502. $ 6.6¢ 5.8 years $ 38.t

The aggregate intrinsic value of optionereised during the years ended December 31, 204 2@12 was $0.3 million and $0.9 million,
respectively. There were no options exercised dutie year ended December 31, 2013. As of DeceBihe2013, the total unrecognized
compensation cost related to non-vested stock mptgoanted was $7.3 million and is expected tcelbegnized over a weighted
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average period of 2.3 years. Cash proceeds frock sfations exercised during the years ended Decefihe2011 and 2012 were $0.4 million
and $1.6 million respectively.

Restricted Stock Awards- Restricted stock awards are granted subjectrtaingestrictions, including in some cases sereimaditions
(restricted stock). The gradate fair value of restricted stock awards, whiak heen determined based upon the market valle @dampany’
shares on the grant date, is expensed over thegestriod.

Upon vesting in 2011, there were 13,225eshaurrendered to fund minimum statutory tax wittlimg requirements. There were no
restricted stock awards in 2011, 2012 or 2013. {ABexember 31, 2013, there was no unrecognized ensgtion cost related to unvested
restricted stock awards. The total fair value stnieted stock awards which vested during 2011 $ta4 million.

10. Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value

The Company's financial assets and ligdliare measured at fair value and classified witie fair value hierarchy which is defined as
follows:

Level 1— Quoted prices in active markets for identicakés®r liabilities that the Company has the abilitaccess at the
measurement date.

Level 2— Inputs other than quoted prices in active markeds are observable for the asset or liabilitthesi directly or
indirectly.

Level 3— Inputs that are unobservable for the asset bilitia
Cash, Money Market Funds and Marketable Securities

The Company classifies its cash and monanket funds within the fair value hierarchy as Levas these assets are valued using quote
prices in active market for identical assets attfeasurement date. The Company considers its imeess in marketable securities as availabls
for sale and classifies these assets within thevédile hierarchy as Level 2 primarily utilizingoieer quotes in a noaetive market for valuatic
of these securities. No changes in valuation teples or inputs occurred during the year ended DeeeBil, 2013. No transfers of assets
between Level 1 and Level 2 of the fair value measent hierarchy occurred during the year endecidber 31, 2013.

Secured Debt

As disclosed in Note 16, the Company hasva loan and security agreement with MidCap Fireln@xford Finance and Silicon Valley
Bank, in addition to an earlier existing loan w8licon Valley Bank. The carrying amount of the Gmany's borrowings approximates fair
value at December 31, 2013. The Company's secatatdsiclassified as Level 2 and the fair valuesimated using quoted prices for similar
liabilities in active markets, as well as inputattare observable for the liability (other than @aprices), such as interest rates that are
observable at commonly quoted intervals.

In connection with the Term Loan, as diselbin Note 16, the Company recorded a continggnitity of approximately $0.3 million
representing the fair value of a contingent payneéntp to $0.4 million related to a success feeapdsy within six months of trigger event, with
the trigger event being regulatory acceptance oANMDMMA submission. This is effective 5 years frahe closing of
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the Term Loan. The success fee payable to the levake probability adjusted and discounted utilizamgappropriate discount rate and hence
classified as Level 3.

Contingent Consideration Payable

The Contingent consideration payable affiges acquisition of Callidus, as discussed in Naitd@he valuation of the contingent
consideration payable is estimated using a probabidsed income approach utilizing an appropriiseount rate. Subsequent changes in the
fair value of the contingent consideration payatilebe recorded in intangible asset amortizatiod aontingent consideration in the
Company's consolidated statements of operations.

Warrants

The Company allocated $3.3 million of prede from its March 2010 registered direct offeiagvarrants issued in connection with the
offering that was classified as a liability. Thduation of the warrants is determined using thecBi&choles model. This model uses inputs
such as the underlying price of the shares issuehwhe warrant is exercised, volatility, risk fiegerest rate and expected life of the
instrument. The Company has determined that theawaliability should be classified within Leveld the fair value hierarchy by evaluating
each input for the Black-Scholes model againstdirevalue hierarchy criteria and using the lowlestl of input as the basis for the fair value
classification. There are six inputs: closing praéémicus stock on the day of evaluation; the eiser price of the warrants; the remaining t
of the warrants; the volatility of Amicus' stockenthat term; annual rate of dividends; and thidess rate of return. Of those inputs, the
exercise price of the warrants and the remaining &re readily observable in the warrant agreemdims annual rate of dividends is based or
the Company's historical practice of not grantingd#nds. The closing price of Amicus stock wouddl inder Level 1 of the fair value
hierarchy as it is a quoted price in an active raarkhe riskless rate of return is a Level 2 inmttile the historical volatility is a Level 3 input
in accordance with the fair value accounting gut@arsince the lowest level input is a Level 3,@wenpany determined the warrant liability is
most appropriately classified within Level 3 of tladr value hierarchy. This liability is subject fair value mark-to-market adjustment each
period. The Company recognized the change in thediue of the warrant liability as non-operatingome of $0.9 million for the year ended
December 31, 2013. There was no resulting fairevafithe warrant liability at December 31, 2013eWeighted average assumptions used ir
the Black-Scholes valuation model for the warramésas follows:

December 31

2012 2013
Expected stock price volatilit 93.2% 45.%
Risk free interest rai 0.1% 0.0%
Expected life of warrants (yeai 1.17 0.17
Expected annual dividend per sh $ 0.0C $ o0.0C
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A summary of the fair value of the Comparassets and liabilities aggregated by the leviierfair value hierarchy within which those
measurements fall as of December 31, 2012 areifideiin the following table (in thousands):

Level 1 Level 2 Total
Assets:
Cash/money market fun $ 33,97. % — $ 33,97
Commercial pape — 19,74« 19,74«
Corporate debt securiti — 42,49° 42,49
Certificate of deposl — 2,91( 2,91(
$ 33,97, $ 65,15. $ 99,12.
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Liabilities:
Secured dek $ — $ 697 $ — $ 697
Warrant liability — — 90¢ 90¢€
$ — $ 697 $ 90¢ $ 1,60¢

A summary of the fair value of the Comparagsets and liabilities aggregated by the levidarfair value hierarchy within which those
measurements fall as of December 31, 2013 areifideiin the following table (in thousands):

Level 1 Level 2 Total
Assets:
Cash/money market fun $ 43,64( $ — $ 43,64(
Commercial pape — 7,19¢ 7,19¢
Corporate debt securiti — 30,81 30,81:
Certificate of deposl — 35( 35(
$ 43,64( $ 38,36( $ 82,00(
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Liabilities:
Secured dek $ — $ 1447 % — $ 14,47
Contingent success fee paya — — 264 264
Warrant liability — — — —
Contingent consideration payal — — 10,60( 10,60(
$ — $ 1447 $ 10,86« $ 25,33

The change in the fair value of the LevéhBility was a decrease of $0.7 million at DecemB1, 2012, after settlement of $0.3 million
upon the exercise of 0.5 million warrants. The gfeaim the fair value of Level 3 liabilities at Desbker 31, 2013 was an increase of
$10.0 million due to the addition of the contingeatsideration payable of $10.6 million and contimgsuccess fee payable of $0.3 million,
offset by the decrease in the fair value of therarmrliability of $0.9 million.
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11. 401(k) Plan

The Company has a 401(k) plan (the Plaagng all eligible employees. During 2007, the Bbaf Directors approved a company
matching program that began on January 1, 2008 n¥atehing program allows for a company match ofaup% of salary and bonus paid
during the year. In 2013, the Company changed éiséing policy whereby the match vests immediat@lgruenroliment. The Company's total
contribution to the Plan was $0.6 million, $0.7lrait and $0.7 million for the years ended Decen8ier2011, 2012 and 2013, respectively.

12. Leases
Operating Leases

In 2011, the Company entered into a legseeanent to lease approximately 73,646 squareofdaboratory and office space in Cranbury,
New Jersey. The initial term of the lease, whicmotenced in March 2012, is for seven years and raagxtended by the Company for t
additional five-year periods. In 2008, the Companyered into a lease agreement for its laboratodyadfice space in San Diego, CA, which
will expire in September 2016. As part of the restring efforts, this location was closed as ot&maber 31, 2013, however lease payments
will continue to be made until end of lease teree Slote 17- Restructuring Charges for more infoisnaRent expenses for the Company's
facilities are recognized over the term of the éedhe Company recognizes rent starting when psissesf the facility is taken from the
landlord. When a lease contains a predetermined féscalation of the minimum rent, the Companygeizes the related rent expense on a
straight-line basis and records the difference betwthe recognized rental expense and the amoaydble under the lease as deferred rent
liability. Tenant leasehold improvement allowanaes reflected in accrued expenses on the consatidatlance sheets and are amortized as |
reduction to rent expense in the statement of dip@saover the term of the lease.

At December 31, 2013, aggregate annuatdutiinimum lease payments under these leases &boags (in thousands):

Operating Lease
Years ending December &

2014 $ 1,93(
2015 2,03:
2016 2,03¢
2017 1,76¢
2018 and beyon 2,074

$ 9,84¢

Rent expense for the years ended Decenmih@031, 2012 and 2013 were $2.3 million, $2.6iomlland $2.6 million respectively.
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13. Income Taxes

In June 2006, the FASB issued a single miodeddress accounting for uncertainty in tax fposs. The model clarifies the accounting for
income taxes, by prescribing a minimum recognittmeshold a tax position is required to meet bebmiag recognized in the financial
statements. It also provides guidance on de-retiognimeasurement, and classification of amourg&ing to uncertain tax positions,
accounting for and disclosure of interest and g&slaccounting in interim periods and disclosuesggiired. The Company adopted the FASB
requirements as of January 1, 2007 and determiraddttdid not have a material impact on the Comyfsafinancial position and results of
operations. The Company did not recognize intevepenalties related to income tax during the pkended December 31, 2013 and did not
accrue for interest or penalties as of Decembe@13. The Company does not have an accrual fartain tax positions as of December 31,
2013. Tax returns for all years 2006 and thereaiftersubject to future examination by tax authesiti

Deferred income taxes reflect the net ¢fiécemporary difference between the carrying anmtewof assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and the amounts used for in¢armpurposes. The significant components of therded tax assets and liabilities are as
follows (in thousands):

For Years Ended
December 31,

2012 2013
Current deferred tax ass
Non-cash stock issu $ 7,00 $ 8,17
Others 1,257 1,34:
8,357 9,51¢
Non-current deferred tax asst
Amortization/depreciatio 3,17¢ 3,06¢
Research tax crec 9,07: 13,68(
Net operating loss carry forwar 62,06( 79,98«
Deferred revenu 12,14¢ 14,64¢
Others 52C 682
Gross deferred tax assi 95,33¢ 121,57¢
Deferred tax liability related to business acqiosi — (9,186
Total net deferred tax ass 95,33¢ 112,39:
Less valuation allowanc (95,334 (121,579
Net deferred tax assets (liabilit $ — $ (9,186

The Company records a valuation allowanceédmporary differences for which it is more lik¢han not that the Company will not
receive future tax benefits. At December 31, 2@H2| 2013, the Company recorded valuation allowaot&85.3 million and $121.6 million,
respectively, representing an increase in the tialuallowance of $20.1 million in 2012 and an e&se of $26.3 million in 2013, due to the
uncertainty regarding the realization of such defiétax assets, to offset the benefits of net ajperéosses generated during those years.
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As of December 31, 2013, the Company hddrkd and state net operating loss carry forwadd3L(s) of approximately $203.8 million
and $179.9 million, respectively. The federal cdamward will expire in 2028 through 2032. Mostthe state carry forwards generated prior tc
2009 began to expire in 2012 and will continuexpiee through 2015. The remaining state carry fodsancluding those generated in 2009
through 2012 will expire in 2029 through 2032 do@tchange in the New Jersey state law regardangehoperating loss carry forward per
Utilization of NOLs may be subject to a substargiahual limitation in the event of an ownershipradpathat has occurred previously or could
occur in the future pursuant to Section 382 oflttiernal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, asawslhilar state provisions. An ownership
change may limit the amount of NOLs that can bkzetl annually to offset future taxable income #ad and may, in turn, result in the
expiration of a portion of those carry forwardsdrefutilization. In general, an ownership changejefined by Section 382, results from
transactions that increase the ownership of cestaameholders or public groups in the stock ofrpa@tion by more than 50 percentage points
over a three year period. The Company completegtaildd study of its NOLs and determined that it®ahere was no ownership change in
excess of 50%; therefore there was no write-dowretaealizable value of the federal NOLs and neteand development credits subject to
the 382 limitations. A tax benefit of $2.0 milli@ssociated with the exercise of stock optionslvélrecorded in additional paid-in capital wher
the associated net operating loss is recognized.

A reconciliation of the statutory tax ratesl the effective tax rates for the years endezkBer 31, 2011, 2012 and 2013 are as follows

Years Ended
December 31,

2011 2012 2013
Statutory rate (39)% (34)% (39)%
State taxes, net of federal ben (13 3 (5)
Permanent adjustmer 3 — (D)
R&D credit — (8) 3
Other 2 1 —
Valuation allowanct 34 38 37
Net (8)% (6)% (6)%

The Company recognized a tax benefit 06 $3illion, $3.2 million and $3.5 million in connéah with the sale of net operating losses an
research and development credits in the New Jdnsmsfer Program for the years ended December@®1,,2012 and 2013, respectively.

14. Licenses

The Company acquired rights to develop @mmercialize its product candidates through liesrggranted by various parties. The
following summarizes the Company's material rigirtd obligations under those licenses:

Mt. Sinai School of Medicine of New Yorkvdrsity (MSSM) —The Company acquired exclusive worldwide pategtits to develop and
commercialize migalastat HCI, afegostat and AT22260 other pharmacological chaperones for the ptmrear treatment of human diseases
or clinical conditions by increasing the activitivald-type and mutant enzymes pursuant to a lieeagreement with MSSM. In connection
with this agreement, the Company issued 232,26 st common stock to MSSM in
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April 2002. In 2006, the Company amended its lieemgreement with MSSM to expand its exclusive weidé patent rights to develop and
commercialize pharmacological chaperones. In caiorewith the amendment, the Company paid $1.0ioniland issued 133,333 shares of its
common stock with an estimated fair value of $1lilian to MSSM. In total, the Company recorded $thilion of research and development
expense in connection with the amendment in 208& dgreement expires upon expiration of the lattelicensed patent rights, which will
be in 2019, subject to any patent term extensiahrttay be granted, or 2024 if the Company devedop®duct for combination therapy
(pharmacological chaperone plus ERT) and a passnes from the pending application covering contlinaherapy, subject to any patent
term extension that may be granted. Under thiseageat, to date the Company has paid no upfromioua license fees and has no milestone
or future payments other than royalties on netss&fe2008, the Company amended and restatedéisde agreement with MSSM which
consolidated previous amendments into a singlecagegat, clarified the portion of royalties and mitese payments the Company received 1
collaboration agreements that were payable to MS8d,provided the Company with the sole right totaa the prosecution of patent rights
described in the amended and restated licenseragrgéeFor further information see "— Note 15. Cotleative Agreements.” Under the terms
of the amended and restated license agreemer@otim@any agreed to pay $2.6 million to MSSM in cartioa with the $50 million upfront
payment that the Company received from a collabmratgreement in November 2007 and an addition& @ilion for the sole right to and
control over the prosecution of patent rights. édnadance with the Company's license agreementM&8BM, the Company paid $3 million of
the $30 million upfront payment received from GSKMSSM in December 2010 and $0.35 million of thes$8illion milestone payment
received from GSK in August 2012, pursuant to thigi®al Collaboration Agreement. These payment8I8SM are classified as research and
development expenses in the Company's financiematnts.

University of Maryland, Baltimore County Fhe Company acquired exclusive U.S. patent rightlevelop and commercialize afegostat
for the treatment of Gaucher disease from the Usitseof Maryland, Baltimore County. Under this agment, the Company paid upfront and
annual license fees of $45 thousand, which wereresgx as research and development expense. Thea@pispequired to make a milestone
payment upon the demonstration of safety and e&fficd afegostat for the treatment of Gaucher dis@asa Phase 2 study, and another pay
upon receiving FDA approval for afegostat for tremtment of Gaucher disease. Upon satisfactiontf imilestones, the Company could be
required to make up to $0.2 million in aggregatgnpents. The Company is also required to pay ra&bin net sales. This agreement expires
upon expiration of the last of the licensed patagitts in 2015.

Novo Nordisk A/S —Fhe Company acquired exclusive patent rights teligp and commercialize afegostat for all humarciatibns.
Under this agreement, to date the Company paid@0lién in license fees which were expensed asasgsh and development expense. The
Company is also required to make milestone paynteaged on clinical progress of afegostat, withyargnt due after initiation of a Phase 3
clinical trial for afegostat for the treatment c@her disease, and a payment due upon eachfblimggulatory approval of afegostat for the
treatment of Gaucher disease in any of the US,&uoo Japan. An additional payment is due uponcyapiof afegostat for the treatment of
Gaucher disease in the U.S. and a payment is alsapbn each approval of afegostat for the treatwfe@aucher disease in either Europe or
Japan. Assuming successful development of afegimsttite treatment of Gaucher disease in the E&ope and Japan, total milestone
payments would
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be $7.8 million. The Company is also required tp pyalties on net sales. This license will ternténiaa 2016.

Under its license agreements, if the Corgpames royalties on net sales for one of its préslte more than one of the above licensors,
then it has the right to reduce the royalties oteedne licensor for royalties paid to another. @heount of royalties to be offset is generally
limited in each license and can vary under eacheagent. For migalastat HCl and AT2220, the Compeitiyowe royalties only to MSSM an
will owe no milestone payments. The Company woulteet to pay royalties to all three licensors wehpect to afegostat tartrate should the
Company advance it to commercialization.

The Company's rights with respect to thegeements to develop and commercialize migalekEatafegostat and AT2220 may
terminate, in whole or in part, if the Companyda meet certain development or commercializatmuirements or if the Company does not
meet its obligations to make royalty payments.

15. Collaborative Agreements
GSK

In October 2010, the Company entered in¢oQriginal Collaboration Agreement with Glaxo Gpduimited, an affiliate of GSK, to
develop and commercialize migalastat HCI. Undertéiens of the Original Collaboration Agreement, G@keived an exclusive worldwide
license to develop, manufacture and commercialigaiastat HCI. In consideration of the license gréime Company received an upfront,
license payment of $30 million from GSK and wagiblie to receive further payments of approxima&ly 3.5 million upon the successful
achievement of development, regulatory and comrakzation milestones, as well as tiered doubletdimyalties on global sales of migalastat
HCI. Potential payments included up to (i) $13.%iom related to the attainment of certain clinidavelopment objectives and the acceptance
of regulatory filings in select worldwide markefi) $80 million related to market approvals forgalastat HCI in selected territories
throughout the world, and (iii) $80 million assdei@d with the achievement of certain sales thresh@$K and the Company were jointly
funding development costs in accordance with apejupon development plan. Additionally, GSK pusgthapproximately 6.9 million sha
of the Company's common stock at $4.56 per sh&8@%apremium on the average price per share oftmepany's stock over a 60 day period
preceding the closing date of the transaction.tdte value of this equity investment to the Compasas approximately $31 million.

In July 2012, the Company entered intoERpanded Collaboration Agreement with GSK purstianthich the Company and GSK
continue to develop and commercialize migalastak, Ei@rently in Phase 3 development for the treatinoé Fabry disease. The Expanded
Collaboration Agreement amended and replaced eniisety the Original Collaboration Agreement. @nthe terms of the Expanded
Collaboration Agreement, the Company and GSK wetdevelop all formulations of migalastat HCI Fabry disease, including the
development of migalastat HCI co-formulated withimvestigational enzyme replacement therapy (ERTJabry disease (the "Co-formulated
Product").

Additionally, simultaneous with entry inttee Expanded Collaboration Agreement, Amicus an @&ered into an SPA pursuant to
which GSK purchased approximately 2.9 million skasEAmicus common stock at a price of $6.30 parelkor proceeds of $18.6 million.
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In November 2013, Amicus entered into tleeiRed Agreement with GSK, pursuant to which Amibas obtained global rights to deve
and commercialize migalastat HCI as a monotherapliracombination with ERT for Fabry disease. TleviRed Agreement amends and
replaces in its entirety the Expanded Agreemerdredtinto between Amicus and GSK in July 2012. Wnide terms of the Revised
Agreement, there was no upfront payment from AmitouSSK. For the next-generation Fabry ERT (migalaldCl co-formulated with ERT),
GSK is eligible to receive single-digit royalties pet sales in eight major markets outside the Bog migalastat HCI monotherapy, GSK is
eligible to receive post-approval and sales-basiégstones up to $40 million, as well as tiered toga in the mid-teens in eight major markets
outside the U.S.

Under the terms of the Revised AgreemeBK @ill no longer jointly fund development costs il formulations of migalastat HCI.

Under the Original Collaboration Agreemehg upfront license fee, together with the premieaeived on the stock purchase, was being
recognized as Collaboration Revenue over the @iglavelopment period. In addition, the Company reagiving reimbursements of researct
expenditures under the cost sharing arrangememtwiis being accounted for as Research Revenuea@tatement of operations. Under the
Expanded Collaboration Agreement, the Companyaaititinue to receive research expense reimburserfarttee development of migalastat
HCI but may be required to pay contingent milessotweGSK in the future related to the U.S. comnanights to migalastat HCI.

In accordance with the revenue recognigoidance related to multiple-element arrangemémésCompany identified all of the
deliverables at the inception of the Expanded ®ollation Agreement. The significant deliverablesengetermined to be the rest of world
licensing rights to migalastat HCI, the researalises to continue and complete the developmentigélastat HCI and the delivery of the
Company's common stock. The Company determinedhbatest of world licensing rights and the reskea&rvices represent one unit of
accounting as none of these deliverables on itsteagnstandalone value separate from the otherCéhgany also determined that the deli
of the Company's common stock does have standabdoe separate from the rest of world licensingtsgand the research services. As a
result, the Company's common stock was considesegarate unit of accounting and was accountedsfan issuance of common stock.
However, as the Company's common stock was s@geemium to the market closing price, the premaimount paid over the market closing
price was determined to be additional consideratad to the Company for the collaboration agredraed was included as consideration for
the single unit of accounting (rest of world licemgrights and research services) identified above.

In evaluating the impact of both the Expash@ollaboration Agreement and the Revised Agre¢nies Company applied the accounting
guidance regarding the impact of potential futtaigments it may make in its role as a vendor (Rmijcus) to its customer (GSK) and
evaluated if these potential future payments coelé reduction of revenue from GSK. If the potdritinure payments to GSK are as follows:

. a payment for an identifiable benefit, and

. the identifiable benefit is separable from the gxgsrelationship between the Company and GSK, and
. the identifiable benefit can be obtained from ayather than GSK, and

. the Company can reasonably estimate the fair \@ltiee identifiable benefit,
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then the potential future payments would be treatgmhrately from the collaboration and researcemes. However, if all these criteria are not
satisfied, then the potential future payments i@@&téd as a reduction of revenue.

Accordingly, the Company does not believat tfor accounting purposes, the new U.S. licansights to migalastat HCI obtained from
GSK under the Expanded Collaboration Agreementtmmex U.S. licensing rights to migalastat HClait¢d from GSK under the Revised
Agreement, represent a separate, identifiable kdr@h the licenses in the Original Collaboratidgreement. The contingent amounts pay.
to GSK are not sufficiently separable from GSKigioal license and the research and developmemto@isements such that Amicus could
have entered into a similar exchange transactidim aviother party. Additionally, the Company canmatsonably estimate the fair value of the
worldwide licensing rights to migalastat HCI.

The Company determined that the potenti@iré payments to GSK would be treated as a remucfirevenue and that the total amount o
revenue to be received under the arrangementlsnger fixed or determinable as the contingent stilee payments are subject to significant
uncertainty.

As a result, the Company no longer recaggiemy of the upfront license fees and premiumbemrquity purchase from GSK until such
time as the arrangement consideration becomes fixddterminable, because an indeterminable anmaytultimately be payable back to
GSK. These amounts (the balance of the unrecognigdnt license fee and the premium on the equitghases) are classified as deferred
reimbursements on the balance sheet.

The recognition of Research Revenue is alfezted by the determination that the overalitatrangement consideration is no longer
fixed and determinable, despite the fact that #search activities will continue and that the resfeaxpense reimbursements by GSK to
Amicus will be received as the research activitedated to the reimbursement would have already beepleted. Therefore any research
reimbursements from GSK are recorded as deferistbuesements on the balance sheet and not recagnit# the total arrangement
consideration becomes fixed and determinable.

As a result, all revenue recognition waspgmded until the total arrangement consideratemoimes fixed and determinable. In addition,
future milestone payments made by the Companybsilipplied against the balance of this deferredbeisements account. In the third
quarter of 2013, the Company paid GSK a pass-throuitestone payment of $0.8 million in connectioittvthe development of the Co-
formulated product. This payment is reflected asdmction of the deferred reimbursements in thesGlithated Balance Sheet as of
December 31, 2013.

Revenue recognition for research expernsgesements, the original upfront license fee, tredequity premiums will resume once the
total arrangement consideration becomes fixed aterchinable which will occur when the balance &f deferred reimbursements account is
sufficient to cover all the remaining contingenteatone payments.

Under the Original Collaboration Agreemehg Company evaluated the contingent milestondslatermined that they were substantive
milestones and would be recognized as revenueipéhod that the milestone is achieved. The Compatermined that the research based
milestones were commensurate with the enhancee wéleach delivered item as a result of the Compaspecific performance to achieve the
milestones. The research based milestones woulel fedated to past performances when achieved areln@asonable relative to the other
payment terms within the Original Collaboration Agment. In June 2012, the Company achieved a alidevelopment
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milestone and recognized $3.5 million of milestomeenue. Under the terms of the Expanded Collalmordtgreement, the Company is no
longer entitled to receive any milestone paymemnfGSK.

Biogen

In September 2013, the Company enteredaitense and collaboration agreement (the "Biodgmeement") with Biogen to discover,
develop and commercialize novel small moleculesHertreatment of Parkinson's disease. Under tefrtiee multi-year agreement, the
Company and Biogen will collaborate in the discgvafra new class of small molecules that targeGlase enzyme, for further development
and commercialization by Biogen. Biogen will bepassible for funding all discovery, development] @ommercialization activities. In
addition the Company will be reimbursed for allftime employees working on the project as part adst sharing arrangement. The Comg
is also eligible to receive development and regujainilestones, as well as modest royalties in gllolet sales.

In accordance with the revenue recognigoidance related to reimbursement of research andldpment expenses, the Company
identified all deliverables at the inception of tgreement. The Company has not commenced itsgrgmmincipal operations (i.e. selling
commercial products) and is therefore a developrsiagte enterprise. The Company is only performegetbpment of its compounds, and
therefore, development activities are part of thenBany's ongoing central operations. Additionatyg Company has the following accounting
policies:

. Research and development expenses related toadba@tion agreement will be recorded on a gross brathe income
statement and not presented net of any reimburdaegived from a collaboration agreement; and

. The reimbursement of research and developmergreses from a collaborator will be recognized mitttome statement as
"Research Revenue" for the period in which theaedeactivity occurred.

As of December 31, 2013, the Company reizegh$0.4 million in Research Revenue for work perfed under the cost sharing
arrangement of the Biogen Agreement.

The Company evaluated the contingent nafest included in the Biogen Agreement at the irnoppif the Biogen Agreement and
determined that the contingent milestones are aotigé milestones and will be recognized as revémtiee period that the milestone is
achieved. The Company determined that the resémsdd milestones are commensurate with the enhaabgs of each delivered item as a
result of the Company's specific performance tdeaghthe milestones. The research based milestooelsl relate to past performances when
achieved and are reasonable relative to the othgnent terms within the Biogen Agreement, includimg cost sharing arrangement.

16. Short-Term Borrowings and Long-Term Debt

In August 2011, the Company entered inlimaa and security agreement (the "2011 Loan Agre¢ieith Silicon Valley Bank ("SVB")
in order to finance certain capital expenditurebeéanade by the Company in connection with its movdarch 2012 to new office and
laboratory space in Cranbury, New Jersey. The 2@kh Agreement provided for up to $3 million of gguent financing through January
2014. Borrowings under the 2011 Loan Agreement wellateralized by equipment purchased with theeeas of the loan and bear intere:
a variable rate of SVB prime + 2.5%. The currenB3Xime rate is 4.0%. In February 2012, the Compastyowed approximately
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$1.0 million from the 2011 Loan Agreement whichlvei repaid over the following 2.5 years. The 2Qban Agreement contains financial
covenants and the Company has at all times beeonipliance with these covenants. At December 313 2he total amount due under the
2011 Loan Agreement was $0.3 million.

In December 2013, the Company enteredardedit and security agreement (the "Agreemenith) avlending syndicate consisting of
MidCap Funding lll, LLC, Oxford Finance LLC, andli§on Valley Bank which provides an aggregate o6 $allion (the "Term Loan"). The
Company drew $15 million of the aggregate princgrabunt of the Term Loan at the end of DecembeBZ0te "First Tranche") and may
draw up to an additional $10 million through thel e the fourth quarter of 2014 (the "Second Tra1hThe principal outstanding balance of
the First Tranche bears interest at a rate perrarixed at 8.5%. If the Company draws from the Secdranche, the principal outstanding
balance of the Second Tranche will also have afirterest rate, which will be determined by refeeeto the applicable index rate at the time
of the draw. The Company will make interestly payments on the Term Loan beginning Januagp14 and continuing through April 1, 20
after which the Company will repay the aggregateqipal outstanding balance of the Term Loan ire§8al monthly installments of principal,
plus accrued interest at the applicable rate. TdrenTLoan matures on December 27, 2017. At DeceBihe2013, the total principal amount
due under the Term Loan was $15 million.

In connection with the Term Loan, the Compeecorded a debt discount of $0.8 million at Deber 31, 2013 which consists of
payments to be made and a contingent payable teniders. These payments include a debt facilgyofie$0.1 million which was paid on the
date of the First Tranche, $0.4 million exit featttvill be payable upon repayment of the term laad $0.3 million representing the fair value
of a contingent payment of up to $0.4 million rethto a success fee payable within six monthsgder event, with the trigger event being
regulatory acceptance of NDA or MMA submission.sTisi effective 5 years from the closing of the Témman. The success fee payable to the
lender was probability adjusted and discountedziny an appropriate discount rate and is showa @sn-current liability on the Company's
consolidated balance sheet.

The carrying amount of the Company's bomge approximates fair value at December 31, 2013.
The remaining future minimum payments aéfigipal due as of December 31, 2013 are as follgnvthousands):

Years ending December &

2014 $ 29¢
2015 4,03t
2016 5,44:
2017 5,527
2018 and beyon —

Total principal obligatior 15,29¢
Less sho-term portion (299
Long-term portion, gross of debt discot 15,00(
Less debt discout (826)
Long term portion, net of debt discot $ 14,17:
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17. Restructuring Charges

In November 2013, the Company announcedr&-force reduction of approximately 14 percentlbremployees, as a part of a corporat
restructuring. This measure was intended to reduosts and to align the Company's resources wittelgsstrategic priorities.

In December 2013, the Company initiated eswipleted a facilities consolidation effort, clugione of its subleased locations in San
Diego, CA. The Company recorded a total chargeld $illion during the fourth quarter of 2013 whiicicluded $1.2 million for employment
termination costs payable and a facilities consdi@h charge of $0.8 million consisting of leasgrpants of $0.7 million related to the net
present value of the net future minimum lease paysnat the cease-use date and the write-down afdhbook value of fixed assets in the
vacated building of $0.1 million. At December 3013, $1.1 million of the restructuring charges tedato employment termination costs were
unpaid and classified under accrued expenses drathace sheet.

The following table summarizes the resuitiog charges and utilization for the year endedddgber 31, 2013 (in thousands):

Balance as o Balance as o
December 31, Cash December 31,
2012 Charges Payments Adjustments 2013
Employment termination cos ~ $ — $ 1,221 % (88) $ — 3 1,13¢
Facilities consolidatiol — 703 — — 703
Property and equipment dispo — 58 — —
Total $ — $ 198 $ (89 $ — $ 1,84

Employment termination costs will be paiihin one year and the lease charges will be pagt the remaining lease term which expires
in September 2016.

18. Subsequent Events

The Company evaluated events that occisubdequent to December 31, 2013 and there wereaterial recognized or non-recognized
subsequent events during this period.

19. Selected Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited —n thousands except per share data)

Quarters Ended
March 31 June 30 September 3C December 31

2012
Net loss (13,137 (9,349 (16,290 (10,01Y
Basic and diluted net loss per common sk (0.39) (0.20 (0.39 (0.20)
2013
Net loss (17,459 (15,349 (14,589 (12,23)
Basic and diluted net loss per common skl (0.35) (0.3)) (0.29 (0.22)

(1) Per common share amounts for the quarters angidatls have been calculated separately. Accordingigrterly amoun
do not add to the annual amounts because of diffeseon the weighted-average common shares outsgasharing each
period principally due to the effect of the Compasguing shares of its common stock during the.y
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ltem 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE.
None.

Item 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES.

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation wf principal executive officer and principal finaalcofficer, evaluated the effectiveness of our
disclosure controls and procedures as of Decenthe2@®.3. The term "disclosure controls and prooesilias defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and
15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act, means controls amer grocedures of a company that are designedstoreithat information required to
disclosed by us in the reports that we file or sitlumder the Exchange Act is recorded, processadnsarized and reported within the time
periods specified in the SEC rules and forms. B=ale controls and procedures include, withouttéition, controls and procedures designed
to ensure that information required to be discldsgd company in the reports that it files or susminder the Exchange Act is accumulated
and communicated to the company's managementdinglits principal executive and principal finarlaifficers, as appropriate to allow
timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Mpament recognizes that any controls and proceduwanatter how well designed and
operated, can provide only reasonable assuranaehadving their objectives and management necéssaplies its judgment in evaluating the
cost-benefit relationship of possible controls anotcedures. Based on the evaluation of our disptosontrols and procedures as of
December 31, 2013, our principal executive off@ed principal financial officer concluded that,cdsuch date, our disclosure controls and
procedures were effective at the reasonable asstawvel.

There have been no changes in our intewratols over financial reporting during the foudrarter of the year ended December 31, 201
that have materially affected, or are reasonakbjyito materially affect, our internal controlsesfinancial reporting.

Management's Report on Internal Control Over Finangal Reporting

The information required by this sectioniethincludes the "Management's Report on Consddi&inancial Statements and Internal
Control over Financial Reporting" and the "Repdrinalependent Registered Public Accounting Firng'iacorporated by reference from
"ltem 8. Financial Statements and SupplementaraDat

Item 9B. OTHER INFORMATION.
None.
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PART IlI

Certain information required by Part Illamitted from this Annual Report on Form 10-K asintend to file our definitive proxy
statement for our 2014 annual meeting of stockhe|grursuant to Regulation 14A of the SecuritiesHaxge Act, not later than 120 days aftel
the end of the fiscal year covered by this Annughp&t on Form 10-K, and certain information to belided in the proxy statement is
incorporated herein by reference.

Item 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT ANDCORPORATE GOVERNANCE.
The information required by this item isdnporated by reference from the Proxy Statemedéuthe caption "Executive Officers."

In 2007, we adopted a Code of BusinesscEtind Conduct for Employees, Executive Officeid Rirectors that applies to our
employees, officers and directors and incorporatdeiines designed to deter wrongdoing and to ptertite honest and ethical conduct and
compliance with applicable laws and regulationsaddition, the code of ethics incorporates our glings pertaining to topics such as conflicts
of interest and workplace behavior. We have positedext of our code on our websitenatw.amicusrx.corin connection with
"Investors/Corporate Governance" materials. Intaigiwe intend to promptly disclose (1) the natof@any amendment to our code of ethics
that applies to our principal executive officeringipal financial officer, principal accounting @fér or controller, or persons performing sim
functions and (2) the nature of any waiver, inahgdan implicit waiver, from provision of our codéathics that is granted to one of these
specified officers, the name of such person whyrasited the waiver and the date the waiver on @losite in the future.

ltem 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION.

The information required by this item isanporated by reference from the Proxy Statemedéuthe caption "Executive
Compensation — Compensation Discussion and Analysis

Item 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS ANDMANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS.

The information required by this item isdnporated by reference from the Proxy Statemedéuthe captions "Security Ownership of
Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Relateckholder Matters™" and "Equity CompensatiomPidormation.”

Item 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS ANDDIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE.

The information required by this item isdnporated by reference from the Proxy Statemedéuthe captions "Certain Relationships and
Related Transactions," "Director Independence, Mi@uttee Compensation and Meetings of the Boardigddiors," and "Compensation
Committee Interlock and Insider Participation.”

Item 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES.

The information required by this item isdamporated by reference from the Proxy Statemedéuthe caption "Ratification of Independent
Registered Public Accounting Firm."
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PART IV
ltem 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULE
€) 1. Consolidated Financial Statements
The Consolidated Financial Statementsiteé &s part of this report.
2. Consolidated Financial Statement Schedules

All schedules are omitted because they are noinegtjor because the required information is inctlisiethe Consolidated Financial Statement:
or notes thereto.

3. Exhibits
Incorporated by Reference to SEC Filing
Exhibit Filed with this
No. Filed Exhibit Description Form Date Exhibit No. Form 10-K
2.1 Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated~orm 8-K 2/12/2014 2.1
November 19, 2013, by and amc
Amicus Therapeutics, Inc., CB
Acquisition Corp., Callidus
BioPharma, Inc, and Cuong [
3.1 Restated Certificate of Incorporation Form 10K 2/28/12 3.1
of the Registrant. Annual
Report
3.2 Restated By-laws of the Registrant. S-1/A 4127107 3.4
(333-
141700)
4.1 Specimen Stock Certificate S-1 (333- 3/30/07 4.1
evidencing shares of common stc 141700)
4.2 Third Amended and Restated Investo8-1 (333- 3/30/07 4.2
Rights Agreement, dated as of 141700)
September 13, 2006, as amen
4.2 Form of Warran Form &K 2/25/10 4.1
10.1 2002 Equity Incentive Plan, as S-1/A 4/27/07 10.1
amended, and forms of option (333-
agreements thereunc 141700)
+10.2 Amended and Restated License Form 10K 2/6/09 10.c
Agreement, dated October, 31, 2008,
by and between the Registrant and
Mount Sinai School of Medicine of
New York University
+10.2 License Agreement, dated as of S-1 (333- 3/30/07 10.¢

June 26, 2003, by and between the 141700)
Registrant and University of

Maryland, Baltimore County, as

amendec
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Exhibit Incorporated by Reference to SEC Filing Filed with this
No. Filed Exhibit Description Form Date Exhibit No. Form 10-K
+10.2 Exclusive License Agreement, datedS-1 (333- 3/30/07 10.t

as of June 8, 2005, by and between 141700)
the Registrant and Novo Nordisk,
A/S
10.€ Letter Agreement, dated as of S-1(333- 3/30/07 10.1¢(
December 19, 2005, by and betweeri41700)
the Registrant and David Lockhart,
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10.1¢ Letter Agreement, dated as of Form 8-K 12/31/08 10.¢
December 30, 2008, by and between
the Registrant and David Lockhart,
Ph.D.
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the Registrant and S. Nicole
Schaeffel
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of January 3, 2011 by and

between the Registrant and

Kenneth Peis

Letter Agreement, dated as Form 10-K
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10.3¢ Letter Agreement, dated as Form 10-Q 8/7/13 10.€

of June 5, 2013 by and
between the Registrant and
Jeffrey P. Castel

10.4C Letter Agreement, dated as Form 10-Q 8/7/13 10.7
of June 5, 2013 by and
between the Registrant and
Jayne Gershkowit

10.41 Letter Agreement, dated as Form 10-Q 8/7/13 10.¢
of June 5, 2013 by and
between the Registrant and
Peter M. Macalus

10.4. Letter Agreement, dated Form 8-K 11/20/13 10.1
November 20, 2013 by at
among the Company and the
purchasers identified there

10.4% Form of Warrant issued on Form 8-K 11/20/13 10.z
November 20, 201

10.4¢< Credit and Security Form 8-K 12/30/13 10.1
Agreement, by and between
MidCap Funding lll, LLC,
as administrative agent, the
Lenders listed in the Credit
Facility Schedule thereto,
Amicus Therapeutics Inc.,
and Callidus
Biopharma, Inc., dated as of
December 27, 201

10.4¢ Separation Agreement, by Form 8-K 1/8/14 10.1
and between Amicus
Therapeutics, Inc and
Dr. David J. Lockhart, dated
as of January 3, 20!

+10.4¢ Second Restated Agreement, X
dated November 19, 2013
and between Amicus
Therapeutics, Inc. and Glaxo
Group Limited

23.1 Consent of Independent X
Registered Public
Accounting Firm,

31.1 Certification of Principal X
Executive Officer Pursuant
to Rule 13a-14(a) of the
Securities Exchange Act of
1934.

31.Zz Certification of Principal X
Financial Officer Pursuant-
Rule 13a-14(a) of the
Securities Exchange Act of
1934.
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32.1 Certificate of Principal X

Executive Officer pursuant
to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350
and Section 906 of the

Sarbane-Oxley Act of 2002

32.2 Certificate of Principal X
Financial Officer pursuant to
18 U.S.C. Section 1350 and
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002

101 The following financial X
information from this Annui
Report on Form 1 for the
year ended December
2013, formatted in XBRL
(Extensible Business
Reporting Language) and
filed electronically herewith:
(i) the Consolidated Balance
Sheets as of December 31,
2013 and December 31,
2012; (ii) the Consolidated
Statements of Operations for
the years ended
December 31, 2011, 2012
and 2013; (iii) the
Consolidated Statements of
Comprehensive Loss for the
years ended December !
2011, 2012 and 2013;

(iv) the Consolidated
Statements of Cash Flows
for the years ended
December 31, 2011, 2012
and 2013; (v) and the Notes
to the Consolidated Financ
Statements

+ Confidential treated has been granted as taiogpbrtions of the document, which portions haserbomitted and filed
separately with the Securities and Exchange Conionids
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of SectioorlB5 (d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1984, registrant has duly caused this report to b
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, theredatp authorized on March 3, 2014.

AMICUS THERAPEUTICS, INC.
(Registrant

By: /s John F. Crowley

John F. Crowley
Chief Executive Office

Pursuant to the requirements of the Seeariixchange Act of 1934, this Report has beeresi¢pelow by the following persons on behalf
of the Registrant and in the capacities and ord#tes indicated.

Signature Title Date
/s John F. Crowley Chairman and Chief Executive Officer March 3, 2014

(Principal Executive Officer)
(John F. Crowley

/s/ William D. Baird 1l Chief Financial Officer March 3, 2014
(Principal Financial Officer)

(William D. Baird IlI)

/s Daphne Quimi Vice President, Finance and Controller March 3, 2014
(Principal Accounting Officer)

(Daphne Quimi’

/s/  Sol J. Barer, Ph.D. Director March 3, 2014

(Sol J. Barer, Ph.D

/s/ James Barrett Director March 3, 2014

(James Barret

/s/ Robert Essner Director March 3, 2014

(Robert Essnel

/s Donald J. Hayden Director March 3, 2014

(Donald J. Hayder
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Signature

/s] Ted W. Love, M.D.

(Ted W. Love, M.D.]

/sl Margaret G. McGlynn, R.F

(Margaret G. McGlynn, R.Ph

/s/ Michael G. Raab

(Michael G. Raab

/s/  Glenn Sblendorio

(Glenn Shlendorio

/sl James N. Topper, M.D.,
Ph.D.

(James N. Topper, M.D., Ph.L

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Title
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2.1 Agreement and Plan of Form 8-K 2/12/201: 2.1
Merger, dated November 19,
2013, by and among Amicus
Therapeutics, Inc., CB
Acquisition Corp., Callidus
BioPharma, Inc, and Cuong
Do
3.1 Restated Certificate of Form 10-K 2/28/12 3.1
Incorporation of the
Registrant
3.2 Restated By-laws of the S-1/A (333-141700)  4/27/07 3.4
Registrant
4.1 Specimen Stock Certificate S-1 (333-141700) 3/30/07 41
evidencing shares of comm
stock
4.z Third Amended and RestatedS-1 (333-141700) 3/30/07 4,
Investor Rights Agreement,
dated as of September 13,
2006, as amende
4.2 Form of Warran Form &K 2/25/10 41
10.1 2002 Equity Incentive Plan, S-1/A (333-141700)  4/27/07 10.1
as amended, and forms of
option agreements thereunt
+10.z Amended and Restated Form 10-K 2/6/09 10.5
License Agreement, dated
October, 31, 2008, by and
between the Registrant and
Mount Sinai School of
Medicine of New York
University
+10.2 License Agreement, dated asS-1 (333-141700) 3/30/07 10.4
of June 26, 2003, by and
between the Registrant and
University of Maryland,
Baltimore County, as
amendec
+10.2 Exclusive License S-1(333-141700) 3/30/07 10.t
Agreement, dated as of
June 8, 2005, by and between
the Registrant and Novo
Nordisk, A/S
10.5 Sublease Agreement, datec S-1 (333-141700) 3/30/07 10.€
of May 12, 2005, by and
between the Registrant and
Purdue Pharma, L.|
10.€ Letter Agreement, dated as ofS-1 (333-141700) 3/30/07 10.12C
December 19, 2005, by and
between the Registrant and
David Lockhart,Ph.D
10.7 Form of Director and Officer S-1 (333-141700) 3/30/07 10.15
Indemnification Agreemer
10.¢ Restricted Stock Agreement, S-1/A (333-141700)  4/27/07 10.21
dated as of March 8, 2007,
and between the Registrant
and Glenn P. Sblendor
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Lease Agreement, dated as 05-1/A (333-141700)  4/27/07
July 31, 2006, by and
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Cedar Brook Il Corporate
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Amended and Restated 2007 Form 8-K 6/8/10
Director Option Plan and Current Report 5/17/07
form of option agreemel

2007 Employee Stock S-1/A (333-141700)
Purchase Pla

Lease Agreement dated as ofForm 8-K 9/15/08
September 11, 2008 by and Current Report

between the Registrant and

A/G Touchstone, TP, LLC

First Amendment to lease  Form 10-K 2/28/12
dated April 15, 2011 by and

between the Registrant and

AG Touchstone, TP, LLC

Pharmaceuticals Ireland, Lt

Letter Agreement, dated as ofForm 8-K 12/31/08
December 30, 2008, by and Current Report

between the Registrant and

David Lockhart, Ph.D

Letter Agreement, dated as ofForm 10-K 2/6/09
December 30, 2008, by and

between the Registrant and

Bradley L. Campbel

Letter Agreement, dated as ofForm 10-K 2/6/09
December 30, 2008, by and

between the Registrant and S.

Nicole Schaeffe

Letter Agreement, dated as ofForm 10-K 2/6/09
December 30, 2008, by and

between the Registrant and

John R. Kirk

Letter Agreement, dated as ofForm 10-K 2/6/09
December 30, 2008, by and

between the Registrant and

Geoffrey P. Gilmore

Summary Management Bor

Program

First Amendment to Lease Form 10-Q 8/6/09
Agreement dated June 11,

2009 between the Registrant

and Cedar Brook 5 Corporate

Center, L.P
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License and Collaboration  Form 10-K
Agreement dated as of

October 28, 2010 by and
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by and between the Registr
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January 3, 2011 by and
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Letter Agreement, dated as ofForm 8-K
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Restricted Stock Award Form 8-K
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Registrant and Matthew R.

Pattersor
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2007 Amended and Restated
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Employment Agreement, Form 8-K
dated as of June 28, 2011, by

and between the Registrant

and John F. Crowle
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Corporate Center, L.I
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March 5, 2012 between the
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Letter Agreement dated Form 8-K
April 18, 2013 between

Amicus Therapeutics, Inc.

and William D. Baird, llI

Letter Agreement dated Form 8-K
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and Bradley L. Campbe
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23.1

31.1

31.2

32.1

32.2

Credit and Security
Agreement, by and between
MidCap Funding Ill, LLC, as
administrative agent, the
Lenders listed in the Credit
Facility Schedule thereto,
Amicus Therapeutics Inc.,
and Callidus Biopharma,
Inc., dated as of

December 27, 201
Separation Agreement, by ¢
between Amicus
Therapeutics, Inc and

Dr. David J. Lockhart, dated
as of January 3, 20!

Second Restated Agreement,
dated November 19, 2013 by
and between Amicus
Therapeutics, Inc. and Glaxo
Group Limited

Consent of Independent
Registered Public Accountir
Firm.

Certification of Principal
Executive Officer Pursuant to
Rule 13a-14(a) of the
Securities Exchange Act of
1934.

Certification of Principal
Financial Officer Pursuant to
Rule 13a-14(a) of the
Securities Exchange Act of
1934.

Certificate of Principal
Executive Officer pursuant to
18 U.S.C. Section 1350 and
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002

Certificate of Principal
Financial Officer pursuant to
18 U.S.C. Section 1350 and
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002

Form 8-K 12/30/13

Form 8-K 1/8/14
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101 The following financial X

information from this Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the
year ended December
2013, formatted in XBRL
(Extensible Business
Reporting Language) and
filed electronically herewith:
(i) the Consolidated Balance
Sheets as of December 31,
2013 and December 31, 20
(i) the Consolidated
Statements of Operations for
the years ended December
2011, 2012 and 2013; (iii) tt
Consolidated Statements of
Comprehensive Loss for the
years ended December !
2011, 2012 and 2013; (iv) the
Consolidated Statements of
Cash Flows for the years
ended December 31, 2011,
2012 and 2013; (v) and the
Notes to the Consolidate
Financial Statement

+ Confidential treated has been granted as taiogportions of the document, which portions hagerbomitted and filed
separately with the Securities and Exchange Conionis
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Exhibit 10.19

Amicus

Thargpoutics

Management Bonus Program

We believe providing a competitive Total CompermatProgram to our employees is essential to attradtretain top talent. One component
of our Total Compensation Program is the Managementus Program (the “Program”). The Compensatiom@ittee of Amicus’ Board of
Directors will determine whether to issue payoutdar the Program on an annual basis. The amotiimdividual payouts are calculated as
forth in this Program summary. The Program isridesl to advance several key goals of the Compdrotal Compensation Program.

Program Goals:

*  To motivate management to achieve and exceed godlsbjectives

» Todrive expanded team alignment and effort

»  To meaningfully and appropriately differentiate asd/ard individual performance
» To provide a market competitive short-term incemttompensation program

Program Components:

There are three factors for determining payoutsutite Program.

1. Overall Bonus Targets: Employees are eligible for a year-end bonus @n&") based on a targeted percentage of each gegio
base salary (the “Target Percentage”). The Targetdhtage is determined by an employee’s levédigrotganization. Bonus payouts

under the Program are determined by a calculatrighing individual and corporate performance withirecreasing emphasis on corpo
performance at higher levels within the organizatio

2. Individual Performance Weighting : Individual performance accounts for between 0% a participant’s Bonus payout based on
level within the organization.

3. Corporate Performance Weighting: Corporate performance accounts for between 40084lof a participant’s Bonus payout based on
level within the organization.

4. Targets and Weighting: The Compensation Committee of the Board of Directas determined that beginning in the fiscal pealing
December 31, 2012, Bonus payouts under the Proghathbe based on the following targets and wengfati

Individual Corporate

Bonus Target as % Performance Performance
Position /Level of Base Weighting % Weighting %
CEO 6C% 0% 10C%
Chief 4C% 20% 80%
SVP 35% 25% 75%
VP 3C% 30% 70%
Sr. Dir 25% 40% 60%
Director 2% 50% 50%
Assoc. Dir 15% 60% 40%

Effective February 15, 20.




5. Eligibility and Administration Under the Plan

In years where management and the Compensation @mmmetermine to issue payouts under the Progiaafpllowing eligibility criteria
will be applied:

«  Employees must be actively employed on the datbdin@s is paid in order to be eligible to recelveit bonus.

New Employees who are hired between April 1, anot&eber 30, of a calendar year, are eligible foraated bonus based
upon date of hire.

*  New Employees who are hired between October 1Pmugmber 31, of a calendar year are not eligibll@afdlanagement Bonus.

* Additionally, in its discretion, management or tbempensation Committee, as appropriate may detertoimake Bonus
payouts under the Program outside these eligitpinameters if they believe it is in the best ia$és of the organization to do so.

Corporate Performanee- Upon completion of the year, the Board of Direstwill make an evaluation as to how the organ@aperformed
against the approved Corporate Goals for that yBased upon the approved weightings of thesesgaatl the BOD determination of
performance, a “Corporate Multiplier” will be estisbed. This Multiplier may range from 50% - 150%.

Individual Performance Individual performance will be evaluated as is@dance with the Performance Management Progtadividual
multipliers may range from 0-150% (the “IndividiMLultiplier Range”).

*|t will be at the discretion of the Sr. Functiofiadecutive, with input from the SVP Admin & HR angpaoval by CEO, as to where
the Bonus Payout Range an individual may fall. iremtnotwithstanding anything set forth hereinthi@ event that senior management or the
Compensation Committee, as appropriate, deterntiiraésan employee’s individual performance is sigaifitly above the expected level, a
determination may be made that the employee’s iddal multiplier shall be outside the IndividuaLiiplier Range.

Program Process/Timing:

The process for determining individual payouts urtde Program follows certain steps on an annusisbg1) Management begins individual
performance reviews and sets recommended individu#tipliers for employees; (2) The Compensatiom@uttee, in consultation with
management determines whether to payout bonusesetsithe Corporate multiplier; and (3) Senior nganaent finalizes the payout
calculations. Putting all three components ofgfegram together, the following is amampleof how each would apply.

2




1. The BOD determines the Corporate Multiplier to b8%26

2. The employee is a Sr. Director (25% target wittaaebsalary of $160k)

3. Individual performance for 2012 is determined thiatpayout should equal 105% of target
Formula:

((bonus target *.4) * Indiv. multiplier) + ((bonuarget *.6) * Corp multiplier)
(($40,000*.4)*1.05)+(($40,000*.6)*.95) = $39,600

Performance Reviews will be conducted from Decentbdanuary of the following year. Bonus paymaevitsbe made by the end of
February and employees must be employed on theupdgte to receive a bonus.

*Management and the Compensation Committee reskevaght to amend this program at any time.
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Exhibit 10.46

Portions of this exhibit have been omitted and filed separately with the Secretary of the Securitiesral Exchange Commission (the
“Commission”) pursuant to an application for confidential treatment filed with the Commission pursuantto Rule 24b-2 under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Sumtrtions are marked as indicated below.

SECOND RESTATED AGREEMENT

This SECOND RESTATED AGREEMENT (the “ Agreeméhts made as of the 19  day of November, 2013 {(tBecond Restated
Effective Dat€’) by and betweemicus Therapeutics, Inc., a Delaware corporation having a place of busim¢d Cedar Brook Drive,
Cranbury, New Jersey, 08512 _(* Amic)sand Glaxo Group Limited , a company organized under the laws of Englandvdalgs with its
registered office address at 980 Great West Roaahttdrd, Middlesex,TW8 9GS , England_(* G8K Amicus and GSK are each referred to
herein by name or as a “ Paftgr, collectively, as the “ Parti€'s

RECITALS

WHEREAS, the Parties previously entered into aaterticense and Collaboration Agreement (“ OrigiAgreement) dated
October 28, 2010 (the " Original Effective Ddjepursuant to which Amicus granted to GSK exahesiworldwide, rights to Compounds and
Products (each as defined below);

WHEREAS, on July 17, 2012 (the “ First RestateckEfive Dat€’), the Parties amended and restated the Origigaé@ment in its
entirety to provide for, among other matters, #ersion to Amicus of the rights for the Commeization of Compound and Products in the
United States (the “ First Restated Agreenignt

WHEREAS, in connection with both the Original Agneent and with the First Restated Agreement, GSKiiaed shares of common
stock of Amicus; and

WHEREAS, the Parties now desire for GSK to retdrofahe worldwide rights to the Compound and Rrois to Amicus, on the
terms and conditions as set forth herein.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual agnents contained herein and other good and valeabkEderation, the
sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, thetiea agree as follows:

l. DEFINITIONS
Unless specifically set forth to the contrary heyéhe following terms, whether used in the singolaplural, shall have the respective
meanings set forth below. Capitalized terms usaabt defined herein shall have the meaning asdrib such terms in the First Restated
Agreement:
1.1 “ AAA " has the meaning ascribed to that term in SedthR.2.
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1.2 “ Affiliate " means, with respect to any specified Person, atiangy a Person that, directly or indirectly, thgbune or mor
intermediaries, controls, or is controlled by, ®under common control with, such specified Pee@uch time. For purposes of this definil
and Section 1.2, “control,” when used with resgieany specified Person, shall mean (a) the doentdirect ownership of more than fifty
percent (50%) (or such lesser percentage whidieisnaximum allowed to be owned by a foreign corfimnan a particular jurisdiction) of the
total voting power of securities or other evidenagEewnership interest in such Person or (b) thegydo direct or cause the direction of the
management and policies of such Person, directiydirectly, whether through ownership of votingeties, by contract or otherwise; and
terms “controlling” and “controlled” have meaningsrrelative to the foregoing.

1.3 “ Amicus ” has the meaning ascribed to that term in the fissagraph of this Agreement.

1.4 “ Amicus Indemnitee$ has the meaning ascribed to that term in Sed®8.

15 “ Amicus Product Royalty Terfhhas the meaning ascribed to that term in Secia(b)(ii).

1.6 “ APl " has the meaning ascribed to that term in Sectid8.

1.7 “ Assigned Agreementshas the meaning ascribed to that term in Seatidna list of which, as of the Second Restated

Effective Date, is set forth in the attacHexhibit B.

1.8 “ Business Day means any day, other than a Saturday or a Sundahich banks in New York, New York, United States
and in London, England are open for business, dikujuany days on which GSK’s corporate headquadefsmicus’ corporate headquarters
are closed.

1.9 “ Claim " means any action, appeal, petition, plea, chargmplaint, suit, demand, litigation, arbitrationediation, hearing,
inquiry, investigation, or similar event, occurrenor proceeding.

1.10 “ Co-Administration Product means a product consisting of administration of the Compound or a Product witteamyma
replacement therapy (including without limitatidRQb1), regardless of the order or form in which¢beadministration is performed.

1.11 “ Co-Formulation Development Pldmeans the development plan and associated bfmigite Development of Co-
Formulation Products for intravenous and subcutaseeliveries in the Field in the Territory, asaltted to the First Restated Agreement as
Schedule 5.1B as such development plan and associated budgetie®n amended in accordance with the First Resfejreement and in t
form in which such development plan and associbtetfjet exist as of the Second Restated Effectite.Da

1.12 “ Co-Formulation MTA” means that certain materials transfer agreemeered into between JCR and Amicus with the
consent of, and acknowledged by, GSK, dated ag*tf* as may be amended.
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1.13 “ Co-Formulation Product means a pharmaceutical preparation that incotpsrine Compound formulated together with
JRO51.

1.14 “ Co-Formulation Product IPmeans any and all Know-How and Patents arisiniging the period from the Original
Effective Date until the Second Restated Effecbate of this Agreement, from the conduct of adigtwith respect to the Development of a
Co-Formulation Product under the Original Agreenmarthe First Restated Agreement, including (a)dtreduct of activities pursuant to the
Co-Formulation MTA, or (b) the conduct of activiipursuant to the Co-Formulation Development Rtaeach case where such activities are
conducted by or on behalf of Amicus, GSK, theipexgive Affiliates or (sub)licensees, or by an dagkesignated by GSK or Amicus to conc
such activities. As between Amicus and GSK, JC&ll §te deemed an agent of GSK with respect tocsiViies conducted by or on behalf of
JCR in connection with the First Restated Agreeraant as between Amicus and GSK, all such actsvit@nducted by JCR in connection w
the First Restated Agreement shall be deemed te been conducted by GSK under the First Restatedefiuent. Co-Formulation Product IP
expressly excludes the: Amicus Intellectual Propekmicus Proprietary Chaperone Technology, GSKKgaaund IP, Program Improvemer
Program Patents and GSK In-Licensed Background ERT

1.15 “ Co-Formulation Transition Supply Periddhas the meaning ascribed to that term in Se@iGn

1.16 “ Collaboration Claims has the meaning ascribed to that term in Se@i8(b).

1.17 “ Commercialize; “* Commercialized’ or “ Commercializatior’ means activities directed to obtaining pricinglan
reimbursement approvals for a Product in the Faeld in the Territory; marketing, advertising, prdmg, detailing, distributing, importing, or
selling a Product in the Field in the Territorydgpost-launch medical education, planning, produgiport and medical efforts related to a
Product in the Field and in the Territory. Forritlga “Commercialize,” “Commercialized,” and “Commualization” shall not include
Development or Manufacturing.

1.18 “ Commercially Reasonable Effortsneans that level of efforts and resources reguioecarry out a particular task or
obligation in an active and sustained manner, stersi with the usual practice followed by a Pantyhie exercise of its reasonable business
discretion relating to other pharmaceutical prodwstned by it, or to which it has exclusive rightéich are of similar market potential and at
a similar stage in development or product lifejrigkinto account issues of patent coverage, safietlyefficacy, scientific and product profile,
the regulatory structure involved, and the strategiue and profitability of the product (includingithout limitation, pricing and
reimbursement status achieved). A Party may nagider payments required to be made hereunder détenmining its Commercially
Reasonable Efforts with regards to a Product ashitgyations under this Agreement.

1.19 “ Compound’ means migalastat, as described in Scheduledf.#& First Restated Agreement, and includesr{g) a
compounds with alternative names but with the selnegnical structure as migalastat, and (b) any noditab, prodrugs, isomers and
enantiomers (excluding the isomer/enantiomer “Ixgtaorjirimycin” or “(2R,3R,4R,5S)-2-(hydroxymethyiperidine-3,4,5-triol"), esters,
salts, hydrates, solvates, and polymorphs thevdaéther alone or in a mixture.
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1.20 “ Confidential Informatiori’ means in the case of one Party (the “ disclo$lagy”), that Party’s or its Affiliate’s (and, with
respect to GSK, including JCR’s) know-how and ficiahor other confidential or proprietary informatithat is Controlled by that Party or its
Affiliates and made available (in whatever form avtiether prior to, on, or after the Original EffeetDate) to the other Party (the “ receiving
Party”) in connection with or generated pursuant to@higinal Agreement, First Restated Agreement @& #greement. Confidential
Information expressly includes the terms of thigeament, which shall be deemed Confidential Infaiomaof both Parties. Notwithstanding
the foregoing, Confidential Information shall notiude:

(a) information which is or becomes part of the pulinain through no breach of this Agreement by the
receiving Party or any of its Affiliates;

(b) information which the receiving Party can demortsthay its written records was known by the receajvin
Party or any of its Affiliates prior to the disclo® thereof by the disclosing Party;

(c) information which is independently developed by beeiving Party or any of its Affiliates, so loag sucl
development does not result from use of Confidéhtfarmation of the disclosing Party, and suchaépdndent development can be
demonstrated by written records of the receivindyRar any of its Affiliates; and

(d) information that becomes available to the receiRagty or its Affiliates on a non-confidential b&si
whether directly or indirectly, from a Third Paxtsho is not bound by a duty of confidentiality te@ttlisclosing Party.

1.21 “ Control” or “ Controlled” means, with respect to any compound, materifbrmation, or intellectual property right, that a
Party owns or has a license to use, commerciatz@ufacture, market, distribute or sell, and hasathility to grant to the other Party a license
or a sublicense (as applicable under this Agreenterstuch compound, material, information, or ilgetual property right as provided for
herein without violating (i) the terms of any agremt or other arrangements with any Third Partgteng at the time such Party would be first
required hereunder to grant the other Party swemdie or sublicense or (i) any Law applicableutchdicense or sublicense.

1.22 “ Develop” or “ Development means all activities related to (a) non-clinieald clinical research and drug development
(including preclinical testing and clinical trialslated to obtaining, maintaining and/or expandiayketing Approval (excluding pricing and
reimbursement approvals), (b) Post-Marketing Committs; (c) manufacturing activities for the purmoséproducing clinical supplies (or
materials used in preclinical testing or researab)wvell as test method development and stabdgirtg and process development and
validation for a Product prior to the first Markagi Approval of such Product (including manufactgrivatches for validation and registration
purposes), formulation development, delivery systisvelopment, quality assurance and quality cowkeoklopment for clinical supplies, and
(d) statistical analysis, regulatory affairs, acthdties directed towards obtaining Marketing Appal (excluding regulatory activities directed
to obtaining pricing and reimbursement approvats) elinical study regulatory activities (excludiregulatory activities directed to pricing and
reimbursement approvals); in each case, with
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respect to the Products in the Field for the Tenyit For clarity, “Develop” and “Development” shabt include Manufacturing or
Commercialization.

1.23 “ Dispute” has the meaning ascribed to that term in Sectg.1.

1.24 “ EMA " means the European Medicines Agency of the Elanpénion or any successor entity thereto havinglaim
responsibilities with respect to pharmaceuticabpais, such as the Products.

1.25 “ Excluded Item’ has the meaning ascribed to that term in Sectibd.2.

1.26 “ Expanded Major Market Countrfymeans ******

1.27 “ EDA " means the United States Food and Drug Administraiicany successor entity thereto having similapoasibilities
with respect to pharmaceutical products, such@®tbducts.

1.28 “ Eield " means any and all uses or purposes, includintpowut limitation, the treatment, palliation, andfevention and
diagnosis of any human or animal disease, disandeondition, including use of a Product in combioa with enzyme replacement therapy.

1.29 “ Eorce Majeure Everithas the meaning ascribed to that term in Secthl.

1.30 “ ETE " means a full-time equivalent person from an emetoof a Party or one of its Affiliates assignegésform specific
work, as set forth in Section 3.3.

1.31 “ GAAP " has the meaning ascribed to that term in Secti60.

1.32 “ Generic Equivalent means, as to a Product that has received RegulAfproval in a particular country in the Terriyor
and is marketed and sold by a Party in such copatnpn-innovator product that: (A) (i) has obtaif@egulatory Approval by means of an
abbreviated NDA filed pursuant to Section 505(j}teé Act which refers to the specific Product atissas the Reference Listed Drug (as
defined in 21 C.F.R. 314.3(b) (as amended)) inthited States, or an application similar to an aeblated NDA filed pursuant to Section 505
(j) of the Act for any jurisdiction outside the Wed States, in each case, without the requirenfeartyohuman clinical efficacy trials; or (ii) has
obtained Regulatory Approval by means of a BLA@INDA or a comparable procedure for establishirgquivalence or biosimilarity to or
interchangeability with such Product, in each cagihout the requirement of any human clinical &dfty trials other than to establish
biosimilarity or interchangeability; and (B) is leiguivalent or bio-similar to, or interchangeablé¢hwsuch Product; and (C) is legally marketed
in such country by an entity other than such PatyAffiliates or Sublicensees.

1.33 “ GSK " has the meaning ascribed to that term in thé fiesagraph of this Agreement.
1.34 “ GSK Auditor” has the meaning ascribed to that term in Se@idn
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1.35 “ GSK Backaground IP means all Patents and/or Know-How which: (a) G8Kts Affiliates Controlled as of the Original
Effective Date, or (b) were developed by or on ebfaGSK or its Affiliates after the Original Eftdive Date or acquired or otherwise
Controlled by GSK or its Affiliates after the Onigil Effective Date, in each case (a) or (b), oetsite Program and without the use of Prograr
Improvements or Co-Formulation Product IP; or @y enanufacturing technology or manufacturing predagellectual property owned or
Controlled by GSK or its Affiliates as of the FiRestated Effective Date, and any improvements rtagteto; excluding the GSK
Monotherapy Product Manufacturing Improvementsr the avoidance of doubt, GSK Background IP expyessludes any intellectual
property rights related to the GSK Route B Manufdng Process, which are outside of the scopeisfAreement.

1.36 “ GSK House Mark$ means the GSK brand name, logo, and other iden¢jfmarkings of GSK or its Affiliates.

1.37 “ GSK Indemnitee$ has the meaning ascribed to that term in SedA.2.

1.38 “ GSK In-Licensed Background ERT [Pmeans all Patents and Know-How to which GSK haguaed an exclusive license
or other rights from JCR pursuant to the GSK/JCRtelaAgreement, including any manufacturing techgglor manufacturing process
intellectual property owned or Controlled by JCRoathe Second Restated Effective Date, and anyawgments or modifications thereto.

1.39 “ GSK/JCR Master Agreemehimeans that certain Master Agreement by and betwé&R, GlaxoSmithKline K.K. and
Glaxo Group Limited, dated ****** and as amendedhd including any addendums thereto.

1.40 “ GSK Monotherapy Product Manufacturing Improvensnmeans any improvements or modifications made yndvehal
of GSK (i) after the Original Effective Date andthe conduct of Development activities under thedd@ment Plan under the Original
Agreement, to those certain manufacturing procefssdbe Manufacture of Compound or Monotherapydaais that were transferred to GSK
in connection with the Manufacture technology tfangy Amicus to GSK in accordance with Section 5& the Original Agreement and
(ii) after the First Restated Effective Date andhie conduct of Development activities under thesting Development Plan under the First
Restated Agreement to the manufacturing processésd Manufacture of Compound or Products (othantthe Co-Formulation Products).
For the avoidance of doubt, GSK Monotherapy ProMentufacturing Improvements specifically excludes GSK Route B Manufacturing
Process.

1.41 “ GSK Route B Manufacturing Procesmeans the fermentation process developed by G&id the wild-typeStreptomyces
sp.BTA 530 to produce migalastat. The commercial sioigrfor Route B is fully within GSK'’s primary nebsk and outside of the scope of
the Original Agreement, First Restated Agreementhis Agreement.

1.42 “ GSK TrademarR means a Trademark that was Controlled by GSKngrd its Affiliates during the term of the First
Restated Agreement that the Joint Commercialization
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Subcommittee determined should be used on or inaxiion with Products. As of the Second Restaféetfive Date, there are no GSK
Trademarks.

1.43 “ GSK Transferred Activitie$ has the meaning ascribed to that term in Se@ian

1.44 “ GSK Transferred Patentaneans all Patents owned, solely or jointly, bykG@ its Affiliate included in the Program
Improvements, Program Patents and Co-Formulatioduet IP.

1.45 “IND " means any Investigational New Drug Application {jiging any amendments thereto) filed with the FDAguant tc
21 C.F.R. 8312 before the commencement of cliniak of a Product, or any comparable filings (iring clinical trial applications) with ar
Regulatory Authority in any other jurisdiction.

1.46 “ Indemnitee” has the meaning ascribed to that term in SectA.3.
1.47 “ Indemnitor” has the meaning ascribed to that term in Sectibd.3.

1.48 “ Inventory” shall mean all active pharmaceutical ingrediéalRl ) and drug product for the Products and intermiedia
used in the synthesis of the Compound that is ovené@bntrolled by GSK or its Affiliates on the SecbRestated Effective Date that have
been procured for the Program, excluding any ofahegoing that was manufactured by GSK using tB& ®oute B Manufacturing Process.
A schedule of the Inventory for each Product byatam, batch and lot number with the relevant exn dates as of the Second Restated
Effective Date is attached hereto_as Schedule.1.48

1.49 “JCR” means JCR Pharmaceuticals, Co., Ltd, with a ptddmisiness at 3-9 Kasuga-cho, Ashiya, Hyogo, 832t Japan.
As between GSK and Amicus, for the purpose of tingt Restated Agreement, JCR shall be deemed gragsd agent of GSK, and all
activities conducted by JCR under the Co-FormutelitT A, a Co-Formulation Development Plan, or othisenin connection with the First
Restated Agreement, shall be deemed to have beelicted by GSK under the First Restated Agreenpeavjded, however, that the
foregoing shall not be construed to grant any sgintlicenses to Amicus under any intellectual propowned or Controlled by JCR except as
expressly set forth herein.

1.50 “ Joint Program Pateritmeans (i) any Program Patents covering jointlieimed Program Improvements and (ii) Patents
covering jointly invented Co-Formulation Product IP

1.51 “ JR0O51" means the JCR proprietary enzyme alpha-Galadssid that is internally referenced by GSK as JRO%L
described in Schedule 1.1b6the First Restated Agreement, including anyvddives or modifications thereof or analogs thereto

1.52 “ Know-How " means any proprietary or confidential technolagghnical, scientific and medical information, heds of
use, processes, techniques, ideas, inventionsu@irgl any inventions disclosed in any Patent oliplibd Patent application), improvements,
modifications, know-how, practices, trade secretemistry, manufacturing and control data, qualdwtrol information and procedures, and
pharmacological, toxicological and preclinical atticiical test data and results and regulatory mifation (including all documentation and
correspondence submitted
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or required to be submitted to a Regulatory Autlypor received from a Regulatory Authority, in ogetion with a Marketing Approval in any
country) and marketing, promotion and other infaiotaand materials, all of the foregoing pertaintaghe Development, Manufacture and/or
Commercialization of the Compound and/or Produétsimvthe Field for the Territory, but excludingteats associated with any of the
foregoing.

1.53 “ Launch” means, on a country-by-country and Product-bydBob basis, the date of the first ****** by Amicugs
Affiliates, Sublicensees, or successors-in-inteiresuch country; providethat the Launch of a Product in a country for dipalar indication
shall be deemed to occur upon the first commesgikd of a Product with labeling for such indicatid®eales of a Product for registration
samples, compassionate use sales, named patiesdisiee like, and inter-company transfers to Adfds of Amicus for resale will not
constitute a Launch.

1.54 “Law " means all laws, statutes, regulations (includirqusges laws, regulations or guidances), or gorental, regulator
or judicial orders or judgments in effect from titeetime.

1.55 “ Liabilities " means liabilities, damages, penalties, finesidees and expenses, (including, reasonableaitsrfees and
other expenses of litigation).

1.56 “MAA " means (a) a Marketing Authorization Applicatialed with the EMA, seeking Regulatory Approval oPeoduct
and all variations thereto filed with the EMA,; @) NDA or BLA submitted to the FDA in the Uniteda&s; or (c) a corresponding application
for Regulatory Approval that has been submitted Regulatory Authority in any other jurisdictiontime Territory.

1.57 “ Manufacture’ or “ Manufacturing” means all the activities required for the prodluretand supply of Compound and/or
Product, including without limitation, purchasireawr materials, quality control and assurance, filiingshing, labeling, packaging, qualified
person release, holding, shipping and storageflsntests and analyses conducted in connectionwitibreFor clarity, “Manufacture” and
“Manufacturing” shall not include Commercialization Development.

1.58 “ Marketing Approval’ means all approvals, licenses, registrations drai#ations of the Regulatory Authority in a coyn
necessary for the manufacture, use, storage, immparketing and sale of a Product in such counfigr. countries where governmental or othe

similar approval of pricing and/or reimbursementeiquired for marketing in such country, Marketfgproval shall not be deemed to occur
Until ******.

1.59 “ Monotherapy Productmeans a Product incorporating the Compound asdleactive ingredient.

1.60 “ Net Sales’ means the amount of gross sales of all Produdtslsy Amicus, its Affiliates or Sublicensees (eaalt Selling
Party”) to Third Parties less the following amounts atlyiand reasonably incurred, allowed, paid or aedras reported by Amicus, its
Affiliates or Sublicensees, as applicable, initaficial statements prepared in accordance witbrgdip accepted accounting principles in the
United States (* GAAP), as applied by the Selling Party on a consistersis:
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(a) guantity, trade and cash discounts actually allooregiven;

(b) discounts, replacements, credits or refunds agtadtiwed for the return of rejected, outdated, dged or
returned Products;

(c) rebates, chargebacks and price adjustments actllyed or given;

(d) sales or similar taxes (including duties or otherilar governmental charges or assessments) lewied,

otherwise imposed on the sale of the applicableis to the customer (including VAT or other gawaental charges measured by the billin
amount, when included in such billing);

(e) charges for freight, handling, postage, transpioratnsurance and other shipping charges; and

® a reasonable provision for uncollectible accouwntsta exceed ****** percent (******%4) of gross amouts
invoiced.

provided, however, that:

(i) sales or transfers of Products between or amonguésnany Sublicensee or any Affiliate of
Amicus for resale shall be excluded from Net Saldsulations by Amicus; providechowever, that the subsequent resale to a Third Party
be included in Net Sales hereunder;

(i) if the applicable Product is sold or transferreddonsideration other than cash, the Net Sales
such sale or transfer shall be deemed the themtaiket value of such Product;

(i) Products that are transferred or used without ehargonnection with any pre-clinical or clinical
trials, or for any testing, quality control, evaioa or other Development purposes, or distribitedamples or charitable donations, shall be
excluded from Net Sales calculations for all pugsgsnd

(iv) sales or transfers of Products for registrationgas) compassionate use sales, named patient u.
and the like, shall be excluded from Net Salesutations for all purposes, unless the Selling Peetpgnizes revenue with respect to any sucl
sales or transfers in which event such sales psfieas shall be included in Net Sales hereunder.

The Net Sales definition as applicable to Amicuy i@ amended upon written notice from Amicus onlgxtent required to reflect
changes to Amicus’ accounting rules that resulinfaomerger, takeover, or change in applicable Law.

161  “ Non-Compete Territory means ****+x,

1.62 “ Party” or “ Parties” has the meaning ascribed to that term(s) in itts¢ paragraph of this Agreement.
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1.63 “ Patent” means any and all existing (as of the SeconddRedtEffective Date) and future patents and patpplications in
any country or jurisdiction, including but not lited to, any provisional applications, non-provisibapplications, PCT applications, re-issues,
re-examinations, divisionals, continuations, camitions-in-part, registrations, confirmations, slations, re-validations, renewals, and
extensions of term thereof (including supplementantection certificates and pediatric use extamsjioincluding utility, model, and design
patents.

1.64 “ Person” means any individual, corporation (including amynprofit corporation), general or limited partrigps limited
liability company, joint venture, estate, trusts@sation, organization, labor union, governmergray, Regulatory Authority, or other entity.

1.65 “ Pharmacological Chaperofieneans a small molecule drug that selectively bitadthe active site of a target enzyme
resulting in enzyme stabilization, improved trdffitg, less aggregation, and/or increased activithe enzyme.

1.66 “ Phase Il Clinical Studiesmeans early controlled human clinical studieschated to obtain some preliminary data on the
appropriate dose range and effectiveness of aidraglisease or condition under study, as morg fidfined in 21 C.F.R. §312.21(b) or its
successor regulation, or the equivalent in any tgwither than the United States.

1.67 “ Phase Il Clinical Studiesmeans expanded and controlled human clinicalistuishvolving administration of a drug to
sufficient numbers of human patients with the gifastablishing that a drug is safe and efficacfousts intended use, and to be considered ¢
a pivotal study for submission of an MAA, including the United States, a NDA or BLA as more fudgfined in 21 C.F.R. §312.21(c) or its
successor regulation, and including any such dirstudy in any country other than the United $tate

1.68 “ Phase 1V Clinical Studiesmeans human clinical studies, including markesigdies, epidemiological studies, modeling
and pharmaco-economic studies, investigator spedsdmical trials and post-marketing surveillastedies, in each case (i) that are required
or requested by a Regulatory Authority to be cotellifor a Product after receipt of Marketing Appabfor such Product in such country, as a
condition of or in connection with obtaining andintaining such Marketing Approval, (ii) that a Baelects to conduct in connection with or
to support the TPP New Labeling for such Produth@nTerritory, or (iii) that a Party elects to dowet in support of medical affairs activities.

1.69 “ PostMarketing Commitments means Phase IV Clinical Studies and other pramirand clinical studies conducted after
Marketing Approval (such as, by way of examplecgagenicity studies, preclinical studies to essibpediatric or other dosing or safety
studies, and registries) that are required or reigdeby a Regulatory Authority to be conductedraftarketing Approval, in connection with
obtaining or maintaining such Marketing Approval.

1.70 “ Product” means any pharmaceutical preparation that ingatpe Compound, whether or not as the sole aciyedient,
including any formulation thereof, such as intrames, transdermal, oral, or other dosage form. ckauity, references in this Agreement to a
“Product”
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include a Monotherapy Product, Co-Administrationdrrct and/or Co-Formulation Product, as applicable.

1.71 “ Program” means all activities directed to the Developméfanufacture and/or Commercialization of Produotstiie
Territory performed after the Original Effective teaduring the period from the Original Effectivate to the First Restated Effective Date,
during the period from the First Restated Effecidate to the Second Restated Effective Date, lpgndsehalf of Amicus (or its Affiliates or
Sublicensees) and/or GSK (or its Affiliates or stdshsees) under the Original Agreement or the Resttated Agreement, as applicable;
provided, however, it is understood that all activities that arer@ated to the Development of Products conducitbeéreby Amicus or GSK
prior to the Original Effective Date, or (b) reldt® the Manufacture of JR051, or (c) related ®®@&8EK Route B Manufacturing Process, will
be deemed to have been conducted outside of tlygaPno

1.72 “ Program Improvementsmeans, collectively, (a) the GSK Monotherapy RraidVianufacturing Improvements, and (b) any
and all Know-How, and other information that waseleped by or on behalf of GSK (or its Affiliates sublicensees), or Amicus (or its
Affiliates, or Sublicensees), or jointly by or oahalf of GSK and Amicus or any of their respecthfélliates after the Original Effective Date,
during the period from the Original Effective Détethe First Restated Effective Date, or duringpgkeod from the First Restated Effective
Date to the Second Restated Effective Date, frasrctinduct of activities under the applicable Deprlent Plan under the Original Agreement
or the First Restated Agreement, as applicableagh case with respect to any Products (but eXpressluding JR051 individually and JR051
as part of any Co-Formulation Product(s)), inclgdati inventions, Know-How, and all other intelleat property rights arising in the conduct
of such activities; providedhowever, that Program Improvements will not include Amidatellectual Property, GSK Background IP, GSK In
Licensed Background ERT IP, Co-Formulation ProdB¢br GSK Route B Manufacturing Processes; andiged furtherthat, Program
Improvements shall not include: (a) information grhis or becomes part of the public domain thronghbreach of this Agreement by GSK or
Amicus or their respective Affiliates; (b) infornian which GSK can demonstrate by its written resosds known by GSK or its Affiliates
prior to the Original Effective Date excluding aimjormation received by GSK under the terms of@mnfidentiality Agreement; and
(c) information which was independently developgd3a3SK or Amicus or their respective Affiliates o of the Program, and such
independent development can be demonstrated bigwrigcords.

1.73 “ Program Paten” means a Patent or Patent application disclosingkaimhing a Program Improvemel



1.74 “ Quarter” means a calendar quarter consisting of any oftireemonth periods ending on March 31, June 30, Septe8i
and December 31 in any particular year.

1.75 “ Requlatory Approval means: (a) in the United States, written notiE®larketing Approval by the FDA based on approva
of an NDA or BLA, as applicable, and (b) in any oty of the Territory, written notice of requiredavketing Approval (******), such
acceptance not to be unreasonably withheld) byRegulatory Authority having jurisdiction in suchuwry; providedthat with respect to
countries in the European Union, written notice akentralized Marketing
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Approval from the European Medicines Agency shafistitute written notice with respect to each anerg such country.

1.76 “ Regulatory Authority” means the agency, if any, of the national govemntof any country with which a pharmaceutical ol
biological therapeutic product must be registenebyowhich a pharmaceutical or biological therapeptoduct must be approved prior to its
manufacture, use, or sale in such country, provillatiwith respect to countries in the European bnibe European Medicines Agency shall
constitute such an agency with respect to eacteaary such country in addition to any agency odtiomal government of such country.

1.77 “ Rules” has the meaning ascribed to that term in Sedt#a.2.

1.78 “ Selling Party’ has the meaning ascribed to that term in Sectién.

1.79 “ Sublicenseé means a Third Party to whom Amicus has grantadtd to make, have made, use, sell, market, Oistei
and/or promote a Product in the Territory. As uisetthis Agreement, “Sublicensee” shall not inclad@holesaler, or reseller of Product who

does not market such Product.

1.80 “ Term” means the period commencing on the Second RddEifective Date until the Products are no longer
Commercialized pursuant to this Agreement.

1.81 “ Territory " means all countries and territories in the world.
1.82 “ Third Party” means any Person other than Amicus or GSK or flitidde of Amicus or GSK.

1.83 “ Third Party Claim” has the meaning ascribed to that term in SectB.

1.84 “ Trademarks' means (a) trademarks, service marks, logos, tiaeles and trade names, and domain names indithéng
source of goods or services, and other indiciasoafroercial source or origin (whether registered, wamm law, statutory or otherwise), (b) all
registrations and applications to register thedoneg anywhere in the world, (c) all goodwill asisded therewith, and (d) all rights in and to
any of the foregoing.

1.85 “ Transition Plari’ has the meaning ascribed to that term in Se@ian

1.86 “ Treaty” has the meaning ascribed to that term in Se@iéri.

1.87 “Valid Claim” means a claim of an issued, unexpired AmicusrRaiea Program Patent (other than a FormulatidarRar
a Method of Manufacture Patent) covering i) Commhuwor ii) method of use of the Compound or a Prodgti¢***) which: (a) has not been
revoked or held unenforceable or invalid by a denisf a court or other governmental agency of cetapt jurisdiction, which decision is not
appealable or has not been appealed within thedlloeed for appeal; (b) has not been disclaimedjet or admitted to be invalid or
unenforceable through reissue, re-examinationsmaimer or otherwise; or (c) has not lapsed, lmagwelled or abandoned, or been dedicate
to the public. For purposes of this Section 1a73Formulation
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Patenf’ means a Patent primarily directed to an inventidmch is a formulation of Compound and one (1ljnarre excipients, and a “ Method
of Manufacture Pateritmeans a Patent primarily directed to an inventidrich is a method of manufacture of Compound odBct.

1.88 Construction For purposes of this Agreement: (a) words insihgular shall be held to include the plural afm:wersa as
the context requires; (b) the word “including” diriclude” shall be deemed to be followed by thegste “without limitation”or like expressio
unless otherwise specified; (c) the terms “heré€tfgrein,” “herewith,” and “hereunder,” and wordissimilar import shall, unless otherwise
stated, be construed to refer to this Agreemeatwbole and not to any particular provision of thggeement; (d) the word “will” shall be
construed to have the same meaning and effeceasdtd “shall”; and (e) all references to “Sectid@rticle,” “Schedule” and “Exhibit,”
unless otherwise specified, are intended to refer $ection, Article, Schedule or Exhibit of oithds Agreement.

. TERMINATION OF COLLABORATION AGREEMENT; MUTUAL RELE  ASE

2.1 Termination of Collaboration AgreementAs of the Second Restated Effective Date, exasmertain provisions of the First
Restated Agreement are expressly referenced aontpbmmated herein, the First Restated Agreemesetrimihated in its entirety, including all
rights and licenses granted thereunder and anwplhobligations thereunder, including, but not fied to those incurred prior to, as of or
subsequent to the Second Restated Effective Daden@rights or obligations of the First Restatege®ement shall survive such termination.
For the avoidance of doubt, this Section 2.1 of fkgreement supersedes Section 14 of the Firsaiesfgreement (including Section 14.7 of
the First Restated Agreement) and sets forth theBaentire understanding and agreement as teffieet of this termination of the First
Restated Agreement and reversion of rights to Amicu

2.2 Termination of Safety Data Exchange AgreemehBffective as of the date of the completion of tfaesfer of the regulatory
filings from GSK to Amicus in accordance with Seati3.2 and the Transition Plan, the Safety DatehBrge Agreement by and between
Amicus and GSK, dated September 15, 2011, as ardeshall be terminated.

2.3 Mutual Release Effective as of the Second Restated EffectiveeDa

€) No Party shall have any further obligation or shale any right or benefit under the First Restétgiement, and
all rights and obligations of the Parties underFiret Restated Agreement are hereby fully, finaly forever discharged.

(b) Except as specified under Section 2.5, each of Asnémd GSK, for itself, and its respective sucassand assigns,
and its Affiliates, and each of their respectiverent and former trustees, officers, directors, lyges, agents, attorneys and representatives,
does hereby irrevocably, unconditionally, fullydily and forever waive, release, remise, acquitdiacharge the other Party, together with its
respective successors and assigns, and its AdBljand each of their respective current and fotrustees, officers, directors, employees,
agents, attorneys, and representatives, from ashahmanner of obligations, covenants, promiseseutakings, claims,
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counterclaims, rights, demands, actions, suitssesof action, debts, costs, expenses, attornegs lamages, losses and liabilities, of
whatsoever character, nature and kind, whether kramwunknown, contingent or non-contingent, susgbor otherwise, which either Party
may have or claim to have against the other Partiieoother Persons identified above, in the past; or at any time in the future, based in
whole or in part upon, arising out of, in connegtigith or relating to the Compounds, Productsher®@riginal Agreement or First Restated
Agreement (collectively, “ Collaboration Clairfis

2.4 Estoppel Effective as of the Second Restated EffectiveePaach of the Parties covenants and agreed thes released the
other Party pursuant to Section 2.3 with regarithéoCollaboration Claims, and the Parties are fregtopped from instituting any lawsuit,
arbitration or administrative proceeding against Berson herein released or asserting any Colldbor@laim of any nature against any
Person herein released with respect to such Colitiba Claims.

25 Limitation . Each of the Parties acknowledges and agreesfdindie avoidance of any doubt, the foregoingualtelease
and the term “ Collaboration Claimisloes not and shall not include, and does notstwadl not extend to, any obligations, covenantsnyses,
undertakings, claims, counterclaims, rights, dersaadtions, suits, causes of action, debts, cespgnses, attorney’s fees, damages, losses ¢
liabilities, of whatsoever character, nature amdlkivhether known or unknown, contingent or nontic@ent, suspected or otherwise, based it
whole or in part upon, arising out of, in connertigith or relating to this Agreement.

M. TRANSITION PLAN; RETURN OF INFORMATION AND MATERIAL S

3.1 Transition Plan In connection with the termination of the FiRdstated Agreement and reversion of rights to Ag)iGEK
will use its Commercially Reasonable Efforts toeeffa smooth and orderly transition of the actegitdf the Program that were conducted by o
under the authority of GSK as of the Second Reastafective Date to Amicus (the_* GSK Transferredtitities”). The transition plan
governing the transition of such activities fromkat® Amicus in connection with this Agreement itaghed hereto d@xhibit A , incorporate:
herein by reference (the * Transition Plan GSK shall use its Commercially Reasonable Effoo perform the activities and provide the
deliverables set forth in the Transition Plan in@dance with the timelines set forth therein, Anticus agrees to use its Commercially
Reasonable Efforts to cooperate with GSK with resfmsuch transition activities. In addition, foperiod of ninety (90) days following the
Second Restated Effective Date, GSK will also renaaiailable to provide to Amicus such assistames 6f charge and excluding any
obligations for GSK to provide in-person assistamseAmicus reasonably requests from time to tionessist Amicus in understanding and
implementing the information and materials provitbgdGSK under the Transition Plan. Following tlee@d Restated Effective Date, and fol
a period of thirty (30) days thereafter, the Partieny amend the Transition Plan in writing by muaigaeement, or otherwise agree to include
in or remove fronExhibit B contracts to be assigned to Amicus or terminate@8i in accordance with the provisions of Sectich 4
provided that Amicus shall not be required to atesgignment of such contracts until Amicus hasedjin writing, in its discretion, whether
to accept such assignment after reviewing a trdecamplete copy of such contract (which may be ¢ethto exclude any confidential terms
unless consent to disclose is provided by the @patty to such contract).
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3.2 Transfer of Requlatory FilingsFollowing the Second Restated Effective Dateiaratcordance with the Transition Plan,
GSK will assign and transfer (or cause to be assignd transferred) to Amicus or its designeeqah¢ extent not so assignable, GSK shall
take reasonable actions to make available to Anocuts designee the benefits of) all regulatorigraissions and filings (including all INDs
and MAAs), and all modules prepared for such reguyasubmissions and filings, related to the Conmgband the Products in the Territory,
including such regulatory submissions and registnatmade or owned by GSK or its Affiliates.

3.3 Consulting Services.For a period of one (1) year from the Second &edtEffective Date, GSK will provide to Amicus a
contractual basis up to three (3) F&guivalents to consult with Amicus and to proviéetain clinical, regulatory, and CMC expertise ts@re
a smooth and orderly transition of the rights hader back to Amicus. GSK will be responsible foe £TE rate for such FTE equivalents, anc
Amicus will be responsible for reasonable incidentests and expenses, including reasonable traats @and per diem travel allowances,
incurred as a result of providing such consultiegyges to Amicus. Within a reasonable periodrogtfollowing the Second Restated
Effective Date of this Agreement, Amicus and GSldlshegotiate in good faith and enter into a déifilei consulting agreement to govern the
scope of activities and to include other usual @mstomary provisions regarding the terms and carditof such consultancy.

3.4 Return of Confidential Information No later than thirty (30) days after the SecBedtated Effective Date, each Party shall
return or cause to be returned to the other Partyaf such other Party’s request, destroy andfgsrich destruction) all Confidential
Information received from the other Party and apies thereof that are in such Party’s possesa®mwell as all biological or chemical
materials delivered or provided by the other Pastgyvided, however, that each Party may retain one (1) copy of sumhfi@ential Informatiol
received from the other Party for record purpogéstwithstanding the foregoing and subject to A€tiX| herein, Amicus may retain the
Confidential Information of GSK provided to Amicuader the Original Agreement or First Restated Agrent and may use such Confider
Information of GSK solely to the extent necessang for the purpose of exercising its rights andgrening its obligations under this
Agreement, including the continued practice ofltbenses granted to Amicus under Article IV herein.

\A LICENSES

4.1 License Grant from GSK

41.1 Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreem@SK hereby grants to Amicus an exclusive liedpgclusive
even as to GSK) under all of GSK’s rights in thed?am Improvements, Program Patents, and Co-FotimmlBroduct IP, with the right to
grant sublicenses: (i) to Develop the CompoundRmdiucts , (ii) to make, have made, and otherwiaalfhcture Compound and Products
(excluding such rights with respect to JRO51 irdiinlly or for use as part of a Co-Formulation Paifitand (iii) to use, sell, offer for sale,
import and otherwise Commercialize the CompoundRuadiucts, in each case in the Field and in thetdgy. For the avoidance of doubt, n
othing set forth herein shall be construed to gra#tmicus any rights under the Co-Formulation RidP or under any other intellectual
property rights owned or controlled by GSK as & 8econd Restated Effective Date to make, have joad¢herwise Manufacture JR0O51
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individually or for use as part of a Co-Formulati®roduct or construed to grant to Amicus any rigihtcenses to make, have made, use, sell
offer for sale, import or otherwise Develop, Maruitae, or Commercialize JR051 other than as paat©6-Formulation Product as set forth
herein. To the extent that Amicus determines $igehses may be necessary, Amicus shall have teaesponsibility, at Amicus’ sole cost
and expense, to seek such a license from JCR Pbautizals, Co. Ltd.

41.2 GSK hereby grants to Amicus a worldwide, non-exekisfully paid-up, royalty-free, right and licenseith the
right to grant sublicenses, (a) under GSK'’s andiffiiates’ rights in the Program Patents to makaye made, use, sell, offer for sale, and
import Products, and to otherwise practice andaifiie Program Improvements in the Field and enTerritory and (b) under GSK’s and its
Affiliates’ rights in the Patents within the Co-faulation Product IP to make and have made (excofudiR051), use, sell, offer for sale and
import products (excluding JR051), and to othervpisgctice and exploit the Patents within the Coridation Product IP claimed in such
Program Patents and/or Patents within the Co-Fationl Product IP. For the avoidance of doubtitenses granted from GSK to Amicus
hereunder expressly exclude the right to make wve n@gade JR0O51 individually or for use as part GfoaFormulation Product and expressly
exclude any rights with respect to JR051 other #mpart of a Co-Formulation Product as set foetteim.

4.2 Without limiting the right and licenses granted en&ections 4.1 and 4.3, GSK hereby irrevocablyenants from and after
the Second Restated Effective Date that it shallarad shall cause its Affiliates not, and durihg Co-Formulation Transition Supply Period,
shall use its reasonable efforts to cause JCRormtiig any actions, suits or claims, or causeh@ige or assist any other Third Party to bring
any actions, suits or claims, against (i) Amicust®Affiliates or (Sub)licensees, or (ii) theirspective manufacturers, importers, distributors,
wholesalers, and resellers (in the case of eattedbregoing, to the extent that such partiesaating on Amicus’ behalf under this
Agreement), or (iii) Amicus or its Affiliates’ orublicensees’ customers; in each case, alleginglieabevelopment and/or use, sale, offer for
sale, importation or other Commercialization of @@-Formulation Products in the Field in the Temgtinfringes or misappropriates or
otherwise violates any Know-How that covers oniduded in, or Patents that claim and, in each,¢hseare Controlled by GSK or any of its
Affiliates, such Development and/or the use, safier for sale, importation or other Commercialiaatactivities with respect to the Co-
Formulation Products. For the avoidance of dotliat foregoing covenants set forth in this Sectidghshall not apply with respect to any
Development, Manufacture, use, sale, offer for,daiportation or other Commercialization of JRO%1dp on behalf of any of the parties set
forth in parts (i), (ii) or (iii) above when used a monotherapy, biosimilar, or in connection veitty other product that is not a Co-Formulatior
Product.

4.3 Trademarks The Parties acknowledge and agree that as &dhend Restated Effective Date, a definitive tnaaldé has nc
been selected by the JSC for use in connectionamyhof the Products under the Program, and tleaP#rties have not entered into any
trademark licenses with respect to any such maxkslicenses or rights are granted hereunder tocAswith respect to any GSK House Mz
and, as of the Second Restated Effective Dateg tlrerno GSK Trademarks.
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4.4 Assigned Agreements The list of material Third Party contracts toigthGSK or its Affiliates is a party with respeotthe
Compound or Products, including use of such Com@aurProducts in the conduct of a clinical triad,cf the Second Restated Effective Date
is set forth orExhibit B , attached hereto (the “ Assigned Agreeméntso the extent that GSK has a right to do s &SK shall use
Commercially Reasonable Efforts to obtain suchtrighdo so, GSK will provide true and complete espodf the Assigned Agreements to
Amicus within a reasonable period of time after 8szond Restated Effective Date. Amicus may raghas GSK assign its rights in such
Assigned Agreements to Amicus on or after the Seédestated Effective Date and, to the extent tI& Gas a right to make such assignmen
and solely to the extent that such Assigned Agre¢madates solely to Compound or Products, GSK aglign, and hereby assigns, to Amicus
and Amicus will assume, and hereby assumes, 8lISK'’s rights and obligations under such Assignedefgient, including all claims for
damages by reason of past, present or future bidamith Assigned Agreement; provided, howevet, Amaicus shall not assume and shall
be liable for any obligations or liabilities of angture whatsoever of GSK, whether known or unknaearued or not accrued, fixed or
contingent, arising prior to the effective dateaefignment of such Assigned Agreement. In thetesterh assignment is not requested by
Amicus within thirty (30) days following Amicus’ ceipt of a true and complete copy of an AssigneteAment, or GSK does not have the
right to make such assignment (after GSK has usedniercially Reasonable Efforts to obtain such righassign by requesting consent of the
counterparty to such Assigned Agreement), then @8lKKerminate such Assigned Agreement to the ex¢eich Assigned Agreement relate
Compound or Products. In addition, GSK shall priynprovide notice of termination and terminate amopntract to which GSK or its Affiliate
is a party with respect to the Compound or Prodihzsis not otherwise listed Exhibit B (as may be amended by the Parties in accordance
with Section 3.1) solely to the extent such coritratates to Compound or Products (* Terminatedegrents). Upon termination of an
Assigned Agreement or termination of a Terminatgdegment, GSK shall ensure that its Affiliates ahdd Parties with whom GSK or its
Affiliates have contracted under such Assigned Agrent (if not assigned to Amicus pursuant to tleisti®n 4.4) or such Terminated
Agreement shall transition all Products back to éusiin the manner set forth herein as if such it or other Third Party were named hel

4.5 No Implied Licenses Except as expressly set forth in this Agreemeither Party shall acquire any licenses or other
intellectual property right or interest, by implfiiwan or otherwise, in any Know-How disclosed taiitder this Agreement or under any Patents
Controlled by the other Party or its Affiliates id expressly understood and agreed that thedesgranted by GSK to Amicus in this
Article 1V shall not include (i) the right to makkeave made, or otherwise Manufacture JR051, (if)limenses with respect to JR051 other thar
as component of a Geermulation Product as expressly set forth heirijii) any rights or licenses related to the GBKute B Manufacturin
Process.

V. COMMITTEES; FUTURE PATENT RIGHTS

5.1 Committees; Joint Patent SubcommitteEffective upon the Second Restated Effectiveel@édthis Agreement, the Joint
Steering Committee and all Subcommittees (other tha Joint Patent Subcommittee) shall cease &t and all obligations of the Joint
Steering Committee and such Subcommittees shdllexetusively in Amicus, including the right to m&k final decision on matters originally
within the scope of responsibilities of the Joitee3ing
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Committee or the relevant Subcommittee, as appécalNotwithstanding the foregoing, Amicus shalt have the right to terminate and
dissolve the Joint Patent Subcommittee, and th# Baitent Subcommittee shall continue in effechthe responsibilities described in, and
decisions made in accordance with, Section 4.2theofirst Restated Agreement with respect to altens relating to Patents included in
Amicus Intellectual Property, Program ImprovemePRtsgram Patents and Co-Formulation Product IRjigeal that Amicus shall make the
final decision with respect to any dispute of tbamfiPatent Subcommittee. Following the Secondded Effective Date and in accordance
with the Transition Plan, GSK shall transfer to A control of the prosecution and enforcementuohd$atents, including transferring to
Amicus all prosecution history files and other dmemts related thereto, after which Amicus may teatd and dissolve the Joint Patent
Subcommittee, and all obligations of the Joint RaBubcommittee shall vest exclusively in Amicusliding the right to make a final decis
on matters originally within the scope of respoiliies of the Joint Patent Subcommittee and tigatrio enforce such Patents with respect to
infringing activities and defend declaratory judgrhactions related thereto. Amicus shall assurspamsibility for all Patent Costs relating to
Patents included in Amicus Intellectual PropertyggPam Improvements, Program Patents and Co-FotimnlBroduct IP as of the Second
Restated Effective Date of this Agreement; provittet GSK shall bear any costs incurred in tramisfgmprosecution control of such Patent:
Amicus. At Amicus’ reasonable request, GSK stedisonably cooperate and assist Amicus by makingnaecgssary filings as required for the
prosecution and maintenance of such Patents; prditht Amicus shall reimburse GSK for any reastenabt-of-pocket costs incurred by
GSK in such cooperation or assistance. Except@essly provided in this Agreement, it is undeostthat neither Party shall have any
obligation to obtain any approval of nor pay a shafrthe proceeds to the other Party to practicEyree, license, assign or otherwise exploit
any Joint Program Patent, and each Party herebyes/any right it may have under the Laws of anyntguto require such approval or
sharing.

5.2 Assignment Without limiting Section 5.1, as of the Secorestited Effective Date, GSK shall assign and teanahd
hereby assigns and transfers, to Amicus all riggfet,and interest in and to the GSK TransferreteP@. Concurrently with the execution of
Agreement, GSK shall execute and deliver to Amibiespatent assignment agreement set forixagit C , attached hereto. Upon
assignment of the GSK Transferred Patents, all i@enfial Information of the GSK Transferred Patgetecluding specific references to JRI
to the extent such references are not and havieenoime part of the public domain through no bredc¢his Agreement) shall be treated as
Amicus-only Confidential Information under this Aggiment, notwithstanding the exceptions to the disfimof Confidential Information under
clauses (b) and (c).

5.3 Further Patent Application.To the extent that any inventions arose pricghtoSecond Restated Effective Date and during
the course of the conduct of the Program that dmuthfe reversion of rights under this Agreement Mdwave been included in the Program
Patents or Patents included within the Co-FormutaBroduct IP, but which, as of the Second Resttidtive Date, had not yet been the
subject of a patent application, such inventiorldfeincluded within the GSK Transferred Patemtd assigned and transferred to Amicus
pursuant to Section 5.2 above; provided, howeheat, Amicus will consult with GSK regarding inverghip for any patent applications
claiming such invention. Any such patents which giranted from such patent applications shall f #iseodate of issuance, be included as a
Program Patent or Patent included within the Covfedation Product IP, as applicable, hereunder.
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VI. TRANSFER OF DEVELOPMENT AND COMMERCIALIZATION ACTIV___ITIES; SUPPLY

6.1 Assumption of Development and Commercializationiitiés. As of the Second Restated Effective Date, Amghadl
assume, at Amicus’ sole cost and expense, the cooélall Development activities allocated to eitldenicus or to GSK under the applicable
then-current Development Plan and all Commerciitimaactivities for each and every Product in tlegrifory. Except as expressly set forth in
this Agreement, as of the Second Restated EffeEtate, GSK shall have no further rights or obligasi to Develop or Commercialize the
Compound or any Products in the Territory and delle no obligation to share in any costs or expeirecurred in the performance of
activities to Develop, Manufacture, and/or Commadizé the Compound or Products in the Territorgr élarity, this Section 6.1 does not
apply to Development or Commercialization actidt@mnducted by a Third Party pursuant to and inm@ance with an Assigned Agreement,
and Amicus shall assume the conduct of such aesviih accordance with the terms and conditiorsuch Assigned Agreement on the date of
assignment of such Assigned Agreement from GSKrticds in accordance with Section 4.4.

6.2 On-going Development Activities Within a reasonable period of time after thed®ecRestated Effective Date and in
accordance with the Transition Plan, GSK shall@smmercially Reasonable Efforts to cooperate withidus and/or its designee to effect a
smooth and orderly transition of the Developmetitvéies with respect to the Product(s) that wenggr to the Second Restated Effective D
allocated to GSK under the applicable Developmdant,Rafter which time GSK shall have no furtherightions with respect to the conduct of
any such Development activities. Without limititige foregoing, Amicus or its designee, at Amicusstcand expense, shall assume all of the
activities and subject to Section 4.4, contractisdiigations of GSK with respect to all Program spsgtcluding without limitation costs and
expenses for the ongoing clinical trials set fantExhibit D attached hereto. Following the transition of sanboing clinical trials to Amicus
as set forth herein, GSK shall have no furthergations with respect to the conduct of any actsitielated to any such clinical trials. For the
avoidance of doubt, except as expressly providedratise under Section 8.1, effective as of the Béd&estated Effective Date, Amicus shall
assume responsibility for all costs and expensdsafipayments due in relation to any and all sacfivities and subject to Section 4.4, under
contractual obligations of GSK with respect to soalgoing clinical trials that were initiated andeexted by GSK prior to the Second Restatet
Effective Date, and GSK shall have no obligationgelation to any payments due with respect theaftty the Second Restated Effective Date

6.3 Transition Supply . Beginning on the Second Restated Effectivie@ad for a period of the shorter of (i) twelv@)1
months thereafter, or (ii) the date upon which Ausitias obtained its own supply commitment from 3@Rhe supply of JR051, GSK will
supply to Amicus, either itself or from a Third BarJR051 (the “ Cd-ormulation Transition Supply Peridid During the Co-Formulation
Transition Supply Period, GSK shall supply JRO5Amaicus, at a price of ¥ 90M per 2000L batch plosafiocation of the costs of GSK FTEs
of USD$312,000 per 2000L batch), such quantityR5] to be agreed in writing in advance, such arsotanbe consistent with the current
amounts and timelines set forth in the research faathe Co-Formulation Development Plan duringhsperiod of time. At Amicus’ request,
GSK will fill and finish (including testing for shdlity) such quantity of JR051 into Co-FormulatiBnoduct in
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finished form as further set forth in the Transitidlan; provided that Amicus will reimburse GSK @8K’s costs and expenses to provide ¢
fill and finish services, which will not includeraark-up. Immediately after the Second Restateddiffe Date and during the Co-Formulation
Transition Supply Period, GSK will use reasonalflerts to either (A) transition to Amicus its argament with any Third Party contractor
(including JCR) for the supply of JRO51 for usaifo-Formulation Product or (B) facilitate discass between JCR or any such other Third
Party contractor and Amicus to allow Amicus to @abfaom JCR or other Third Pargontractor a supply agreement for the supply ofodR0r
use in a Co-Formulation Product. Without limitithge foregoing, within a reasonable period of timkofving the Second Restated Effective
Date of this Agreement, the Parties will negotete enter into an appropriate supply agreememt(spystomary and reasonable terms,
including representations and warranties and indféeation, for the transition supply of JR051, asdAmicus’request, the fill and finish of tl
transition supply of JR051 into Co-Formulation Rroil set forth in this Section 6.3. In additior§Ksshall supply to Amicus the Co-
Formulation Product to be re-worked in the JCR Mamoplant in finished form in accordance with ansition Plan set forth iBxhibit A ,
attached hereto.

6.4 Inventory. On the Second Restated Effective Date all ritjh, and interest in and to the Inventory in pgussession of GS
or its Affiliates shall pass to Amicus. Within @asonable period of time after the Second ResEffedtive Date, GSK shall deliver to Amicus
all quantities of Inventory in GSK’s or its Affiias’ possession to a location designated by Amisirgg a carrier selected by and paid for by
Amicus, Ex Works (Incoterms 2010) in accordancétie Transition Plan. Prior to delivery of sudkdntory, GSK and its Affiliates, as
applicable, will store and handle all Inventorytlie same manner and using the same degree ohcalraédh such Inventory was stored and
handled immediately prior to the Second RestatéecEfe Date. GSK shall not use, sell, transfeothierwise dispose of the Inventory except
as otherwise permitted under this Section 6.4, /Aamitus shall reimburse GSK for direct costs andesges related to such storage and
handling incurred by GSK or its Affiliates, as aippble, from and after the Second Restated Effeddiate. Prior to the transfer of Inventon
Amicus, GSK and Amicus shall enter into customarguinents, including an appropriate bill of saleetfjuired for the shipment of Inventory
to Amicus. All Inventory provided hereunder shadl provided “AS IS'without warranty or representations of any kinayyided however, th
all transfers of Inventory under this Section 6i# iwclude the original certificates of analysisrgerated for such Inventory. Amicus
acknowledges and agrees that such certificatesadysis include relevant data regarding the Invenét or around the date of manufacture
and, therefore, may not be reflective of the curstatus of the Inventory when transferred (given passage of time from manufacture). For
clarity, this Section 6.4 does not apply to Inventioeld in the possession of a Third Party purstmand in accordance with an Assigned
Agreement, and all right, title and interest in améuch Inventory shall pass to Amicus in accocdanith the terms and conditions of such
Assigned Agreement on the date of assignment df Agsigned Agreement from GSK to Amicus in accoogawith Section 4.4.

VII. PAYMENTS BY AMICUS

7.1 Payment Obligations Except as expressly set forth in this Agreemasnpf the Second Restated Effective Date, all®KG
payment obligations under the First Restated Agesenincluding without limitation any and all Dewpiment costs for the Monotherapy
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Product, Co-Administration Products, and Co-FormioaProducts, shall terminate and thereafter, Aimishall make the following
payments to GSK with respect to such Products:

€) Milestones PaymentsFollowing the Second Restated Effective Date, @miwill make milestone
payments to GSK with respect to each Product irEttanded Major Market Countries as set forth beléwnicus will pay to GSK the
milestone payments set out below following thet fishievement by Amicus, its Affiliate or Sublicessof each of the corresponding milest
events that are achieved after the Second Redtéfixctive Date, such milestone payment to be maderbicus to GSK no later than sixty (¢
days following the receipt of an invoice from GSiétefor. Amicus shall notify GSK in writing proniyptbut in no event later than ten
(10) calendar days after the first achievemeniagheof the following milestone events, and no icedior payment of a milestone shall be sent
by GSK to Amicus as provided herein prior to GSKasonable determination that the correspondingstoihe event has been achieved. Eac
of the following milestone payments shall be pagalily once with respect to the first Product (othan a Co-Formulation Product) to
achieve such milestone event, regardless of thébaupnf times such Product or any other Producteags the milestone event, and no
milestones shall be paid or payable by Amicus fdestone events that are not achieved after ther@kRestated Effective Date. ******,

Milestones: For Monotherapy Products andAZbministration Products:

Approval Milestone Event Milestone Payment
1 *kkkkk *kkkkk
2 *kkkkk *kkkkk
Sales Performance Milestone Milestone Payment
3 *kkkkk *kkkkk
4 *kkkkk *kkkkk

For purposes of Milestone 3 and Milestone 4 int#i®e set forth above and the calculation of thailty tiers in the table set forth in
Section 7.1(b)(i)(a) below, if the Product(s) iBduct(s) other than a Co-Formulation ProductNbeSales of all such Products in the
applicable Expanded Major Market Country shalli@uded in determining whether such Milestone heentachieved and/or the applicable
royalty tier. Without limiting the foregoing, byay of example only, if both the Monotherapy Prodarad the Co-Administration Product are
Products under this Section 7.1, Net Sales of batih Products in the applicable Expanded Major Eia@ountry shall be used in calculat



whether Milestone 3 or Milestone 4 in the tablefegh above have been achieved.

(b) Royalties.
(i) Following the Second Restated Effective Date, feord after the date of Launch of the applicable
Product in an Expanded Major Market Country, Amishall pay to GSK royalties as set forth in claaser b) of this Section 7.1(b)(i), as
applicable, based on
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the Net Sales of the applicable Product(s) duripgréicular calendar year, on a Product-by- Protasis, and country-bgeuntry basis, for th
longer of ****** (the “ Amicus Product Royalty Terri). Upon the expiration of the Amicus Product Ribyd erm for a particular Product,
and subject to Section 7.1(b)(iv)(c) below regagd@o-Formulation Products, Amicus’ license withpest to such Product as set forth in
Article IV shall become a royalty-free, fully paigs license. Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothseg forth herein shall be construed or
interpreted to grant to Amicus a royalty-free, yytlaid up license for any Cleermulation Product(s) that include JR0O51 as a @orapt of suc
Co-Formulation Product.

a) With respect to Monotherapy Products and Co-Admriai®n Products:
Net Sales of Product in an Expanded Major Market Cantry in a
particular calendar year Royalty
*kkkkk *kkkkk
*kkkkk *kkkkk
*kkkkk *kkkkk
*kkkkk *kkkkk
b) With respect to a Product that is a Co-FormulaRooduct:
Net Sales of Product in an Expanded Major Market Cantry in a
particular calendar year Royalty
*kkkkk *kkkkk
*kkkkk *kkkkk
*kkkkk *kkkkk
*kkkkk *kkkkk

(| |) *kkkkk i

(iiiy ** Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing sdorth herein shall be construed or interpreted
to grant to Amicus a royalty-free, fully-paid updnse for any intellectual property rights that@smed or Controlled by GSK or if Affiliates
with respect solely to JR0O51.

(iv) Third Party Payments
a) ******.
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b) The obligations of GSK with respect to any paymeiuts to Mount Sinai pursuant to the
Mount Sinai Agreement as a result of the ManufacturCommercialization of any Product(s) shall teate as of the Second Restated
Effective Date and thereafter Amicus shall be sodeld exclusively responsible for any and all pagte¢hat may be due to Mount Sinai
pursuant to the Mount Sinai Agreement with respethe Compounds and/or Products.

C) *rxeek For the avoidance of doubt, such paymentsedto JCR pursuant to this Section
7.1(b)(iv)(c) shall not be creditable under Secfioh(b)(iv)(a) against royalties otherwise owediBK.

(c) Other than as expressly provided for in this Agreetit is understood that the only royalties dreot
amounts payable by Amicus to GSK with respect éoDievelopment or Commercialization of Productsaarset forth in this Article VII, and
Amicus shall have no other obligations to pay td@8y amounts payable by GSK to an Affiliate or®@8K or its Affiliates to a Third Party
as a result of the Development, Manufacture or Cergralization of Products in the Field for the Tiemy.

VIII. PAYMENTS BY GSK

8.1 Within ten (10) Business Days following the Sec&estated Effective Date, GSK will pay to Amicusredime, non-
refundable payment of one million, nine hundredufand US dollars ($1,900,000) in immediately abéddunds by wire transfer to the bank
account details as specified by Amicus in writingqadvance as a ortiene settlement of all Development Costs forecastdie paid by GSK fc
Development activities between 19 November 20133nBecember 2013 under the terms of the FirstaRabtAgreement. With respect to
any Development Costs for Development activitieg ttave been incurred prior to 19 November 2013 utite terms of the First Restated
Agreement, the Parties will share such Developr@@sts in accordance with the provisions, which fmions are incorporated herein by
reference, for sharing Development Costs in Se@&iar of the First Restated Agreement and formeitiation and payment in Schedule 5.1.4
of the First Restated Agreement.

IX. PAYMENT TERMS; REPORTS

9.1 Method of Payment

9.1.1 Except as expressly set forth herein, all amouwisdoby a Party to another Party under this Agre¢rmed payabl
in cash shall be paid in U.S. dollars, by bank wiamsfer in immediately available funds to an actalesignated in an invoice from the Party
to which such payments are due, which invoice shmdlude bank details and the contact name forigsguye resolution. All amounts owed by
Amicus to GSK hereunder shall be paid by an eméigjdent in the United States from a bank accaugated in the United States.
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9.1.2 Unless otherwise expressly stated herein, all paysmaade by one Party to the other pursuant toAhieement
shall be made within sixty (60) days following rgatdoy such Party of an invoice from the other Péot such amounts.

9.2 Foreign Exchange Unless otherwise agreed by the Parties, all paysito be made by either Party to the other Render
this Agreement shall be made in United States dollin the case of any amounts payable or reckivala foreign currency, the Parties shall
use the spot exchange rate sourced from Bloombeug#rs.

9.3 Reports and Royalty PaymentCommencing with the first Quarter in which tlrstfLaunch of a Product occurs, and for
each Quarter thereafter for so long as Amicus ameyalty to GSK under Section 7.1(b), Amicus shaithin ****** after the end of the
applicable Quarter, submit to GSK, together withiéus’ payment for the royalties due under Sectidr{ty) for each Quarter, a written report
showing the actual Net Sales and the royaltiesidugach case in U.S. dollars. Such report skalhtihe format reasonably requested by C
including any such information regarding the NeeSaf such Products and calculation of such r@sltAmicus will also provide to GSK, on
a quarterly basis following the Launch of a Co-Fulation Product, a report showing any royalties tu@CR under Section 7.1(b)(iv)(c),
together with payment of any royalties due.

9.4 Amicus Records Amicus will keep, and will require its Affiliageand Sublicensees to keep, for three (3) yeans fine end
of the Quarter to which they pertain, or such lorgeriod as may be required by applicable Law, detepand accurate books of account and
records with respect to Net Sales of Productsyfficgent detail to allow amounts payable to GSKeéwnder to be determined accurately. GSk
will have the right during such three (3) year pdrio appoint an independent certified public actant reasonably acceptable to Amicus (the
GSK Auditor”) to inspect those books or records of Amicustfa purpose of determining the applicable amouaysble to GSK pursuant to
this Agreement. Upon not less than sixty (60) dpyier written notice from GSK, Amicus will makeish books and records and the books
and records of its Affiliates available (includiagy sales reports received from its Sublicensdésg®@roducts in the Territory) for inspection
by such GSK Auditor during regular business hoatsuch place or places where such records arensasty kept, for the sole purpose of
verifying the amounts payable hereunder. The G&Hlitr will disclose to GSK only the amount and aecy of payments reported and
actually paid or otherwise payable under this Agrest. The GSK Auditor will send a copy of the reago Amicus at the same time it is sent
to GSK. ******  Notwithstanding the foregoing, ithe event that GSK demonstrates sufficient cagis@)g due consideration to each of the
Parties’ resources, to support the conduct of ditiadal inspection pursuant hereto within the saalendar year, the Parties shall discuss in
good faith whether to require such additional insipa to take place; providgtiat Amicus may not unreasonably withhold its com$e such
an inspection. The GSK Auditor shall be obliga®éxecute a reasonable confidentiality agreemeot fo commencing any such inspection.
Inspections conducted hereunder shall be at thersepof GSK; providedhowever, that if the designated auditor establishes arpaymen
to GSK of ****** gr more for any period covered bihe inspection between the payments Amicus has madier this Agreement and the
payments actually owed to GSK under this Agreerfara period covered by the inspection, then Amigilsbear all reasonable costs and
expenses associated with such audit and any amondéspaid by Amicus that are established shatidié by Amicus to
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GSK, together with interest on such underpaid arteanthe rate set forth in Section 14.12. GSkeegto treat all information learned in the
course of any audit or inspection as Confidentifdimation of Amicus.

9.5 Taxes.

9.5.1 Payments hereunder shall be subject to all appécaihholding taxes. GSK warrants that GSK igsident for
tax purposes of the United Kingdom and that GS&nistled to relief from United States withholdiraxtunder the terms of the double tax
agreement between the United Kingdom and the UiSitates of America (the_* Treaty GSK shall notify Amicus immediately in writinig
the event that GSK ceases to be entitled to suigi.re

9.5.2 The Parties shall cooperate in obtaining formdiifogation of GSK’s entitlement to relief under theeaty. GSK
agrees to indemnify and hold harmless Amicus agjaimg loss, damage, expense or liability arisingrig way from a breach of the above
warranties or any future claim by a United Statesauthority alleging that Amicus was not entittedleduct withholding tax on such payme
at source at the Treaty rate. The royalty andrgihgments under this Agreement shall not be ratibgeany taxes required to be withheld by
any taxing authority outside of the United States.

9.5.3 All sums payable under this Agreement shall bewesteé of value added tax and any other sales taxés.
understood, however, that no such taxes apply undeent Law to payments hereunder. To the exeptsuch taxes apply, the Parties agree
that, where appropriate, the Parties shall progaih other with a valid tax invoice, and againshsnvoice, the Parties shall pay the amoul
any such tax to the other Party. Should such atsafrtax be refunded subsequently by the fisctdaities, the Party receiving the refund
shall immediately notify the other Party and refihese monies within thirty (30) days of receipso€h funds.

X. NON-COMPETE

10.1 Non-Compete ******,
XI. CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION

11.1 Confidentiality.

11.1.1  During the Term and for five (5) years thereafeach Party will keep, and cause its Affiliates Sudblicensees, if
any, to keep confidential all Confidential Inforrwat of the other Party, and neither Party, nor ainys Affiliates or Sublicensees, if any, will
use or disclose the Confidential Information of thieer Party except as expressly permitted inAgi®ement. The Parties acknowledge that
Confidential Information may have been disclosectitlyer Party or its Affiliates to the other Paotyits Affiliates pursuant to the
Confidentiality Agreement. All information discled pursuant to the Confidentiality Agreement wéldeemed Confidential Information of
disclosing Party within the meaning of this Agreeina&nd subject to the terms hereof.
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11.1.2 The fact that a particular item of information @ 1or has ceased to be Confidential Informatiowiblyie of one or
more of the exclusions specified in the definitafrConfidential Information (the “ Excluded Itefhshall not relieve the Party who obtained or
received the Excluded Item from that Party’s ollyaof confidentiality and nomse (a) as to any other item of Confidential Infation of the
other Party or (b) as to the relationship of thelkaed Item to any other item of Confidential Infation of the other Party.

11.1.3 Each Party hereby acknowledges that the Confiddnfarmation of the other Party is highly valuappeoprietary,
and confidential and that any use or disclosuth@fbther Party’s Confidential Information, incladiany disclosures made to any Person or
governmental agency in connection with the condfiet clinical study pursuant to a Development Plaill,be made only to the extent
reasonably necessary to carry out such Party’©rsdpilities or exercise the rights granted toreserved by it, under this Agreement. Any
disclosure of the other Party’s Confidential Infation shall be made to an officer, employee, agamermitted Sublicensee or contractor of ¢
Party or any of its Affiliates only if such officeemployee, agent, or permitted Sublicensee isnméd of the confidential nature thereof and
shall have agreed to hold such information in aterfice and not to use such Confidential Informatiotier confidentiality provisions at least
stringent as those provided in this Agreement,eath Party shall be responsible for any breachiaf sbligation of confidentiality by its or
Affiliates officers, employees, agents, permittet®ensees and/or contractors.

11.1.4 The Parties agree that the obligations of thisiSed1.1 are necessary and reasonable in ordeotegp the
Parties’ respective businesses, and that monetanages alone may be inadequate to compensateyddtahy breach by the other Party or
any of its Affiliates or their respective officeesnployees, or agents of its covenants and agrdasrsenforth herein. The Parties agree that ar
breach or threatened breach of this Section 11ylaaase irreparable injury to the injured Partyvitnich damages may not be an adequate
remedy and that, in addition to any other remetfiasmay be available, in Law and equity or otheeysuch Party will be entitled to seek
equitable relief against the breach or threatemeddh of the provisions of this Section 11.1.

11.2 Confidential Terms; Required Disclosurd=ach Party agrees not to disclose to any ThartlyRhe terms of this Agreement
without the prior written consent of the other Rdrereto, except each Party may disclose the tefriiss Agreement to its advisors (including
financial advisors, attorneys and accountantsijighar potential acquisition partners or privatesistors, and others on a need to know basis,
each case under appropriate confidentiality prowmsisubstantially equivalent to those in this Agreet. A Party will be entitled to disclose
the terms of this Agreement and/or Confidentiabinfation of the disclosing Party where such disgless reasonably necessary to prosecute
or defend any litigation or otherwise enforce igghts pursuant to this Agreement, or where demanduch disclosure is made on such Par
otherwise required pursuant to: (i) a valid ordea court or other governmental body or (ii) anlgeatapplicable Law; providetthat if such
Party, as the receiving Party, intends to make slistiosure or receives such demand, to the ekteray legally do so, the receiving Party
shall give the disclosing Party prompt notice téte enable the disclosing Party to seek a priviecrder or other appropriate remedy
concerning any such disclosure. The receivingyRuitt co-operate with the disclosing Party at thisclosing Party’s expense in connection
with the disclosing Party’s efforts to obtain amgls order or other remedy. If any such order beotemedy does not fully preclude
disclosure, the receiving
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Party will make such disclosure only to the extbat such disclosure is legally required and suligeconfidentiality, to the extent available.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Parties agreeddk together to prepare a redacted version sfAlgireement to be filed by Amicus with t
United States Securities Exchange Commission.

11.3 Publications Following the Second Restated Effective Datejdus shall have the right to publish manuscripbstiacts, o
other articles in scientific journals, or to makey gublic presentations with respect thereto, [r@rtg to a Product in the Territory, subject to
the following:

11.3.1  With respect to any presentations, publicationstrabts, or conferences regarding the subject maittbe
Nov. 2013 World Congress Abstract on which Nickrea (GSK) is listed as an author, Amicus shall fre¥o GSK such proposed manusc
(including abstracts, or presentation to a joureditor, meeting, seminar or other third partyporposed presentation for GSK'’s review and
comments at least forty-five (45) days (or fourt€bh) days for any abstract submitted to a confa¥anr presentation to be made at a
conference) prior to submission of such proposeduseript for publication and shall reasonably cdesiall comments of GSK with respect
thereto. GSK shall confirm receipt of such progbs®nuscript. Amicus shall delete from the propasediuscript prior to submission all
Confidential Information of GSK that GSK identifissgood faith and requests to be deleted. Améhadl not publish or present any
manuscripts described in this Section 11.3.1 withio& prior written consent of GSK, not to be usiably withheld.

11.3.2 The foregoing shall not prohibit or prevent GSKnfrpublishing any GSK-only Confidential Informatiaar,
Amicus from publishing any Amicus-only Confidentlaformation, in each case without the prior writtnsent of the other Party.

11.3.3 For the avoidance of doubt and notwithstandingdhegoing, GSK shall have the right to publish tesults of any
work undertaken under the Program with respecttoryfFDisease generally, any work conducted by G 8K mespect to technology
advancements, and any results of any non-prodecifspwork conducted by GSK, its Affiliates, orl@boration partners, in any case, that
does not include any Amicus-only Confidential Imf@tion.

11.4 Press ReleaseThe Parties have agreed upon a joint press eelegarding the subject matter of this Agreemdtached
hereto agxhibit F , and incorporated herein by reference. In adujtibe Parties agree to cooperate and agree awotient of any
presentations to be made by Amicus with respettteésubject matter of such press release, inclualiygpresentations, publications, or future
press releases that Amicus may make with respehbetsubject matter of this Agreement.

XIl. REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES; INDEMNIFICATION AND _ LIMITATION OF LIABILITY

121 Representations and Warranties of Both Pariesicus and GSK each hereby represent and warrahetother, as of the
Second Restated Effective Date, as follows:
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12.1.1 Itis a corporation, duly organized, validly exigtiand in good standing under the laws of thedigi®n of its
incorporation and has all requisite power and aitihacorporate or otherwise, to conduct its busgias now being conducted, to own, lease
and operate its properties and to execute, dedindrperform this Agreement.

12.1.2 No consent, approval, order or authorization ofegistration, declaration or filing with, any gomeental agency
is required to be obtained or made by or with resfesuch Party in connection with its executidelivery and performance of this Agreem

12.1.3 The execution, delivery and performance by it & thgreement and the transactions contemplateeblydrave
been duly authorized by all necessary corporaieraend stockholder action and will not (i) violatey applicable Laws or (i) result in a
breach of or constitute a default under any mdtageeement, mortgage, lease, license, permitt@ranstrument or obligation to which it is a
party or by which it or its properties may be boumdaffected.

12.2 Representations and Warranties of GS&SK hereby represents and warrants to Amicusf e Second Restated
Effective Date, as follows:

12.2.1 It has the full right, power and authority to entgo this Agreement and to grant the licensesntcds as
purported to be granted pursuant to this AgreemBotrights from JCR (including any GSK In-Licenddckground ERT IP) are necessary tc
grant to Amicus the rights and licenses as purgdddéebe granted pursuant to this Agreement.

12.2.2 It has not previously granted any right, licens@nterest in or to the Co-Formulation Product IBttis in conflict
with the rights or licenses granted to Amicus urties Agreement. Except as otherwise may have bsetosed by GSK to Amicus prior the
Second Restated Effective Date, GSK has not regeiviten notice from any Third Party that (a) thanufacture, sale, importation or use of
JRO051, as JRO51 exists as of the Second Restdtatdit# Date, as incorporated into a Co-Formulaiooduct as contemplated immediately
prior to the Second Restated Effective Date, igmor misappropriates any Third Party rights.

12.2.3 As of the Second Restated Effective Date, GSK Ha®ase from JCR to provide to Amicus the supgdlyR051 ol
JRO51 as incorporated into a Co-Formulation Prodactet forth herein.

12.2.4 To GSK's knowledge, there are no investigationguiries, actions or other proceedings pending lecdory
Regulatory Authority in the Territory with respeotthe CoFormulation Product(s), including JR051, as JR0G4t& as of the Second Resta
Effective Date, and GSK has not received writteticeathreatening any such investigation, inquigtjan or other proceeding.

12.2.5 The Development of the Co-Formulation Product®luding JR051, as JR0O51 exists as of the Secorthted
Effective Date, by or on behalf of GSK (and exchglany such Development by or on behalf of Amidwas been, to the knowledge of GSK,
conducted in compliance in all material respecth wll applicable Laws; and GSK has no knowledgs #imy of
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its Affiliates or Third Party collaborators or coattors has developed the Eormulation Product(s), including JR051, as JR0O&4tg as of th
Second Restated Effective Date, in a manner theg dot comply in all material respects with all laggble Laws.

12.2.6  There are no agreements to which GSK or its Af8lig a party, to GSK’s knowledge, that would prev@SK
from materially performing its obligations undeisthgreement, and there are no agreements to V@8 or its Affiliate is a party that would
prevent Amicus from exercising the rights under endccordance with the licenses granted by GSKnicus herein.

12.2.7 None of the information disclosed or statementsenadGSK in connection with the First Restated A&gnent or
this Agreement relating to JR051, as JR051 exssts the First Restated Effective Date or Seconstded Effective Date, respectively, and/ot
to GSK's relationship with JCR as it relates to GsSKght to supply to Amicus JR051 or JR051 as iposated into a Co-Formulation Product
as set forth herein, contain any untrue statenfeataaterial fact or omitted to state any mateiat that would adversely affect Amicugjhts
and licenses under this Agreement or, to GSK'’s kadge, would be material to Amicudé&cision to enter into this Agreement and to urade
the commitments and obligations set forth herein.

12.2.8 To GSK’s knowledge as of the Second Restated Effective, Datmaterial data or other material informatigists
concerning JR0O51, as JRO51 exists as of the SdResihted Effective Date, that has not been distlbge5SK to Amicus and that would
adversely affect Amicus’ rights and licenses untier Agreement or, to GSK’s knowledge, would beemnat to Amicus’ decision to enter into
this Agreement and to undertake the commitmentsoaitidations set forth herein.

12.3 Mutual Limitations on Warranties OTHER THAN THE REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES M2E BY THE
PARTIES PURSUANT TO SECTIONS 12.1 AND 12.2, THE PARS DISCLAIM ANY AND ALL OTHER REPRESENTATIONS AND
WARRANTIES WHETHER EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, INCLUDING ANREPRESENTATIONS OR WARRANTIES OF NON-
INFRINGEMENT, MERCHANTABILITY, OR FITNESS FOR A PARICULAR PURPOSE OR ANY REPRESENTATIONS OR
WARRANTY ARISING FROM COURSE OF DEALING OR USAGE ORRADE.

12.4 Indemnification.



12.4.1 Indemnification of Amicus GSK shall indemnify and hold harmless each ofims, its Affiliates and the directol
officers, stockholders and employees of such estéind the successors and assigns of any of #ngofog (the “ Amicus Indemniteé&y from
and against any and all (i) Liabilities from angiohs, actions, suits or proceedings brought byiedTParty (a “ Third Party Clairt) incurred
by any Amicus Indemnitee, to the extent arisingrfror occurring as a result of: (a) activitiesatiglg to the Development or use of any
Compound and Products by GSK, its Affiliates, Sedalisees, or subcontractors in the Territory ag pfior to the Second Restated Effective
Date; (b) any material breach of any representatiaarranties by GSK in Sections 12.1 and 12.2 apand/or (c) to the extent that such Thirc
Party Claims include a claim that JR051 in the feupplied by GSK to Amicus pursuant to this Agreetar the First Restated Agreement,
when used by Amicus or GSK or their respectivelisfies or Sublicensees in a Co-Formulation Prodcitifringes or misappropriates such
Third Party’s intellectual property rights; in eacdise except to the extent such Third Party Cléahsvithin the scope of Amicus’
indemnification obligations set forth in
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Section 12.4.2 below or result from the gross meglce or intentional misconduct of an Amicus Inditean

12.4.2 Indemnification of GSK Amicus shall indemnify and hold harmless eacB8K, its Affiliates and Sublicensees
and the directors, officers and employees of G&KAffiliates and Sublicensees and the successmtassigns of any of the foregoing (the “
GSK Indemniteed), from and against (i) any and all Liabilitieofn any Third Party Claims incurred by any GSK Indéeg, to the extent
arising from, or occurring as a result of: (a) wties relating to the Development or use of anynpound and Products by Amicus, its
Affiliates, Sublicensees or subcontractors in teerifory, and relating to Commercialization of @dgmpound and Products by Amicus, its
Affiliates, Sublicensees or subcontractors in tleerifory; or (b) activities relating to the Manufare of any Compound or Products (other thar
the CoFormulation Product) by Amicus, its Affiliates, Sigensees, or subcontractors; in each case excéipe textent such Third Party Clali
(i) fall within the scope of GSK'’s indemnificatia@bligations set forth in Section 12.3 above orr@8ult from the gross negligence or
intentional misconduct of an GSK Indemnitee.

12.4.3 Procedure A Party that intends to claim indemnificationden this Article XII (the “ Indemnite®) shall promptly
notify the other Party (the_* Indemnitty in writing of the assertion or the commencemeritifd Party Claim and will provide the Indemni
such information with respect thereto that the mdiéor may reasonably request. The Indemnitorl $feaéntitled to control and appoint lead
counsel for such defense, in each case at its sgpdhthe Indemnitor shall assume the contrahefdefense of any Third Party Claim in
accordance with the provisions of this Section 12.the Indemnitor shall obtain the prior consdrthe Indemnitee (which shall not be
unreasonably withheld) before entering into anyleseent of such Third Party Claim. The failured@iver written notice to the Indemnitor
within a reasonable time after the commencemeanhgfaction with respect to a Third Party Claim khat relieve the Indemnitor of its
obligations under this Article XIl unless the delayfailure is prejudicial to its ability to defemdich action. The Indemnitee under this
Section 12.4.3 shall cooperate fully with the Inaétior and its legal representatives in the invesian of any action with respect to a Third
Party Claim covered by this indemnification.

12.5 Disclaimer of Consequential DamagetfN NO EVENT WILL EITHER AMICUS OR GSK BE LIABLETO THE OTHER
FOR ANY SPECIAL, INDIRECT, CONSEQUENTIAL, INCIDENTR, OR PUNITIVE DAMAGES ARISING UNDER OR AS A RESULT
OF THIS AGREEMENT (OR THE TERMINATION HEREOF) INCLDING, BUT NOT LIMITED TO, THE LOSS OF PROSPECTIVE
PROFITS OR ANTICIPATED SALES; PROVIDED HOWEVER THANOTHING IN THIS SECTION 12.5 SHALL BE DEEMED TO
LIMIT THE INDEMNIFICATION OBLIGATIONS OF EITHER PARTY UNDER SECTIONS 12.1 THROUGH 12.3 ABOVE TO THE
EXTENT A THIRD PARTY RECOVERS ANY SPECIAL, INDIRECTCONSEQUENTIAL, INCIDENTAL, OR PUNITIVE DAMAGES
FROM AN INDEMNITEE.

XII. EQUITY INVESTMENT

13.1 Potential Equity Investmentln the event that Amicus raises a strategic peipdacement equity round with Third Party
investors concurrently with the execution of this
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Agreement, or raises a public financing round prigate placement equity round at any time durlmgperiod of time beginning on the Seci
Restated Effective Date and closing ninety (90)sdhgreafter, GSK agrees to participate in suadmfimg round and to purchase pro-rata
shares (up to and capped at three million dolBBsOM) of new Amicus equity to GSK, provided GSKiwnership of Amicus does not exce
and would not upon the close of such additionaltgqound exceed, 19.9%) at the price of the nexwnhd of Amicus strategic equity, which, if
such equity purchase is part of a private placemenid be at a discount to the market price ondtite of the equity transaction; provided in
each case that such share offer to GSK is offene@rns no worse than on par with other investartigipating in the proposed strategic eq
round, except that GSK shall have no obligatioadree to a vote-along provision, and provided &irthat such proposed equity round is
raised and closes within ninety (90) days of theo8d Restated Effective Date of this AgreementKG®bligation to participate in any such
equity round raised by Amicus will lapse after njng0) days if Amicus does not raise such equatynd during this time. In no event will
GSK's lock-up period under such purchase of Amghares in connection with such strategic equitydoexceed six (6) months.

XIV. MISCELLANEOUS

141 Governing Law. For all matters other than the scope and vglifitPatents, this Agreement shall be deemed te baen
made in the State of Delaware and its form, exeauytralidity, construction and effect shall be detimed in accordance with the laws of the
State of Delaware, without giving effect to thengiples of conflicts of law thereof and the Partiggee to the personal jurisdiction of and
venue in any federal or state court located in Wata. The application of the United Nations Coniganfor Contracts for the International
Sales of Goods is hereby expressly excluded.

14.2 Dispute Resolution

14.2.1 The Parties agree that with respect to any dismrisig with respect to the interpretation, breastforcement,
termination or validity of this Agreement (for tharposes of this Section 14.2, each_a * Dispytthe Dispute shall first be presented to the
Chief Executive Officer of Amicus and the GSK Cinaén of Research and Development, or their respgedigignees for resolution. If the
Amicus Chief Executive Officer and GSK ChairmarR&search and Development, or their respective desgj cannot resolve the Dispute
within thirty (30) days of the request to do sahei Party may initiate arbitration proceedingshwispect thereto as provided in Section 14.2.
below. Prior to the establishment of an arbitratigbunal, Amicus and GSK shall each have thetrigtapply to any court of competent
jurisdiction for appropriate interim or provisionalief, as necessary to protect the rights or @rypof that Party

14.2.2  Any Dispute shall be finally resolved by arbitratim accordance with the Commercial Arbitration éaubf the
American Arbitration Association (* AAA) then in effect (the * Rule¥, except as modified herein. The place of adbitm shall be
Wilmington, Delaware. If the amount in controveisy$50 million or less, there shall be one (1)trediand impartial arbitrator who shall be
agreed upon by the Parties within twenty (20) d#fy®ceipt by respondent of a copy of the demamndrbitration. If the amount in
controversy is more than $50 million, there shalkhree (3) arbitrators, of whom each Party shdbint one (1) within thirty (30) days of the
receipt
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by the respondent of the demand for arbitratiohe #wo (2) arbitrators so appointed shall selebira (37 ) arbitrator as the chair of the
arbitral tribunal within thirty (30) days of the puntment of the second arbitrator. If any arlddras not appointed within the time limit
provided herein, such arbitrator shall be appoifgthe AAA in accordance with the listing, strigirand ranking procedures in the Rules.
Any arbitrator appointed by the AAA shall be aroatey with no less than fifteen (15) years of eigrere with commercial cases and an
experienced arbitrator, who shall, if practicalblaye substantial experience with transactionsspules related to the field of pharmaceutical
products and/or, if applicable, intellectual prdper

14.2.3 Inthe case of any Dispute which may be submitbearbitration hereunder, the procedures of thigiGed4.2.3
shall apply. Arbitration with respect to all sudlsputes shall be a “baseball” type arbitrationamiag that, following all permitted discovery
and in accordance with procedures otherwise deteintby the arbitrator, each Party shall preparesabdhit to the arbitrator and the other
Party a written report setting forth its final pioen with respect to the substance of the dispard,each party may submit a revised report and
position within 15 (fifteen) days of receiving thther party’s report. The arbitrator shall theleseone of the Party’s positions as his or her
final decision and shall not have authority to remany substantive decision other than to so stiegposition of either GSK or Amicus. The
Parties and the arbitrator shall use all reasoneffidets to complete any such arbitration with exggo a Dispute within ninety (90) days.

14.2.4  The arbitral tribunal is not empowered to award dges in excess of compensatory damages, and edgh Pa
hereby irrevocably waives any right to recover guaj exemplary, multiple or similar damages wiglspect to any Dispute. Any arbitration
proceedings, decision, or award rendered herewardkthe validity, effect, and interpretation oftlarbitration provision shall be governed by
the Federal Arbitration Act, 9 U.S.C. 81 et sedpe Tecision of the arbitral tribunal shall be inting and, if applicable, shall state the findings
of fact and conclusions of law on which it is basdthe decision of the arbitral tribunal shall beaf and binding upon the Parties regarding the
applicable Dispute presented to the arbitral trddurdudgment upon the decision of the arbitralinal may be entered in any court having
jurisdiction. The arbitration proceedings and dleeision of the arbitral tribunal shall not be madélic without the joint consent of the Part
and each Party shall maintain the confidentialftguich proceedings and decision unless each Pdwywaise agrees in writing; providéiat
either Party may make such disclosures as are ftedhfior Confidential Information of the other Baunder Article XI above. The Parties
agree that they shall share equally the cost oathiration filing and hearing fees, and the afghe arbitral tribunal and administrative fee:
the AAA. Each Party shall bear its own costs aariaeys’ and witnesses’ fees and associated eostgxpenses. The arbitral tribunal shall
have full authority to grant provisional remediesido direct the Parties to request that any aoedify or vacate any temporary or prelimin
relief issued by such court.

14.2.5 The Parties hereby submit to the exclusive jurisolicof the federal and state courts located iraldare for the
purpose of an order to compel arbitration, foripnelary relief in aid of arbitration, or for a pielinary injunction to maintain the status quo or

prevent irreparable harm prior to the appointménhe arbitrators, and to the non-exclusive jusidn of such courts for the enforcement of
any award issued hereunder. The Parties hereky adgaccept service of process pursuant to theenptovisions of this Agreement.
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14.3 Assignment and Binding Effect

14.3.1 This Agreement may not be assigned, by operatidavobr otherwise, by either Party without the prigitten
consent of the other, except as otherwise permittekbr this Section 14.3:

(a) Amicus may assign this Agreement to an Affiliate@a Third Party without such prior written consas
part of a merger, consolidation, sale, or transfell or substantially all its assets, but onlytié assignee has or simultaneously acquires all o
the necessary rights and other assets to perforinusihobligations under this Agreement.

(b) GSK may assign this Agreement to any Affiliate with the prior written consent of Amicus. GSK may
also assign this Agreement to a Third Party asqfaatmerger, consolidation, sale, or transferliobrasubstantially all its assets, without the
prior written consent of Amicus, but only if thesagmee has or simultaneously acquires all of tleesgary rights and other assets to perform
GSK's obligations under this Agreement.

14.3.2 No assignment under this Section 14.3 shall bec&éffe unless the intended assignee executes aiveideto the
Party which is not the assignor a writing wheréty assignee expressly undertakes to perform anglgamith all of its assignor’s obligations
hereunder. Notwithstanding such undertaking, swstignor shall continue to be primarily liable $och assignee’s performance hereof and
compliance herewith.

14.3.3  Any assignment in violation of this Section 14.alsbe void and of no effect.

14.3.4  This Agreement, and the rights and obligationsefRarties herein contained, shall be binding upod,shall inur
to the benefit of, the Parties and their respedégal representatives, successors and permitsginas

14.4 Independent Contractor Statu§ he relationship of the Parties is that of inelegient contractors. Nothing in this Agreement
will be construed to constitute, create, give dffecotherwise imply a joint venture, agency, parghip or other formal business organizatic
any employer/employee relationship of any kind leetwthe Parties.

14.5 Notices. All notices, requests and other communicati@ugiired or permitted to be given hereunder or véipect hereto
will be in writing and in English, and may be givien (i) personal service, (ii) registered firstadamail, postage prepaid, return receipt
requested, (iii) express delivery service, chaggepaid, or (iv) facsimile (complete transmissi@mified and a copy promptly sent by another
permissible method of providing notice describedlauses (i), (ii) or (iii) above) and in each casressed to the other Party at the addre:
such Party as set forth below, and shall be effectpon receipt in the case of clauses (i), (iiifie) above, and five days after mailing in the
case of clause (ii) above.

If to GSK; Glaxo Group Limitec
980 Great West Roe
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With a copy tc

If to Amicus;

With a copy tc

The address of either Party set forth above maghbaged from time to time by written notice in thanner prescribed herein from
the Party requesting the change.

14.6 Further Assurances The Parties will execute and deliver any furthieadditional instruments or documents and perfany

Brentford, Londor

TW8 9GS

United Kingdom

Facsimile: +44 (020) 804 769(
Attention: Company Secreta

GlaxoSmithKline

980 Great West Roe

Brentford, Londor

TW8 9GS

United Kingdom

Facsimile: +44 (0) (208) 0-0641
Attention: Head, GSK Rare Diseas

And

GlaxoSmithKline

2301 Renaissance Boulev:

Mail Code RN022(

King of Prussia, PA 194C

Facsimile: (610) 7&-7084

Attention: Vice President and Associate General
Counsel, Legal Operations — Business Development
Transaction:

Amicus Therapeutics, Ini

1 Cedar Brook Drivt

Cranbury, New Jersey 085
Attention: John F. Crowle
Chairman and Chief Executive Offic
Facsimile: +1 (609) 6¢-2001

Wilson Sonsini Goodrich & Rose
650 Page Mill Roa

Palo Alto CA 9430-1050
Attention: Kenneth A. Clark, Esi
Facsimile: +1 (650) 4¢-6811

acts which may be reasonably necessary in ordefféotuate and carry out the purposes of this Agerd.
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14.7 Waivers. The waiver by either Party of a default or adloieof any provision of this Agreement by the otRarty will not
operate or be construed to operate as a waivaryo$absequent default or breach. The continuedmeance by either Party with knowledge
of the existence of a default or breach will no¢i@ge or be construed to operate as a waiver oflafault or breach. Any waiver by a Party of
a particular provision or right will be in writingyill be as to a particular matter and, if appliealfor a particular period of time and will be
signed by such Party.

14.8 Entire Agreement From and after the Second Restated Effective Dhis Agreement constitutes the entire agreement
between the Parties with respect to the subjediemia¢reof, and supersede and replace all pri@eagents and negotiations with respect to
such subject matter from and after the Second ResEffective Date, including the First Restateddgment except as certain provisions of
the First Restated Agreement are expressly refeckand incorporated herein.

14.9 Severability. If any provision in this Agreement is deemedbéo or becomes, invalid, illegal, void or unenfatske under
applicable Laws, then: (i) it will be deleted witsspect to the applicable jurisdiction(s) to whitlth Law pertains and the validity, legality anc
enforceability of the remaining provisions of tligreement shall not be impaired or affected in a&ay, and (ii) the Parties will use
Commercially Reasonable Efforts to substitute ffierihivalid, illegal or unenforceable provision didalegal and enforceable provision which
conforms as nearly as possible with the origintdrihof the Parties.

14.10 Counterparts This Agreement may be executed in more thanconaterpart, each of which shall be deemed to be an
original but all of which taken together shall lseched a single instrument. A facsimile transmissithe signed Agreement will be legal and
binding on both Parties.

14.11 Force Majeure Neither Party to this Agreement will be liabte failure or delay in the performance of any efabligations
hereunder (other than the failure to pay moniesd)wiesuch failure or delay is due to acts of Gedrthquakes, fires, strikes, acts of war
(whether declared or not), terrorism, civil unrestintervention of any governmental authority oy @ther event or occurrence beyond the
reasonable control of such Party (a “ Force Majé&went”), but any such delay or failure will be remedl®dsuch Party as soon as practicable
after the removal of the cause of such failureadayl Upon the occurrence of Force Majeure EvbitParty failing or delaying performance
will promptly notify the other Party in writing, #ang forth the nature of the occurrence, its expeéduration and how such Pagyerformanc
is affected, and the Party failing or delaying perfance will use its Commercially Reasonable Eftatavoid or remove the causes of non-
performance and shall continue performance withuth@st dispatch whenever such causes are removed.

14.12 Interest on Late Paymentdf any Party fails to pay in full on or befotgetdate due any royalty, fee or other amount that i
required to be paid to the other Party under tlijise@ment, the paying Party will also pay to theeofarty (or its designee) interest at a rate
equal to: (i) the prime rate as reported by Citlbhl.A., plus two percent (2%) per year; or (iijafver, the maximum rate permitted by law;
calculated on the number of days such paymentiisqient, compounded annually and computed on éséskof a three hundred sixty five
(365) day year.
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14.13 Cumulative Remedies Unless otherwise set forth in this Agreementiights and remedies of the Parties, including all
rights to payment, rights of termination, rightsnunctive relief, and other rights provided untleis Agreement, shall be cumulative and in
addition to all other remedies provided for in tAgreement, in law, and in equity.

14.14 Amendment This Agreement may not be amended, supplemaenmtetherwise modified except by an instrument iiting
signed by both Parties that specifically referthie Agreement.

14.15 Headings and Referenced\ll section headings contained in this Agreemastfor convenience of reference only and will
not affect the meaning or interpretation of thisdgment.

14.16 No Strict Construction This Agreement has been prepared jointly anbnail be strictly construed against either Party.

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties hereto, intendmbé legally bound hereby, have caused this SeResthted Agreement to be
executed by their duly authorized representatives.

AMICUS THERAPEUTICS, INC. GLAXO GROUP LIMITED
By: /s/ John F. Crowle By: /s/ Balbir Kelly-Bisia
Name: John F. Crowle Name:Balbir Kelly-Bisia
Title:  Chairman & CEC Title: Corporate Directo
Date: November 19, 201 Date: November 19, 201
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Schedule 1.48

Inventory
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Exhibit A
Transition Plan
*kkkkk
*rrekk - Material has been omitted and filed sepagty with the Commission.

2




6.

Exhibit B
Assigned Agreements
Task Order by and between PPD Development IncGlagoSmithKline LLC, effective from January 1, 20d1itil December 3:
2014, and incorporating by reference the terms@flanuary 2011 Master Agreement between PPD DOmwelat Inc. and
GlaxoSmithKline LLC.
Master Agreement by and between Celerion, Inc.@ladoSmithKline LLC, effective 28, January 2009.

Master Services Agreement for the Provision of Riaaeutical Support Services by and between GlaxiBiirie LLC and
Almac Group Limited, effective 21 June 2012.

Pharmaceutical Development Services Agreement dybatween Carbogen AMCIS AG and GlaxoSmithKlinedesh and
Development Ltd., effective June 16, 2011.

Pharmaceutical Development Services Agreement dybatween Carbogen AMCIS AG and GlaxoSmithKlinedesh and
Development Ltd., effective September 28, 2011.

Contract Manufacture Agreement for Active Pharmécaliingredient of Medicinal Product Migalastat Hy and between
Carbogen AMCIS AG and GlaxoSmithKline Export Lteffective December 14, 2011.
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Exhibit C

Patent Assignment Agreement

THIS PATENT ASSIGNMENT AGREEMENT (this “ Patent Agament”) is made and entered into as of November 19, Z013
Patent Assignment Effective DafebetweenAmicus Therapeutics, Inc., a Delaware corporation having a place of busim¢d Cedar Brook
Drive, Cranbury, New Jersey, 08512 (* Amicusr “ Assignee”) , andGlaxo Group Limited , a company organized under the laws of
England and Wales with its registered office adsleg<980 Great West Road, Brentford, Middlesex, TS , England (* GSK or “ Assignot

.

BACKGROUND

A. Assignor and Assignee are partieth&b certain Second Restated Agreement (* Secosthieel Agreemeri), dated as of
November 19, 2017 Second Restated Effective Dddepursuant to which Assignor and Assignee haweed to terminate the First Restated
Agreement, as set forth in, and subject to thedeand conditions of, the Second Restated Agreeneptpvide for, among other matters, the
reversion all of the worldwide rights to the Compdwand Products to Amicus . Capitalized terms umdin and not otherwise defined hereir
shall have the meanings respectively ascribeddb sapitalized terms in the Second Restated Agretrard

B. Pursuant to Section 5.2 of the Sed®estated Agreement, Assignor and Assignee haezddghat Assignor shall assign to
Assignee and Assignee shall acquire all right tithd interest in and to the GSK Transferred Patent

NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of thenpises and the mutual covenants contained herednfoarother good and
valuable consideration, the receipt, adequacy egal lsufficiency of which are hereby acknowleddbd,parties do hereby agree as follows:

1 Assignment Assignor hereby perpetually, irrevocably andanditionally assigns, transfers, conveys and se&ts i
Assignee and its successors, assigns and othéréggasentatives all of Assignor’s rights, titeesd interests in and to the GSK Transferred
Patents and the inventions disclosed therein, begetith all additions, divisions, continuationsptinuations-in-part, substitutions, reissues, ri
examinations, extensions, registrations, patem tensions, supplemental protection certificates renewals of any of the foregoing
(collectively, the “ Transferred Pateri)sfor Assignee’s own use and enjoyment, and lierise and enjoyment of Assignee’s successors,
assigns or other legal representatives, as fulliyeamirely as the same would have been held armyedjby Assignor if this assignment had not
been made, together with all income, royaltiesaympents due or payable as of the Patent AssignEféettive Date or thereafter, including,
without limitation, all claims for damages by reasuf past, present or future infringement of thar&ferred Patents, with the right to sue for
and collect the same for Assignee’s own use aralyergnt and for the use and enjoyment of its suotesassigns or other legal
representatives.

2 Terms of the Second Restated Agreémslothing herein will, or will be deemed to, moddr otherwise affect any
provisions of the Second Restated Agreement octafiemodify any of the rights or obligations ottparties under the Second Restated
Agreement. In
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the event of any conflict or inconsistency betwtenterms of the Second Restated Agreement anéins hereof, the terms of the Second
Restated Agreement shall govern.

3 Further Actions Assignor agrees to execute such documents, rendh assistance, and take such other actionsgrkse
may reasonably request, to apply for, registerfggérconfirm, and protect Assignee’s rights in Thansferred Patents, including, without
limitation, the execution and delivery of any aficaffidavits, declarations, oaths, samples, exkjland other documentation as may be
reasonably required in connection with (a) prepanaand prosecution of any application for patewtgction relating to any of the Transferred
Patents that Assignee may deem appropriate thabmagcured under the laws now or hereafter ircieificthe United States or any foreign
countries; (b) prosecution or defense of any cédateh, revocation, opposition, infringement or @tiproceedings that may arise in connectior
with any of the Transferred Patents, including hwitt limitation, testifying as to any facts relatito the Transferred Patents or this Patent
Assignment; (c) enforcement of Assignee’s rightany Transferred Patents; and (d) implementatierfeption and/or recording of this Patent
Assignment. Without limiting the foregoing, Assarshall execute the Patent Assignment for Recatdathed hereto as Exhibitujpon
execution of this Patent Assignment.

4 Power of Attorney Assignor agrees that if Assignee is unable bezafi Assignor’'s unavailability, dissolution or
incapacity, or for any other reason, to securegkgsis signature on any assignments, applicatiordh®er documents or filings pertaining to
any or all of the Transferred Patents, then Assitneoeby irrevocably designates and appoints Asgigmd its duly authorized officers and
agents as Assignor’s agents and attorneys-in{aetst for and on Assignor’s behalf and stead &cate and file any and all such assignments
applications and other documents or filings andda@ll other lawfully permitted acts with respdutrteto with the same legal force and effec
if executed by such Assignor.

5 Authorization Assignor authorizes and requests the UniteceSt@bmmissioner of Patents and Trademarks andthay o
applicable government authority to record Assigagéhe assignee and owner of the Transferred Baterd issue any and all registrations or
patents thereon to Assignee, as assignee of the gght, title and interest in, to and under faene, for the sole use and enjoyment of
Assignee and its successors, assigns or otherriggasentatives.

6 Miscellaneous This Patent Assignment and all questions reggrii$ validity or interpretation, or the breach or
performance of this Patent Assignment, shall beegmd by, and construed and enforced in accordaiticethe laws of the State of Delaware,
without reference to conflict of law principles.olmendment or modification of any provision obtRiatent Assignment shall be effective
unless in writing signed by a duly authorized repreative of each party hereto. This Patent Asségt will bind and inure to the benefit of
Assignor and Assignee and their respective successml assigns. This Patent Assignment may baugecin any number of counterparts,
each of which shall be deemed an original, andfallhich together shall constitute one and the smsieument.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOEF the parties have executed this Patent Assignmenitthg date first set forth above.
AMICUS THERAPEUTICS, INC.

BY: /s/ Kenneth Peis

NAME: Kenneth Peis

TITLE: Vice President, Legal & I

GLAXO GROUP LIMITED

BY: /s/ Balbir Kelly-Bisia

NAME: Balbir Kelly-Bisia

TITLE: Corporate Directo
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EXHIBIT A
Patent Assignment for Recordal

THIS PATENT ASSIGNMENT AGREEMENT (this “ Patent Agament”) is made and entered into as of Novembei"19 3401
Patent Assignment Effective DafebetweenAmicus Therapeutics, Inc., a Delaware corporation having a place of busim¢d Cedar Brook
Drive, Cranbury, New Jersey, 08512 (* Amicusr “ Assignee”) , andGlaxo Group Limited , a company organized under the laws of
England and Wales with its registered office adsleg<980 Great West Road, Brentford, Middlesex, TS , England (* GSK or “ Assignot

.

WHEREAS, Assignor is the joint owner, by assignmefissued letters patents and applications fberg patents listed dchedule
attached hereto and the inventions disclosed théceilectively, the “ Patents and Patent Appliocas”); and

WHEREAS, Assignor has agreed to assign all rigtié, and interest in and to the Patents and Patpplications to the Assignee.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of good and sigfit consideration, the receipt of which is herabknowledged, Assignor h
assigned, transferred and conveyed, and does hassign, transfer and convey all right, title amigtiest (a) in and to the Patents and Patent
Applications, including the right to claim prioritg said Patents and Patent Applications; (b) ohtarany and all applications filed and any anc
all patent(s) granted on said Patents and Patguiioations in the United States, in any foreignmoy, or under the International Convention
for the Protection of Industrial Property or anteimational convention, agreement, protocol, attreincluding each and every application
filed and any and all patent(s) granted on anyiagibn which is a divisional, substitution, contation, or continuation-in-part of any of said
Patents and Patent Applications; and (c) in arehtth and every reissue, reexamination, or extemgsibany of said Patents and Patent
Applications, the same to be held and enjoyed bys#id Assignees, for their own use and the uieedf successors, legal representatives anc
assigns, to the full end of the term or terms foroh letters patent or patents, may be grantefijligsand entirely as the same would have bee
held and enjoyed by the Assignors, had this assgmmot been made.

AND Assignor does hereby assign, transfer, and ephe the Assignee its successors, legal repreasargand assigns, all of
Assignor’s claims for damages and all of Assignogmedies arising out of any violation of the rghssigned hereby that may have accrued
prior to the date of assignment to Assignee, or at@yue hereafter, including, but not limited t@ tight to sue for, collect, and retain dam:
for past infringements of the above letters patbetsre or after issuance.

AND Assignor hereby authorizes and requests ther@igeioner of Patents and Trademarks and any ofipdicable government
authority to issue any and all letters patent eempia resulting from said applications and any iooiations, continuations-in-part, divisionals
and reissues thereof to Assignee, as Assigneedtrttire right, title and interest, and hereby oags that it has full right to convey the entire
right, title and interest herein assigned, and itlads not executed, and will not execute, angagients inconsistent herewith.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF the Assignor has executed thaieft Assignment as of the date first set forthvabo
GLAXO GROUP LIMITED

BY: /s/ Paul Williamsor

NAME: Paul Williamsor

TITLE: Corporate Directo

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT
State of Englan )
) SS:
County of Londo )
On this the 5th day of December , 2013, Paul Williamson personally

appeared before me, to me known to be the persoec&n and who executed the above Patent Assignomelpéhalf of the corporation named
herein, and acknowledged that s/he executed itéh sepresentative capacity for the uses and thgopas therein mentioned.

SEAL /s/ Charles Ekeng Hensh:

NOTARY PUBLIC
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SCHEDULE 1
GSK Transferred Patents

United States Patent Application No. 61/672566

International Patent Application No. PCT/US2013/0%D

Taiwanese Patent Application No. 102125649
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Exhibit D

Ongoing Clinical Trials as of Second Restated HEiffecDate

Lead

Company Amicus Study # eTrack Identifier # Abbreviated Title

Amicus AT1001-011 MGM116016 Migalastat vs Pbo in Fabry disease (study(

Amicus AT1001-012 MGM116017 Fabry disease (Study 012) Migalastat vs. E

GSK NA MGM116041 OLE phs 3 Lon-term Safety Study of Migalast

Amicus FAB-CL-205 MGM116045 Migalastat Phase 2 Extension (study 205) NB onlggteport
outstandinc

GSK NA MGM116188 Compassionate Use of Migalastat F

Amicus AT1001-013 116430 DDI (ERT+Migalastat in fabry pts) (013 study) NBlpistudy report

outstanding
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Exhibit E

JCR Payments
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Exhibit F
Amicus Therapeutics and GSK Announce Revised Fabrjigreement
Amicus Acquired Full Rights to Global Drug Develomnt, Regulatory and Commercial Activities for migestat HCI
GSK Retains Interest through Additional Equity Ingément in Amicus, and Future Milestones and Royeki
Conference Call Today at 5:00pm ET

CRANBURY, NJ, US & LONDON, UK, November 20, 2013— Amicus Therapeutics (Nasdaq: FOLD) and GlaxoSHiitte
(GSK) today announced that Amicus has obtainedajliaphts to develop and commercialize the invedtanal pharmacological chaperone
migalastat HCI| as a monotherapy and in combinatiitim enzyme replacement therapy (ERT) for Fabreate.

Key Highlights of Revised or Changed Agreement:

*  Amicus will have sole rights to the global drug d®pment, regulatory and commercial activitiestfer next-generation Fabry ERT
(migalastat HCI co-formulated with ERT) as wellnagalastat HCI monotherapy

*  GSKwill be eligible for future regulatory and corarial milestone payments, as well as royalty paysie

»  GSKwill further invest $3 million in Amicus throhgan equity investment in a concurrent private gaent in public equity (PIPE)
transaction..

Under the terms of the revised agreement, thame igpfront payment from Amicus to GSK. For the rgaheration Fabry ERT GSK
is eligible to receive single-digit royalties ortsales in eight major markets outside the U.S.rrigalastat HCI monotherapy, GSK is eligible
to receive post-approval and sales-based mileseme®ll as tiered royalties in the mid-teens gheimajor markets outside the U.S. The term
of the restated agreement replace the prior agmeteimés entirety. Under the prior agreement egdanto in July 2012, Amicus and GSK were
co-developing migalastat HCI globally and GSK higithts to commercialize migalastat HCI outside thetéd States.

Moncef Slaoui, chairman GSK R&D commented, “Witkeimal expertise and established relationshipsinvitie rare disease
community, we believe Amicus is well positionedhtaintain momentum of the programs, maximizing tpeiential for success, which we

hope will provide benefit to patients living witlaBry disease. GSK will continue to support Amidustigh our equity investment and share ir
the future value of migalastat HCI as the Fabrygprm meets certain regulatory and sales
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milestones.”

John F. Crowley, Chairman and Chief Executive @ffiof Amicus Therapeutics, Inc. stated, “This teat®n is very important for
Amicus and for our future. It delivers what we bek to be immediate and significant value to oarsholders while allowing us to maintain a
strong relationship with GSK, our largest sharebnlSK has been an excellent active developmetrigyaor us on these programs for three
years. With this transaction we are gaining worltewviights to our first proprietary next generatia-formulated product, as well as migalastat
HCI monotherapy. We look forward to advancing theserams to major milestones into 2014.”

About Migalastat HCI

Migalastat HCl is an investigational pharmacolofat@aperone in development as a monotherapy aodmbination with ERT for th
treatment of Fabry disease. As a monotherapy, astgl HCI is designed to bind to and stabilizécbaperone” a patient’s own alpha-
galactosidase A (alpha-Gal A) enzyme in those githetic mutations that are amenable to this chapdroa cell-based assay. For patients
currently receiving ERT for Fabry disease, migaabtCl in combination with ERT may improve ERT awtees by keeping the infused alpha-
Gal A enzyme in its properly folded and active form

Amicus Solo Conference Call and Webcast

Amicus Therapeutics will host a conference call andio webcast today, November 19, 2013 at 8:30 &Into review financial
results and provide a corporate update. Intergsetitipants and investors may access the confereatat 5:00 p.m. ET by dialing 877-303-
5859 (U.S./Canada) or 678-224-7784 (international).

An audio webcast can also be accessed via thetorgesection of the Amicus Therapeutics corporatb site at
http://www.amicusrx.com, and will be archived f@ @ays. Web participants are encouraged to goetavéb site 15 minutes prior to the start
of the call to register, download and install aegessary software. A telephonic replay of thewdllbe available for seven days beginning at
8:00 p.m. ET today. Access numbers for this replay855-859-2056 (U.S./Canada) and 404-3806 (international); participant code 115€

About Amicus Therapeutics

Amicus Therapeutics (Nasdag:FOLD) is a biopharmticaiucompany at the forefront of therapies foerand orphan diseases. The
Company is developing novel, first-in-class treattador a broad range of human genetic diseaséis afbcus on delivering new benefits to
individuals with lysosomal storage diseases. Amitesd programs include the small molecule pharmaycdd chaperones migalastat HCI ¢
monotherapy and in combination with enzyme replaagitherapy (ERT) for Fabry disease; and AT222@d¢dlustat HCI) in combination
with ERT for Pompe disease.

About GlaxoSmithKline

GlaxoSmithKline - one of the world’s leading resgabased pharmaceutical and healthcare compaiie®mmitted to improving tr
quality of human life by enabling people to do mdeel better and live longer. For further inforimatplease visit www.gsk.com

Amicus Forward-Looking Statements

This press release contains, and the accompangirfgrence call will contain, “forward-looking statents”within the meaning of tt
Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 199%ating to preclinical and clinical development ofiicus’ candidate drug products, the timing
and reporting of results from preclinical studiesl &linical trials evaluating Amicus’ candidate gnproducts, and the
*reekk . Material has been omitted and filed sepagty with the Commission.
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projected cash position for the Company. Words sis;libut not limited to, “look forward to,” “beliey’ “expect,” “anticipate,” “estimate,”
“intend,” “potential,” “plan,” “targets,” “likely,” “may,” “will,” “would,” “should” and “could,” andsimilar expressions or words identify
forward-looking statements. Such forward-lookingtsments are based upon current expectationsnti@te risks, changes in circumstances,
assumptions and uncertainties. The inclusion ofidod-looking statements should not be regardedraprasentation by Amicus that any of its
plans will be achieved. Any or all of the forwambking statements in this press release may turtodae wrong. They can be affected by
inaccurate assumptions Amicus might make or by knomunknown risks and uncertainties. For exampith respect to statements regarding
the goals, progress, timing and outcomes of disonssvith regulatory authorities and the potergiadls, progress, timing and results of
preclinical studies and clinical trials, actualus may differ materially from those set forthtris release due to the risks and uncertainties
inherent in the business of Amicus, including, withlimitation: the potential that results of ctial or pre-clinical studies indicate that the
product candidates are unsafe or ineffective; titergial that it may be difficult to enroll patisnt our clinical trials; the potential that
regulatory authorities may not grant or may delagraval for our product candidates; the potenhat preclinical and clinical studies could be
delayed because we identify serious side effectdtmr safety issues; the potential that we wilchadditional funding to complete all of our
studies and, our dependence on third parties isdhduct of our clinical studies. Further, the tessaf earlier preclinical studies and/or clinical
trials may not be predictive of future results. hMiespect to statements regarding projectionseoCitmpanys cash position, actual results n
differ based on market factors and the Companyilgyato execute its operational and budget pldnsaddition, all forward looking statements
are subject to other risks detailed in our Annuab®t on Form 10-K for the year ended DecembeRB12. You are cautioned not to place
undue reliance on these forward-looking statemeviigch speak only as of the date hereof. All fovimoking statements are qualified in th
entirety by this cautionary statement, and Amicudartakes no obligation to revise or update thigsnelease to reflect events or
circumstances after the date hereof. This cauianade under the safe harbor provisions of Se2tiéghof the Private Securities Litigation
Reform Act of 1995.

GlaxoSmithKline cautionary statement regarding forward-looking statements

Under the safe harbor provisions of the U.S. Pei&gcurities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, GSK tians investors that any
forward-looking statements or projections made IBKGincluding those made in this announcementsabgect to risks and uncertainties that
may cause actual results to differ materially fritvose projected. Factors that may affect GSK's atpmrs are described under ‘Risk Factams’
the ‘Financial review & risk section’ in the compasmAnnual Report 2011 included as exhibit 15.2h® company’s Annual Report on
Form 20-F for 2011.

Amicus Contact:

Investors/Media: Sara Pellegrino (609) 662-504@ellegrino@amicusrx.com

Media: Dan Budwick (973) 271-6085 / dan@ purecommatimnsinc.com

GSK enquiries:

UK Media enquiries David Mawdsley +44 (0) 20 8047 550 (London)
Simon Stee +44 (0) 20 8047 550 (London)
David Daley +44 (0) 20 8047 550 (London)
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Catherine Hartle' +44 (0) 20 8047 550 (London)

US Media enquiries Stephen Re +1 215 751 439 (Philadelphia

Melinda Stubbe: +1 919 483 251! (North Carolina)
Mary Anne Rhyne +1 919 483 049: (North Carolina;
Sarah Alspacl! +1 202 715 104 (Washington, DC
Jennifer Armstrony +1 215 751 566. (Philadelphia

Analyst/Investor enquiries Sally Jacksol +44 20 8047 554 (London)
Kirsty Collins (SRI & CG) +44 20 8047 553 (London)
Tom Curry +1 215751541 (Philadelphia
Gary Davies + 44 (0) 20 8047 550 (London)
James Dodwe + 44 (0) 20 8047 240 (London)
Jeff McLaughlin +1 215751 700 (Philadelphia’
Ziba Shams + 44 (0) 20 8047 328 (London)
Lucy Singatr +44 (0) 20 8047 224 (London)

GSK Cautionary statement regarding forward-looking statementsGSK cautions investors that any forward-lookingestzents or
projections made by GSK, including those made imdhnouncement, are subject to risks and uncégsithat may cause actual results to
differ materially from those projected. Factorsttimay affect GSK’ s operations are described uitéer 3.D ‘Risk factors’ in the company’s
Annual Report on Form 20-F for 2012.

FOLD-G
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EXHIBIT 23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accountingirm

We consent to the incorporation by refeecincthe following Registration Statements:

1.

Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 338305) pertaining to the: 1) Amicus Therapeutics, 2002 Equity Incentive Plan,
Amended, 2) Amicus Therapeutics, Inc. 2007 Equitsehtive Plan, 3) Amicus Therapeutics, Inc. 200/&&br Option Plan,
4) Amicus Therapeutics, Inc. 2007 Employee StodkcPase Plan,

Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-15Yp&#&taining to the: 1) Amicus Therapeutics, Inménded and Restated 2007
Equity Incentive Plan and 2) Amicus Therapeutios, RO07 Director Option Plan,

Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-17490€peng to the: 1) Amicus Therapeutics, Inc. Amedénd Restated 2007
Equity Incentive Plan and 2) Amicus Therapeutios, Amended and Restated 2007 Director Option Plan,

Registration Statement (Form S-3 No. 333-185307),
Registration Statement (Form S-3 No. 333-184531),
Registration Statement (Form S-3 No. 333-171648),
Registration Statement (Form S-3 No. 333-192747

Registration Statement (Form S-3 No. 333-192876

of our reports dated March 3, 2014 with respethéoconsolidated financial statements of Amicusr@peutics, Inc., and the
effectiveness of internal control over financighoeting of Amicus Therapeutics, Inc included irstBinnual Report (Form 1K)
for the year ended December 31, 2013.

/s/ ERNST & YOUNG LLP

MetroPark, New Jersey
March 3, 2014
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EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATIONS PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF
THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
CERTIFICATION BY PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER

[, John F. Crowley, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report omi&0-K of Amicus Therapeutics, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report dagontain any untrue statement of a materialdacmit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntsts.under which such statements were made, niatadisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financiakesteents, and other financial information includedtiis report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgtfe@ periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying offigg and | are responsible for establishing anchiaaiing disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%(nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15
(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a. designed such disclosure controls andeglures, or caused such disclosure controls ammégures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhsibsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly durihg period in which this annual report is being preg;

b. designed such internal control overrfitial reporting, or caused such internal contr@rdinancial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repodiand the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting principles;

c. evaluated the effectiveness of the teaiss disclosure controls and procedures andpted in this report our conclusions at
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyeport based on such evaluation;
and

d. disclosed in this report any changénaregistrant's internal control over financialogjng that occurred during the registrant's
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fofisttal quarter in the case of an annual repod tias materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regasit's internal control over financial reporting;

5. The registrant's other certifying offi® and | have disclosed, based on our most resattiation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and thetamnmittee of the registrant's board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a. all significant deficiencies and matewaaknesses in the design or operation of intesaatrol over financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regrg's ability to record, process, summarize apdrt financial information; and

b. any fraud, whether or not material, thablves management or other employees who haignificant role in the registrant's
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 3, 2014

/sl John F. Crowley

John F. Crowley
Chairman and Chief Executive Offic
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EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATIONS PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF
THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
CERTIFICATION BY PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER

[, William D. Baird lll, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report omi60-K of Amicus Therapeutics, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report dagontain any untrue statement of a materialdacmit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntsts.under which such statements were made, niatadisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financiakesteents, and other financial information includedtiis report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amngtfe@ periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying offig and | are responsible for establishing anchiaaiing disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}%(nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15
(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a. designed such disclosure controls andeglures, or caused such disclosure controls ammggures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhibsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly durihg period in which this annual report is being preg;

b. designed such internal control overrfitial reporting, or caused such internal contr@rdinancial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repodiand the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting principles;

c. evaluated the effectiveness of the teaiss disclosure controls and procedures andpted in this report our conclusions at
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyeport based on such evaluation;
and

d. disclosed in this report any changénaregistrant's internal control over financialogjng that occurred during the registrant's
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fofisttal quarter in the case of an annual repod tias materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regasit's internal control over financial reporting;

5. The registrant's other certifying offi® and | have disclosed, based on our most resattiation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and thetamnmittee of the registrant's board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a. all significant deficiencies and matewaaknesses in the design or operation of intesaatrol over financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regrg's ability to record, process, summarize apdrt financial information; and

b. any fraud, whether or not material, thablves management or other employees who haignificant role in the registrant's
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 3, 2014

/s/ William D. Baird Il

William D. Baird 1l
Chief Financial Office
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EXHIBIT 32.1

Certification by the Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U. S. C. Section 1350, as
Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-G§t Act of 2002

Pursuant to 18 U. S. C. Section 1350,hnJe. Crowley, hereby certify that, to the bestryfknowledge, Amicus Therapeutics Inc., (the
"Company") Annual Report on Form 10-K for the yeaded December 31, 2013 (the "Report"), as filetl thie Securities and Exchange
Commission on March 3, 2014, fully complies witle tliequirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(dhefSecurities Exchange Act of 1934,
as amended, and that the information containeldarReport fairly presents, in all material respetts financial condition and results of
operations of the Company.

/sl John F. Crowley

John F. Crowley
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
March 3, 201«
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EXHIBIT 32.2

Certification by the Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U. S. C. Section 1350, as
Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-G§t Act of 2002

Pursuant to 18 U. S. C. Section 1350, ljigvn D. Baird Ill, hereby certify that, to the bexf my knowledge, the Amicus
Therapeutics Inc. (the "Company") Annual ReporFonm 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013"@sport"), as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on March 3, 2odl¢ complies with the requirements of Sectid@(d) or Section 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and that thenmafiion contained in the Report fairly presentsalirmaterial respects, the financial
condition and results of operations of the Company.

/s/ William D. Baird Il

William D. Baird Il
Chief Financial Officer
March 3, 201«
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